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Cash and cash equivalents

Inventories

Property and equipment net

Total assets

Borrowings under bank credit facility

Shareholders equity

Working capital

Current ratio

Inventory turnover

Bank borrowings to total capitalization

Return on assets continuing operations

Return on shareholders equity continuing operations

53
Stores open at end of the fiscal year

Gross square footage 000s

Selling square footage 000s
Increase decrease in selling square footage

Average selling square footage per store

3-F ESL/T

Comparable store sales growth

Average sales per store

Sales per selling square foot

4.0

3.8

3.6

3.4

3.2

3.0

This item is shown excluding the impact of certain items for fiscal years 2007 and 2009 reconc///ation of the difference between GAAP and the non-GAAP
financial measures presented/n this table for fiscal years 2007 and 2009 is shown on the following page
Includes $61700 in fiscal 2008 for current maturities of borrowings under bank credit facility because the credit facility was terminating in less than one year
Includes depreciation and amortization of $71501 $73 787 and $83103 for fiscal years 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Includes capital expenditures of $78708 $88735 and $60360 for fiscal
years 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Cash flow is calculated as cash provided by operating activities less cash used/n investing activities

$4645283Net sales

Net sales increase decrease

Income from
continuing operations

Income from continuing operations increase

Earnings from continuing operations per share diluted

Earnings from continuing operations per share diluted increase

Average diluted common shares outstanding

Gross margin of net sales

Selling and administrative expenses of net sales

Depreciation expense of net sales

Operating profit of net sales

Net interest expense income of net sales

Income from continuing operations of net sales

GE NC 13/i \L3\1

$4656302
8%

4%
2.3

10

/o

600

O%
/0

0.2%

154798

6.7%

1.89

34.0%

82076

40.0%

32.8%

1.7%

5.5%

0.1%

3.3%

1.8%

145079

28.8%

1.41

39.6%

102542

39.5%

32.8%

1.9%

4.9%

0.1%

3.1%

63133

/31

2s-

11
80448

00

ow
Cash provided by operating

activities

Cash used in investing activities

Cash flow

34773 37131

736616 747942

490041 481366

1432458 1443815

61700 163700

774845 638486

355776 390766

1.7 1.8

3.6 3.5

7.4% 20.4%

10.8% 9.2%

21.9% 16.4%

211063 307932

88192 58764

122871 249168

1339 1353

39888 40195

28674 28902

0.8% 1.6%
21415 21362

0.5% 2.0%

3416 3377

160 158

3202

937

4090

/0

3/

162

10.0%
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The Unaudited Adjusted Results which include financial measures that are not calculated in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America GAAP are presented in order to provide additional

meaningful financial information for the periods presented The Unaudited Adjusted Results should not be construed as
an alternative to the results reported in accordance with GAAP Our definition of adjusted results may differ from similarly
titled measures used by other companies While it is not possible to predict future results our management believes that
the adjusted non-GAAP information is useful for the assessment of our ongoing operations The Unaudited Adjusted
Results should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes contained in our
2009 Form 10-K

UL
The fiscal 2009 Unaudited Adjusted Results reflect lower selling and administrative expenses as result of the
adjustment for legal settlement agreement expense and lower operating profit as result of the adjustment for gain
on sale of real estate as described and reconciled below in thousands

it S-vie of Ass

In fiscal 2009 we recognized $12964 gain on the sale of real estate $8163 net of tax related to the sale of
Company-owned and operated store in California which resulted in an increase of our operating profit

ga st reit

In fiscal 2009 we recorded $4000 expense $2420 net of tax related to legal settlement agreement which resulted
in an increase of selling and administrative expenses

AL 07

The fiscal 2007 Unaudited Adjusted Results reflect higher selling and administrative expenses as result of the adjustment
for certain proceeds received in fiscal 2007 as described and reconciled below in thousands

KB Fruptcy 5roce

We sold the KB Toys business in December 2000 As partial consideration for the sale of the KB Toys business
we received the Havens Corners Corporation Note HCC Note In January 2004 KB Toys filed for bankruptcy and
in separate charges included in selling and administrative expenses in fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2005 we reduced the
balance receivable on the HCC Note In fiscal 2007 we recorded income of $5172 $3127 net of tax reflecting the
proceeds from the KB Toys bankruptcy trust which was recognized as reduction of selling and administrative expenses
for partial recovery of prior charges incurred against the HCC Note

bun etrncescn

In fiscal 2007 we received insurance proceeds as recovery for damages related to hurricanes occurring in fiscal 2005
and recorded income of $4920 $2974 net of tax as reduction of selling and administrative expenses

Gain on Unaudited KB Unaudited

Reported Sale of
Legal Adjusted Results Reported Bankruptcy Insurance

Adjusted Results
IGAAPI Real Estate Settlement

lnon-GAAPI IGAAPI Proceeds Proceeds lnon-GAAPI

4726772

2807466

1919306

40001 1528356

74904

100.0%

59.4

40.6

32.3

1.6

$4726772 100.0

2807466 59.4

1919306 40.6

1532356 32.4

74904 1.6

12964 0.3

325010 6.9

1840 0.0

175 0.0

323345 6.8

121975 2.6

201370 4.3

5172 4920

12964

12964

12964

4801

8163

in thousands except per share amounts

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selhng and administrative expenses

Depreciation expense

Gain on sa of real estate

Operating profit

interest expense

Interest income

Income from
continuing operations

before ncome taxes

Income tax expense

Income from continung operations

Income loss from

discontinued operations

Net income

Earnings per common share- basic

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

Earnings per common share diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

$4656302

2815959

1840343

1525471

88484

$4656302

2815959

1840343

1515379

88484

236480

2513

5236

239203

88023

151180

100.0%

60.5

39.5

32.8

1.9

4000 316046 6.7

1840 0.0

175 0.0

4000 314381 6.7

1580 118754 2.5

2420 195627 4.1

100.0%

60.5

39.5

32.5

1.9

5.1

0.1

0.1

5.1

1.9

3.2

1001 00 1001 0.0 7281 0.2

200369 4.2 8163 2420 194626 4.1 158461 3.4

5172 4920 226388 4.9

2513 0.1

5236 0.1

5172 4920 229111 4.9

2045 1946 84032 1.8

3127 2974 145079 3.1

7281 0.2

3.127 2974 $152360 3.3

2.47 0.10 0.03 2.40

0.01 0.01

2.45
0.10 0.03 2.38

1.49

0.07

1.56

0.03

0.03$

2.44 0.10 0.03 2.37 1.47

0.01 0.01 0.07

2.42 0.10 0.03 2.35 1.55

0.03

0.03

1.43

0.07

1.50

1.41

q07

1.49

0.03 0.03

0.03 0.03

or share for continuing operations discontinued operations and net Income are separately calculated in accordance with Accounting Standards
therefore the sum of

earnings per share for continuing operations and discontinued operations may differ due to rounding from the
is per share of net income
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DEAR HAREPOLDE

When decided to join Big Lots nearly five years ago
looked at this business as any investor would What

was clear to me from the beginning was that we
had talented people and

strong niche in the retail

marketplace At the same time we had an incredible

opportunity to transform Big Lots from good company
to world-class organization

We set out looking at our business in new ways

challenging how we operate and our assumptions about

what our customers expect We cast aside business

as usual approach knowing that in retail if you are

not changing or reinventing your business constantly

you run the risk of losing ground with your customer
We reviewed all aspects of our strategy and business

processes We worked diligently to test learn and

develop long-range plan for our business We focused

on creating shareholder value through programs to

improve merchandising marketing and store-level

performance supplemented by diligent and strict

expense control We committed to healthy growth
and we said we would not grow the store base until

we could assure you that we were doing so in profitable

manner These strategies and disciplines are now deeply
embedded in our culture and have served us well We
have grown our operating profit from $27 million in 2005

to over $325 million in 2009 year that will likely

go down as one of the most difficult environments in

retail history And along the way we have generated

nearly $1.2 billion of cash the majority of which we have

returned to you our shareholders in the form of share

repurchase activity

am very proud of the teams effort During this past

year when the global recession took its toll on the

market and economic news turned morning coffee bitter

We completed our 3rd consecutive year of record

EPS performance span that now dates back

13 consecutive quarters

We generated record operating profit dollars

of over $325 million

We grew our store base for the first time since

2004 by opening more stores in 2009 than we
have in the last years combined

We invested in new systems and put capital to work
in our business and fleet of stores to enhance the

customer experience

And in world where cash is king we generated

over $300 million in cash

Our Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase

of up to $400 million of our common shares

In the balance of this letter will detail some of the

significant 2009 highlights and also lay out for you
some of our thoughts on the future and our plans for

continuing to enhance shareholder value

Yl-O ROWFl
Our business has generated significant amount

of cash in recent years My job as CEO is to ensure

we are investing your cash in the opportunities that

we expect to generate strong returns whether that is in

our existing concepts or new strategies have said on

number of occasions that we have an open to receive

and would look at any opportunity to drive profitable

growth and shareholder value Looking forward to 2010

and beyond we believe the best opportunity internal or

external is to reinvest in our current locations and grow
our fleet of stores profitably

Clearly our business model has gotten stronger each

year and we are confident in our plans heading into

2010 Additionally the difficulties experienced in the

economy have taken their toll on retailers and the

commercial real estate market As result today

there are fewer retailers vying for locations and in

our estimation real estate prices are becoming more

appropriately valued in the marketplace The
combination of our improved performance and softer

real estate market enabled us to move into store



growth mode again in 2009 And the good news is we
see that rate of growth accelerating in 2010 and future

years The soft real estate market also enabled us to

make progress in lease renegotiations as stores came up

for renewal with landlords who saw their retail vacancies

soar during the recession These renegotiations have

helped us keep costs in check or rise at lower rate than

the lease would have otherwise indicated

We were also very busy testing two specific new real

estate strategies in 2009 locations and smaller

store strategy

The location test started with stores in

higher than average income areas or in locations

with better cotenant mix or both Our key

learning was with great value in merchandising

improved visual presentation and higher in-store

execution standards we can perform very well

in locations We are moving forward aggressively

on this strategy by planning to open approximately

30 locations in 2010 We believe this could be

very big win for the business by expanding our

customer base and improving our overall level of

brand awareness for the future

With our smaller store strategy test in locations

the results to date have been somewhat mixed

and it is still too early to make determination

We will make adjustments to this strategy in 2010

and continue to monitor the results The idea

remains intriguing to us and if successful could

open up significant number of additional sites

that we could consider for future growth

feel good about our direction in real estate and am
confident it is the best investment we can be making

right now for the future of the company Going forward

store growth will be principle priority for our team

THE
Like any retailer merchandising and having the

right stuff for the customer is crucial to our success

Over the last years we have made concerted

effort to merchandise the store with better quality

product and more recognizable brand names We have

aggressively pursued new vendor relationships while

enhancing the value proposition across our store In fact

in the last years we have added well over 1000 new

vendors With deeper vendor base the availability of

deals and inventory at extreme value remains vibrant

and its the merchandising teams job to make the tough

choice on which item to choose and how many to buy

am proud of the merchant team and how well

inventory was managed in 2009 which resulted in

record inventory turnover rate for this business

Over the past years believe that we have seen

permanent shift in customer demand toward greater

value and saving money We have encouraged our

merchants to enhance our value proposition to be even

more competitive in order to give our customers the

kinds of savings they need during these challenging

economic times With better-planned and better-

presented merchandise up and down our aisles we have

seen our customers respond and our average transaction

size increase From home and consumables to furniture

toys electronics and seasonal we continue to offer our

customers more brand names and better quality goods

at unmatched prices

IN VI -1 OVLR
Innovative programs to improve the customer

experience as well as the shopability and appearance

of our stores are key elements of our strategic plan

Specifically in 2009 we launched our Ready for

Business initiative across our entire fleet of over

1360 stores Ready for Business is multiyear

initiative focused on executing well-defined

chainwide standards that enhance the vitality of

our inventory and place greater emphasis on the

customer shopping experience

Much like our efforts to control costs we should always

be challenging ourselves to get better on the sales

floor As an example our Food Refresh Program was

completed in 2009 and is part of our in-store strategy

to improve the shopability of the food department one

of the largest volume areas of our stores This initiative

focused on elevating cleanliness and presentation

requirements training associates who are responsible

for this area introducing new freshness guaranteed

marketing and in over half of our stores investing

capital in new fixtures

In order to execute to better more consistent in-store

standard we have also been making meaningful

investment in our people and attracting new talent over

the last year Given our recent financial performance we
have become an employer of choice in the marketplace

and have been able to recruit new talent at the store

district and regional vice president levels In 2009

we launched our Leadership Institute an intensive

management development program for District

Managers who were new to the organization or were

being promoted from within the organization to

develop leaders for our future

Technology remains an important strategic imperative

at Big Lots both to strengthen connections with our

customers and to improve our processes
This

year we
launched our Buzz Clubr Rewards Program This effort



represents our first loyalty card
program which will

allow us to learn more about our customers buying

habits encourage more frequent visits and/or

potentially expand our customer base We are

encouraged about the progress to date and have

enrolled well over 1.5 million members Our data

suggest these new Rewards members are spending

more than double what the average customer spends
and in stores with the highest number of Rewards

members we are experiencing measurable increases

in transactions In 2010 we will invest further in

technology to provide us with the tools necessary to

begin to directly market to our Rewards members based

on their specific buying patterns and history We see the

Rewards program along with our focus on improving

the in-store shopping experience as two key initiatives

to growing transactions and expanding our current

customer base

Beyond our strategies over 35000 Big Lots

associates are dedicated to doing more to serve our

customers As part of our mission we encourage every
member of our team to develop strong bonds in the

communities where we live and work We will continue

to be committed to making difference to those we
serve by stocking food banks supporting volunteerism

and donating hundreds of thousands of dollars to

schools social service agencies and local and

national charities

II N. If

As CEO it has been my personal mission to ensure that

constant change remains vital part of our culture And

can assure you the spirit of innovation is alive and well

at Big Lots

Our ability to embrace change to reinvent

ourselves has been key to our success to date We are

passionate about accomplishment and accountability
Our desire to deliver outstanding performance is

matched by determination to respond to new realities

Our results demonstrate that Big Lots is robust and

growing business that is capable of performing in both

good times and tough times am confident we are

well positioned as we begin 2010 and we have solid

business plan in place that balances the need for results

today with focus on tomorrow

have been with Big Lots coming up on years this

summer and firmly believe that heading into 2010

we are better positioned than at any other time in my
tenure with the Company Our merchandise content

and the value message continue to grow stronger

and stronger our stores have never looked better

inventories are flowing and well under control and

we continue to find smart ways to leverage our cost

structure without impacting the customer For 2010

we have provided financial guidance that forecasts

our 4th consecutive year of record EPS from continuing

operations accelerates store growth generates

significant cash flow and will return minimum of

$150 million to shareholders in the form of share

repurchase activity

feel very comfortable with how we have planned

2010 however am more excited when think

about the opportunities for this business longer term
As management team we are focused on strategies

and initiatives to drive continued growth over the

next several years Earlier this year we communicated

to the marketplace view of the next three years

2010 through 2012 By 2012 we believe sales could

exceed $5.5 billion with an operating profit rate

of 8% and EPS from continuing operations

approaching $3.50 per diluted share This model

would generate $650 million to $700 million of cash

while continuing to invest for the future and grow
our store base Over the next years alone we expect

to add net of approximately 140 stores which

creates hundreds of opportunities for promotions for

our best performers and potentially creates in the

neighborhood of 4000 to 5000 jobs to do our part

to help the economy grow and improve the overall

employment picture

In my estimation the future for this Company has

never been brighter Our model and execution

continue to get stronger and stronger We have entered

into growth mode which is the next phase of our

evolution And with the potential for store base

of over 2000 stores see this as or 10 billion

dollar business or nearly double the size that it

is today

On behalf of our Board of Directors would like

to thank you our community of shareholders

customers vendors and suppliers for your ongoing

support And to all of our associates and their families

offer my deepest thanks and appreciation for the

hard work and commitment you give to our company

every day

Sincerely

Steven Fishman

Chairman CEO and President
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Big Lots Inc

300 Phillipi Road Washington DC
Columbus Ohio 43228 110

April13 2010

Dear Shareholder

We cordially invite you to attend the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Big Lots Inc The Annual Meeting

will be held at our corporate offices located at 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio on May 27 2010 beginning at

900 a.m EDT

The following pages contain the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Proxy Statement You should

review this material for information concerning the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting

Your vote is important Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting you are urged to vote as soon

as possible If you attend the Annual Meeting you may revoke your proxy and vote in person even if you have

previously voted

We have elected to take advantage of Securities and Exchange Commission rules that allow us to furnish proxy

materials to certain shareholders on the Internet On or about the date of this letter we began mailing Notice

of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 29 2010

At the same time we provided those shareholders with Internet access to our proxy materials and filed our

proxy materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission We believe furnishing proxy materials to our

shareholders on the Internet will allow us to provide our shareholders with the information they need while

lowering the costs of delivery and reducing the environmental impact of the Annual Meeting

Thank you for your ongoing support of and continued interest in Big Lots Inc

Respectfully submitted

STEVEN FISHMAN

Chairman ChiefExecutive Officer and President
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Big Lots Inc

300 Phillipi Road

Columbus Ohio 43228

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD MAY 27 2010

Notice is hereby given that the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Big Lots Inc will be held at our corporate

offices located at 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio on May 27 2010 beginning at 900 a.m EDT for the

following purposes

To elect nine directors of Big Lots Inc

To consider and vote upon proposal to approve the amended and restated Big Lots 2005 Long-Term

Incentive Plan

To consider and vote upon proposal to approve the amended and restated Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan

To consider and vote upon proposal to amend our Amended Articles of Incorporation to institute

majority voting in uncontested director elections

To consider and vote upon proposal to amend our Code of Regulations to establish procedures for the

advance notice of shareholder nominations of directors at shareholder meetings

To consider and vote upon proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte Touche LLP as our

independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2010 and

To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on the record date March 29 2010 are entitled to notice of and

to vote at the Annual Meeting and any postponement or adjournment thereof

By Order of the Board of Directors

CHARLES HAUBIEL II

Executive Vice President Legal and Real Estate

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

April 13 2010

Columbus Ohio

Your vote is important Shareholders are urged to vote online If you attend the Annual Meeting you may
revoke your proxy and vote in person if you wish even if you have previously voted
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Big Lots Inc

300 Phillipi Road

Columbus Ohio 43228

PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors

Board of Big Lots Inc an Ohio corporation we us our and Big Lots for use at the 2010 Annual

Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 27 2010 Annual Meeting at our corporate offices located at

300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio at 900 a.m EDT On or about April 13 2010 we began mailing to our

shareholders of record at the close of business on March 29 2010 Notice of Internet Availability containing

instructions on how to access the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders this Proxy Statement and our Annual

Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended January 30 2010 fiscal 2009

ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Purpose of the Annual Meeting

At the Annual Meeting shareholders will act upon the matters outlined in the Notice of Annual Meeting

included with this Proxy Statement Specifically the shareholders will be asked to elect nine directors to the

Board ii approve
the amended and restated Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2005 Incentive Plan

iiiapprove the amended and restated Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan 2006 Bonus Plan iv approve
amendments

to our Amended Articles of Incorporation to institute majority voting in uncontested director elections approve

amendments to our Code of Regulations to establish procedures for the advance notice of shareholder nominations

of directors at shareholder meetings vi ratify the appointment of Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent

registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
year ending January 29 2011 fiscal 2010 and vii transact such

other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting

Shareholder Voting Rights

Only those shareholders of record at the close of business on March 29 2010 the record date for the Annual

Meeting are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Annual Meeting At the record date we had

outstanding 81087990 common shares $0.01 par
value

per
share Each of the outstanding common shares entitles

the holder thereof to one vote on each matter to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting or any postponement or

adjournment thereof The holders of common shares have no cumulative voting rights in the election of directors

All voting shall be governed by our Amended Articles of Incorporation our Code of Regulations and the General

Corporation Law of the State of Ohio

Registered Shareholders and Beneficial Shareholders

If our common shares are registered in your name directly with our transfer agent Computershare Investor

Services LLC you are considered with respect to those common shares registered shareholder If our common

shares are held for you in brokerage account or by bank or other holder of record you are considered the

beneficial shareholder of the common shares held in street name



Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

In accordance with rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC instead of mailing

printed copy of our proxy materials to each shareholder of record we may furnish our proxy materials including

the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders this Proxy Statement and our Annual Report to Shareholders by

providing access to such documents on the Internet Generally shareholders will not receive printed copies of the

proxy materials unless they request them

Notice of Internet Availability that provides instructions for accessing our proxy materials on the Internet was

mailed directly to registered shareholders The Notice of internet Availability also provides instructions regarding

how registered shareholders may vote their common shares on the Internet Registered shareholders who prefer

to receive
paper or email copy of our proxy materials should follow the instructions provided in the Notice of

Internet Availability for requesting such materials

For beneficial shareholders notice directing you to the website at which you will find our proxy materials has

been forwarded to you by your broker bank or other holder of record who is considered with respect to those

common shares the registered shareholder Your broker bank or other holder of record should also provide to

you instructions on how you may request paper or email copy of our proxy materials if you prefer Beneficial

shareholders have the right to direct their broker bank or other holder of record on how to vote their common
shares by following the voting instructions they received from their broker bank or other holder of record

To enroll in the electronic delivery service for future shareholder meetings use your Notice of Internet Availability or

proxy card if you received printed copies of the proxy materials to register online at www.proxyvote.com and when

prompted indicate that you agree to receive or access shareholder communications electronically in future years

Attendance at the Annual Meeting

All of our shareholders as of the record date or their duly appointed proxies may attend the Annual Meeting Registration

and seating will begin at 830 a.m EDT and the Annual Meeting will begin at 900 a.m EDT If you attend please note that

you may be asked to present valid picture identification such as drivers license or passport Cameras recording devices

and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the Annual Meeting Please also note that if you hold your common
shares as beneficial shareholder you will need to check in at the Annual Meeting registration desk and present copy of

brokerage or bank statement reflecting your stock ownership as of the record date

How to Vote

After receiving the Notice of Internet Availability or proxy card if you received printed copies of the proxy

materials registered shareholders are urged to visit www.proxyvote.com to access our proxy materials You will

have the opportunity to vote your common shares online at www.proxyvote.com until May 26 2010 at 1159 p.m
EDT When voting online you must follow the instructions posted on the website and you will need the control

number included on your Notice of internet Availability or proxy card if applicable If after receiving the Notice

of Internet Availability you request via toll-free telephone number e-mail or online that we send you paper or

electronic copies of our proxy materials you may vote your common shares by completing dating and signing

the proxy card and returning it in accordance with the instructions provided If you properly complete your proxy

online or you complete date sign and return your proxy card on or before May 26 2010 at 1159 p.m EDT your

common shares will be voted as you direct If you are registered shareholder and attend the Annual Meeting you

may deliver your completed proxy card in person

registered shareholder may revoke proxy at any time before it is exercised by filing with our Corporate

Secretary written notice of revocation or duly executing proxy bearing later date registered shareholder

may also revoke proxy by attending the Annual Meeting and giving written notice of revocation to the secretary

of the meeting Attendance at the Annual Meeting will not by itself revoke previously granted proxy

Beneficial shareholders should follow the procedures and directions set forth in the materials they will receive from

the broker bank or other holder of record who is the registered holder of their common shares to instruct such

registered holder how to vote those common shares or ii to revoke previously given voting instructions Please

contact your broker bank or other holder of record to determine the applicable deadlines Beneficial shareholders

who wish to vote at the Annual Meeting will need to obtain completed form of proxy from the broker bank or

other holder of record who is the registered holder of their common shares



Brokers banks and other holders of record who hold common shares for beneficial owners in street name may

vote such common shares on routine matters such as Proposal Two Proposal Three Proposal Four Proposal

Five and Proposal Six without specific voting instructions from the beneficial owner of such common shares Such

brokers banks and other holders of record may not however vote such common shares on non-routine matters

such as the election of directors without specific voting instructions from the beneficial owner of such common

shares Proxies that are signed and submitted by such brokers banks and other holders of record that have not been

voted on certain matters as described in the previous sentence are referred to as broker non-votes Broker non-

votes will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of common shares necessary for approval of any

matter to which broker non-votes apply i.e broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of such matter

Householding

SEC rules allow multiple shareholders residing at the same address the convenience of receiving single copy

of the annual report to shareholders proxy statement and Notice of Internet Availability if they consent to do so

householding Householding is permitted only in certain circumstances including when you have the same last

name and address as another shareholder If the required conditions are met and SEC rules allow your household

may receive single copy of the annual report to shareholders proxy statement and Notice of Internet Availability

Upon request we will promptly deliver separate copy of the annual report to shareholders proxy statement

and Notice of Internet Availability as applicable to shareholder at shared address to which single copy of

the documents was delivered Such request should be made in the same manner as revocation of consent

for householding

You may revoke your consent for householding at any time by contacting Broadridge Financial Solutions Inc

Broadridge either by calling 1-800-542-1061 or by writing to Broadridge Householding Department

51 Mercedes Way Edgewood New York 11717 You will be removed from the householding program within

30 days of receipt of your instructics at which time you will be sent separate copies of these documents

Beneficial shareholders can request more information about householding from their brokers banks or other

holders of record

Tabulation of Votes

Tabulation of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting will be performed by Broadridge as inspected by our duly

appointed inspectors of election

Boards Recommendations

Subject to revocation all proxies that are properly completed and timely received will be voted in accordance with

the instructions contained therein If no instructions are given excluding broker non-votes the persons named as

proxy holders will vote the common shares in accordance with the recommendations of the Board The Boards

recommendations are set forth together with the description of each proposal in this Proxy Statement In summary

the Board recommends vote FOR the election of its nominated slate of directors see Proposal One ii FOR

the approval of the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan see Proposal Two iiiFOR the approval of the

amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan see Proposal Three iv FOR the amendment to our Amended Articles of

Incorporation see Proposal Four FOR the amendment to our Code of Regulations see Proposal Five and vi

FOR the ratification of Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2010

see Proposal Six If any other matter properly comes before the Annual Meeting or if director nominee named

in this Proxy Statement is unable to serve or for good cause will not serve the proxy holders will vote on such

matter or for substitute nominee as recommended by the Board

Quorum

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of majority of the outstanding common shares entitled to

be voted at the Annual Meeting will constitute quorum permitting us to conduct our business at the Annual

Meeting Proxies received but marked as abstentions and broker non-votes will be included in the calculation of

the number of common shares considered to be represented at the Annual Meeting for purposes of establishing

quorum
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Vote Required to Approve Proposal

Proposal One

For purposes of Proposal One the nine director nominees receiving the greatest number of votes cast shall be

elected as directors properly executed proxy marked as withholding authority with respect to the election of one

or more nominees for director will not be voted with respect to the nominee or nominees for director indicated

although it will be counted for purposes of determining whether there is quorum

Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines in an uncontested election i.e when all nominees are recommended

by the Board and the number of nominees is equal to or less than the number of Board seats any nominee for

director who receives fewer votes for his or her election than votes withheld is required to promptly tender

to the chair of the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee letter of resignation from the Board See the

Governance Majority Vote Policy section of this Proxy Statement for more information about this policy

Other Matters

For purposes of Proposal Two Proposal Three Proposal Four Proposal Five and Proposal Six the affirmative vote

of the holders of majority of the common shares represented in person or by proxy and entitled to vote on each

such matter will be required for approval properly executed proxy marked abstain with respect to Proposal

Two Proposal Three Proposal Four Proposal Five or Proposal Six will not be voted with respect to such matter

although it will be counted for
purposes of determining the number of common shares necessary for approval of

such matter Accordingly an abstention will have the effect of negative vote If no voting instructions are given

excluding broker non-votes the persons named as proxy holders on the proxy card will vote the common shares in

accordance with the recommendation of the Board

PROPOSAL ONE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

At the Annual Meeting the common shares represented by proxies will be voted unless otherwise specified for

the election of the nine director nominees named below All nine nominees are currently directors on the Board
Proxies cannot be voted at the Annual Meeting for more than nine persons

Set forth below is certain information relating to the director nominees including each nominees age as of the

end of fiscal 2009 tenure as director on the Board current Board committee memberships business experience

and principal occupation for the past five or more years the specific experience qualifications attributes or skills

of each nominee that led to the conclusion that the nominee should serve as director which are in addition to

the general qualifications discussed in the Selection of Nominees by the Board section below and other public

company directorships held by each nominee during the past ten years Directors are elected to serve until the next

annual meeting of shareholders and until their respective successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier

death resignation or removal

Current Committee Membership

Nominating

Corporate

Director Audit Compensation Governance

Since Committee Committee Committee

Strategic

Planning

Committee
nie Age

Jeffrey Berger 60 2006

Steven Fishnian 58 2005

Peter Hayes 67 2008

DaidT KolIat 71 1990

Brenda J.Lauderback 59 1997

Philip MaIoU 52 2003

Russell Solt 62 2003

James Teiier 60 2005

Dennis Tishkoff 66 1991

Committee Member

Committee Chair
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Jeffrey Berger is the former Executive Vice President Global Foodservice and President and Chief Executive

Officer of Heinz North America Foodservice manufacturer and marketer of processed food products The Board

would be well served by the perspective provided by Mr Bergers 14 years of experience as chief executive of

multibillion dollar company and his qualification as an audit committee financial expert as defined by applicable

SEC rules

Steven Fishman is the Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President of Big Lots Before joining us

in July 2005 Mr Fishman served as the President ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Restructuring Officer

of Rhodes Inc furniture retailer that filed for bankruptcy on November 2004 the Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of Franks Nursery Crafts Inc lawn and garden specialty retailer that filed for bankruptcy

on September 2004 and the President and Founder of SSF Resources Inc investment and consulting

Mr Fishmans strong leadership skills proven management capabilities and more than 35 years of diverse retail

experience with discount specialty and department store retailers including 24 years of experience in senior

executive role make Mr Fishman an excellent choice to continue serving on the Board

Peter Hayes is the former Chief Operating Officer of Variety Wholesalers Inc retailer Mr Hayes also

previously served as the President and Chief Operating Officer of Family Dollar Stores Inc retailer and the

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Gold Circle Richway divisions of Federated Department Stores Inc

retailer Mr Hayes experience in discount retail and his leadership experience at large corporations make him

well-suited to serve on the Board

David Kollat is the President and Founder of 22 Inc research and management consulting Mr Kollat is

also currently director of Limited Brands Inc where he is member of the compensation committee and the

finance committee Select Comfort Corporation where he is member of the compensation committee and the

corporate governance and nominating committee and Wolverine World Wide Inc where he is the lead director

and member of the compensation committee Mr Kollats experience in retail and marketing leadership

skills extensive service on the boards of other public companies and his advanced academic degrees in business

administration led to the conclusion that he would continue to be valuable member of the Board

Brenda Lauderback is the former President Wholesale Group of Nine West Group Inc retail and wholesale

footwear Ms Lauderback also previously served as the President Footwear Wholesale of U.S Shoe Corporation

retail and wholesale footwear and the Vice President General Merchandise Manager of Dayton Hudson

Corporation retail stores Ms Lauderback is also currently director of Dennys Corporation where she is

member of the compensation and incentives committee and the corporate governance and nominating committee

Select Comfort Corporation where she is the chair of the corporate governance
and nominating committee

and Wolverine World Wide Inc where she is the chair of the governance committee and member of the audit

committee Ms Lauderback previously served as director of Irwin Financial Corporation In addition to her

extensive service on the boards of other public companies Ms Lauderbacks experience in leadership roles of other

retailers make her well-suited to continue serving on the Board

Philip Mallott is an independent financial consultant and retail stock analyst at Coker Palmer securities

brokerage services Mr Mallott previously served as the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Intimate

Brands Inc retail stores Mr Mallott previously served as director of Tween Brands Inc Mr Mallotts

qualification as an audit committee financial expert his experience as certified public accountant his service

on the boards of other public companies and charitable organizations and his experience in leadership roles of

other retailers led to the conclusion that he would continue to be valuable member of the Board

Russell Solt is the former Director of Investor Relations of West Marine Inc specialty retailer and catalog

company where he also previously served as the Executive Vice President and ChiefFinancial Officer

Additionally Mr Solt previously served as the Chief Financial Officer of Venture Stores Inc discount retailer

and Williams-Sonoma Inc specialty retailer Mr Solts experience as certified public accountant and as the

Chief Financial Officer of other publicly-traded retailers his background in investor relations and his qualification

as an audit committee financial expert makes him well-suited to continue serving on the Board
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James Tener is the former President and Chief Operating Officer of Brook Mays Music Company retail

and wholesale music that filed for bankruptcy on July 11 2006 Mr Tener also previously served as the Chief

Operating Officer of The Sports Authority sporting goods retailer Mr Teners extensive experience in senior

leadership roles of other publicly-traded retailers and prior service on the board of privately-held company make
him solid choice to serve on the Board

Dennis Tishkoff is the Chairman and ChiefExecutive Officer of Drew Shoe Corporation footwear

manufacturer importer exporter retailer and wholesaler and the President of Tishkoff and Associates Inc retail

consultant Mr Tishkoff previously served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Shoe Corporation of

America footwear retailer Mr Tishkoffs extensive experience in senior management roles of other retailers and

wholesalers his experience with importing merchandise and his leadership skills led to the conclusion that he will

continue to be valuable member of the Board

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE LQR THE ELECTION OF EACH NOMINEE
LISTED ABOVE

GOVERNANCE

Board Leadership and Presiding Director

The Board is currently comprised of the nine individuals named in Proposal One eight of whom are independent

as defined by the applicable New York Stock Exchange NYSE and SEC rules non-employee directors

outside directors and one of whom is our chief executive officer CEO Our CEO serves as Chairman of

the Board The Board also has presiding director whose primary responsibility is to lead executive sessions of

the Board in which our CEO and other members of management are not present The role of presiding director is

rotated quarterly among the outside directors The presiding director is responsible for establishing an agenda for

the session over which he or she presides and upon the conclusion of an executive session of the Board meeting

with our CEO to address the matters discussed during the executive session

We believe that the current structure of the Board provides both independent leadership and the benefits afforded

by having our CEO also serve as Chairman of the Board As the individual with primary responsibility for

managing our day-to-day operations our CEO is best positioned to chair regular Board meetings as we discuss key
business and strategic issues Coupled with an independent presiding director this structure provides independent

oversight while avoiding unnecessary confusion regarding the Boards oversight responsibilities and the day-to-day

management of our business operations The Board also believes that Mr Fishmans leadership integrity and vision

have been instrumental in our success and that he has the ability to execute both the short-term and long-term

strategies necessary for the competitive marketplace in which we operate Additionally we have implemented

mechanisms that we believe will ensure that we continue to maintain high standards of corporate governance and

the continued accountability of our CEO to the Board including super-majority of independent outside directors

on the Board the use of presiding director and the appointment of only independent outside directors to chair

and serve on each of the standing Board committees

Board Meetings in Fiscal 2009

Five meetings of the Board were held during fiscal 2009 During fiscal 2009 each director attended at least 75%
of the aggregate of all meetings of the Board and all meetings held by the committees on which he or she served

in each case held during the periods that he or she served It is our policy that each director nominee standing

for election be present at the annual meeting of shareholders Each director named in Proposal One attended the

most recent annual meeting of shareholders held in May 2009 Under our Corporate Governance Guidelines each

director is expected to dedicate sufficient time and attention to ensure the diligent performance of his or her duties

including attending meetings of the shareholders the Board and the committees of which he or she is member

Role of the Boards Committees

The Board has standing Audit Compensation and Nominating Corporate Governance Committees In fiscal 2009
the Board formed the Strategic Planning Committee Each committee reports on its activities to the Board
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Audit Committee

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility

with respect to the integrity of the financial reports and other financial information provided by us to our

shareholders and others ii our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements iiithe engagement of our

independent registered public accounting firm and the evaluation of the firms qualifications independence and

performance iv the performance of our system of internal controls our audit accounting and financial

reporting processes generally and vi the evaluation of enterprise risk issues The Audit Committee was

established in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Exchange Act and each

of its members is independent as required by the Audit Committees charter and by the applicable NYSE and

SEC rules The Board has determined that Mr Mallott Mr Berger and Mr Solt each satisfy the standards for an

audit committee financial expert as defined by applicable SEC rules Each member of the Audit Committee is

financially literate as required by NYSE rules

The functions of the Audit Committee are further described in its charter which is available in the Investor

Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption The Audit

Committee met eight times during fiscal 2009

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee discharges the responsibilities of the Board relating to the administration of our

compensation programs including the compensation program for the members of our executive management

committee EMC The EMC is currently comprised of 12 employees the five executives named in the

Summary Compensation Table named executive officers and all other executive vice presidents and senior

vice presidents

The Compensation Committee is involved in establishing our general compensation philosophy overseeing the

development of our compensation programs reviewing and recommending to the Board the compensation for the

EMC members administering our equity-based compensation plans and reporting on the entirety of the executive

compensation program to the Board All members of the Compensation Committee are independent as required by

the Committees charter and NYSE rules

The functions of the Compensation Committee are further described in its charter which is available in the

Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption The

Compensation Committee met nine times during fiscal 2009

Nominating Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for recommending individuals to the Board

for nomination as members of the Board and its committees taking leadership role in shaping our corporate

governance policies and practices including recommending to the Board changes to our Corporate Governance

Guidelines and monitoring compliance with such guidelines and reviewing the compensation of the members

of the Board and recommending any changes to the Board for its approval All members of the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee are independent as required by the Committees charter and NYSE rules

The functions of the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee are further described in its charter which

is available in the Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance

caption The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee met three times during fiscal 2009 The Corporate

Governance Guidelines which comply with NYSE rules can be found in the Investor Relations section of our

website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption

Strategic Planning Committee

The Strategic Planning Committee assists the Board and management in strategic planning including providing

guidance to the Board and management in the development of long-term business objectives and strategic plans

reviewing the long-term business objectives and strategic plans developed by management advising the Board

regarding significant mergers acquisitions and other similarsignificant transactions and monitoring issues

associated with CEO succession and management development All members of the Strategic Planning Committee

are independent and no member receives additional compensation for his or her service to the Committee
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The functions of the Strategic Planning Committee are further described in its charter which is available in the

Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption The

Strategic Planning Committee meets as it deems
necessary

Selection of Nominees by the Board

The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee has oversight over broad range of issues surrounding the

composition and operation of the Board The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for

recommending to the Board the appropriate skills and qualifications required of Board members based on our needs

from time to time The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee also evaluates prospective director nominees

against the standards and qualifications set forth in the Corporate Governance Guidelines Although the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee has not approved any specific minimum qualifications that must be met by
nominee for director recommended by the Committee and has not adopted policy with regard to the consideration of

diversity in identifying director nominees the Committee considers factors such as the prospective nominees relevant

experience character intelligence independence commitment judgment prominence age and compatibility with

our CEO and other members of the Board The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee also considers such

other relevant factors as it deems appropriate including the current composition of the Board diversity the balance

of management and independent directors and the need for committee expertise The Nominating Corporate

Governance Committee confers with the Board as to the criteria it intends to apply before the search for new
director nominee is commenced

In identifying potential candidates for Board membership the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee

considers recommendations from the Board shareholders and management shareholder who wishes to

recommend prospective director nominee to the Board must send written notice to Chair of the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee Big Lots Inc 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio 43228 The written notice

must include the prospective nominees name age business address principal occupation ownership of our

common shares information that would be required under the rules of the SEC in proxy statement soliciting

proxies for the election of such prospective nominee as director and any other information that is deemed

relevant by the recommending shareholder Shareholder recommendations that comply with these procedures and

that meet the factors outlined above will receive the same consideration that the recommendations of the Board and

management receive

Pursuant to its written charter the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee has the authority to retain

consultants and search firms to assist in the
process of identifying and evaluating director candidates and to

approve the fees and other retention terms for any such consultant or search firm No such firm was retained in

connection with the selection of the director nominees proposed for election at the Annual Meeting

After completing the evaluation of prospective nominee the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee

may make recommendation to the Board that the targeted individual be nominated by the Board and the Board

then decides whether to approve nominee after considering the recommendation and report of the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee Any invitation to join the Board is extended to prospective nominee through the

chair of the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee and our CEO after approval by the Board

Majority Vote Policy

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines include majority vote policy This policy requires any nominee for

director in an uncontested election i.e when all nominees are recommended by the Board and the number of

nominees is equal to or less than the number of Board seats at an annual meeting of shareholders who receives

fewer votes for his or her election than votes withheld from such election to promptly tender his or her

resignation from the Board Upon its receipt of such resignation the Nominating Corporate Governance

Committee will promptly consider the resignation and recommend to the Board whether to accept the resignation

or to take other action such as reject the resignation and address the apparent underlying cause of the withheld

votes The Board will act on the recommendation of the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee no

later than 100 days following the certification of the shareholder vote The Nominating Corporate Governance

Committee in making its recommendation and the Board in making its decision will evaluate such resignation in

light of the best interests of Big Lots and our shareholders and may consider any factors and other information they

deem relevant We will promptly publicly disclose the Boards decision in periodic or current report to the SEC
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Determination of Director Independence

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Guidelines the Board undertook its most recent annual review of director

independence in March 2010 During this annual review the Board considered all transactions relationships and

arrangements between each director his or her affiliates and any member of his or her immediate family on one

hand and Big Lots its subsidiaries and members of senior management on the other hand The purpose of this

review was to determine whether any such transactions or relationships were inconsistent with determination that

the director is independent in accordance with NYSE rules

As result of this review the Board affirmatively determined that with the exception of Mr Fishman all of

the directors nominated for election at the Annual Meeting are independent of Big Lots its subsidiaries and its

management under the standards set forth in the NYSE rules and no director nominee has material relationship

with Big Lots its subsidiaries or its management aside from his or her service as director Mr Fishman is not an

independent director due to his employment with Big Lots

In determining that each of the directors other than Mr Fishman is independent the Board considered charitable

contributions to not-for-profit organizations of which our directors or immediate family members are executive

officers or directors none of which approached the disqualifying thresholds set forth in the NYSE rules Accordingly

the Board determined that each of the transactions and relationships it considered was immaterial and did not

impair the independence of any of the directors

Related Person Transactions

The Board and the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee have the responsibility for monitoring

compliance with our corporate governance policies practices and guidelines applicable to our directors nominees

for director officers and employees The Board and the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee have

enlisted the assistance of our General Counsel and human resources management to fulfill this duty Our

written Corporate Governance Guidelines Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Code of Ethics for Financial

Professionals and human resources policies address governance
matters and prohibit without the consent of the

Board or the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee directors officers and employees from engaging in

transactions that conflict with our interests or that otherwise usurp corporate opportunities

Pursuant to our written related person transaction policy the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee also

evaluates related person
transactions Consistent with SEC rules we consider related person transaction to be

any transaction arrangement or relationship or any series of similar transactions arrangements or relationships

involving more than $120000 in which we and any of our directors nominees for director executive officers

holders of more than five percent of our common shares or their immediate family members were or are to be

participant and ii in which such related person had or will have direct or indirect material interest Under

our policy our directors executive officers and other members of management are responsible for bringing all

transactions whether proposed or existing of which they have knowledge and that they believe may constitute

related person transactions to the attention of our General Counsel If our General Counsel determines that the

transaction constitutes related person transaction our General Counsel will notify the chair of the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee Thereafter the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee will review

considering all factors and information it deems relevant and either approve or disapprove the related person

transaction in light of what it believes to be the best interests of Big Lots and our shareholders If advance approval

is not practicable or if related person
transaction that has not been approved is discovered the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee shall promptly consider whether to ratify the related person
transaction Where

advance approval is not practicable or we discover related person transaction that has not been approved and

in each such case the Committee disapproves the transaction the Committee will taking into account all of the

factors and information it deems relevant including the rights available to us under the transaction determine

whether we should amend rescind or terminate the transaction in light of what it believes to be the best interests

of our shareholders and company We do not intend to engage in related person transactions disapproved by the

Nominating Corporate Governance Committee Examples of factors and information that the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee may consider include the reasons for entering into the transaction ii

the terms of the transaction iiithe benefits of the transaction to us iv the comparability of the transaction to

similar transactions with unrelated third parties the materiality of the transaction to each party vi the nature

of the related persons interest in the transaction vii the potential impact of the transaction on the status of an

independent outside director and viii the alternatives to the transaction
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Additionally on an annual basis each director nominee for director and executive officer is obligated to complete

questionnaire that requires written disclosure of any related person transaction These questionnaires are

reviewed by the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee and our General Counsel to identify any potential

conflicts of interest or potential related person transactions

Based on our most recent review conducted in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 we have not engaged in any related

person transactions since the beginning of fiscal 2009

Boards Role in Risk Oversight

The Board and its committees play an important role in overseeing the identification assessment and mitigation
of risks that are material to us In fulfilling this responsibility the Board and its committees regularly consult with

management to evaluate and when appropriate modify our risk management strategies While each committee is

responsible for evaluating certain risks and overseeing the management of such risks the entire Board is regularly
informed about such risks through committee reports

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility relating to the performance of our

system of internal controls legal and regulatory compliance our audit accounting and financial reporting processes

and the evaluation of enterprise risk issues particularly those risk issues not overseen by other committees The

Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to our compensation

programs The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee manages risks associated with corporate governance
related person transactions and business conduct and ethics The Strategic Planning Committee assists the Board

and management in managing risks related to strategic planning succession planning and significant mergers and

acquisitions The Public Policy and Environmental Affairs Committee management committee that reports to

the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee oversees management of risks associated with public policy

environmental and social matters that may affect our operations performance or public image

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals

We have Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which is applicable to all of our directors officers and employees
We also have Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals which is applicable to our principal executive officer

principal financial officer principal accounting officer controller and other persons performing similar functions

Both the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals are available in the

Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption We intend

to post amendments to or waivers from any applicable provision related to elements listed under Item 406b of

Regulation S-K of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and the Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals in
each case to the extent applicable to our principal executive officer principal financial officer principal accounting

officer controller or persons performing similar functions if any at this location on our website

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal 2009 Mr Solt Mr Tener and Mr Tishkoff served on our Compensation Committee No member of our

Compensation Committee serves or has served at any time as one of our officers or employees or has or during fiscal

2009 had material interest in any related
person transaction as defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K None of our

executive officers serve or during fiscal 2009 served as member of the board of directors or compensation committee of

any other company that has or had an executive officer serving as member of the Board or our Compensation Committee

Communications with the Board

Shareholders and other parties interested in communicating directly with the Board with specified individual

directors or with the outside directors as group may do so by choosing one of the following options

Call the Board at 866 834-7325

Write to the Board at Big Lots Board of Directors 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio 43228-5311

E-mail the Board at www.biglots.ethicspoint.com
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Under process approved by the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee for handling correspondence received by

us and addressed to outside directors our General Counsel reviews all such correspondence and forwards to the Board or

appropriate members of the Board summary and/or copies of any such correspondence that deals with the functions of the

Board members or committees thereof or otherwise requires their attention Directors may at any time review log of all

correspondence received by us and directed to members of the Board and may request copies of any
such correspondence

Concerns relating to our accounting internal accounting controls or auditing matters will be referred to members of the

Audit Committee Concerns relating to the Board or members of senior management will be referred to the members of

the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee Parties submitting communications to the Board may choose to do

so anonymously or confidentially Except when communications are sent anonymously or confidentially parties sending

written communications to the Board will receive written acknowledgement upon our receipt of the communication

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Under the Big Lots Inc Non-Employee Director Compensation Package established by the Board each outside

director is compensated for Board and committee participation in the form of retainers and fees and restricted

stock award

Retainers and Fees

The retainers and fees for outside directors in fiscal 2009 consisted of an annual retainer of $45000 ii an

additional annual retainer of $15000 for the chair of the Audit Committee iii an additional annual retainer of

$10000 for the chairs of the Compensation Committee and the Nominating Corporate Governance Committee

iv $1500 for each Board meeting attended in person $1250 for each committee meeting attended in person

vi $500 for each Board or committee meeting attended telephonically and vii the ability to nominate charity

to receive donation of up to $10000 from us No retainers or fees are paid in connection with directors service

to the Strategic Planning Committee During fiscal 2009 Messrs Berger Hayes Kollat Mallott Solt Tener and

Tishkoff and Ms Lauderback qualified as outside directors and thus received compensation for their Board

service Due to his employment with us Mr Fishman did not qualify as an outside director and did not receive

compensation for his service as director The compensation received by Mr Fishman as an employee is shown in

the Summary Compensation Table included in this Proxy Statement

Restricted Stock

In fiscal 2009 the outside directors also received restricted stock award having grant date fair value equal to

approximately $75000 3186 common shares The fiscal 2009 restricted stock awards were made in June 2009

under the 2005 Incentive Plan The restricted stock awarded to the outside directors in fiscal 2009 will vest on

the earlier of the trading day immediately preceding the Annual Meeting or ii the outside directors death

or disability as that term is defined in the 2005 Incentive Plan However the restricted stock will not vest if the

outside director ceases to serve on the Board before either vesting event occurs
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Director Compensation Table for Fiscal 2009

The following table summarizes the compensation earned by each outside director for his or her Board service in

fiscal 2009

Change in

Pension

Value and

Nonqualified

Fees Earned Non-Equity Deferred

Incentive Plan Compensation

Compensation Earnings

Mr Flayes 51.500 74.998 10.000 136.498

Mr Kollat 64.000 74 998 10000 148998

Mr Solt 63.250 74.998 10.000 148248

Mr Tener 56.250 74 998 10000 141248

Mr Tishkoff 66250 74998 10000 151248

Amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted stock awards granted to

the outside directors in fiscal 2009 as computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 ASC 718 excluding the effect of any estimated forfeitures

The full grant date fair value of the fiscal 2009 restricted stock award granted to each outside director as

computed in accordance with ASC 718 was based on individual awards of 3186 common shares at per

common share value of $23.54 on the grant date i.e $74998 per
outside director In accordance with ASC

718 and the 2005 Incentive Plan the per common share grant date value is the
average of the opening price

and the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on the grant date

As of January 30 2010 each individual included in the table held 3186 shares of restricted stock

Prior to fiscal 2008 the outside directors received an annual stock option award under the Big Lots Inc

Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan DSO Plan The DSO Plan was terminated on May 30
2008 and no stock option awards were granted to any outside directors in fiscal 2009 As of January 30 2010

each individual included in the table held stock options to purchase the following number of common shares

Mr Berger 20000 Mr Hayes Mr Kollat 70000 Ms Lauderback 40000 Mr Mallott 39500 Mr Solt

22000 Mr Tener 20000 and Mr Tishkoff 24000

Amounts in this column reflect payments made by us during fiscal 2009 to charitable organizations

nominated by the specified directors pursuant to the Big Lots Inc Non-Employee Director Compensation

Package

or Stock Option

Paid in Cash Awards Awards

S12 $3

All

Other

Compensation

$4
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STOCK OWNERSHIP

Ownership of Our Common Shares by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information with regard to the beneficial ownership of our common shares

by each holder of more than five percent of our common shares each director each of the executive officers named

in the Summary Compensation Table and all our executive officers and directors as group The assessment of

holders of more than five percent of our common shares is based on review of and reliance upon their respective

filings with the SEC Except as otherwise indicated all information is as of March 12 2010

Jeffrey Berger 23611

Steven Fishman

David Kollat 85939

Philip Mallott 34611

i4Lli
Russell Solt 23611

Dennis Tishkoff 8220

BlackRock Inc 8724113 10.6%

fl fl flnaa fl

Ii

Each person named in the table has sole voting power and sole dispositive power with respect to all common

shares shown as beneficially owned by such person except as otherwise stated in the footnotes to this

table The amounts set forth in the table include common shares that may be acquired within 60 days of

March 12 2010 under stock options exercisable within that period The number of common shares that may
be acquired within 60 days of March 12 2010 under stock options exercisable within that period are as

follows Ms Bachmann 134937 Mr Berger 16000 Mr Cooper 28125 Mr Fishman 585000 Mr Hayes

Mr Kollat 70000 Ms Lauderback 36000 Mr Mallott 26000 Mr Martin 22500 Mr Solt 18000

Mr Tener 16000 Mr Tishkoff Mr Waite 9375 and all directors and executive officers as group

1333237

In its Schedule 13G filed on January 2010 BlackRock Inc 40 East 52nd Street New York NY 10022

stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31 2009

had sole voting power and sole dispositive power over all of the shares and had no shared voting power or

shared dispositive power over the shares

Name of Beneficial

Amount and Nature of

Beneficial Ownership

Percent of

Outstanding

Sasco Inc

Represents less than 1.0% of the outstanding common shares
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In its Schedule 13G/A filed on February 2010 The Vanguard Group Inc 100 Vanguard Blvd

Malvern PA 19355 stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table

as of December 31 2009 had sole voting power over 132066 of the shares had sole dispositive power

over 4994399 of the shares had shared dispositive power over 118066 of the shares and had no shared

voting power over the shares In its Schedule 13G/A this reporting person indicated that its wholly-owned

subsidiary Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company was the beneficial owner and directs the voting of 118066

common shares

In its Schedule 13G/A filed on February 2010 Sasco Capital Inc 10 Sasco Hill Road Fairfield CT 06824
stated that it beneficially owned the number of common shares reported in the table as of December 31 2009
had sole voting power over 1668270 of the shares had sole dispositive power over all of the shares and had

no shared voting power or shared dispositive power over the shares

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers and persons who beneficially own

more than 10% of our outstanding common shares to file with the SEC and the NYSE initial reports of ownership

and reports of changes in ownership of our common shares Executive officers directors and greater than 10%

shareholders are required by the regulations of the SEC to furnish us with copies of all Section 16a reports they

file Based solely upon review of the Section 16a reports filed on behalf of these persons with the SEC and the

written representations of our directors and executive officers that no other reports were required by them we

believe that all of our directors and executive officers and greater than 10% shareholders complied during fiscal

2009 with the reporting requirements of Section 16a of the Exchange Act

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed the following Compensation Discussion and Analysis

CDA with management and based on such review and discussion the Compensation Committee

recommended to the Board that the CDA be included in this Proxy Statement and our Annual Report on Form

10-K for fiscal 2009 Form 10-K

Members of the Compensation Committee

Dennis Tishkoff Chair

Russell Solt

James Tener

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Our Executive Compensation Program

Philosophy and Objectives

We believe it is important to provide competitive compensation to attract and retain talented executives to lead

our business We also believe an executive compensation program should encourage high levels of corporate and

individual performance by motivating executives to continually improve our business in order to promote sustained

profitability and enhanced shareholder value This philosophy drives our executive compensation program

Consistent with our philosophy each of the named executive officers total compensation varies based on his or her

leadership performance experience responsibilities and the achievement of financial and business goals To better

ensure that our executive compensation program advances the interests of our shareholders the value of bonus

opportunities and equity awards under the program depends upon our financial performance and/or the price of our

common shares As named executive officers level of responsibility and the potential impact that named executive

officer could have on our operations and financial condition increase the percentage of the named executive officers

compensation that is at risk through bonus and equity incentive compensation also increases
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The Board and the Compensation Committee of the Board which we refer to as the Committee throughout this

CDA periodically review our executive compensation philosophy and consider factors that may influence

change in our executive compensation philosophy Consistent with our executive compensation philosophy the

Committee has identified the following key objectives for our executive compensation program

Attract and retain executives by paying them amounts and offering them elements of compensation that

are competitive and comparable to those paid and offered by most companies in our peer groups

We believe key factor in attracting and retaining qualified executives is to provide total compensation

that is competitive with the total compensation paid by companies in our compensation peer groups
discussed in the Comparative Compensation Data section of this CDA In addition we believe most

executives who consider changing employers expect to receive the same compensation elements that are

provided by companies in our peer groups
and/or their current employer As we believe it is necessary

to offer executive candidates elements of compensation consistent with other companies within our

peer groups we generally do not structure our executive compensation program to be competitive with

companies outside of our peer groups although we may do so to attract particular candidate that we
believe is well-suited for our business We believe the amounts and elements of compensation that we
offer make us competitive within our peer groups and offering competitive packages has enabled us in

recent
years to attract and retain quality executives We believe failing to offer competitive amounts and

elements of compensation to candidates and our executives would impair our ability to attract and retain

high level of executive talent

Each of the elements of compensation we provide serves different role in attracting and retaining

executives Salary serves as short-term retention tool Bonus under the 2006 Bonus Plan is based on

annual corporate financial performance and is designed primarily to retain executives on year-to-year

basis Stock options issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan vest over four years in prorated annual

increments and provide executives with an incentive to remain with us for up to the
seven-year term

of the stock option Restricted stock awarded to executives under the 2005 Incentive Plan
encourages

executives to remain with us for up to five years after the award date as the restricted stock generally

vests only if we meet threshold corporate financial goal first trigger and ii either we meet

another more challenging corporate financial goal second trigger or the five-year period following

the grant date lapses Accordingly the restricted stock
encourages

retention for up to five years with

the period being reduced if we are performing at high level We believe that the perceived value to

the executives of the personal benefits and perquisites we offer to them and the convenience of having

these benefits when faced with the demands of their positions makes them meaningful element of our

compensation program

Motivate executives to contribute to our success and reward them for their performance

We use the bonus and equity elements of our executive compensation program as the primary tools to

motivate our executives to continually improve our business in order to promote sustainable profitability

and enhanced shareholder value These compensation elements provide executives with meaningful

incentives to meet or exceed the corporate financial goals set by our Board each year

For an executive to earn bonus under the 2006 Bonus Plan we must achieve minimum corporate

performance amount established by the Committee at time when achievement of that amount is

substantially uncertain Although bonuses will be paid to executives under the 2006 Bonus Plan for

fiscal
years

in which we achieve minimum or target corporate performance amounts our executives

also have an opportunity to earn up to double the amount of their target bonus compensation if we
exceed the target corporate performance amount Conversely if we do not meet the minimum corporate

performance amount executives do not receive bonus under the 2006 Bonus Plan We believe this

structure is essential to motivate executives to not only meet the goals we set but also to surpass

those goals

Restricted stock granted to executives under the 2005 Incentive Plan is full value award Accordingly

we believe it is appropriate for us to require the achievement of at least predetermined threshold

corporate financial goal i.e the first trigger before restricted stock issued under the 2005 Incentive
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Plan may vest We believe imposing performance requirement in the form of corporate financial

goal which is established by the Committee at time when achievement of the goal is substantially

uncertain encourages positive performance and protects our shareholders from dilution in the absence

of our performance As discussed above restricted stock awarded to our executives vests on an

accelerated basis if we achieve the second trigger The second trigger is established when the award is

made and is typically based on projected multi-year corporate operating plan

Align the interests of executives and shareholders through incentive-based executive compensation

We pay bonuses to executives under the 2006 Bonus Plan only if we meet or exceed corporate

performance goals Stock options awarded under the 2005 Incentive Plan are valuable only if the

market price of our common shares exceeds the exercise price during the period in which the stock

options may be exercised Restricted stock awarded under the 2005 Incentive Plan vests only if we

achieve threshold corporate performance goal i.e the first trigger and its value is determined by the

market price of our common shares Accordingly the realization and value of each of these elements of

compensation is dependent upon our performance and/or the appreciation in the value of our common

shares

In fiscal 2009 79.7% of the total compensation earned by the named executive officers was derived

from incentive compensation in the form of bonuses non-equity incentive plan compensation stock

options and restricted stock as each is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table We believe

this demonstrates that our executive compensation program is closely aligned with the interests of

our shareholders We do not apply specific formula or set specific percentage at which incentive

compensation is targeted or awarded for the named executive officers individually or as group Rather

the amount of total compensation that may be earned by each named executive officer through these

forms of incentive compensation is subjectively determined based on each named executive officers

level of responsibility and potential impact on our operations and financial condition The percentage

of total compensation that named executive officer may earn through these forms of incentive

compensation generally increases as the executives level of responsibility and impact on our business

increases

Following the end of each fiscal year we calculate and review the at-risk incentive compensation

awarded to each named executive officer in that fiscal year as percentage of the total executive

compensation awarded to the named executive officer in that fiscal year to evaluate how effectively

our incentive compensation programs address our objective of aligning executive compensation with the

interests of our shareholders We compute this calculation as follows

At-R
Grant date

At-Risk iS

fair value of Grant date fair value Maximum possible payout under

Incentive Incentive

stock of option awards non-equity incentive plan awards

Compensation Compensation
awards

asa

Percentage of Change in pension

Total
Total value and

At-Risk
Executive nonqualified All other

xecuuve
Salary Incentive

Compensation deferred compensation
ompensaLion Compensation

Awarded
Awarded compensation

earnings

The components of at-risk incentive compensation are the potential values to the named executive

officer upon award as reflected in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2009 table following

this CDA The components of the total executive compensation awarded other than at-risk incentive

compensation are the amounts actually earned by the named executive officer as reflected in the

Summary Compensation Table following this CDA
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For fiscal 2009 the percentage of the total executive compensation awarded that was derived from at-

risk incentive compensation for the named executive officers was as follows

Fiscal 2009 At-Risk Incentive Compensation

as Percentage of

Total Executive Compensation AwardedNa me

Mr Fishman 86.6

Mr Cooper 72.8

Mr Waite 68.3

Mr Martin 68.1

Ms Bachmann 72.5

All non-C FO named executive officers as group 70.4

All named executive olTicers as group 79.7

We believe the significant portion of total executive compensation awarded to the named executive

officers as at-risk incentive compensation exemplifies the emphasis of our executive compensation

program on pay for performance In rewarding performance through at-risk incentive compensation

we believe we align the interests of our executives with those of our shareholders

Manage executive compensation costs

As we discuss in greater detail in the Comparative Compensation Data section of this CDA we

compare the compensation paid to our executives with the compensation paid to similarly-situated

executives at companies within our peer groups While this comparison is not determinative factor for

setting compensation for our executives we believe our review of the
peer group data provides market

check and supports our belief that we do not
overpay our executives and we effectively manage our

executive compensation costs

Focus on corporate governance

Although the compensation committee at some companies makes all compensation decisions with

respect to their executives we believe it is consistent with best practices in corporate governance to

reach consensus among all outside directors when establishing executive compensation each year

While the Committee takes the lead in formulating executive compensation we seek the approval of

our five additional outside directors before finalizing annual executive compensation to provide an

additional check on the appropriateness of the amounts awarded

Elements of In-Service Executive Compensation

The primary compensation elements for the named executive officers consist of salary bonus opportunities under

the 2006 Bonus Plan and equity awards made under the 2005 Incentive Plan In addition the named executive

officers are entitled to certain personal benefits and perquisites We believe each of these elements and the

mix of elements is
necessary to provide competitive executive compensation program is consistent with our

compensation philosophy and furthers our compensation objectives

The Committee reviews each element at least annually Individual and corporate performance directly impacts

the elements and amount of compensation paid to our named executive officers For instance named executive

officers failure to meet individual goals may lead to reduction in his or her compensation failure to receive

equity awards or the termination of his or her employment Conversely excellent corporate performance may lead

to greater bonus payouts and possibly to the achievement of financial goals that accelerate restricted stock vesting

The Committee and the other outside directors also have discretion subject to the limitations contained in our

bonus and equity plans and the executives employment agreements in setting named executive officers salary

bonus opportunities and equity awards
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Salary

Salary is cash compensation and is established annually for each named executive officer minimum

salary for each named executive officer is set forth in his or her respective employment agreement as

described below Salary adjustments are subjectively determined and are not formally tied to specific

performance criteria The Committee has not adopted any specific schedule of salary increases and

makes adjustments to the named executive officers respective salaries without regard to adjustments in

the salaries of other executives

Bonus

Each named executive officer has the opportunity to earn an annual cash bonus under the 2006 Bonus

Plan Bonus payouts correspond to percentage of each named executive officers salary payout

percentage and are based on whether we achieve certain corporate performance amounts under one or

more financial measures The corporate performance amounts and financial measures are set annually

at the discretion of the Committee and the other outside directors in connection with the Boards

approval of our annual corporate operating plan subject to the terms of the 2006 Bonus Plan and the

named executive officers employment agreements

The lowest level at which we will pay bonus under the 2006 Bonus Plan is referred to as the floor

bonus is not paid under the 2006 Bonus Plan if we do not achieve at least the corporate performance

amount that earns floor bonus The level at which we generally plan our performance and the

associated payout under the 2006 Bonus Plan is referred to as the target The maximum level at which

we will pay bonus under the 2006 Bonus Plan is referred to as the stretch If our performance in

fiscal
year

exceeds the minimum corporate performance amount that earns floor bonus there is

corresponding increase in the amount of the bonus up to maximum at the stretch bonus level

Bonuses paid to the named executive officers under the 2006 Bonus Plan are considered Non-Equity

Incentive Plan Compensation in the Summary Compensation Table See the Bonus and Equity Plans

disclosure that follows the Summary Compensation Table and Proposal Three for more information

concerning the 2006 Bonus Plan

Equity

All equity awards granted to the named executive officers since January 2006 have been issued under

the 2005 Incentive Plan Although the 2005 Incentive Plan allows us to issue various types of equity

awards we have granted only stock options and restricted stock under the 2005 Incentive Plan The

stock options vest based on the passage of time or if earlier upon the executives death or disability

provided such event occurs at least six months after the grant date The restricted stock vests based

on the achievement of the first trigger and then the achievement of the second trigger the passage of

time or the executives death or disability See the Bonus and Equity Plans disclosure that follows the

Summary Compensation Table and Proposal Two for more information concerning the 2005 Incentive

Plan and the terms under which we have granted equity awards

Personal Benefits/Perquisites

The following are the personal benefits and perquisites that are generally provided only to employees

at or above the vice president level coverage under the Big Lots Executive Benefit Plan Executive

Benefit Plan ii enhanced long-term disability insurance coverage and iiiuse of an automobile or

payment of an automobile allowance Mr Fishman is also permitted to make limited non-business use

of corporate aircraft We believe that these personal benefits and perquisites although immaterial to us

in amount are an important element of total compensation provided to our executives because of the

value our executives place on these benefits and the convenience of having these benefits when faced

with the demands of their positions The Committee evaluates and determines the personal benefits

and perquisites received by named executive officers during its annual review of the named executive

officers total compensation

We offer all full-time employees medical and dental benefits under the Big Lots Associate Benefit Plan

Benefit Plan We also offer employees at or above the vice president level including the named

executive officers the opportunity to participate in the Executive Benefit Plan which reimburses
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executives for health-related costs incurred but not covered under the Benefit Plan up to an annual

maximum reimbursement of $40000 per family Amounts received by named executive officers

under the Executive Benefit Plan are treated as taxable income and we reimburse each executive

the approximate amount of his or her income tax liability relating to the benefits received under the

Executive Benefit Plan

We also offer short-term disability coverage to all full-time employees and long-term disability

coverage to all salaried employees For the named executive officers the benefits provided under the

long-term disability plan are greater than for employees below the vice president level Under the long-

term disability coverage named executive officer may receive 67% of his or her monthly salary up to

$25000 per month until the executive is no longer disabled or turns age 65 whichever occurs earlier

We also pay the premiums for this long-term disability coverage and the amount necessary to hold the

named executive officer harmless from the income taxes resulting from such premium payments

All employees at or above the vice president level have the option of the use of an automobile or

accepting monthly automobile allowance The value of the automobile and the amount of the

automobile allowance are determined based on the employees level

In fiscal 2009 the Compensation Committee authorized Mr Fishman to use corporate aircraft for

non-business flights up to limit of $80000 which amount represents the aggregate incremental cost

incurred by us to operate those flights Given the delays associated with early check-in requirements

security clearances baggage claim and the need for additional time to avoid missing flight due to

possible delays at any point in the process commercial travel has become even more inefficient in

recent years Accordingly making the aircraft available to Mr Fishman allowed him to efficiently

and securely conduct business during both business and non-business flights and to maximize his

availability to conduct business before and after his flights In approving this benefit the Compensation

Committee took into account Mr Fishmans extensive travel schedule which whether primarily for

business or non-business purposes frequently included business element e.g visits to our stores

or potential store locations We also believe that the value of this benefit to Mr Fishman in terms of

convenience and time savings exceeded the aggregate incremental cost that we incurred to make the

aircraft available to him and therefore was an efficient form of compensation for him We reported

imputed income for income tax purposes for the value of Mr Fishmans non-business use of corporate

aircraft based on the Standard industry Fare Level in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code

of 1986 as amended IRC and the regulations promulgated thereunder We did not reimburse or

otherwise gross-up Mr Fishman for any income tax obligation attributed to his non-business use of

corporate aircraft

Employment Agreements

Each named executive officer is party to an employment agreement with us The terms of the employment

agreements are substantially similarand are described collectively herein except where their terms materially differ

We entered into the employment agreements because the agreements provide us with several protections including

non-competition confidentiality non-solicitation and continuing cooperation provisions in exchange for minimum

salary levels and target and stretch bonus payout percentages potential severance and change in control payments

and other benefits Further we believe it is in our best interests and the best interests of our shareholders to enter

into the employment agreements to assure the undivided loyalty and dedication of the named executive officers

We entered into revised employment agreements with each named executive officer in fiscal 2008 for the principal

purpose of conforming the named executive officers prior employment agreements to the substantive and

procedural requirements of Section 409A Section 409A of the 1RC and the regulations promulgated thereunder

We negotiated the terms of each employment agreement including the minimum salary levels and minimum target

and stretch bonus payout percentages set forth therein with the executive In those negotiations we considered

many factors including

our need for the executive

the executives level of responsibility and the potential impact that the executive could have on our

operations and financial condition
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the skills and past and anticipated future performance of the executive

the degree to which we believe the executive will be able to help improve our business

the compensation being paid to similarly-situated executives at peer group companies

the relationship between the compensation being offered to the executive and that being paid to the

other EMC members

our perception of our bargaining power and the executives bargaining power and

to the extent applicable the elements and amounts of compensation being offered or being paid to the

executive by another employer

Under the terms of their employment agreements the named executive officers are each entitled to receive at

least the following salaries which amounts are not subject to automatic increases Mr Fishman $1200000

Mr Cooper $440000 Mr Waite $550000 Mr Martin $520000 and Ms Bachmann $440000 The terms

of each named executive officers employment agreement also establish the minimum payout percentages that

may be set annually for his or her target and stretch bonus levels The payout percentages set by the employment

agreements for target bonus and stretch bonus respectively are as follows expressed as percentage of the

executives salary Mr Fishman 100% and 200% Mr Cooper 60% and 120% Mr Waite 75% and 150%

Mr Martin 60% and 120% and Ms Bachmann 60% and 120% The employment agreements also provide each

named executive officer with an automobile or automobile allowance

Upon our entry into the original employment agreements with the named executive officers we believed the

executives salaries and payout percentages were commensurate with each executives job responsibilities

overall individual performance experience qualifications and salaries and the payout percentages provided to

similarly-situated executives at peer companies When the employment agreements were revised in fiscal 2008

the Committee and each named executive officer agreed to update the salary and payout percentages to reflect

the awards made by the Committee and other outside directors in March 2008 The Committee believed these

actions were appropriate because the annual executive compensation review that it completed in fiscal 2008 before

entering into the revised employment agreements included review of the factors we considered when we initially

entered into an employment agreement with each executive Updating the salary and payout percentages in each

employment agreement was also offered by the Committee in consideration of the named executive officers

entry into the amended employment agreements Because the various factors considered when evaluating each

named executive officers salary and payout percentages change the Committee reviews the salaries and payout

percentages annually and adjustments are made if warranted See the Salary for Fiscal 2009 and Bonus for

Fiscal 2009 sections of this CDA for further discussion of the salaries and payout percentages for the named

executive officers for fiscal 2009

Each employment agreement requires the named executive officer to devote his or her full business time to our

affairs and prohibits the named executive officer from competing with us during his or her employment Each

named executive officers employment agreement also includes several restrictive covenants that survive the

termination of his or her employment including confidentiality infinite non-solicitation two years non-

disparagement infinite non-competition one year but reduced to six months following change in control and

continuing cooperation three years for Mr Fishman and infinite for the other named executive officers

Unless the executive and we mutually agree to amend or terminate his or her employment agreement its terms

will remain unchanged and it will remain effective as long as we employ the executive The consequences of

termination of employment under the employment agreements depend on the circumstances of the termination of

employment

Post-Termination and Change in Control Arrangements

The employment agreements with the named executive officers provide for potential severance and change

in control payments and other consideration The terms of these employment agreements were set through

negotiation during which we considered the various factors discussed in the prior section Our equity

compensation plans also provide for the accelerated vesting of outstanding stock options and restricted stock in

connection with change in control
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The severance provisions of the employment agreements are intended to address competitive concerns by

providing the executives with compensation that may alleviate the uncertainty associated with foregoing other

opportunities and if applicable leaving another employer The change in control provisions of the employment

agreements dictate that the executive receives certain cash payments and other benefits only if there is change in

control and the executive is terminated in connection with the change in control This double trigger is intended

to allow us to rely upon each named executive officers continued employment and objective advice without

concern that the named executive officer might be distracted by the personal uncertainties and risks created by an

actual or proposed change in control These potential benefits provide the named executive officers with important

protections that we believe are necessary to attract and retain executive talent

While the Committee considers the potential payments upon termination or change in control annually when it

establishes compensation for the applicable year this information is not primary consideration in setting salary

bonus payout percentages or equity compensation We believe that the objectives of attracting and retaining

qualified executives and providing incentives for executives to continue their employment with us would not be

adequately served if potential payments to named executive officer upon termination or change in control were

determinative factor in awarding current compensation

See the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control narrative disclosure and tables following

this CDA for discussion of compensation that may be paid to the named executive officers in connection with

change in control or the termination of their employment with us

Indemnification Agreements

Each named executive officer is party to an indemnification agreement with us Each indemnification agreement

provides the named executive officer with contractual right to indemnification from us in the event the executive

becomes subject to threatened or actual claim or lawsuit arising out of his or her service to us unless the act

or omission of the executive giving rise to the claim for indemnification was occasioned by his or her intent to

cause injury to us or by his or her reckless disregard for our best interests and in respect of any criminal action

or proceeding he or she had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful The indemnification

agreements are intended to allow us to rely upon each named executive officers objective advice without concern

that the named executive officer might be distracted by the personal uncertainties and risks created by threatened

or actual claim or lawsuit We believe that providing the named executive officers with the important protections

under the indemnification agreements is necessary to attract and retain executive talent

Retirement Plans

We maintain four retirement plans tax-qualified funded noncontributory defined benefit pension plan

Pension Plan ii non-qualified unfunded supplemental defined benefit pension plan Supplemental Pension

Plan iii tax-qualified defined contribution plan Savings Plan and iv non-qualified supplemental

defined contribution plan Supplemental Savings Plan We believe that the Savings Plan and Supplemental

Savings Plan are generally commensurate with the retirement plans provided by companies in our peer groups and

that providing these plans allows us to better attract and retain qualified executives Participation in the Pension

Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan which we do not believe are material elements of our executive compensation

program is limited to certain employees whose hire date precedes April 1994 Mr Waite is the only named
executive officer eligible to participate in the Pension Plan or Supplemental Pension Plan See the narrative

disclosure accompanying the Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation tables following this

CDA for discussion of our retirement plans

Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009

The Committee takes the lead in establishing executive compensation annually but seeks approval of

compensation decisions from the other outside directors The Committee believes having all outside directors

approve
executive compensation is consistent with best practices in

corporate governance The Committee also

requests from our CEO performance evaluations and recommendations on the compensation of the other EMC
members because of his direct knowledge of each other executives performance and contributions Additionally as

discussed in more detail below in the Role of Management and Independent Compensation Consultant sections

of this CDA the Committee consults with management and may engage independent compensation consultants

to take advantage of their specialized expertise
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The process
of evaluating our executives begins at our Board meeting in the second quarter of the fiscal year before

compensation adjustments will be made e.g in May 2008 for adjustments made in fiscal 2009 and continues

quarterly through updates that our CEO delivers to the outside directors to keep them apprised of the performance

of each other EMC member At our Committee and Board meetings in the first quarter of the fiscal year for which

compensation is being set e.g in March 2009 for fiscal 2009 compensation our CEO provides the Committee

and the other outside directors with thorough performance evaluation of each other EMC member and presents

his recommendations for their compensation The Committee also conducts executive sessions to evaluate our

CEOs performance with the most detailed evaluation including all outside directors during our first quarter Board

meeting See the Performance Evaluation section of this CDA for discussion of the factors considered by our

CEO the Committee and the other outside directors when evaluating performance

At its March 2009 meeting the Committee

reviewed and discussed the continued appropriateness of our executive compensation program

including its underlying philosophy objectives and policies

reviewed and discussed our CEOs performance contributions and value to our business

reviewed and discussed our CEOs performance evaluations and compensation recommendations for the

other EMC members

reviewed and discussed the comparative compensation data that it received through surveys conducted

by independent compensation consultants and management

analyzed the total compensation earned by each EMC member during the immediately preceding two

fiscal years

analyzed the potential payments to each EMC member upon termination of employment and change in

control events

considered the parameters on executive compensation awards established by the terms of the

shareholder-approved plans under which bonus and equity compensation may be awarded and the

employment agreements between us and each EMC member

prepared its recommendation on the compensation of each EMC member for fiscal 2009

determined that bonus was payable under the 2006 Bonus Plan as result of corporate performance in

fiscal 2008 and

determined that the first trigger for the fiscal 2008 restricted stock awards was achieved as result of

corporate performance in fiscal 2008

The Committee then shared its recommendations on the EMC members compensation including the underlying

data and analysis with the other outside directors for their consideration and approval The Committees

recommendations were with respect to the EMC members other than the CEO consistent with the CEOs

recommendations At the March 2009 Board meeting the outside directors discussed with the Committee

the form amount of and rationale for the recommended compensation and consistent with the Committees

recommendations finalized the compensation awards for the EMC members

Except where we discuss the specifics of named executive officers fiscal 2009 compensation the evaluation and

establishment of the named executive officers fiscal 2009 compensation was substantially similar Based on their

review of each element of executive compensation separately and in the aggregate the Committee and the other

outside directors determined that the named executive officers compensation for fiscal 2009 was reasonable and

not excessive and was consistent with our executive compensation philosophy and objectives

Salary for Fiscal 2009

The salaries paid to the named executive officers for fiscal 2009 are shown in the Salary column of the Summary

Compensation Table During its annual review of executive compensation in March 2009 the Committee and other

outside directors agreed to not increase the named executive officers salaries for fiscal 2009 While the Committee

and other outside directors believed that the named executive officers had each performed well and corporate

performance was strong in fiscal 2008 as discussed in the Performance Evaluation section of this CDA
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the uncertainty in the general economic conditions in the United States led the Committee and other outside

directors to decide to maintain the salaries of the named executive officers at their existing levels Accordingly the

Committee and other outside directors approved the following fiscal 2009 salaries for the named executive officers

Mr Fishman $1200000 Mr Cooper $440000 Mr Waite $550000 Mr Martin $520000 and Ms Bachmann

$440000 These annualized salaries became effective on March 22 2009

Bonus for Fiscal 2009

The bonuses paid to the named executive officers under the 2006 Bonus Plan for fiscal 2009 are shown in the

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table At its annual review in

March 2009 the Committee and other outside directors approved the financial measure corporate performance

amounts and payout percentages for the fiscal 2009 bonuses

The Committee and the other outside directors selected operating profit as the financial measure for the fiscal 2009

bonuses because they believe it is strong indicator of our profitability ongoing operating results and financial

condition The Committee and other outside directors selected the corporate performance amounts based on the

annual corporate operating plan set by the Board The corporate performance amounts were set slightly below for

the floor bonus at for the target bonus and above for the stretch bonus the projected operating profit in our

annual corporate operating plan The Committee and other outside directors believe the selected amounts provided

challenging but reasonable levels of performance that were appropriate in light of our projected corporate

operating plan for fiscal 2009 the then-current uncertainty around the general economic conditions in the United

States and our objective to promote sustained profitability while providing objectives that motivate our executives

Because the outside directors consider the specific circumstances that we expect to face in the coming fiscal year

e.g year-over-year comparable performance general economic factors and performance of the retail sector the

relationship between each of the corporate performance amounts and between the corporate performance amounts

and our annual corporate operating plan may vary significantly from year to year

The payout percentages for the named executive officers were made at the discretion of the Committee and the

other outside directors subject to the minimum payout percentages established in each named executive officers

employment agreement For fiscal 2009 the Committee and the other outside directors elected to maintain the

bonus payout percentages at the minimum levels established by the employment agreements which were the same

as the payout percentages in the prior fiscal year for each named executive officer This decision was primarily

driven by the belief that those bonus payout percentages were appropriate for fiscal 2009 to accomplish our

executive compensation objectives

In order to calculate bonuses under the 2006 Bonus Plan we first calculate the financial measure for
purposes

of

our financial statements Once calculated for purposes of our financial statements it is adjusted for
purposes

of

the bonus calculation to remove the effect of events transactions or accrual items set forth in the 2006 Bonus Plan

and approved by the Committee early each fiscal year when the corporate performance amount and bonus payout

percentages are established These adjustments may have the net effect of increasing or decreasing the resulting

corporate performance amount Additionally the Committee may exercise negative discretion to cancel or decrease

the bonuses earned but not increase bonus for covered employee as that term is used within Section 162m
of the IRC Accordingly the resulting corporate performance amount may differ from the financial measure

i.e operating profit amount reflected on the financial statements included with our Form 10-K

After calculating the financial measure and making the adjustments described in the preceding paragraph the

Committee exercised negative discretion to reduce the resulting fiscal 2009 corporate performance amount

to the amount reflected in the table below to exclude certain accrual items that under the 2006 Bonus Plan and

the Committees approval in March 2009 would have otherwise increased the corporate performance amount

and resulting bonuses The Committee opted to make the downward adjustment by excluding the accrual items

principally because they were anticipated as part of the annual corporate operating plan upon which the financial

measure and corporate performance amounts were established for fiscal 2009 and the Committee did not believe

that the accrual items should have the effect of increasing fiscal 2009 bonus compensation The Committees

decision to exercise negative discretion was not based on corporate or individual performance factors
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The following table reflects the payout percentage for each bonus level and the corporate performance amount

required to achieve the corresponding bonus level with the results for fiscal 2009 calculated as described above

including the Committees discretionary reduction discussed in the preceding paragraph noted

Bonus Level Payout Percentage Corporate Performance

and
of salary Amount

2009 Results Mr Cooper Mr Waite Mr Martin Ms BachmannI%1 Fishman

No Bonus 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 244874999

Floor 50.0 30.0 37.5 30.0 30.0 244.875000

Target 100.0 60.0 75.0 60.0 60.0 254923000

Stretch 200.0 120.0 150.0 120.0 120.0 265135000

2009 Results 200.0 120.0 150.0 120.0 120.0 323167.330

Our fiscal 2009 performance was higher than the targeted expectations of the Board the Committee and

management and met the corporate performance amount that earned bonus at the stretch level The primary

aim in setting the goals was to reward 2006 Bonus Plan participants while encouraging strong corporate earnings

growth As consequence of the fiscal 2009 bonus payments total cash compensation paid to the named executive

officers for fiscal 2009 was generally at or above the median for our peer groups We believe higher than market

average total cash compensation is appropriate in light of our fiscal 2009 performance and furthers our objectives

to motivate our executives and reward superior performance

Equity for Fiscal 2009

All equity awards granted to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009 were made under the 2005 Incentive

Plan and are reflected in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2009 table The equity compensation awarded

to the named executive officers for fiscal 2009 consisted of non-qualified stock options and restricted stock

awards The Committee believes that the grant of significant quantity of stock options and restricted stock to

the named executive officers further aligns their interests with the interests of our shareholders and provides us

with significant retention and motivation tool Accordingly the named executive officers equity interests in our

organization through stock options and restricted stock comprise substantial portion of their compensation The

Committee is not tied to any particular process or formula to determine the size of the equity awards granted to the

named executive officers Consequently the Committee uses its discretion to grant equity awards and may consider

the various factors discussed below In fiscal 2009 to determine the size of the equity awards for the named

executive officers the Committee undertook the following process

The Committee reviewed management-prepared projection of the estimated number of common

shares to be granted during fiscal 2009 to all recipients other than our CEO As it related to the EMC
members other than our CEO this projection was based on historical grant information anticipated

future events and our CEOs evaluation of individual performance and recommendations

In executive session the Committee evaluated and approved our CEOs recommendations for equity

awards for the other EMC members and determined the equity award for our CEO In each case the

Committee made these determinations based on historical grant information and the Committees

subjective views of comparative compensation data retention factors corporate performance

particularly operating profit income from continuing operations selling and administrative
expenses

and earnings per share against planned and prior performance individual performance the executives

level of responsibility the potential impact that the executive could have on our operations and financial

condition and the market price of our common shares See the introduction to the Our Executive

Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 section and the Performance Evaluation section of this

CDA for discussion of how our CEO and the Committee evaluate performance

The Committee reviewed the total number of common shares authorized for awards in fiscal 2009 to

ensure that such amount would not exceed the total number of common shares available for grant in

fiscal 2009 See the Bonus and Equity Plans disclosure that follows the Summary Compensation

Table for more information concerning the common shares available for issuance under the 2005

Incentive Plan
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This process was employed to ensure that executive equity compensation is commensurate with corporate and

individual performance and remains consistent with our policy that incentive compensation should increase as

percentage of total compensation as the executives level of responsibility and the potential impact that the

executive could have on our operations and financial condition increases Specifically the items of corporate and

individual performance described in the Performance Evaluation section of this CDA were the most significant

factors in awarding equity to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009

The stock options awarded to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009 have an exercise price equal to the fair

market value of our common shares on the grant date vest equally over four years and expire seven years after the

grant date Additionally if named executive officer dies or becomes disabled before the last scheduled vesting

date the then-remaining unvested portion of the stock option award will vest on the day such event occurred

provided such event occurred at least six months following the grant date The restricted stock awarded to the

named executive officers in fiscal 2009 vests upon attaining the first trigger and the first to occur of attaining

the second trigger ii the lapsing of five years after the grant date while continuously employed or iiithe

grantees death or disability which results in the vesting of prorated portion of the award In comparison to

the other named executive officers Mr Fishman received greater portion of his fiscal 2009 equity award in the

form of restricted stock The Committee and other outside directors believe this difference is
necessary to provide

Mr Fishman with equity compensation that is competitive with the equity compensation awards made to chief

executive officers by peer group companies Additionally this decision was driven by the following considerations

The CEO should receive more at-risk incentive compensation than the other named executive

officers Consistent with the key objectives of our executive compensation program the Committee

and other outside directors believe that our CEO should be awarded at-risk incentive compensation

in larger amounts than the other named executive officers because our CEOs level of responsibility

and potential impact on our operations and financial condition are greater than the other named

executive officers

Restricted stock is generally more valuable to the executive than stock options and therefore requires

fewer common shares to provide an equivalent value The per share value of restricted stock to the

executive is generally greater than the per share value of stock options to the executive This is generally

true because stock options provide value to the executive only if and to the extent the market price of our

common shares increases during the exercise period while restricted stock provides value once it vests

Therefore it is more efficient to deliver equity awards in the form of restricted stock We can award

fewer common shares in the form of restricted stock and still provide the executive with the same value

that could be delivered by awarding greater number of common shares underlying stock option

warding fewer common shares is less dilutive to our shareholders and the other equity award

recipients Using fewer common shares underlying restricted stock awards to deliver an equivalent

value to the executive in stock options has the benefit of being less dilutive to our shareholders and uses

fewer of the common shares available under the 2005 Incentive Plan

Counterbalancingfactors It is not permissible and may not be cost-effective to us to grant all equity

awards in theform of restricted stock Although it may be more efficient and less dilutive to provide

equity awards in the form of restricted stock the 2005 Incentive Plan prohibits us from awarding

more than one-third of all awards granted pursuant to the plan in the form of restricted stock restricted

stock units and performance units ii financial statement expense to us associated with restricted stock

is generally greater on per share basis than the expense to us associated with stock options and iii

Committee and other outside directors believe stock options also provide strong incentive to increase

shareholder value because stock options provide value to the executive only if the market price of our

common shares increases

The financial measure applied to the restricted stock awards granted in fiscal 2009 was the greater ofi earnings

per common share diluted from continuing operations and ii earnings per common share diluted from

continuing operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle as

the case may be If neither of these amounts appear on the consolidated statement of operations included in our

Form 10-K for the applicable fiscal year then the financial measure to be used is the greater of iiiearnings per

common share diluted and iv earnings per common share diluted before extraordinary item and/or cumulative

effect of change in accounting principle as the case may be as it
appears in the Form 10-K for the applicable
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fiscal year After each financial measure is calculated for purposes of our financial statements it is adjusted for

purposes of the restricted stock award calculations to remove the effect of any gain or loss as result of litigation

or lawsuit settlement that is specifically disclosed reported or otherwise appears in our periodic filings with the

SEC or our annual report to shareholders These financial measures were selected because the Committee and the

other outside directors believe they provide good indication of our profitability ongoing operating results and

financial condition

The first trigger for the fiscal 2009 restricted stock awards is $0.25 under the applicable financial measure The

second trigger for the fiscal 2009 restricted stock awards is $2.18 under the applicable financial measure As

result of our strong performance in fiscal 2009 both of the fiscal 2009 restricted stock award triggers were met

under the earnings per common share diluted from continuing operations financial measure Accordingly the

restricted stock vested on the first trading day after we filed with the SEC our Annual Report on Form 10-K for

fiscal 2009

When the Committee and the other outside directors approved the financial measures and corporate performance

amount applicable to the second trigger in March 2009 they believed those measures and the amount represented

strong but reasonable levels of performance that would be challenge to achieve The second trigger for restricted

stock awarded in fiscal 2009 was approximately 7.4% greater than the second trigger for restricted stock awarded

in fiscal 2008 which had not been met when the fiscal 2009 restricted stock was awarded The Committee and

other outside directors believe the selected corporate performance amount was appropriate in light of our high

levels of performance in fiscal 2008 our projected multi-year operating plan and our objectives to motivate our

executives reward superior performance and align the interests of our executives and shareholders while balancing

the uncertainty around the general economic conditions in the United States at the time in which the awards

were made

Performance Evaluation

Our CEO the Committee and the outside directors do not rely solely on predetermined formulas when they

evaluate corporate performance or individual performance Performance is generally evaluated against the

following objective and subjective factors although the factors considered may vary for each executive and as

dictated by business conditions

long-term strategic goals

short-term business goals

profit and revenue goals

expense goals

operating margin improvement

revenue growth versus the industry

earnings-per-share growth

continued optimization of organizational effectiveness and productivity

leadership and the development of talent and

fostering teamwork and other corporate values

Our CEO the Committee and the outside directors may each consider different factors and may value the same

factors differently In selecting individual and corporate performance factors for each EMC member and measuring

an executives performance against those factors our CEO the Committee and the other outside directors also

consider the performance of our competitors and general economic and market conditions None of the factors are

assigned specific weight Instead our CEO the Committee and the other outside directors recognize that the

relative importance of these factors may change as result of specific business challenges and changing economic

and marketplace conditions So although the Committee and the other outside directors consider our CEOs

recommendations the Committee and the other outside directors may not follow and are not bound by our CEOs

recommendations on executive compensation
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Fiscal 2009 compensation for the named executive officers was made at the discretion of the Committee and the

other outside directors and was generally based upon the factors discussed in this CDA including corporate

and individual performance and comparative compensation data In addition to the consideration given to the

uncertainty around general economic conditions at the time that fiscal 2009 compensation was awarded e.g as

previously described in this CDA such consideration impacted the decision to freeze fiscal 2009 salaries and

the establishment of the corporate performance amounts for fiscal 2009 bonuses and restricted stock triggers the

following specific items of corporate and individual performance were most significant in awarding compensation

to the named executive officers for fiscal 2009

Mr Fishman

Fiscal 2008 earnings per common share from continuing operations-diluted was $1.89

approximately 7.4% above our fiscal 2008 corporate operating plan and approximately 28.6%

above our fiscal 2007 results

ii Fiscal 2008 operating profit was $254.9 million approximately 4.8% above our fiscal 2008

corporate operating plan and approximately 7.8% above our fiscal 2007 results

iii Fiscal 2008 income from continuing operations was $154.8 million approximately 6.3% above

our fiscal 2008 corporate operating plan and approximately 2.4% above our fiscal 2007 results

iv Fiscal 2008 SGA expenses were $1602.5 million approximately $1.4 million below our fiscal

2007 results and

Continued
progress of our executive succession plan

Mr Cooper

Fiscal 2008 SGA expense performance

ii Development and implementation of our annual corporate operating plan and our long-range

strategic plan

iii Executive leadership support for effective cash deployment and investor relations and

iv Managements interface with the Audit Committee

Mr Waite

Effective management of compensation and employee healthcare
coverage costs

ii Oversight of important employee relations initiatives including recruitment of new employees in

important functional areas

iii Assistance with the development of the executive succession plan and

iv Managements interface with the Compensation Committee

Mr Martin

Contribution through the merchandising department toward improving our fiscal 2008 inventory

turnover rate by approximately 2.9% above our fiscal 2007 results

ii Improved initial mark-up of merchandise by approximately 2.5% above our fiscal 2008 corporate

operating plan and approximately 2.7% above our fiscal 2007 results

iii Improved gross margin dollars by approximately $17.1 million above our fiscal 2007 results and

iv Continued engagement in our global sourcing efforts for merchandise

Ms Bachmann

Contribution through the merchandise planning and allocation departments toward improving

our fiscal 2008 inventory turnover rate by approximately 2.9% above our fiscal 2007 results
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ii Successful implementation of enhancements and upgrades to current information technology

infrastructure supporting our business needs including enhancements to our point-of-sale

system in connection with the launch of our customer rewards program and upgrades to our

allocation system in connection with our initiative to increase inventory turnover and

iii Continued the multi-year implementation of the SAP for Retail information technology system

that will replace our core merchandising and financial systems including the successful

implementation of SAP Financials

See the Comparative Compensation Data section of this CDA for more information regarding the impact that

the competitive market has on our executive compensation program

Role of Management

As discussed in this CDA our CEO plays significant role in determining executive compensation Additionally

our CEO and the Committee consult with management from our human resources finance and legal departments

regarding the design and administration of our compensation programs plans and awards for executives and

directors These members of management provide the Committee and CEO with advice regarding the competitive

nature of existing and proposed compensation programs and the impact of accounting rules laws and regulations

on existing and proposed compensation programs Management from our human resources finance and legal

departments may also act pursuant to delegated authority to fulfill various functions in administering our employee

benefit and compensation plans Such delegation is permitted by the Committees charter and the compensation

plans Those groups to whom the Committee has delegated certain responsibilities are each required to periodically

report their activities to the Committee

Our CEO and some of these members of management attend general meetings of the Committee and the CEO

participates in the Committees discussions regarding the compensation of the other EMC members However

these individuals do not participate in executive sessions of the Committee or when executive compensation

determinations are made by the Committee and the other outside directors

Independent Compensation Consultant

Pursuant to the authority granted to the Committee by its charter the Committee may retain independent

compensation consultants as it deems necessary In establishing executive compensation for fiscal 2009 the

Committee did not retain an independent compensation consultant but did reference as discussed below non-

customized compensation surveys provided by multiple independent compensation consultants at the request of our

human resources department

Comparative Compensation Data

The Committee uses data regarding the compensation paid to executives at other companies For fiscal 2009 the

Committee evaluated group of retailers that we believe is similarly situated to us and with whom we compete for

talent When considering the composition of the retailer-only peer group the Committee selected retail companies

that have median and average financial measures similar to ours Among the financial measures considered were

revenues market capitalization net income earnings per share price-to-earnings ratio and shareholder return

Our human resources department provided the Committee with comparative executive compensation data it

obtained from the proxy statements and other reports made public by the companies in the retailer-only peer

group Additionally the Committee reviewed executive compensation data from broader base of companies

that was aggregated in one or more of the non-customized compensation surveys
obtained from Mercer Human

Resource Consulting Towers Perrin Hewitt Associates and Hay Group This broader
peer group was comprised

of Standard Poors Retail Stores Index companies and other companies including non-retailers with whom

we believe we also compete for talent and whose revenues or operations are similar to ours We believed it was

prudent to consult both sets of information because the compensation surveys for the broader
group

include

compensation information on more executives including executives who are not included in publicly-available

documents The broader peer group also provides more extensive basis on which to compare the compensation of

the EMC members particularly EMC members whose responsibilities experience and other factors are not directly

comparable to those executives included in the publicly-available reports of the retailer-only group These
peer
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groups vary from year to year based on the Committees assessment of which companies we believe compete with

us for talent and are similar to us in terms of operations or revenues and the continued availability of compensation

information from companies previously included in either peer group For list of the companies included in the

peer groups refer to Appendix of this Proxy Statement

The Committee and our human resources department reviewed each EMC members responsibilities and

compared where possible the compensation of each executive to the compensation awarded to similarly-situated

executives at peer group companies The Committee compared the total direct compensation levels for our EMC
members to the total direct compensation of similarly situated executives within the peer groups For purposes of

this evaluation no specific weight was given to one peer group over the other and total direct compensation was

comprised of salary bonus at the targeted level and equity awards

While we often award total direct compensation in the range of the fiftieth to seventy-fifth percentile of total direct

compensation paid by the
peer groups this range merely provides point of reference and market check and is not

determinative factor for setting our executives compensation and as discussed in this CDA compensation

is subjectively determined based on numerous factors We believe this approach to the use of compensation data

enables us to retain the flexibility necessary to make adjustments for performance and experience to attract

retain and motivate top talent and to reward executives who we believe excel or take on greater responsibility than

executives at peer group companies

Tally Sheets and Wealth Accumulation

The Committee reviewed tally sheets that set forth the total and each element of compensation awarded to each

EMC member for the immediately preceding two fiscal years as well as estimated post-employment and change

in control compensation that may be payable to such executives The purpose of the tally sheets is to consolidate

all elements of actual and projected compensation for our executives so the Committee may analyze the individual

elements of compensation the mix of compensation and the total amount of actual and projected compensation

With this information the Committee determined that the compensation awarded to our executives is reasonable

and consistent with our executive compensation philosophy and objectives

These tally sheets also included an estimate of the amount of total value accumulated and total value that will

be accumulated by each EMC member through prior equity awards assuming employment continues awards

vest and the market price of our common shares fluctuates through the life of the awards While the Committee

considered the accumulated total value as factor in setting fiscal 2009 compensation this information was not

primary consideration The Committee believes that its objectives of motivating executives to achieve short-

term and long-term goals rewarding executives for achieving those goals and providing incentives for executives

to continue their employment with us would not be adequately served if the accumulated total value of an EMC
members equity awards was determinative factor in awarding future compensation

Internal Pay Equity

In the
process

of reviewing each element of executive compensation separately and in the aggregate the

Committee considered information comparing the relative compensation of our CEO to the other EMC members

This information was considered to ensure that our executive compensation program is internally equitable which

we believe promotes executive retention and motivation The comparison included all elements of compensation

The relative difference between the compensation of our CEO and the compensation of our other named executive

officers did not change significantly in fiscal 2009 and it has not changed significantly since hiring Mr Fishman

in 2005 The Committee believes that the disparity between Mr Fishmans compensation and the compensation for

the other EMC members is appropriate in light of his responsibilities and remains necessary to retain and motivate

chief executive with Mr Fishmans experience
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Minimum Share Ownership Requirements

We have Board-adopted minimum share ownership requirements for all outside directors and EMC members

These requirements are designed to ensure that outside directors and executives long-term interests are closely

aligned with those of our shareholders Under the requirements the outside directors and EMC members must at

minimum own common shares having an aggregate value equal to the following multiple of his or her Board

retainer or salary as is in effect at the time compliance with the requirements is evaluated as applicable

Title Multiple of Retainer or Salary

Director 4x

Chief Executive Officer 4x

Executive Vice President 2x

Senior Vice President

Shares counted toward these requirements include common shares held directly or through broker common

shares held under the Savings Plan or Supplemental Savings Plan unvested restricted stock and vested but

unexercised in-the-money stock options Each outside director that served on the Board when these requirements

were adopted in March 2008 must meet the requirements on the date of the 2013 annual meeting of shareholders

and at subsequent annual meetings Each EMC member that was an EMC member when these requirements were

adopted must meet the requirements on the date that adjustments to annual executive compensation are made

in 2013 and on subsequent annual adjustment dates Directors elected and executives hired or promoted after

the adoption of the requirements must meet the requirements on the first testing date for directors or executives

following the fifth anniversary of their election hire or promotion as applicable

Equity Grant Timing

Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan the grant date of equity awards must be the later of the date

the terms of the award are established by corporate action or the date specified in the award agreement In fiscal

2009 the outside directors after consultation with the Committee specified that the grant date of the equity

awards made in connection with the annual performance reviews of the EMC members was the second trading day

following our release of fiscal 2008 results This future date was established to allow the market to absorb and react

to our release of material non-public information and to avoid any suggestion that the Board the Committee or any

employee manipulated the terms of the equity awards For equity awards made throughout the fiscal year which

generally are made as result of hiring or promotion the grant date is the date of the related event i.e the first

day of employment or effective date of promotion We have no policy of timing the grant date of these mid-year

equity awards with the release of material non-public information and we have not timed the release of material

non-public information for the purpose of affecting the value of any equity awards

Tax and Accounting Considerations

The Committee reviews and considers the impact that tax laws and accounting regulations may have on the

executive compensation awards including the deductibility of executive compensation under Section 162m of

the IRC Section 162m In doing so the Committee relies on guidance from members of our finance and legal

departments as well as outside accountants and attorneys

Section 162m generally limits the tax deductions for compensation expense in excess of $1 million paid

to our CEO and our three other highest compensated executives excluding the principal financial officer

Compensation in excess of $1 million may be deducted if it is qualified performance-based compensation

within the meaning of Section 162m We believe that compensation paid under our equity and bonus

compensation plans is generally fully deductible for federal income tax purposes However in certain situations

the Committee may approve compensation that will not meet these requirements in order to ensure competitive

levels of total compensation for our executives or to otherwise further our executive compensation philosophy

and objectives When considering whether to award compensation that will not be deductible the Committee

compares the cost of the lost deduction against the competitive market for executive talent and our need to attract

retain and motivate the executive as applicable
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For fiscal 2009 the Committee believes it has taken the necessary actions to preserve
the deductibility of all

payments made under our executive compensation program with the exception of portion of the compensation

paid to Mr Fishman If the IRC or the related regulations change the Committee intends to take reasonable steps

to ensure the continued availability of deductions for payments under our executive compensation program while

at the same time considering our executive compensation philosophy and objectives and the competitive market for

executive talent

Our Executive Compensation Programfor Fiscal 2010

At its meeting in March 2010 the Committee certified that bonus was payable for fiscal 2009 under the 2006

Bonus Plan ii reviewed the tally sheets and compensation history for all EMC members iiireviewed internal

pay equity information and comparative compensation data from our retailer-only and broader
peer groups iv

reviewed the at-risk incentive compensation as percentage of the total executive compensation awarded for fiscal

2009 for each named executive officer and formulated its recommendations to the other outside directors for

fiscal 2010 executive compensation including the financial measure corporate performance amounts and payout

percentages for bonuses the amount of common shares underlying stock option and restricted stock awards and

the first and second triggers for restricted stock awards The Committee also reviewed drafts of this CDA
and the other compensation disclosures required by the SEC At the subsequent Board meeting the Committee

recommended and the outside directors approved the following fiscal 2010 salaries payout percentages for the

target bonus level with floor being one-half of the target payout percentage and stretch being double the target

payout percentage and equity awards for the named executive officers

Fiscal 2010

Fiscal 2010 Target Bonus Common Shares Underlying Common Shares Underlying

Salary Payout Percentage Stock Option Award Restricted Stock Award

Name

Mr Cooper 500000 60 50000 25000

Mr Martin 550000 60 40000 15000

Mr Waite intends to retire during fiscal 2010 accordingly the Committee did not increase Mr Waites salary

or award him any equity compensation

Additionally in connection with the award of fiscal 2010 executive compensation upon the recommendation

of the Committee and the approval of the other outside directors we entered into Retention Agreement with

Mr Fishman on March 2010 Under the Retention Agreement Mr Fishman is entitled to receive performance-

based restricted stock awards in fiscal 2010 as reflected above and in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 if he is employed

by us on the grant date in each such year The number of common shares underlying the restricted stock awards to

be made in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 is dependent on our performance relative to the prior fiscal years operating

profit subject to collars established in the Retention Agreement Each annual restricted stock award will vest

only if we achieve corporate financial goal established at the beginning of the fiscal
year

in which the restricted

stock award is granted and Mr Fishman remains employed by us until the first anniversary of the award The

Committee and other outside directors determined that Mr Fishmans continued leadership is important to our

future performance and they believed it was in our best interests and the best interests of our shareholders to enter

into the Retention Agreement to better assure the continuing undivided loyalty and dedication of Mr Fishman The

increases in salary awarded to Mr Cooper and Ms Bachmann were made in connection with each such executives

assumption of additional responsibilities and promotion to Executive Vice President in March 2010
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the compensation earned by or paid to the named executive officers Mr Fishman
our CEO Mr Cooper our Chief Financial Officer and each of our three other most highly compensated executive

officers in fiscal 2009 for each of the last three fiscal years

Change in

Pension Value

and Nonqualified

Non-Equity Deferred

Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other

Name and Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total

Principal Position \ear S2 S3 $4 S5 S67 $8

Steven Fishman 2009 1.200000 494000 2583900 2400000 108.626 786526

chuinnan Chief Executive 2008 1173.077 3474.900 88I00 353560 365 9862262
Qificer crnd President

2007 1.015000 3.50 L250 2885000 181 765 24 927 9.326942

Joe Cooper 2009 440.000 349.400 381.713 528.000 29.380 1.728.493

Executive Vice President and 2008 433.914 342.225 417.788 517.792 34.168 1745887
chief /0101k icil Office 2007 396.208 59 25 432.750 353.320 29 988 1571 391

Brad Waite 2009 550000 262050 293625 825000 58180 32.861 2.021716

x.uthe J0cePresklent 008 547.760 263.250 321375 809050 7j38 3914 1984487
1-luman Recourees

2007 532747 359I5 431750 708875 7705 30237 2.07 1439

John Martin 2009 520 000 262.050 293.625 624.000 -- 32.780 1732 455

Executive Vice President 2008 516.974 263.250 321.375 611.936 -- 3.460 1746995
.llerc/iundicing

2007 496.181 287.300 346200 530 000 17.918 1687.599

Lisa Baehmann 2009 440000 349400 381713 528000 37 709 736822

eulive Vice President 2008 436.222 342.25 417.788 17.792 3143 1747 170

Sitpplv chain kPulgcrnenI 2007 412747 359 125 432750 366570 36384 1.607576
and chief In/brmation 0/f lcei

We are party to an employment agreement with each of the named executive officers the material terms of

which are described in the Overview of our Executive Compensation Program Employment Agreements
section of the CDA
The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted stock awards granted

under the 2005 Incentive Plan to the named executive officers in the fiscal years reported as computed in

accordance with ASC 718 excluding the effect of any estimated forfeitures The aggregate grant date fair

value reflected in this column is based on the number of shares of restricted stock granted and the fair value

of the restricted stock on the grant date i.e for restricted stock granted in fiscal 2009 $17.47 per common
share the

average
of the opening price and the closing price of our common shares on the NYSE on the

grant date as determined in accordance with ASC 718 and the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan

The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock option awards granted under

the 2005 Incentive Plan to the named executive officers in the fiscal years reported as computed in accordance

with ASC 718 excluding the effect of any estimated forfeitures See Note Share-Based Plans to the consolidated

financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Share-Based Compensation

section of Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsMDA in our Form 10-K regarding the assumptions underlying the valuation of stock option awards

The amounts in this column reflect cash bonuses earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan for performance during

each of the last three fiscal years portion of the cash bonuses earned by Mr Cooper and Mr Martin for

fiscal 2008 performance and included in this column was deferred into the Supplemental Savings Plan upon

the payment of such amounts in fiscal 2009 The Supplemental Savings Plan is described in the narrative

disclosure accompanying the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table below

The amounts in this column reflect the actuarial increase in the present value of Mr Waites benefits under

the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan determined from February 2009 to January 30

2010 from December 31 2007 to January 31 2009 and from December 31 2006 to December 31 2007
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respectively the plans measurement dates for financial statement reporting purposes In accordance with

ASC 715-30-25 formerly FAS No 158 in fiscal 2008 we changed the plans measurement dates from

December 31 to the date of our year-end consolidated balance sheet January 20 2010 for fiscal 2009 and

January 31 2009 for fiscal 2008 Previously the plans had measurement date of December 31 The change

was applied prospectively so the first plan year reflecting this change fiscal 2008 consisted of 13 months

See Note Employee Benefit Plans to the consolidated financial statements and the Critical Accounting

Policies and Estimates Pension section of MDA in our Form 10-K regarding the measurement dates

interest rate mortality rate and other assumptions underlying the actuarial calculations

For fiscal 2009 the amounts in this column include the following compensation for the named executive

officers as more fully described in the table included with this footnote

The reimbursement of taxes related to our payment of healthcare costs covered by the Executive Benefit

Plan and long-term disability insurance premiums

ii Big Lots matching contributions made pursuant to the Savings Plan and the Supplemental Savings

Plan both of which are described in the narrative disclosure accompanying the Nonqualified Deferred

Compensation table below

iii Big Lots paid healthcare costs covered by the Executive Benefit Plan which is described in the

Overview of our Executive Compensation Program Elements of In-Service Compensation Personal

Benefits/Perquisites section of the CDA
iv Big Lots paid premiums for life insurance which is generally available to all full-time employees

Big Lots paid premiums for long-term disability insurance which is described in the Overview of

our Executive Compensation Program Elements of In-Service Compensation Personal Benefits

Perquisites section of the CDA
vi The cost to Big Lots associated with the use of an automobile or the receipt of cash allowance in lieu of

an automobile and

vii The aggregate incremental cost to Big Lots associated with Mr Fishmans non-business use of corporate

aircraft

The aggregate incremental cost of non-business use of corporate aircraft is calculated based on our direct costs

associated with operating flight including expenses for fuel oil landing ground services on-board catering

crew hotel and meals empty return deadhead flights and other miscellaneous variable costs The aggregate

incremental cost also includes per flight hour maintenance costs that were calculated based upon the total

maintenance costs incurred by us during the prior two years and dividing those costs by the number of hours flown

during that same period Due to the fact that the corporate aircraft are used primarily for business travel fixed

costs which do not change based on usage such as pilot salaries hangar fees management fees purchase costs

depreciation and capitalized improvements to the aircraft are excluded We did not reimburse or otherwise gross

up Mr Fishman for any income tax obligation attributed to his non-business use of corporate aircraft The benefit

of non-business use of corporate aircraft which was approved by the Compensation Committee for fiscal 2009 as

part of his overall compensation package is described in the Overview of our Executive Compensation Program

Elements of In-Service Compensation Personal Benefits/Perquisites section of the CDA

Big Lots

Big Lots Big Lots Paid Paid Use of

Contributions Healthcare Big Lots Long-Term Automobile

to Defined Costs under Paid Life Disability or Non-Business

Reimbursement Contribution Executive Insurance Insurance Automobile Aircraft

of Taxes Plans Benefit Plan Premiums Premiums Allowance Usage

Name

Mnai lot ZZ1 6S4.9

Mr Cooper 1775 9800 2771 910 924 13200

800 39 1155

Mr Martin 2825 9800 4787 1076 1092 13200

1nthæ 9O0 1011 9t0 974 13200
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We purchase tickets to entertainment and sporting venues for the primary purpose of allowing employees to

use such tickets in furtherance of our business Because we incur no incremental cost if named executive

officer uses such tickets for
purposes other than our business such tickets are not included in the amounts

included in this column

As percentage of their total compensation in fiscal 2009 fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 the salary and

non-equity incentive plan compensation i.e bonuses earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan for each named

executive officer was as follows

Fiscal 2009

Non-Equity

Incentive Plan

Salary Compensation

Name

Mr Cooper 25.5 30.5 24.9 29.7 25.2 22.5

Mr Martin 30.0 36.0 29.6 35.0 29.4 31.4

23 1li4 251

Bonus and Equity Plans

The amounts reported in the Summary Compensation Table above include amounts earned under the 2006 Bonus

Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan Below is description of the material terms of each plan and the awards made

under those plans to the named executive officers as reflected in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2009

table that follows

Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan

The 2006 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation which is intended to qualify as qualified performance-

based compensation under Section 162m to be paid annually when we meet or exceed minimum corporate

performance amounts under one or more financial measures approved by the Compensation Committee and other

outside directors at the start of the fiscal year Whether we will achieve the minimum corporate performance

amounts is substantially uncertain at the time the corporate performance amounts and financial measures are

established No right to minimum bonus exists and the Compensation Committee has the discretion to cancel

or decrease bonus but may not increase bonus for covered employee as that term is used within Section

162m calculated under the 2006 Bonus Plan Any payments made with respect to fiscal
year are made in the

first quarter of the following fiscal year The bonus awards that may be earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan
range

from the floor to the stretch bonus payout percentages and include all amounts in between The smallest target

and stretch bonus payout percentages that may be set annually for the named executive officers are set forth in

their respective employment agreements The floor bonus payout percentage is set annually by the Compensation

Committee and other outside directors and has historically been one-half of the target bonus payout percentage

Subject to the terms of the employment agreements the Compensation Committee and the other outside directors

retain the right to adjust the payout percentages and in the past have generally done so as deemed necessary to

realign an executives bonus opportunity with our compensation philosophy Pursuant to the terms of the 2006

Bonus Plan the maximum bonus payable under the plan to participant in single fiscal year is $3000000 which
will be increased to $4000000 if Proposal Three is approved See the Overview of our Executive Compensation

Program Elements of In-Service Compensation Bonus Overview of our Executive Compensation Program

Employment Agreements and Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 Bonus for Fiscal 2009
sections of the CDA for more information regarding the 2006 Bonus Plan and the awards made under that plan

for fiscal 2009 See Proposal Three for description of the proposed amendments to the 2006 Bonus Plan

Fiscal 2008

Non-Equity

Incentive Plan

Salary Compensation

Fiscal 2007

Non-Equity

Incentive Plan

Salary Compensation
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Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Since January 2006 all employee equity awards including those made to the named executive officers have

been granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan The 2005 Incentive Plan authorizes the grant of nonqualified stock

options NQSOs incentive stock options as defined in Section 422 of the IRC ISOs stock appreciation

rights SARs restricted stock restricted stock units and performance unit awards any of which maybe granted

on stand-alone combination or tandem basis To date we have granted only stock options and restricted stock

under the 2005 Incentive Plan

Awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be granted to any salaried employee consultant or advisor of Big

Lots or its affiliates The number of common shares available for grant under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists

of an initial allocation of 1250000 common shares ii2001142 common shares the common shares that

were available under the predecessor Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan 1996 Incentive Plan

upon its expiration iii2100000 common shares approved by our shareholders in May 2008 and iv an annual

increase equal to 0.75% of the total number of issued common shares including treasury shares as of the start of

each fiscal year during which the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect No more than one-third of all common shares

awarded under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be granted in the form of restricted stock restricted stock units

and performance units and no more than 5000000 common shares may be granted as ISOs participant may

receive multiple awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan Awards intended to qualify as qualified performance-

based compensation under Section 162m are limited to 2000000 shares of restricted stock per participant

annually ii3000000 common shares underlying stock options and SARs per participant during any three

consecutive calendar years and iii $6000000 in cash through performance units per participant during any

three consecutive calendar years Also the 2005 Incentive Plan provides that the total number of common shares

underlying outstanding awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan the 1996 Incentive Plan the Big Lots Inc

Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation Rights Plan ESO Plan and the DSO Plan may not exceed 15%

of our issued and outstanding common shares including treasury shares as of any date The 1996 Incentive Plan

the ESO Plan and the DSO Plan have terminated and there are no awards outstanding under the ESO Plan

Each stock option granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan allows the recipient to acquire our common shares subject

to the completion of vesting period and continued employment with us through the applicable vesting date Once

vested these common shares may be acquired at fixed exercise price per share and they remain exercisable for

the term set forth in the award agreement Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan the exercise price of

stock option may not be less than the average trading price of our common shares on the grant date or if the grant

date occurs on day other than trading day on the next trading day

Under the restricted stock awards granted pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan other than those made to the outside

directors which are discussed in the Director Compensation section of this Proxy Statement and Mr Fishmans

fiscal 2010 restricted stock award which is discussed in the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal

2010 section of the CDA if we meet the first trigger and the recipient remains employed by us the restricted

stock will vest at the opening of our first trading window that is five years
after the grant date If we meet the

second trigger for any fiscal year ending prior to the fifth anniversary of the grant date and the recipient remains

employed by us the restricted stock will vest on the first trading day after we file with the SEC our Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the
year

in which the second trigger is met The restricted stock will also vest on prorated basis

in the event that the recipient dies or becomes disabled after we meet the first trigger but before the lapse of five

years The restricted stock will be forfeited in whole or in part as applicable if the recipients employment with

us terminates prior to vesting See the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 Equity for Fiscal

2009 section of the CDA and the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control Rights Under

Post-Termination and Change in Control Arrangements section below for more information regarding the equity

awards made under the 2005 Incentive Plan in fiscal 2009 See Proposal Two for description of the proposed

amendments to the 2005 Incentive Plan

Upon change in control as defined in the 2005 Incentive Plan all awards outstanding under the 2005 Incentive

Plan automatically become fully vested For discussion of the change in control provisions in the named executive

officers employment agreements and the 2005 Incentive Plan see the narrative disclosure accompanying the

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control tables below
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2009

The following table sets forth each award made to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009 under the 2006

Bonus Plan and the 2005 Incentive Plan

Estimated Future Payouts

Under Equity Incentive

Plan Awards

All

Other

As discussed in the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 Equity Grant Timing section

of the CDA in fiscal 2009 the Board set as the grant date of these equity awards the second day following

our release of results from our last completed fiscal year This future date was established to allow the market

to absorb and react to our release of material non-public information and to avoid any suggestion that the

Board the Compensation Committee or any employee manipulated the terms of the equity awards

The Award Date represents the date on which the Board authorized the equity-based award and set the grant date

The amounts in columns and represent the named executive officers floor target and stretch bonus

levels respectively for fiscal 2009 pursuant to the 2006 Bonus Plan which bonus levels are further described

in the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 Bonus for Fiscal 2009 section of the CDA
For fiscal 2009 the named executive officers earned the amounts shown in column of the Summary
Compensation Table

The amounts in column represent restricted stock awarded pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan which awards

are described in the narrative preceding this table and the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009

Equity for Fiscal 2009 section of the CDA Because we met the first trigger and second trigger as result

of fiscal 2009 corporate performance the restricted stock granted to the named executive officers in fiscal 2009

vested on the first trading day after we filed with the SEC our Form 10-K There are no threshold or maximum

estimated future payouts applicable to the restricted stock awards included in column

The amounts in column represent NQSOs awarded pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan which awards are

described in the narrative preceding this table and the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009

Equity for Fiscal 2009 section of the CDA
Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan the exercise price of the fiscal 2009 NQSOs is equal to an

average trading price of our common shares on the grant date We believe this method is preferable to using

the closing market price as it is less vulnerable to market activity that may have only an instantaneous effect

positively or negatively on the price of our common shares

Estimated Possible Payouts

Under Non-Equity Incentive

Plan Awards

Stock All Other Closing Grant

Awards Option Market Date Fair

Number Awards Exercise Price of Value

of Number of or Base Option of Stock

Shares of Securities Price of Awards and
Grant Award

___________________________ Stock or Underlying Option on Grant Option
Date Date Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum Units Options Awards Date Awards

Name S/Sh.6 S/Sh

_____________

Mr lishnian 600 000 1.200000 2400 000

3/609 3/4/09 00.000 3494.000

3/6/00 3/409 330000 17.47 17.51 2.583900
Mt ooper 32 000 264.110 S2.000

3/6/09 3/4/09 20000 340.400

36/09 4i00 48.750 17.47 17.5 381713

Mr Waite 206250 412500 825.000 --

6/09 /4/00 15.000 262.050

3/6/09 34/09 37.500 17.47 17.51 293.625

vii Martin %000 312.000 624.000

3/6/09 3/4/09 15000

3/6/09 3/4/09

262050

36



Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth as of the end of fiscal 2009 all equity awards outstanding under our equity

compensation plans for each named executive officer

Option Awards Stock Awards

Equity

Incentive

Equity Plan

Incentive Awards

Equity
Plan Market

Incentive Awards or Payout

Plan Market Number of Value of

Number Number Awards Number Value of Unearned Unearned

of of Number of of Shares Shares Shares Shares

Securities Securities Securities or Units or Units Units or Units or

Underlying Underlying Underlying of Stock of Stock Other Other

Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option That That Rights Rights

Options Options Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not That Have That Have

Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Not Vested Not Vested

Name Eercisahle Uneercisable Sa Date

Mr ishmait 267 008 11 19 7/I l/012

100.000 50.000 12.66 2/24/2013

125000 125000 28.73 1/13/2014

82500 247.500 21.06 3/7/2015 --

330000 17.47 3/6/2016

365.010 10369.650

Mr cooper 10250 12.66 2242013

18750 18750 28.73 3/13/2014

12187 36563 21.06 3/7/2015

48750 17.47 3/6/2016

36.250 029..Si3

Mr Waite 11.625 12.66 224/2013

18.750 15750 28.73 3/l32014

28125 21.06 3/7/2015

37.500 17.47 3/62016

7.500 781275

Mr Martin 20.000 14.35 12 1/2013

5375 12.66 2/24/2013

15000 15000 28.73 3/13/2014

9375 28125 21.06 3/7/2015

37500 17.47 3/6/2016

27.500 781.275

Ms Bachmana 30.010 -- 14 3/2S2012

50000 lO5 223014

10250 I.66 I14/b01

18750 18750 8.73 3/13 2014

12.187 36.563 21.06 37P0l5

48750 17.47 3.6/2016

36.2c0 1029863

The stock option awards identified with an asterisk in column were made pursuant to the 1996 Incentive

Plan All other stock option awards reflected in this table were made pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan

Stock option awards identified as having been made pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan vested on the

anniversary of the grant date at the rate of 20% per year over the first five years of the 10 year option

term except that the stock option award made to Mr Fishman under the 1996 Incentive Plan vested on the

anniversary of the grant date at rate of 25% per year over the first four years of the seven year option term

Stock option awards made under the 2005 Incentive Plan vest on the anniversary of the grant date at rate of

25% per year over the first four years of the seven year option term
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The restricted stock awards reported in column were made in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 pursuant to the

2005 Incentive Plan The second trigger for the fiscal 2009 restricted stock awards is $2.18 and the second

trigger for the fiscal 2008 restricted stock awards is $2.03 Based on our performance in fiscal 2009 we
achieved the first trigger and second trigger applicable to the fiscal 2009 restricted stock awards and the

second trigger applicable to the fiscal 2008 restricted stock awards and those awards vested on the first

trading day after we filed with the SEC our Form 10-K For additional information regarding the fiscal 2009

restricted stock awards see the narrative preceding the Grants of Plan-Based Awards in Fiscal 2009 table and

the Our Executive Compensation Program for Fiscal 2009 Equity for Fiscal 2009 section of the CDA

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in Fiscal 2009

The following table reflects all stock option exercises and the vesting of restricted stock held by each of the named
executive officers during fiscal 2009

Option Awards

Name

NViWTgdfFCiU4I 4LqiLxffg
Mr Cooper 30250 486244 12500 262500

ShuLiimuCi çvU ftIJVNMjItEFflIjtrjprSMfi

Mr Martin 54925 926157 10000 210000

SjIgjuthuj WUIU FLFt irIUIci7J1 SUNi4LIbIddCi4 ajud1Iitiaii

Pension Benefits

Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan

The Pension Plan is maintained only for certain employees whose hire date preceded April 1994 Effective

January 1996 the benefits accrued under the Pension Plan for certain highly compensated individuals were

frozen at the then current levels The Supplemental Pension Plan is maintained only for those executives whose

benefits were frozen under the Pension Plan on January 1996 Based on their respective dates of hire Mr Waite

is the only named executive officer eligible to participate in these plans and Mr Fishman Mr Cooper Mr Martin

and Ms Bachmann may not participate in either plan

The Pension Plan is intended to qualify under the IRC and comply with the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act of 1974 as amended The amount of the Big Lots annual contribution to the Pension Plan is actuarially

determined to accumulate sufficient funds to maintain projected benefits The Supplemental Pension Plan

constitutes contract to pay benefits upon retirement The Supplemental Pension Plan is designed to pay the same

benefits in the same amount as if the participants continued to accrue benefits under the Pension Plan We have

no obligation to fund the Supplemental Pension Plan and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental

Pension Plan are subject to the claims of our general creditors

Effective January 1993 the annual retirement benefit payable upon retirement under the Pension Plan and the

Supplemental Pension Plan was and continues to be equal to 1% of the average annual compensation during

the participants highest compensated five consecutive
year period of employment with Big Lots multiplied by

the
years

of service up to maximum of 25 Normal Retirement Pension with participation and benefits

being limited in and for any single year to one plan not both plans based on the participants status as highly

compensated employee as defined in the IRC This benefit is payable when participant reaches the normal

retirement
age of 65 however the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan provide the option to retire early

generally at age 55 or to continue employment beyond the normal retirement age

Number of

Shares

Acquired

on Exercise

Value

Realized

on Exercise

Stock Awards

Number of

Shares Value

Acquired Realized

on Vesting on Vesting
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Under the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan participant who has reached the age of 55 and has at

least five years of service with us can elect to retire early and receive reduced monthly pension commencing on

the date of the participants early termination Alternatively participant who has reached the age of 65 can elect

to continue employment with us and continue participation in either the Pension Plan or Supplemental Pension Plan

until the participant retires at which time the participant shall receive his Normal Retirement Pension Participants

who terminate employment due to disability are entitled to pension amount under the Pension Plan equal to

the actuarially-determined present value of the Normal Retirement Pension The spouse of participant who dies

before retirement is entitled to receive an amount equal to the actuarially-determined present value of the Normal

Retirement Pension reduced for the period of time that the participants death or 25th anniversary of employment

if later precedes the normal retirement age participant who terminates employment for any reason other than

death or retirement may receive reduced pension amount determined based on the number of years the participant

was employed by us

participant may elect to receive monthly payment from the Pension Plan upon reaching the normal age of

retirement or earlier if the participant elects the early retirement option Alternatively participant may elect to

receive lump sum payment of the entire actuarial equivalent of the participants accrued retirement pension or

reduced pension payable over fixed number of months or elect the purchase of an annuity contract equivalent in

value to the actuarial equivalent of the participants accrued retirement pension Under the Supplemental Pension

Plan upon reaching the normal retirement age or earlier if the participant elects the early retirement option or

upon change in control participant will receive lump sum payment of the entire actuarial equivalent of the

participants retirement pension accrued thereunder

For purposes of calculating benefits under the Pension Plan compensation is defined to include the monthly

equivalent of the total cash remuneration paid for services rendered during plan year prior to salary reductions

pursuant to Sections 401k or 125 of the IRC including bonuses incentive compensation severance pay disability

payments and other forms of irregular payments The table below illustrates the amount of annual benefits payable

at age 65 to person with the specified five year average compensation and years of service under the Pension Plan

combined with the Supplemental Pension Plan

Final Years of Service

Average

Compensation io
$125000 $12500 $18750 $25000 $31250

McIQ $370O

$175000 $17500 $26250 $35000 $4375021fl
$225000 $22500 $33750 $45000 $56250

sqb44jiô io oo
The maximum annual benefit payable under the Pension Plan is restricted by the IRC $195000 for calendar year

2009 At January 31 2010 the maximum five year average compensation taken into account for benefit calculation

purposes was $226000 The compensation taken into account for benefit calculation purposes is limited by

law $245000 for calendar year 2009 and is subject to statutory increases and cost-of-living adjustments in

future
years Income recognized as result of the exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted stock is

disregarded in computing benefits under the Pension Plan participant may elect whether the benefits are paid in

the form of single life annuity joint and survivor annuity or as lump sum upon reaching the normal retirement

age
of 65
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Pension Benefits Table for Fiscal 2009

The following table reflects the number of years of credited service and the present value of accumulated benefits

payable to Mr Waite under the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan See Note Employee Benefit

Plans to the consolidated financial statements and the Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates Pension

section of the MDA in our Form 10-K regarding the interest rate mortality rate and other assumptions

underlying the calculations in this table

Plan

Name Name

dL1 JgfrI2pJIr
Mr Cooper N/A

Mr Martin N/A

IM4 i1iI

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Supplemental Savings Plan

All of the named executive officers as well as substantially all other full-time employees are eligible to participate

in the Savings Plan our 401k plan The Supplemental Savings Plan is maintained for those executives

participating in the Savings Plan who desire to contribute more than the amount allowable under the Savings

Plan The Supplemental Savings Plan constitutes contract to pay deferred compensation and limits deferrals in

accordance with prevailing tax law The Supplemental Savings Plan is designed to pay the deferred compensation

in the same amount as if contributions had been made to the Savings Plan We have no obligation to fund the

Supplemental Savings Plan and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental Savings Plan are subject to

the claims of our general creditors

In order to participate in the Savings and Supplemental Savings Plans an eligible employee must satisfy applicable

age and service requirements and must make contributions to such plans Participant Contributions Participant

Contributions are made through authorized payroll deductions to one or more of the several investment funds

available under the Savings and Supplemental Savings Plans and selected at the discretion of the participant

All Participant Contributions are matched by us Registrant Contributions at rate of 100% for the first 2%
of salary contributed and 50% for the next 4% of salary contributed Additionally the amount of the Registrant

Contribution is subject to the maximum annual compensation that may be taken into account for benefit calculation

purposes under the IRC $245000 for calendar year 2009 Accordingly the maximum aggregate Registrant

Contribution that could be made to named executive officer participating in the Savings and Supplemental

Savings Plans was $9800 for fiscal 2009

Under the Savings Plan and the Supplemental Savings Plan 25% of the Registrant Contributions vests annually

beginning on the second anniversary of the employees hiring Under the Savings Plan participant who has

terminated employment with us is entitled to all funds in his or her account except that if termination is for

reason other than retirement disability or death then the participant is entitled to receive only the Participant

Contributions and the vested portion of the Registrant Contributions Under the Supplemental Savings Plan

participant who has terminated employment with us for any reason is entitled to receive the Participant

Contributions and only the vested portion of the Registrant Contributions Under both plans all other unvested

accrued benefits pertaining to Registrant Contributions will be forfeited Upon change in control the participant

will receive lump sum payment of all amounts vested and unvested under the Supplemental Savings Plan

Number

of Years

Credited

Service

Present Value of

Accumulated

Benefit

Payments

During

Last Fiscal

Year
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Non qualified Deft rred Compensation Table for Fiscal 2009

The following table reflects the contributions to earnings in and balance of each named executive officers account

held under the Supplemental Savings Plan

Executive Registrant Aggregate

Contributions Contributions Aggregate Earnings Withdrawals Aggregate Balance

in Last FY in Last FY in Last FY Distributions at Last FYE

Name $1 $2 $3 S4

Mr Fishman

Mr Cooper 118.795 5.317 87053 422371

Mr Waite 11000 5317 153982 675.423

Mr Martin 93 171 5.317 14 729 409455

Ms Bachmann 11708 5317 21557 132208

With respect to Mr Cooper and Mr Martin $67016 and $31977 of the amounts in this column are

included in their respective fiscal 2009 Salary reported in the Summary Compensation Table while the

balance i.e $51779 for Mr Cooper and $61194 for Mr Martin is included in their respective fiscal 2008

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation reported in the Summary Compensation Table as result of

their deferrals of portion of the cash bonuses earned pursuant to the 2006 Bonus Plan for fiscal 2008

performance paid in fiscal 2009 With respect to Mr Waite and Ms Bachmann the amounts in this column

are included in their respective fiscal 2009 Salary reported in the Summary Compensation Table

The amounts in this column are included in the All Other Compensation column of the Summary

Compensation Table for fiscal 2009

The amounts in this column are not included in the Summary Compensation Table as these amounts reflect

only the earnings on the investments designated by the named executive officer in his or her Supplemental

Savings Plan account in fiscal 2009 i.e appreciation in account value The amounts in this column do not

include any above-market or preferential earnings as defined by Item 402c2viii of Regulation S-K and

the instructions thereto

$151807 $49865 $129530 and $39332 of the amounts in this column were previously reported as

compensation to Mr Cooper Mr Waite Mr Martin and Ms Bachmann respectively in the Summary

Compensation Table for the prior years reported

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

The Rights Under Post-Termination and Change in Control Arrangements section below addresses the rights of

the named executive officers under their employment agreements and other compensation arrangements upon

change in control or in the event their employment with us is terminated The Estimated Payments if Triggering

Event Occurred at 2009 Fiscal Year End section below reflects the payments that may be received by each named

executive officer or his or her beneficiaries as applicable upon change in control or in the event the executives

employment with us is terminated involuntarily without cause ii in connection with the executives disability

iiiupon the executives death or iv in connection with change in control

Rights Under Post-Termination and Change in Control Arrangements

Under each employment agreement if named executive officer is terminated for cause or due to his or her

voluntary resignation we have no further obligation to pay any unearned compensation or to provide any future

benefits to the executive Generally under the terms of each named executive officers employment agreement

cause for termination would exist upon the executives

failure to comply with our policies and procedures which we reasonably determine has had or is likely

to have material adverse effect on us or our affiliates
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willful or illegal misconduct or grossly negligent conduct that is materially injurious to us or our affiliates

violation of laws or regulations governing us or our affiliates or violation of our codes of ethics

breach of any fiduciary duty owed to us or our affiliates

misrepresentation or dishonesty which we reasonably determine has had or is likely to have material

adverse effect on us or our affiliates

breach of any provision of the executives obligations under his or her employment agreement with us

involvement in any act of moral turpitude that has materially injurious effect on us or our affiliates or

breach of the terms of any non-solicitation or confidentiality clauses contained in an employment

agreement with former employer

If terminated without cause Mr Fishman would continue to receive his salary for two
years and each of the

other named executive officers would continue to receive his or her respective salary for one year Each named

executive officer would receive lump sum payment equal to two times his or her respective salary if terminated in

connection with change in control as discussed below Additionally each named executive officer is eligible

based on our achievement of at least the corporate performance amount corresponding to the floor bonus level

to receive prorated bonus for the fiscal year in which his or her termination is effective if he or she is terminated

without cause or in connection with his or her death or disability and iiwill receive two times his or her stretch

bonus if terminated following change in control

Upon change in control all outstanding stock options become exercisable to the full extent of the original

grant and all unvested restricted stock vests Upon the named executive officers termination of employment all

exercisable stock options then held may be exercised until the earlier of the stock option award expiration date

or one year after termination of employment Additionally if termination of employment results from death or

disability then unvested stock options awarded in fiscal 2009 and after will vest on the day such event occurred

provided such event occurred at least six months following the grant date and ii unvested restricted stock awards

will vest in increments of 20% for each consecutive year of employment completed since the grant date if the first

trigger is met while employed Any restricted stock awards not vested at termination of employment for reasons

other than death or disability shall be forfeited

Each named executive officer is entitled to receive continued healthcare coverage for up to two years following

termination without cause or if terminated in connection with change in control plus the amount necessary

to reimburse him or her for the taxes he or she would be liable for as result of such continued healthcare

coverage Tax Gross-Up Amount Upon change in control each participating named executive officer will

receive lump sum payment of all amounts vested and unvested under the Supplemental Savings Plan See the

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation section above for more information regarding the Supplemental Savings

Plan and the named executive officers aggregate balances under such plans at the end of fiscal 2009 Additionally

if terminated without cause Mr Fishman is entitled to continue receiving an automobile or automobile allowance

for two years and the other named executive officers are entitled to continue receiving an automobile or

automobile allowance for one year

If the payments received by named executive officer in connection with change in control constitute an excess

parachute payment under Section 280G of the IRC the named executive officer is entitled to reimbursement for

any excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the IRC or the executives benefits under his or her employment

agreement will be reduced to the extent necessary to become one dollar less than the amount that would generate

such excise tax if this reduction results in larger after-tax amount to the executive as compared to the excise tax

reimbursement method Excise Tax Benefit The compensation payable on account of change in control may
be subject to the deductibility limitations of Sections 162m and 280G of the IRC
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Change in Control Described

Generally pursuant to the 1996 Incentive Plan the 2005 Incentive Plan and the Supplemental Savings Plan as to

amounts earned and vested before January 2005 including earnings attributable to such amounts change in

control is deemed to occur if

any person or group as defined in Section 13d under the Exchange Act becomes the beneficial owner

or has the right to acquire 20% or more of our outstanding voting securities

majority of the Board is replaced within any two-year period by directors not nominated and approved

by majority of the directors in office at the beginning of such period or their successors so nominated

and approved or majority of the Board at any date consists of persons not so nominated and

approved or

our shareholders approve an agreement to merge or consolidate with an unrelated company or an

agreement to sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets to an unrelated company

Consistent with the provisions of Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder pursuant

to the named executive officers employment agreements the 2006 Bonus Plan the Supplemental Pension Plan

and the Supplemental Savings Plan as to all amounts earned and vested on or after January 2005 change in

control is deemed to occur upon

the acquisition by any person or group as defined under Section 409A of our common shares that

together with any of our common shares then held by such person or group constitutes more than 50%

of the total fair market value or voting power in our outstanding voting securities

the acquisition by any person or group within any one year period of 30% or more of our outstanding

voting securities

majority of the Board is replaced during any one year period by directors whose appointment or

election is not endorsed by majority of the directors in office prior to the date of such appointment or

election or

the acquisition by any person or group within any one year period of 40% or more of the total gross

fair market value of all of our assets as measured immediately prior to such acquisitions

Notwithstanding the foregoing definitions pursuant to the named executive officers employment agreements

the 1996 Incentive Plan the 2005 Incentive Plan and the 2006 Bonus Plan change in control does not include

any transaction merger consolidation or reorganization in which we exchange or offer to exchange newly

issued or treasury shares in an amount less than 50% of our then-outstanding voting securities for 51% or more

of the outstanding voting securities of an unrelated company or for all or substantially all of the assets of such

unrelated company

Pursuant to the employment agreements named executive officers termination in connection with change in

control is generally deemed to occur if during the applicable protection period as discussed in the next paragraph

we or any other party to the change in control e.g the unrelated acquirer or successor company

terminate the executive without cause

breach term of the employment agreement or

constructively terminate the executive i.e the executive resigns due to the imposition of material

adverse change in the executives duties compensation or reporting relationships after our failure to

cure such condition

The protection period afforded to Mr Fishman consists of the six months preceding change in control and the two

years following change in control The protection period afforded to the other named executive officers consists

of the three months preceding change in control and the two years following change in control
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Estimated Payments if Triggering Event Occurred at 2009 Fiscal Year-End

The amounts in the following tables are approximations based on various assumptions and estimates The actual

amounts to be paid can only be determined at the time of the change in control or termination of employment

as applicable In the tables that follow we have made the following material assumptions estimates and

characterizations

Amounts are calculated based on compensation levels and benefits effective at January 30 2010 the end

of fiscal 2009

As noted in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation row in the tables below the amounts

payable under the 2006 Bonus Plan upon termination without cause or due to disability or death

are based on the bonus actually earned by the applicable named executive officer for fiscal 2009

performance which amounts would be prorated if the executive was terminated prior to the end of the

fiscal year for which the bonus was earned and ii in connection with change in control are equal to

two times the named executive officers stretch bonus

We have not taken into account the possibility that named executive officer may be eligible to receive

healthcare benefits from another source following his or her termination Therefore the amounts shown

in the Healthcare Coverage row in the tables below reflect consistent with the assumptions that would

be used to estimate the cost of these benefits for financial reporting purposes under generally accepted

accounting principles the current monthly cost to provide continued healthcare coverage under the

Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 COBRA applied to each month these

benefits would be provided by the named executive officers employment agreement if terminated

involuntarily without cause or in connection with change in control Included in the amounts shown in

the Healthcare Coverage row in the tables below are the related Tax Gross-Up Amounts The Tax Gross-

Up Amount would be paid under the terms of the named executive officers employment agreement

The amounts shown in the Long-Term Disability Benefit row in the tables below represent 67% of the

named executive officers monthly salary up to maximum of $25000 per
month in accordance with

the long-term disability insurance we maintain for our named executive officers This benefit is payable

until the named executive officer is no longer disabled or age 65 whichever occurs earlier Due to the

speculative nature of estimating the period of time during which named executive officer may be

disabled we have presented only one month of disability benefits in the tables below

The amounts in the Accelerated Equity Awards row under the Termination upon Disability and

Termination upon Death columns in the tables below represent the value as of the final trading

day on the NYSE during fiscal 2009 of 20% the unvested restricted stock awarded to each named

executive officer in March 2008 and iiall of the unvested stock options awarded to each named

executive officer in March 2009 As discussed in the prior section if termination of employment

resulted from death or disability then unvested restricted stock awards made under the 2005 Incentive

Plan will vest in increments of 20% for each consecutive year of employment completed since the

grant date if the first trigger is met while employed The first trigger of the restricted stock awarded

to the named executive officers in March 2008 was met as result of our performance in fiscal 2009

Accordingly 20% of the March 2008 restricted stock awarded to each named executive officer would

have vested at the end of fiscal 2009 had the executives employment terminated on such date as result

of his or her disability or death As discussed in the prior section if named executive officer dies or

becomes disabled before the last scheduled vesting date of stock option awarded in fiscal 2009 the

then-remaining unvested portion of that stock option award will vest on the day such event occurred

provided such event occurred at least six months following the grant date

The amounts in the Accelerated Equity Awards row under the Termination in Connection with

Change in Control and Change in Control without termination columns in the tables below include

the value of all unvested stock options that were in-the-money at the end of fiscal 2009 minus the

aggregate stock option exercise prices and all unvested restricted stock that would have vested on an

accelerated basis had change in control occurred as of the end of fiscal 2009 These amounts do not

reflect any equity awards that have vested or have been granted in fiscal 2010

The closing market price of our common shares on the final trading day on the NYSE during fiscal

2009 was $28.41 per share
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Steven Fishman

The following table reflects the payments that would have been due to Mr Fishman in the event of change in

control or the termination of his employment on January 30 2010

Event Occurring at January 30 2010

Accelerated Equity Awards 625658 625658 1993363 1993363

rI Ni4It Ifir IfMU 44i
Total 1085712 1178225 1153658 4033875 1993363

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in

Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control

with without Voluntary upon upon with Change without

Cause Cause Termination Disability Death in Control termination

i1
Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation 2400000 2400000 2400000 4800000

Accelerated Equity Awards 4547730 4547730 16586475 16586475

Excise Tax Benefit

Total 4906 563 6972730 6947730 23851020 16586475

JoeR Cooper

The following table reflects the payments that would have been due to Mr Cooper in the event of change in

control or the termination of his employment with us on January 30 2010

Event Occurring at January 30 2010

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in

Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control

with without Voluntary upon upon with Change without

Cause Cause Termination Disability Death in Control termination

Salary/Salary Continuation 440.000 880000

Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation 528.000 528.000 528.000 1056000

Healthcare coverage 104512 45 12
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Brad Waite

The following table reflects the payments that would have been due to Mr Waite in the event of change in

control or the termination of his employment with us on January 30 2010 Additionally assuming his employment

terminated at the end of fiscal 2009 the estimated lump-sum present value of Mr Waites benefit under the Pension

Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan would have been $214455

Event Occurring at January 30 2010

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in

Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control

with without Voluntary upon upon with Change without

Cause Cause Termination Disability Death in Control termination

Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation$ 825000 825000 825000 1650000
snir

25000

Accelerated Equity Awards 481275 481 275 1581338 1581338

Excise Tax Benefit $J

TotalS 1452745 1331275 1306275 4395883 1581338

John Martin

The following table reflects the payments that would have been due to Mr Martin in the event of change in

control or the termination of his employment with us on January 30 2010

Event Occurring at January 30 2010

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in

Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control

with without Voluntary upon upon with Change without

Cause Cause Termination Disability Death iii Control termination

Salary/Salary Continuation 520000 1040000

Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation 624000 624000 624 000 1.248000

Healthcare coverage t$ 545 64545

Long-Term Disability Benefit 25.000

Use of Automobile/Automobile

Allowance 13200

Accelerated Equity Awards 481.275 481275 1482900 1.482900

Excise Tax Benefit

Total$ 1221745 1130275 1105275 3835445 1482900
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Lisa Bachmann

The following table reflects the payments that would have been due to Ms Bachmann in the event of change in

control or the termination of her employment with us on January 30 2010

Event Occurring at January 30 2010

Involuntary Involuntary Termination Change in

Termination Termination Termination Termination in Connection Control

with without Voluntary upon upon with Change without

Cause Cause Termination Disability Death in Control termination

Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation 528000 528000 528000 1056000

Hh iIPb i1

Accelerated Equity Awards 625658 625658 1993363 1993363gpitP1

Total 1085712 1178225 1153658 4033875 1993363

PROPOSAL TWO APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED BIG LOTS 2005 LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE PLAN

Background

On March 2010 the Board adopted based on the recommendation of the Compensation Committee which
we refer to as the Committee throughout this discussion of Proposal Two and proposed that our shareholders

approve the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan The 2005 Incentive Plan is an omnibus equity

compensation plan that provides for variety of types of awards including NQSOs ii ISOs iii SARs
iv restricted stock restricted stock units and vi performance units collectively Awards The 2005

Incentive Plan is intended to meet the requirements for qualified performance-based compensation under Section

162m of the IRC so that certain Awards qualify for federal income tax deduction

Our shareholders first approved the 2005 Incentive Plan on May 17 2005 and approved amendments to the

2005 Incentive Plan on May 29 2008 The purpose of the 2005 Incentive Plan is to advance our interests

by attracting retaining and motivating participants ii aligning participants interests with those of our

shareholders by increasing the participants ownership of our common shares and iiiqualifying compensation

paid to our executive officers as qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m

The amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan includes certain amendments for which we desire to obtain

shareholder approval In addition we are required to periodically resubmit the 2005 Incentive Plan for shareholder

approval so that certain Awards can continue to qualify as qualified performance-based compensation under

Section 162m of the IRC Therefore we are seeking shareholder approval with respect to the amended and

restated 2005 Incentive Plan in its entirety The amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan will become effective

if and when approved by our shareholders at the Annual Meeting If our shareholders do not approve the amended

and restated 2005 Incentive Plan Awards previously granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan will remain valid and

the 2005 Incentive Plan will remain in effect

Section 162m Approval Requirement

Section 162m generally provides that we may not deduct more than $1000000 of compensation paid during any

fiscal year to our covered employees i.e our CEO and our three other highest compensated executives excluding

the principal financial officer employed at the end of the fiscal year However this limit does not apply to

qualified performance-based compensation as defined by Section 162m Awards will only constitute qualified
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performance-based compensation under Section 162m if certain requirements are satisfied including shareholder

approval of the material terms of the performance goals of the 2005 Incentive Plan at least once every five

years By approving the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan our shareholders will approve among other

things the material terms of the performance goals and criteria as described below used to determine whether

performance-based Awards are earned the 2005 Incentive Plans eligibility requirements and the limits on the

Awards that may be made under the 2005 Incentive Plan

Proposed Amendments

We believe the approval of the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan would facilitate better understanding

of its terms by participants shareholders administrators and us The primary amendments reflected in the

amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan include updates to the accounting standard references in Article

ii clarifications to the performance criteria and adjustment categories set forth in Article and iiiadditional

revisions that we believe would improve the clarity of the 2005 Incentive Plan

The following summary describes the material features of the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan and is

qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the amended and restated 2005 Incentive Plan attached

to this Proxy Statement as Appendix

Administration

The 2005 Incentive Plan is administered by the Committee The selection of participants in the 2005 Incentive

Plan the level of participation of each participant and the terms and conditions of all Awards are determined by

the Committee Though not required by the 2005 Incentive Plan the Committee generally seeks the approval of

all outside directors when granting Awards to our executives as we believe this approach represents best practices

in corporate governance The Committee has discretionary authority to interpret the 2005 Incentive Plan to

prescribe amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the 2005 Incentive Plan and to make all other

determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the 2005 Incentive Plan The Committee may

delegate authority to administer the 2005 Incentive Plan as it deems appropriate subject to the express limitations

set forth in the 2005 Incentive Plan

Term Termination and Amendment

The 2005 Incentive Plan will expire on May 16 2012 unless terminated earlier by the Board Although the Board

may amend or alter the 2005 Incentive Plan it may not do so without shareholder approval of any amendment to

the extent shareholder approval is required to comply with NYSE listing requirements In addition no amendment

alteration or termination of the 2005 Incentive Plan may adversely affect any outstanding Award to participant

without the consent of that participant other than amendments to cause the 2005 Incentive Plan to comply

with applicable law ii to permit us tax deduction under applicable law or iiidesigned for us to avoid an

expense charge

Share Limitations

The number of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan equals the sum of 1250000

common shares plus ii the 2001142 common shares that remained available for use under the predecessor 1996

Incentive Plan on December 30 2005 plus iiian annual increase equal to 0.75% of the total number of issued

common shares including treasury shares as of the start of each of our fiscal years in which the 2005 Incentive

Plan is in effect plus iv 2100000 common shares approved by our shareholders in May 2008 The 2005 Incentive

Plan provides that the total number of common shares underlying Awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan

the expired DSO Plan the expired 1996 Incentive Plan and the expired ESO Plan may not exceed 15% of all of our

issued and outstanding common shares including treasury shares as of any date We anticipate that the common

shares to be granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan will be registered by us under the Securities Act of 1933

as amended
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The aggregate number of common shares underlying restricted stock restricted stock units and performance units

granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan shall not exceed one-third of all common shares underlying Awards granted

under the Plan The maximum aggregate number of common shares that may be granted under the 2005 Incentive

Plan through the exercise of ISOs shall not exceed 5000000

The 2005 Incentive Plan is designed to meet the requirements for deductibility of executive compensation under

Section 162m with respect to stock options SARs restricted stock and other Awards that are intended to qualify

as qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m In order to meet Section 162m requirements

the 2005 Incentive Plan imposes limits on the number and type of common shares that any one participant may
receive Awards granted to covered employee as that term is used within Section 162m that are intended to

qualify as qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m are limited to 2000000 shares

of restricted stock
per participant annually ii3000000 common shares underlying stock options and SARs

per participant during any three consecutive calendar years and iii $6000000 through performance units per

participant during any three consecutive calendar years

Common shares issued under the 2005 Incentive Plan will be our authorized but unissued common shares treasury

shares or shares purchased in the open market To the extent that any Award payable in common shares is forfeited

cancelled terminated or relinquished the common shares covered thereby will no longer be charged against the

maximum share limitation and may again be made subject to Awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan However the

following types of common shares may not become again available for issuance as an Award common shares

tendered by participants as full or partial payment to us upon the exercise of Awards granted under the 2005

Incentive Plan ii common shares underlying an exercised SAR that are not issued upon the settlement of such

SAR and iiicommon shares withheld by or otherwise remitted to us to meet our withholding obligations arising

upon the exercise of any Award

Eligibility and Participation

In the Committees discretion all of our outside directors and all of our and our affiliates salaried employees

consultants and advisors will be eligible to participate in the 2005 Incentive Plan As of the record date we had no

employees and our affiliates had approximately 4100 salaried employees In fiscal 2010 approximately 90 of our

affiliates employees and no consultants or advisors and our eight outside directors have received or are expected

to receive Awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan although this may vary from year to year From time to time the

Committee will determine who will be granted Awards the number of shares subject to such Awards and all other

terms of the Awards

Awards

Since January 2006 equity compensation awards to employees have been limited to NQSOs and restricted stock

under the 2005 Incentive Plan Since May 29 2008 equity compensation awards to outside directors have been

limited to restricted stock under the 2005 Incentive Plan The 2005 Incentive Plan authorizes the grant of NQSOs
ISOs SARs restricted stock restricted stock units and performance units each of which is described below

Stock Options

Stock options granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be either NQSOs or ISOs The exercise price of any stock

option granted may not be less than the fair market value of our common shares on the grant date The stock option

exercise price is payable in cash by certified check with our common shares through broker-assisted cashless

exercise by withholding common shares subject to the stock option having fair value equal to the stock option

exercise price or any combination of the foregoing

The Committee determines the terms of each stock option grant at the time of the grant However the aggregate

fair market value determined as of the grant date of the common shares subject to ISOs that are exercisable by

any participant for the first time in any calendar
year under all of our plans may not be larger than $100000 The

Committee specifies at the time each stock option is granted the time or times at which and in what proportions

the stock option becomes vested and exercisable In general no stock options shall be exercisable in fewer than

six months after the grant date and no more than one-third of the common shares underlying stock option shall

become exercisable before each of the first three anniversary dates after the grant date Additionally stock

option that vests upon the attainment of specified business performance goal established by the Committee may
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not be exercised sooner than one year after the grant date Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan the

Committee may accelerate the vesting of stock options stock option shall expire no later than 10 years after the

grant date In general stock option expires upon the earlier of its stated expiration date or ii one year
after

the participant terminates service except in the case of ISOs which must be exercised within three months after

termination of service other than due to death or disability

Stock Appreciation Rig/its

SAR entitles the participant upon settlement to receive payment based on the excess of the fair market value

of our common shares on the settlement date over the base price of the SAR multiplied by the number of SARs

being settled The base price of SAR may not be less than the fair market value of our common shares on the

grant date SARs may be payable in cash our common shares or combination of both

The Committee determines the vesting requirements and the payment and other terms of SAR Vesting may

be based on the continued service of the participant for specified time periods or the attainment of specified

business performance goal established by the Committee or both In general no more than one-third of SAR may

be exercised before each of the first three anniversary dates after the grant date However if vesting is based on

the attainment of specified business performance goal established by the Committee then the SAR may not vest

before the first anniversary after the grant date Pursuant to the terms of the 2005 Incentive Plan the Committee

may accelerate the vesting of SARs SAR shall expire no later than 10 years after the grant date In general

SAR expires upon the earlier of its stated expiration date or ii one year after the participant terminates service

SARs may be granted on stand-alone basis or in tandem with another Award stand-alone SAR is SAR that

is not associated with any other Award tandem SAR is SAR that is granted in association with stock option

is subject to the same terms that affect the stock option and may be exercised instead of the stock option in which

case the stock option is cancelled or expires if the stock option is exercised

Restricted Stock

restricted stock Award represents our common shares that are issued subject to restrictions on transfer and

vesting requirements as determined by the Committee Vesting requirements may be based on the continued

service of the participant for specified time periods or the attainment of specified business performance goal

established by the Committee In general no more than one-third of simultaneously granted restricted stock

Awards may vest before each of the first three anniversary dates after the grant date However if vesting is based

on the attainment of specified business performance goal established by the Committee then the restricted stock

may not vest sooner than the first anniversary after the grant date

Subject to the transfer restrictions and vesting requirements of the restricted stock Award the participant has the

same rights as our shareholders during the restriction period including all voting and dividend rights although the

Committee may provide that dividends and restricted stock certificates will be held in escrow during the restriction

period and forfeited or distributed depending on whether applicable performance goals or service restrictions

have been met Also any stock dividends will be subject to the same restrictions that apply to the restricted stock

upon which the stock dividends are issued Unless the Committee specifies otherwise in the Award agreement

the restricted stock is forfeited if the participant terminates service before the restricted stock vests or if applicable

terms and conditions have not been met at the end of the restriction period

Restricted Stock Units

An Award of restricted stock units provides the participant the right to receive payment based on the value of our

common shares Restricted stock units may be subject to such vesting requirements restrictions and conditions

to payment as the Committee determines are appropriate Vesting requirements may be based on the continued

service of the participant for specified time period or on the attainment of specified business performance goal

established by the Committee In general no more than one-third of simultaneously granted restricted stock unit

Awards may vest before each of the first three anniversary dates after the grant date However if vesting is based

on the attainment of specified business performance goal established by the Committee then the restricted stock

units may not vest sooner than the first anniversary after the grant date Restricted stock units are payable in cash

our common shares or combination of both as determined by the Committee
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Participants receiving restricted stock units do not have with respect to such restricted stock units any of the

rights of shareholder Unless the Committee specifies otherwise in the Award agreement the restricted stock unit

Award is forfeited if the participant terminates service before the restricted stock unit vests or if applicable terms

and conditions have not been met at the end of the restriction period

Performance Units

An Award of performance units provides the participant the right to receive our common shares if specified

terms and conditions are met Vesting requirements may be based on the continued service of the participant for

specified time period or on the attainment of specified business performance goal established by the Committee

In general no more than one-third of the performance units may vest before each of the first three anniversary

dates after the grant date However if vesting is based on the attainment of specified business performance goals

established by the Committee then the performance units may not vest sooner than the first anniversary after the

grant date Performance unit Awards are payable in cash our common shares or combination of both If cash

settlement is made the amount distributed will be the fair market value of the number of common shares that

otherwise would have been distributed to settle the performance units Unless the Committee specifies otherwise

in the Award agreement the performance units are forfeited if the participant terminates service before the

performance units are earned

Performance-Based Awards

Any Awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan may be granted in form that qualifies for the qualified

performance-based compensation exception under Section 162m Under Section 162m the terms of the Award

must state in terms of an objective formula or standard the method of computing the amount of compensation

payable under the Award and must preclude discretion to increase the amount of compensation payable under the

terms of the Award but may give the Committee discretion to decrease the amount of compensation payable

The 2005 Incentive Plan specifies performance goals that the Committee must use when granting performance-

based Award As described above the 2005 Incentive Plan imposes certain limitations on the number and value of

performance-based Awards to covered employees

Effect of Change in Control

Awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan are generally subject to special provisions upon the occurrence of

change in control as defined in the 2005 Incentive Plan and discussed in the Executive Compensation section

of this Proxy Statement For Awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan if change in control occurs then

all outstanding stock options and SARs shall become fully exercisable ii all remaining restrictions applicable

to restricted stock and restricted stock units shall lapse and such restricted stock and restricted stock units shall

become free of restrictions fully vested and transferable and iiiany performance goals or other condition

applicable to performance units shall be deemed to be satisfied in full with the common shares or cash subject

to such Award being fully distributable Payments under Awards that become subject to the excess parachute

payment rules of Section 280G of the IRC may be reduced under certain circumstances See the Tax Treatment

of Awards Sections 280G and 4999 section below for more details

Limited Transferability

All Awards or common shares subject to an Award under the 2005 Incentive Plan are nontransferable except upon

death either by the participants will or the laws of descent and distribution or through beneficiary designation

and Awards are exercisable during the participants lifetime only by the participant or by the participants legal

representative in the event of the participants incapacity

Equitable Adjustments

In the event of reorganization recapitalization merger spin-off stock split or other specified changes affecting

us or our capital structure the Committee is required to make equitable adjustments that reflect equitably the

effects of such changes to the participants Such adjustments may relate to the number of our common shares

available for grant as well as to other maximum limitations under the 2005 Incentive Plan e.g exercise prices and

number of Awards and the number of our common shares or other rights and prices under outstanding Awards
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Plan Benefits

The Committee has discretionary authority to grant Awards pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan The 2005

Incentive Plan does not contain any provision for automatic grants As result the future Awards benefits or

amounts that may be received by any individual participant or group of participants are not determinable

In accordance with SEC rules the following table lists all options all of which are NQSOs granted to the

individuals and
groups

indicated below pursuant to the 2005 Incentive Plan between its adoption and March 12

2010 The NQSOs listed in the following table for the named executive officers include the NQSO5 listed in the

executive compensation tables included in this Proxy Statement and are not additional Awards All of the NQSOs
were granted for compensatory purposes

Common Shares Underlying

Name or Stock Option Awards

Identity of Group

tiZ rrbIIbsiaw tV nt
Jeffrey BergerrV
fq41.pbqppVft FF
Steven Fishman 1110000

M1tFyeflP 1U JF
VV

David Kollat

VVVVV V4 VVVVVVV VVVV VVV VVV VV VV ZV VVVVVVV
VV9 VVV

4itt4VJ1AÜdºSä414tVV VjVJ ZVIU VVVVflV VV qn
Philip Mallott

dtueSEzr F2FjFt54t tsiSj
Russell Solt

VV VVt VVVV VVVVV$VV3 VV VVV VV VV
VVV VV V4

Ith4EJLftueraj VV Pt VVVV.VVfl
VVVVV VVV VVVVVVVV Vo IVthV

Dennis Tishkoff

VV VVV VVV VVV VVV VVV VVVVV VVV VV VV VVVIVnV
3$$tVA.VWMte1 Vt V2Vt VVVVV VV VV VV PVV VV

All current executive officers as group 2743400
VV VVVV VVV VVVVVVVVVVV VVVVVV VVVVVIV VVVS VVVV VVV VVVVVVVVtVVVV

4USthks$sdfr1ttYuikiiid$FVi Vt VVV VV

Each associate of any such executive officer outside director or nominee
VVVVV VV VVVVVVVVVVVVVV VVVV VVV VVVVV VVVVV VVVVVVV VV VVV VVVVVV VVVVVVVV VV Vt VV VVVVVV VVVVVVVVVWVVV%VlflUy

All employees including all current officers who are not executive officers

as group 2300500

For additional information regarding Awards made to the named executive officers during fiscal 2009 and

each named executive officers title see the Summary Compensation Table and the Grants of Plan-Based

Awards table in this Proxy Statement

For additional information regarding Awards made to the outside directors during fiscal 2009 see the

Director Compensation Table in this Proxy Statement

Includes the NQSO5 listed in the above table for Mr Fishman Mr Cooper Mr Waite Mr Martin and

Ms Bachmann

Includes the NQSO5 listed in the above table for Mr Berger Mr Hayes Mr Kollat Ms Lauderback

Mr Mallott Mr Solt Mr Tener and Mr Tishkoff

Excludes the NQSO5 listed to the individuals specified in the above table
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Tax Treatment of Awards

The following summary of the United States federal income tax implications of Awards under the 2005 Incentive

Plan is based on the provisions of the IRC and any relevant rulings and regulations issued under the IRC as of the

date of this Proxy Statement The summary is not intended to be complete description of the United States federal

income tax laws does not constitute tax advice and does not describe state local or foreign tax consequences

Incentive Stock Options

An ISO generally results in no taxable ordinary income to the participant or deduction to us at the time the ISO

is granted or exercised However the excess of the fair market value of the common shares acquired over the

stock option exercise price is an item of adjustment in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the

participant If the participant holds the common shares received as result of an exercise of an ISO for at least

two years from the grant date and one year from the exercise date then the gain realized on disposition of the

common shares is treated as long-term capital gain If the common shares are disposed of within either of these

periods i.e disqualifying disposition then the participant will include in income as compensation for the

year of the disqualifying disposition an amount equal to the excess if any of the fair market value of the common

shares upon exercise of the stock option over the stock option exercise price or if less the excess of the amount

realized upon disposition over the stock option exercise price The excess if any of the sale price over the fair

market value on the exercise date will be short-term capital gain In such case we will be entitled to deduction

generally in the
year

of such disposition for the amount includible in the participants income as compensation

The participants basis in the common shares acquired upon exercise of an ISO is equal to the stock option exercise

price paid plus any amount includible in his or her income as result of disqualifying disposition

Non-Qualified Stock Options

NQSO results in no taxable income to the participant or deduction to us at the time it is granted participant

exercising NQSO will at that time realize taxable compensation in the amount of the difference between the

stock option exercise price and the then-current fair market value of the common shares Subject to the applicable

provisions of the IRC deduction for federal income tax purposes will be allowable to us in the year of exercise in

an amount equal to the taxable compensation recognized by the participant

The participants basis in such common shares is equal to the sum of the stock option exercise price plus the

amount includible in his or her income as compensation upon exercise Any gain or loss upon subsequent

disposition of the common shares will be long-term or short-term gain or loss depending upon the holding

period of the common shares

If participant tenders previously owned common shares in payment of the NQSO exercise price then instead

of the treatment described above the following generally will apply number of new common shares equal to

the number of previously owned common shares tendered will be considered to have been received in tax-free

exchange ii the participants basis and holding period for such number of new common shares will be equal to

the basis and holding period of the previously owned common shares exchanged iiithe participant will have

compensation income equal to the fair market value on the exercise date of the number of new common shares

received in excess of such number of exchanged common shares iv the participants basis in such excess shares

will be equal to the amount of such compensation income and the holding period in such common shares will

begin on the exercise date

Stock Appreciation Rights

Generally participant that receives stand-alone or tandem SAR will not recognize taxable income at the time

the SAR is granted If participant receives the appreciation inherent in either form of SAR in cash the cash will

be taxed as ordinary income to the participant at the time it is received If participant receives the appreciation

inherent in either form of SARs in common shares the spread between the then-current fair market value of the

common shares and the base price will be taxed as ordinary income to the participant at the time it is received In

general there will be no federal income tax deduction allowed to us upon the grant or termination of either form of

SAR However upon the settlement of either form of SAR we will be entitled to deduction equal to the amount

of ordinary income the participant is required to recognize as result of the settlement
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Other Awards

The current United States federal income tax consequences of other Awards authorized under the 2005 Incentive

Plan are generally in accordance with the following the fair market value of restricted stock is generally subject

to ordinary income tax at the time the restrictions lapse unless the participant elects to accelerate recognition

as of the grant date and ii the amount of cash paid or the fair market value of the common shares issued to

settle restricted stock units and performance units is generally subject to ordinary income tax In each of the

foregoing cases we will generally be entitled to corresponding federal income tax deduction at the same time the

participant recognizes ordinary income

Section 162m

As described above Awards granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan may qualify as qualified performance-based

compensation under Section 162m in order to preserve federal income tax deductions by us with respect to annual

compensation required to be taken into account under Section 162m that is in excess of $1000000 and paid to our

CEO or our three other highest compensated executives excluding the principal financial officer employed at the

end of the fiscal year To qualify for this exception Awards must be granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan by the

Committee and satisfy the 2005 Incentive Plans limit on the total number of common shares that may be awarded to

any one participant during year In addition for Awards other than stock options to qualify as qualified performance-

based compensation the issuance or vesting of the Award as applicable must be contingent upon satisfying one or

more of the performance goals listed in the 2005 Incentive Plan as established and certified by the Committee

Sections 280G and 4999

Section 280G of the IRC disallows deductions for excess parachute payments and Section 4999 of the IRC imposes

penalties on persons who receive excess parachute payments parachute payment is the present value of any

compensation amount that is paid to disqualified individuals such as our and our subsidiaries officers and highly

paid employees that are contingent upon or paid on account of change in control but only if such payments in

the aggregate are equal to or greater than 300% of the participants taxable compensation averaged over the five

calendar years ending before the change in control or over the participants entire period of service if that period is

less than five calendar years This average is called the Base Amount An excess parachute payment is the amount

by which any parachute payment exceeds the portion of the Base Amount allocated to such payment

Some participants in the 2005 Incentive Plan may receive parachute payments in connection with change in

control If this happens the value of each participants parachute payment from the 2005 Incentive Plan must be

combined with other parachute payments the same participant is entitled to receive under other agreements or

arrangements with us or our subsidiaries such as an employment agreement or change in control agreement If

the participant is disqualified individual and the combined value of all parachute payments is an excess parachute

payment the participant must pay an excise tax equal to 20% of the value of all parachute payments above

100% of the participants Base Amount This tax is due in addition to other federal state and local income wage

and employment taxes Also neither we nor any of our subsidiaries would be able to deduct the amount of any

participants excess parachute payment and the $1000000 limit on deductible compensation under Section 162m
would be reduced by the amount of the excess parachute payment

The 2005 Incentive Plan addresses excess parachute payment penalties Generally if participant in the 2005

Incentive Plan receives an excess parachute payment the value of the payment is reduced to avoid the excess

parachute penalties However the 2005 Incentive Plan also states that other means of dealing with these penalties

will be applied if required by the terms of another written agreement whether currently in effect or adopted in

future with us or any of our subsidiaries such as an employment or change in control agreement Each named

executive officer has an employment agreement with us that provides that if the payments received by the named

executive officer in connection with change in control constitute an excess parachute payment under Section

280G of the IRC the named executive officer is entitled to reimbursement for any excise tax imposed under

Section 4999 of the IRC or the executives benefits under his or her employment agreement will be reduced to the

extent necessary to become one dollar less than the amount that would generate such excise tax if this reduction

results in larger after-tax amount to the executive as compared to the excise tax reimbursement method The

compensation payable on account of change in control may be subject to the deductibility limitations of Sections

162m and 280G of the IRC
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Section 83b

participant may elect pursuant to Section 83b of the IRC to have income recognized at the grant date of an

Award of restricted stock restricted stock units or performance units and to have the applicable capital gain

holding period commence as of that date If participant makes this election we will be entitled to corresponding

tax deduction equal to the value of the Awards affected by this election

Section 409A

Section 409A of the IRC imposes certain restrictions on amounts deferred under nonqualified deferred

compensation plans and 20% excise tax on amounts that are subject to but do not comply with Section 409A

of the IRC Section 409A of the IRC includes broad definition of nonqualified deferred compensation plans

which includes certain types of equity incentive compensation It is intended that the Awards granted under the

2005 Incentive Plan will comply with or be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the IRC and the

treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and any subsequent notices or guidance issued by the Internal

Revenue Service

Market Value

On March 29 2010 the closing price of our common shares traded on the NYSE was $37.32 per share

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information as of January 30 2010 the end of fiscal 2009 relating to our equity

compensation plans pursuant to which our common shares may be issued

Number of securities

remaining available for

future issuance under

equity compensation plans

excluding securities

reflected in column

__________

Includes stock options granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan the DSO Plan and the 1996 Incentive Plan In

addition we had 849488 shares of unvested restricted stock outstanding under the 2005 Incentive Plan

The common shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options granted under each shareholder-

approved plan are as follows

2005 Incentive Plan

DSO Plan

1996 Incentive Plan

3401275

235500

859858

The common shares available for issuance under each shareholder-approved plan are as follows

2005 Incentive Plan

DSO Plan

1996 Incentive Plan

3552814

Number of securities to

be issued upon exercise

of outstanding options

warrants and rights

Weighted-average

exercise price of

outstanding options

warrants and rights

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders
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The 1996 Incentive Plan terminated on December 31 2005 The DSO Plan terminated on May 30 2008 The

number of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan is adjusted annually by adding

0.75% of the total number of issued common shares including treasury shares as of the start of each of our fiscal

years that the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect See the Stock Ownership Ownership of Our Common Shares

by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management section of this Proxy Statement for additional information with

respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE LLR THE PROPOSAL TO APPROVE THE
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2005 INCENTIVE PLAN

PROPOSAL THREE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED AND RESTATED BIG LOTS 2006 BONUS PLAN

Background

On March 2010 the Board adopted based on the recommendation of the Compensation Committee which we
refer to as the Committee throughout this discussion of Proposal Three and proposed that our shareholders

approve the amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan The 2006 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation to be

paid annually when we meet or exceed minimum corporate performance amounts under one or more financial

measures approved by the Committee and other outside directors at the start of the fiscal year The 2006 Bonus

Plan is intended to meet the requirements for qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m of

the IRC so that bonus opportunities awarded under the 2006 Bonus Plan qualify for federal income tax deduction

Our shareholders first approved the 2006 Bonus Plan on May 25 2006 and subsequently amended and restated

the 2006 Bonus Plan effective December 2008 for the
purpose of complying with Section 409A of the IRC The

purpose of the 2006 Bonus Plan is to advance our interests by attracting retaining and motivating employees

ii aligning participants interests with those of our shareholders and iiiqualifying compensation paid to our

executive officers as qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m

The amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan includes certain amendments for which we desire to obtain shareholder

approval In addition we are required to periodically resubmit the 2006 Bonus Plan for shareholder approval so that

bonus opportunities awarded under the 2006 Bonus Plan can continue to qualify as qualified performance-based

compensation under Section 162m of the IRC Therefore we are seeking shareholder approval with respect to the

amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan in its entirety The amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan will become

effective if and when approved by our shareholders at the Annual Meeting If our shareholders do not approve the

amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan some or all of the compensation earned under the 2006 Bonus Plan may not

be deductible by us bonus opportunities previously awarded under the 2006 Bonus Plan will remain valid and the

2006 Bonus Plan will remain in effect Although we strive to preserve the deductibility of bonus compensation to

maintain flexibility in compensating executive officers in manner consistent with our compensation philosophy

the Committee has not adopted policy that all bonus compensation must be deductible under Section 162m

Section 162m Approval Requirement

Section 162m generally provides that we may not deduct more than $1000000 of compensation paid during any
fiscal year to our covered employees i.e our CEO and our three other highest compensated executives excluding

the principal financial officer employed at the end of the fiscal year However this limit does not apply to

qualified performance-based compensation as defined by Section 162m Bonus awards under the 2006 Bonus

Plan will only constitute qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162m if certain requirements

are satisfied including shareholder approval of the material terms of the performance goals of the 2006 Bonus

Plan at least once every five years By approving the amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan our shareholders will

approve among other things the material terms of the performance goals and criteria as described below used to

determine whether bonus awards are earned the 2006 Bonus Plans eligibility requirements and the limits on the

bonus awards that may be made under the 2006 Bonus Plan
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Proposed Amendments

The primary amendments reflected in the amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan include

Authorizing the Committee to determine whether participant in the 2006 Bonus Plan must be

employed by us on the day an earned bonus is paid to be eligible to receive bonus payment As

originally approved by our shareholders the 2006 Bonus Plan generally requires participant to be

employed by us on the day an earned bonus is actually paid to receive the bonus payment We believe

the Committee should
possess

the flexibility to reevaluate and alter this policy from time to time For

example this proposed amendment would enable the Committee to authorize the payment of bonuses

to participants who only remain employed by us through the end of the applicable performance period

rather than on the day bonuses are actually paid which typically occurs one to two months after the end

of the performance period

Increasing the maximum permitted annual bonus payable to participant in the 2006 Bonus Plan to

$4000000 As originally approved by our shareholders the maximum aggregate bonus payable under

the 2006 Bonus Plan to participant for particular fiscal year is limited to $3000000 We believe that

increasing this annual limit to $4000000 is necessary for us to continue to attract retain and motivate

our executives and to preserve the deductibility of bonus payments made under the 2006 Bonus Plan

Without this amendment bonus payable to certain executive officers in excess of $3000000 may
not be deductible by us Although we strive to preserve the deductibility of payments to maintain

flexibility in compensating executive officers in manner consistent with our compensation philosophy

the Committee has not adopted policy that all compensation must be deductible under Section 162m

Updating and clarifying certain other provisions of the 2006 Bonus Plan The other proposed

amendments to the 2006 Bonus Plan principally consist of updates to the accounting standard

references in the appendix of the 2006 Bonus Plan ii clarifications to the performance criteria and

adjustment categories set forth in the appendix of the 2006 Bonus Plan and iiiaditional revisions

that we believe would improve the clarity of the 2006 Bonus Plan We believe these amendments

would facilitate better understanding of the 2006 Bonus Plans terms by participants shareholders

administrators and us

The following summary describes the material features of the amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan and is

qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the amended and restated 2006 Bonus Plan attached to

this Proxy Statement as Appendix

Administration and Description of Bonus Awards

The 2006 Bonus Plan will be administered by the Committee Each Committee member is an outside director

within the meaning of Section 162m As plan administrator the Committee is charged with the responsibility for

designating eligible participants and selecting the performance goals including the applicable financial measures

corporate performance amounts and payout percentages used to calculate the bonus award if any

The corporate performance amounts necessary to earn bonus may be based on one or more financial measures

calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as the

same appear in our filings with the SEC and/or our annual report to shareholders and as may be adjusted in

recognition of unusual or non-recurring events transactions and accruals Annually the Committee in its sole

discretion will select the corporate performance amounts financial measures and equitable adjustments applicable

to the performance period which is generally full fiscal year The financial measures include without limitation

operating profit net income income from continuing operations and earnings per share The financial measures

and equitable adjustments are described in their entirety in the appendix to the 2006 Bonus Plan

The Committee also defines the payout percentages at the time that the financial measures and corporate

performance amounts are established The minimum payout percentages for target and stretch bonus opportunities

for the named executive officers have been established in their respective employment agreements and the payout

percentage for floor bonus opportunity is set annually by the Committee For executives other than the named

executive officers the payout percentages approved by the Committee are set by position level Subject to the terms

of the employment agreements the Committee retains the right to adjust the payout percentages
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The 2006 Bonus Plan provides for cash compensation to be paid annually when the performance goals are

achieved No right to minimum bonus exists under the 2006 Bonus Plan For each performance period the

Committee will establish an objective formula for each participant based on the achievement of the corporate

performance amounts the outcomes of which are substantially uncertain at the time they are established The

Committee derives the corporate performance amounts from our corporate operating plan as approved by the

Board at the start of the fiscal year

The 2006 Bonus Plan provides that bonus awards in any fiscal year may not exceed the maximum bonus amount

that is established annually for each participant pursuant to predetermined objective formula subject to the

current maximum annual limit of $3000000 As discussed above we are seeking the approval of our shareholders

to increase the current maximum annual limit to $4000000

After the end of the performance period the Committee will determine the amount of the bonus award earned

by each participant under the predetermined objective formula for the performance goals Payment of the bonus

award to the participant will be made subject to the participants right to defer the same upon certification by the

Committee in writing that the performance goals were satisfied i.e at least the corporate performance amount

for floor bonus was attained and the bonus award has been calculated in accordance with the predetermined

objective formula

In the event participant voluntarily terminates employment with us prior to the day on which payments of bonus

awards are made under the 2006 Bonus Plan for performance period the participant forfeits all rights to receive

bonus award As discussed above we are seeking the approval of our shareholders to allow the Committee

flexibility in determining whether participants termination of employment on day prior to the payment of

bonus awards would preclude that participant from forfeiting all rights to the bonus award At the discretion of

the Committee prorated bonus awards may be made to participants whose employment terminates by reason

of retirement disability or death during performance period provided however that at least the corporate

performance amount for floor bonus must have been attained during the performance period

Eligibility

In the Committees discretion all of our and our affiliates employees are eligible to participate in the 2006 Bonus

Plan Approximately 665 of those employees are participating in the 2006 Bonus Plan in fiscal 2010

Amendment Suspension or Termination

The Committee may amend in whole or in part any or all of the provisions of the 2006 Bonus Plan except as to

those terms or provisions that are required by Section 162m to be approved by the shareholders or suspend or

terminate the 2006 Bonus Plan entirely provided however that no such amendment suspension or termination

may without the consent of the affected participants reduce the right of participants to any payment due under the

2006 Bonus Plan

Plan Benefits

The exact amount of the awards under the 2006 Bonus Plan if any that will be allocated to or received by the

participants is at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and dependent upon our future performance and

therefore cannot be determined at this time The annual bonuses paid under the 2006 Bonus Plan to the named

executive officers for fiscal 2007 fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 are set forth in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan

Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table in this Proxy Statement

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE 11 THE PROPOSAL TO APPROVE THE
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2006 BONUS PLAN

PROPOSAL FOUR APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO OUR AMENDED ARTICLES OF

INCORPORATION TO INSTITUTE MAJORITY VOTING IN UNCONTESTED DIRECTOR ELECTIONS

After careful consideration the Board is proposing that our Amended Articles of Incorporation Articles be

further amended to require majority voting in uncontested elections of directors The Board has adopted policy to

assure that nominee for director in an uncontested election who receives fewer shareholder votes for his or her
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election than shareholder votes against or withheld from such election would not continue to serve except with

the express consent of the Board Our majority voting policy Policy is set forth in Section 1.11 of our Corporate

Governance Guidelines see the Governance Majority Vote Policy section of this Proxy Statement for more

information regarding the Policy

Prior to 2008 Ohio law required Ohio corporations to use plurality voting standard for director elections Under

plurality voting standard the nominees receiving the greatest number of votes are elected directors Under the

Policy our directors continue to be elected by plurality vote but in an uncontested election director nominee

who receives greater number of withheld votes than for votes must promptly offer to resign from the

Board The Board then must decide based upon the recommendation of our Nominating Corporate Governance

Committee within 100 days after the voting results are certified whether to accept the resignation offer The

Policy also requires the final decision of the Board to be promptly disclosed publicly in press release or report

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission If the decision is to reject the resignation offer the press

release or report will indicate the reasons for that decision

In 2008 Ohio law was amended to provide that the articles of incorporation of an Ohio corporation may set forth

alternative election standards for the election of directors and that if no alternative election standard is specified

in the articles plurality voting would apply For the reasons described below our Board has unanimously adopted

resolutions which
approve

and recommend for our shareholders consideration the approval of amendments to our

Articles and Code of Regulations Regulations to implement majority voting standard in uncontested election

of directors An uncontested election generally is any election of our directors at meeting of shareholders at

which the number of nominees does not exceed the number of directors to be elected and for which no shareholder

has submitted notice of an intent to nominate candidate for election at such meeting in accordance with our

Regulations as proposed to be amended under Proposal Five in this Proxy Statement or if any such notice has

been submitted such notice has been withdrawn determined by our Board or final court order not to

be valid and effective notice of nomination or iiidetermined by our Board not to create bonafide election

contest Proposal Five proposes procedure which would require our shareholders to provide advance notice of

shareholders intent to nominate candidate for election as director at shareholder meeting In all director

elections other than uncontested elections which we refer to as contested elections the plurality voting standard

would continue to apply

Our Board has determined that the adoption of majority voting standard in uncontested elections will provide

our shareholders with greater voice in the election of directors by requiring candidate for election to receive

more favorable than unfavorable votes in order to be elected to the Board or to retain seat on the Board Adoption

of majority voting standard also is intended to reinforce the Boards accountability to the interest of the holders

of majority of our equity securities The proposed amendments would insert majority voting standard into the

Articles which could not be amended without shareholder approval

If the proposed amendments to our Articles is adopted by our shareholders an affirmative majority of the total

number of votes cast with respect to the election of director nominee will be required for election of the nominee

in an uncontested election Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect in determining whether the

required affirmative majority vote has been obtained However if majority voting standard is used in contested

election fewer or more candidates could be elected to the Board than the number of Board seats available Because

the proposed majority voting standard simply requires nominee to receive more for votes than against or

withheld votes without regards to voting for other nominees it is not effective to determine which nominees are

elected when there are more candidates than available Board seats In other words in contested election there are

more nominees than Board seats and majority vote standard could result in all of the nominees receiving more

for votes than withheld votes For that reason the Board believes that in contested elections plurality voting

should be in effect and the candidates receiving the greatest number of shareholder votes would be elected

If this proposal is approved by our shareholders and implemented we also will adopt appropriate conforming

amendments if any to the Policy to eliminate provisions that will be superseded by this proposal and to conform

the provisions that address the treatment of holdover terms for any incumbent directors who fail to be re-elected

under the majority voting standard Under Ohio law an incumbent director who is not re-elected remains in office

until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his earlier death resignation or removal from office

As is the case currently under the Policy if majority vote standard is adopted by our shareholders an incumbent

director who does not receive more votes cast for than withheld as to his or her election in an uncontested
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election of directors will be required to deliver his or her resignation to the Nominating Corporate Governance

Committee under the Policy The Nominating Corporate Governance Committee will make recommendation

to the Board as to whether or not the resignation should be accepted The Board will consider the recommendation

and decide whether or not to accept the resignation as discussed above under Governance Majority Vote Policy

The director who tendered his or her resignation will not participate in the recommendation of the Nominating

Corporate Governance Committee proceedings or the consideration of the tendered resignation by the Board

The actual text of the proposed amendments to our Articles marked with deletions indicated by strike-outs and

additions indicated by underlining is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix The foregoing description of

the proposed amendments to our Articles is only summary of the material terms of the proposed amendments and

is qualified by reference to the actual text of the proposed amendments as set forth in Appendix The proposed

amendments to the Articles will become effective upon filing of the same with the Secretary of State of Ohio

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE THE PROPOSAL TO AMEND OUR ARTICLES

TO INSTITUTE MAJORITY VOTING IN UNCONTESTED DIRECTOR ELECTIONS

PROPOSAL FIVE APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO OUR CODE OF REGULATIONS TO ESTABLISH

PROCEDURES FOR ADVANCE NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDER DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS

Under this Proposal Five the Board is recommending amendments to our Regulations to establish procedures for

advance notice of director nominations by our shareholders Currently our Regulations do not expressly include

procedural requirements regarding the nomination of candidates for election to our Board by shareholders

Under the proposed amendments to our Regulations shareholder may nominate candidate for election as

director at meeting of shareholders by delivering written notice of nomination to our principal executive offices

not later than the 90th day nor earlier than the 130th day prior to the first anniversary of our previous years

annual meeting if the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after the first

anniversary of our previous years annual meeting shareholders instead would be required to deliver such notice

not earlier than the 130th day prior to the annual meeting and not later than the day that is the later of the 90th day

prior to the annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which we first publicly announce the date of the

annual meeting If we call special meeting to elect one or more directors shareholder would be permitted to

nominate candidate for election at the special meeting by delivering notice of such nomination to our principal

executive offices not earlier than the 13 0th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the date that is the

later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the lOth day following the day on which we first publicly

announce the date of the special meeting and the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected at such meeting

The proposed amendments also require nominating shareholder to provide to us in any notice of director nominee

certain information regarding the shareholders ownership of our shares including economic and voting interests in

our common shares and relationships or interests that the shareholder has with the shareholders nominees

The Board has decided that the adoption of these procedures will facilitate an orderly process for shareholder

nominations of candidates for director elections and the conduct of shareholder meetings by providing shareholders

and us reasonable opportunity to consider such nominations Additionally the Board believes that the proposed

procedures will allow sufficient time for full information regarding all director nominees to be distributed to

our shareholders The Board has determined that the 90-day notice period provides an appropriate time period

during which the Board in the exercise of its fiduciary duties can evaluate shareholder director nominees and if

resolution is not reached with the shareholder can prepare and disseminate proxy materials to all shareholders

that clearly articulate the Boards position with respect to such nominees We would expect to disclose to all of our

shareholders the information furnished by the shareholder who intends to nominate candidate for election as

director unless such information is unlikely to be relevant to other shareholders voting decisions The proposed

process also will allow our shareholders who wish to nominate candidate to be represented at shareholders

meeting while ensuring that all other shareholders have sufficient time to consider the candidate prior to casting

their vote in the election of directors

In addition the proposed advance notice provision for shareholder director nominations complements the majority

voting standard proposed in Proposal Four by providing deadline for determining whether an election will be

an uncontested election for purposes of applying the majority voting standard Together the proposed majority
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voting standard and advance notice requirements would facilitate an orderly shareholder meeting and better

communications with our shareholders since our proxy statement and proxy card would differ if majority voting

were not applicable at shareholders meeting due to the existence of contested election

The proposed amendments to the Regulations will not affect any rights of shareholders to request inclusion of

proposals in our proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the U.S Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the Exchange Act by satisfying the notice and other requirements of Rule l4a-8 in lieu of satisfying

the requirements in the proposed amendments

The actual text of the proposed amendments to the Regulations marked with deletions indicated by strike outs

and additions indicated by underlining is attached to this
proxy statement as Appendix The foregoing is only

summary of the material terms of the proposed amendments and is qualified by reference to the actual text as

set forth in Appendix The proposed amendments to the Regulations will become effective upon approval by

our shareholders

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE THE PROPOSAL TO AMEND OUR
REGULATIONS TO ESTABLISH PROCEDURES FOR ADVANCE NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDER
DIRECTOR NOMINATIONS AT SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

AUDIT COMMITTEE DISCLOSURE

General Information

The Audit Committee consists of three outside directors of the Board Our common shares are listed on the NYSE
The members of the Audit Committee have been reviewed by the Board and determined to be independent within

the meaning of all applicable SEC regulations and the listing standards of the NYSE

The charter of the Audit Committee states that the purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in its

oversight of

the integrity of our financial statements and financial reporting process and our systems of internal

accounting and financial controls

our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements including our disclosure controls and

procedures

the annual independent audit of our financial statements the engagement of the independent registered

public accounting firm and the evaluation of the firms qualifications independence and performance

the performance of our internal audit function

the evaluation of enterprise risk issues and

the fulfillment of other responsibilities set forth in its charter

The full text of the Audit Committees charter is available in the Investor Relations section of our website

www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption The Audit Committee regularly reviews its

responsibilities as outlined in its charter prepares an annual agenda to include all of its responsibilities and

conducts self-assessment and review of the charter annually The Audit Committee believes it fulfilled its

responsibilities under the charter in fiscal 2009

The Audit Committee schedules its meetings with view towards ensuring that it devotes appropriate attention to

all of its responsibilities The Audit Committees meetings include whenever appropriate executive sessions with

the independent registered public accounting firm and the internal audit service provider in each case without

the presence of management and discussions with our ChiefFinancial Officer and internal auditor in separate

sessions in each case without the presence of additional members of management The Audit Committee also

meets in executive session without the presence of anyone else whenever appropriate

During fiscal 2009 management completed the documentation testing and evaluation of our system of internal

control over financial reporting in accordance with the requirements set forth in Section 404 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002 and related regulations The Audit Committee was apprised of the progress of the evaluation
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and provided oversight and advice to management during the process In connection with its oversight the Audit

Committee received periodic updates provided by management and the independent registered public accounting

firm at each regularly scheduled Audit Committee meeting The Audit Committee also reviewed the report of

management contained in our Form 10-K as well as the independent registered public accounting firms Report

of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in our Form 10-K related to its audit of our

consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule and ii the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting The Audit Committee continues to oversee efforts related to our system of internal

control over financial reporting and managements preparations for the evaluation thereof in fiscal 2010 The Audit

Committee has also reviewed key initiatives and programs aimed at strengthening the effectiveness of our internal

and disclosure control structure

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee engaged Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm to

audit our financial statements for fiscal 2009 Deloitte Touche LLP has served as our independent registered

public accounting firm since October 1989 The Audit Committee annually selects our independent registered

public accounting firm

Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy

Pursuant to the Audit Committees Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy all audit and non-audit

services rendered by Deloitte Touche LLP in fiscal 2009 including the related fees were pre-approved by the

Audit Committee Under the policy the Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-

audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm to assure that the provision of those

services does not impair the firms independence Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category

of service and is subject to specific engagement authorization The Audit Committee requires the independent

registered public accounting firm and management to report on the actual fees incurred for each category of

service at Audit Committee meetings throughout the year

During the year it may become necessary to engage the independent registered public accounting firm for

additional services that have not been pre-approved In those instances the Audit Committee requires specific pre

approval before engaging the independent registered public accounting firm The Audit Committee may delegate

pre-approval authority to one or more of its members for those instances when pre-approval is needed prior to

scheduled Audit Committee meeting The member or members to whom pre-approval authority is delegated must

report any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting

Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The fees billed to us for the professional services rendered by Deloitte Touche LLP during the two most recently

completed fiscal years were as follows

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008

in f/iou.%unds

AiiditFees 1198 1354

Audit-Related Fees 16

Fax Fees 27 28

All Other Fees

Total Fees 1243 1384

For fiscal 2009 the audit-related fees principally related to accounting consultation

For fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 the tax fees principally related to tax compliance services

For fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 the other fees principally related to online subscription fees for technical

accounting support
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Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for fiscal 2009 with

management and the independent registered public accounting firm The Audit Committee has discussed

with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required to be discussed by the Statement

on Auditing Standards No 61 as amended as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

Rule 3200T The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent

registered public accounting firm required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board regarding the independent registered public accounting firms communications with the Audit

Committee concerning independence and has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm

its independence Based on these reviews and discussions the undersigned members of the Audit Committee

recommended to the Board that the audited consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2009 be included in our

Form 10-K for filing with the SEC

Members of the Audit Committee

Philip Mallott Chair

Jeffrey Berger

Russell Solt

PROPOSAL SIX RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP AS OUR

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR FISCAL 2010

At its March 2010 meeting the Audit Committee appointed Deloitte Touche LLP as our independent

registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2010 The submission of this matter for approval by shareholders

is not legally required however we believe that such submission is consistent with best practices in corporate

governance and is another opportunity for shareholders to provide direct feedback on an important issue of our

corporate governance If the shareholders do not approve
the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte Touche

LLP the selection of such firm as our independent registered public accounting firm will be reconsidered by the

Audit Committee

representative of Deloitte Touche LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate

questions and to make statement if so desired

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE PROPOSAL TO RATIFY

THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR FISCAL 2010

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any proposals of shareholders which are intended to be presented at our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders must

be received by our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices on or before December 14 2010 to be eligible

for inclusion in our 2011 proxy
statement and form of proxy Such proposals must be submitted in accordance

with Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act If shareholder intends to present proposal at our 2011 annual meeting of

shareholders without inclusion of that proposal in our 2011 proxy materials and written notice of the proposal is not

received by our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices on or before February 28 2011 or if we meet other

requirements of the SEC rules proxies solicited by the Board for our 2011 annual meeting of shareholders will

confer discretionary authority on the proxy holders named therein to vote on the proposal at the meeting

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Our Form 10-K is included with this Proxy Statement in our 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders Shareholders

may also receive copy of our Form 10-K without charge by writing to Investor Relations Big Lots Inc 300

Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio 43228-5311 Our Form 10-K may also be accessed in the Investor Relations section

of our website www.biglots.com under the SEC Filings caption
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PROXY SOLICITATION COSTS

This solicitation of proxies is made by and on behalf of the Board In addition to mailing the Notice of Internet

Availability or if applicable paper copies of this Proxy Statement the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders

and the proxy card to shareholders of record on the record date the brokers and banks holding our common
shares for beneficial holders must at our expense provide our proxy materials to persons for whom they hold our

common shares in order that such common shares may be voted Solicitation may also be made by our officers

and regular employees personally or by telephone mail or electronic mail Officers and employees who assist with

solicitation will not receive any additional compensation The cost of the solicitation will be borne by us We have

also retained Georgeson Inc to aid in the solicitation of proxies for fee estimated to be $6500 plus reasonable

out-of-pocket expenses

OTHER MATTERS

As of the date of this Proxy Statement we know of no business that will be presented for consideration at the

Annual Meeting other than as referred to in Proposal One Proposal Two Proposal Three Proposal Four Proposal

Five and Proposal Six above If any other matter is properly brought before the Annual Meeting for action by

shareholders common shares represented by proxies returned to us will be voted on such matter in accordance

with the recommendations of the Board

By order of the Board of Directors

CHARLES HAUBIEL II

Executive Vice President Legal and Real Estate

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

April 13 2010

Columbus Ohio
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APPENDIX

Executive Compensation Peer Groups for Fiscal 2009 Executive Compensation

The retailer-only peer group was comprised of the following companies

99 Cents Only Stores Dollar Tree Limited Brands

Abercrombie Fitch DSW Pier Imports

Bed Bath Beyond Family Dollar RadioShack

BJs Wholesale Club Freds Ross Stores

Dicks Sporting Goods Jo-Ann Stores Stein Mart

The broader peer group was comprised of the following companies

7-Eleven Express Oxford Industries

99 Cents Only Stores Exxon Mobil US Fuels Marketing Papa Johns

AP Family Dollar Party City Corporation

Abercrombie Fitch FedEx Kinkos Payless ShoeSource

Ace Hardware Food Lion PETCO
adidas America Fossil Inc PETsMART

Advance Auto Parts Friendly Ice Cream Phillips-Van Heusen

Aeropostale GameStop Pier Imports

Ahold USA Gap Polo Ralph Lauren

Alex Lee General Nutrition Publix Super Markets

American Eagle Outfitters General Parts International RadioShack

American Signature Genesco Raleys Superstores

Anchor Blue Retail Group Genuine Parts Company Recreational Equipment

Andersons Giant Eagle Redcats USA

Ann Taylor Goodys Family Clothing Restoration Hardware

Annas Linens Co Butt Grocery Company Revlon

Arbys Restaurant Group Half Price Books Richemont North America

Ashland The Valvoline Company Hallmark Retail Ross Stores

att Hanesbrands RSC Equipment Rental

Aurora Health Care Pharmacy Hannaford Bros Co Saks

AutoZone Harley-Davidson Motor Company Sally Beauty Holdings

Aveda Experience Centers Harolds Stores Savers

Avis Budget Group Harris Teeter Sears Holdings

Avon Hany Winston Shoe Carnival Inc

Barnes Noble Helzberg Diamonds ShopKo Stores

bebe Stores Hess Corporation Retail Stores Smart Final

Belk Hilti Spartan Stores

Benetton Home Shopping Network Spencer Gifts

Best Buy Hot Topic Stage Stores

Birks Mayors HSN Staples

BJs Wholesale Club Hy-Vee Starbucks

Blockbuster Interstate Bakeries Corporation SuperValu

Bon-Ton Stores Penney Talbots

Borders Crew Target

Boston Market Corporation Jewelry Television The Coca-Cola Company

Boy Scouts Supply Group Jo-Ann Stores The Finish Line

Brinker International Jockey International The Home Depot

Brown Shoe Company Kellwood Company The Kroger Co

Bulgari Kohls The Pantry

Burlington Coat Factory Kroger The Sports Authority

CS Wholesale Grocers L.L Bean The Walt Disney Co
CarMax Lands End The Yankee Candle Co
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Carters Levi Strauss Things Remembered
CBRL Group Limited Brands Timberland

Chanel Linens Things TJX Companies

Charming Shoppes Liz Claiborne Tommy Hilfiger

Chevron Stations Longs Drug Stores Toys Us
Childrens Place Lord Taylor TravelCenters of America

Chipotle Mexican Grill Lowes True Value Company
Circuit City Stores lululemon athletica usa Tween Brands

Coach Luxottica Retail US Ulta Salon Cosmetics Fragrance

Coleman Factory Outlet Macys United Rentals

Collective Brands Marathon Oil Corporation United Supermarkets

Colonial Williamsburg Foundation Mary Kay Universal Orlando

Columbia Sportswear Mattel University Book Store

Cost Plus maurices Valero Energy

Costco Wholesale McDonalds Corporation Value City Department Stores

Crate and Barrel Meijer Vera Bradley Retail Stores

Cutter Buck Mervyns VF Corporation

CVS/Caremark Michaels Stores Walgreen

Darden Restaurants Miles Kimball Company Wal-Mart

Dell Nash-Finch Warnaco

Design Within Reach National Vision Wendys International

DFS Navy Exchange Service Command West Marine Products

Dicks Sporting Goods Neiman Marcus Group Whole Foods Market

Dollar General New York Company Williams-Sonoma

Dollar Tree Nike Winn-Dixie Stores

DSW Nordstrom Yum Brands Inc

Eastern Mountain Sports Office Depot Zale

Eddie Bauer OfficeMax
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APPENDIX

The Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan as proposed to be amended and restated effective May 27 2010

BIG LOTS 2005 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

ARTICLE

ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE

1.1 Restatement The Plan was initially adopted on the Effective Date amended ant to the approvai ef the

and is hereby amended and restated in its entirety effective on the

Restatement Date

1.2 Purposes The Plan is intended to promote the Companys long-term financial success and materially increase

shareholder value by motivating performance through incentive compensation The Plan also is intended to

encourage Participants to acquire ownership interests in the Company attract and retain talented associates and

enable Participants to participate in the Companys long-term growth and financial success

ARTICLE II

DEFINITIONS

When used in the Plan the following terms have the meaning given to them in this Article II unless another meaning

is expressly provided elsewhere in the Plan or required by the plain context in which it is used When applying the

terms defined in this Article II and other terms used throughout the Plan the form of any term phrase or word will

as appropriate include any and all of its forms

2.1 Affiliate means in the case of an ISO parent corporation or subsidiary corporation of the Company as

those terms are defined in Code 424e and respectively and in all other cases any other entity other than the

Company regardless of its form that directly or indirectly controls is controlled by or is under common control with

the Company within the meaning of Code 414b as modified by Section 409A of the Code

2.2 Award means any Option Stock Appreciation Right Restricted Stock Restricted Stock Unit or Performance

Unit granted to Participant under the Plan At the Committees discretion an Award may be granted as

Performance-Based Award

2.3 Award Agreement means any written or electronic agreement granting an Award to Participant Each Award

Agreement will specify the Grant Date and describe the terms and conditions imposed on the Award

2.4 Beneficiary means any person or entity who or which has been designated by Participant in his or her

most recent written beneficiary designation filed with the Committee to receive the compensation or to exercise the

rights that are due or exercisable at the Participants death If there is no designated beneficiary the term means any

person or entity entitled by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution to receive such compensation

2.5 Board of Directors or Board means the Companys board of directors

2.6 Change in Control means any one or more of the following events

Any person or group as defined for
purposes

of Section 13d of the Exchange Act becomes the beneficial

owner of or has the right to acquire by contract option warrant conversion of convertible securities or

otherwise 20 percent or more of the outstanding equity securities of the Company entitled to vote for the

election of directors

majority of the members of the Board of Directors then in office is replaced within any period of two

years or less by directors not nominated and approved by majority of the directors in office at the beginning

of such period or their successors so nominated and approved or majority of the Board of Directors at any

date consists of persons not so nominated and approved or

The shareholders of the Company approve an agreement to merge or consolidate with another corporation

or an agreement to sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Companys assets including

without limitation plan of liquidation
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Provided however the other provisions of this Section 2.6 notwithstanding the term Change in Control shall not

mean any merger consolidation reorganization or other transaction in which the Company exchanges or offers

to exchange newly-issued or treasury Common Shares representing 20 percent or more but less than 50 percent

of the outstanding equity securities of the Company entitled to vote for the election of directors for 51 percent or

more of the outstanding equity securities entitled to vote for the election of at least the majority of the directors of

corporation other than the Company or an Affiliate the Acquired Corporation or for all or substantially all of the

assets of the Acquired Corporation

2.7 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended from time to time and any successor along with

relevant rules regulations and authoritative interpretations the Internal Revenue Service issues

2.8 Committee means the Compensation Committee of the Board or such other Board committee to which the Board

assigns the responsibility of administering the Plan The Committee shall consist of at least three members of the Board
each of whom may serve on the Committee only if the Board determines that he or she is Non-employee Director

for
purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act satisfies the requirements of an outside director for

purposes
of Code 162m and qualifies as independent in accordance with New York Stock Exchange listing standards

2.9 Common Shares means shares of the Companys common shares $0.01 par value as such
par value may be

amended from time to time whether presently or hereafter issued and any other stock or security resulting from

adjustment thereof as described hereinafter or the Common Shares of any successor to the Company which is

designated for the purpose of the Plan

2.10 Company means Big Lots Inc an Ohio corporation

2.11 Covered Employee means Participant whose compensation in the
year

of the expected payment of an

Award will be subject to Code 162m

2.12 Disability means

With respect to ISOs as that term is defined in Code 22e3
With respect to any Award that is subject to Code 409A the Participant is unable to engage in any

substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be

expected to result in death or can be expected to last for continuous period of not less than 12 months by

reason of any readily determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can

be expected to last for continuous period of not less than 12 months receiving income replacement benefits for

period of at least three months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Participants employer

or determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration or the Railroad Retirement Board and

With respect to any other Award physical or mental condition that for more than six consecutive months

renders the Participant incapable with reasonable accommodation of performing his or her assigned duties on

full-time basis

2.13 Effective Date means May 17 2005 the date upon which the Plan was initially approved by the Companys
shareholders

2.14 Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and the rules and regulations

promulgated thereunder

2.15 Exercise Price means the price if any Participant must pay to exercise an Award or the amount upon which

the value of an Award is based

2.16 Fair Market Value means

If the Common Shares are readily tradable on an established securities market the
average

of the opening

and closing trading prices of Common Share on any date for which it is relevant or if relevant date occurs

on day other than trading day on the next trading day and

If the Common Shares are not readily tradable on an established securities market the value determined by

the Committee through the reasonable application of reasonable method taking into account all information

material to the value of the Company within the meaning of Code 409A and the Treasury Regulations

promulgated thereunder
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2.17 Grant Date means the later of the date the Committee establishes the terms of an Award or the date

specified in the Award Agreement In no event may the Grant Date be earlier than the Effective Date

2.18 Incentive Stock Option or ISO means any Option granted under the Plan that is designated as an incentive

stock option within the meaning of Code 422

2.19 Non-Qualified Stock Option or NQSO means an Option granted under the Plan that is not designated as

an ISO or an ISO that for any reason other than exercise ceased to be an ISO

2.20 Option means right to purchase Common Shares granted to Participant in accordance with Article VI An

Option may be either an ISO or NQSO

2.21 Option Period means the period during which an Option may be exercised

2.22 Participant means person who satisfies the eligibility conditions of Article and to whom an Award has

been granted by the Committee under the Plan

2.23 Performance-Based Award means an Award granted subject to the terms of Article

2.24 Performance Period means the period which with respect to Covered Employee may be no shorter than

fiscal quarter of the Company established by the Committee over which the Committee measures whether or not

Performance-Based Awards have been earned

2.25 Performance Unit means right granted subject to the terms and conditions established by the Committee

under Article IX

2.26 Plan means the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan as herein amended and restated and as may be

further amended from time to time

2.27 Restatement Date means May 27 201 OMay29 2OO the date of the Companys 2010 2gAnnual Meeting

of Shareholders

2.28 Restricted Stock means Common Shares granted subject to the terms and conditions established by the

Committee under Section 8.1

2.29 Restricted Stock Unit means an Award granted subject to the terms and conditions established by the

Committee under Section 8.2

2.30 Restriction Period means the period over which the Committee measures whether terms and conditions such

as forfeitures placed on Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units have been met

2.31 Rule 16b-3 means Rule 16b-3 as from time to time in effect and applicable to the Plan and Participants

issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 16 of the Exchange Act or any successor rule

2.32 Stock Appreciation Right or SAR means right granted to Participant to receive either in cash or

Common Shares or combination thereof the appreciation in the value of Common Share over certain period of

time SARs are granted under Article VII

2.33 Termination of Employment means the occurrence of any act or event that causes Participant to cease

being an employee of the Company or of any Affiliate including without limitation death Disability dismissal

severance at the election of the Participant or severance as result of the discontinuance liquidation sale or

transfer by the Company or its Affiliates of business owned or operated by the Company or any Affiliate With

respect to any person who is not an employee of the Company or any Affiliate such as an eligible consultant as

determined in accordance with Article the Award Agreement shall establish what act or event shall constitute

Termination of Employment for purposes of the Plan Termination of Employment shall occur with respect to an

employee who is employed by an Affiliate if the Affiliate shall cease to be an Affiliate and the Participant shall not

immediately thereafter become an employee of the Company or an Affiliate

2.34 Vesting Acceleration Feature means term in an Award Agreement that upon achievement and certification

of performance goals set forth in Section 10.3 causes the lapse of restrictions imposed on Restricted Stock or

Restricted Stock Units to accelerate
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ARTICLE III

ADMINISTRATION

3.1 Committee Duties The Committee is granted all powers appropriate and necessary to administer the Plan

Consistent with the Plans purpose the Committee may adopt amend and rescind rules and regulations relating

to the Plan to the extent appropriate to protect the Companys interests and the Plans purpose and has complete

discretion to make all other decisions necessary or advisable for the administration and interpretation of the Plan

Any action by the Committee will be final binding and conclusive for all
purposes and upon all Participants

and Beneficiaries Also the Committee or the Board as appropriate may revoke or amend the Plan and Award

Agreements without any additional consideration to affected Participants to the extent necessary to avoid penalties

under Code 409A even if that revocation or those amendments reduce restrict or eliminate rights granted under

the Plan or Award Agreement or both before the amendments provided however that the Company or the

Committee may but neither is required to reimburse an affected Participant for any diminution in the value of an

Award associated with any such change

3.2 Restrictions on Reload/Repricing Regardless of any other provision of the Plan without the prior approval

of the shareholders neither the Company nor the Committee may reprice or grant any Award in connection with the

cancellation of previously granted Award if the Exercise Price of the later granted Award is less than the Exercise

Price of the earlier granted Award and no Participant will be entitled and no Committee discretion may be

exercised to extend to any Participant an automatic grant of additional Awards in connection with the exercise of an

Option or otherwise

3.3 Committee Actions The Committee may authorize any one or more of its members or an officer of the Company
to execute and deliver documents on behalf of the Committee The Committee may allocate among one or more of

its members or may delegate to one or more of its agents such duties and responsibilities as it determines However
the Committee may not delegate any duties required to be administered by the Committee to comply with Code

162m or any applicable law

ARTICLE IV

SHARES SUBJECT TO PLAN

4.1 Number of Shares Subject to Section 4.7 the total number of Common Shares reserved and available for

distribution pursuant to Awards shall be the sum of 1250000 newly issued Common Shares plus any

remaining Common Shares available for issuance under the Companys 1996 Performance Incentive Plan on

December 30 2005 plus an additional .75 percent of the total number of issued Common Shares including

treasury shares as of the start of each of the Companys fiscal years currently comprised of 52/53-week period

which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31 that the Plan is in effect including Common Shares exchanged
when exercising Options plus effective on the Restatement Date 2100000 newly issued Common Shares

Such shares may consist in whole or in part of authorized and unissued Common Shares or Common Shares

acquired from third party In any event the total number of Common Shares underlying Awards granted under

the Plan the 1996 Performance Incentive Plan the Big Lots Inc Executive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation

Rights Plan and the Director Stock Option Plan shall not exceed 15 percent of the total Common Shares issued and

outstanding including treasury shares as of any date

4.2 Unfulfilled Awards Any Common Shares subject to an Award that for any reason is forfeited cancelled

terminated or relinquished may again be the subject of an Award Notwithstanding the foregoing the following

shares shall not become available again for issuance as an Award Common Shares tendered by Participants

as full or partial payment to the Company upon exercise of Awards granted under the Plan Common Shares

reserved for issuance upon grant of SARs to the extent the number of reserved shares exceeds the number of shares

actually issued upon exercise of the SARs and Common Shares withheld by or otherwise remitted to the

Company to meet the obligations described in Section 13.4

4.3 Restrictions on Common Shares Common Shares issued upon exercise of an Award shall be subject to the terms

and conditions specified herein and to such other terms and conditions as the Committee in its discretion may
determine or provide in the Award Agreement The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificates
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for Common Shares cash or other property prior to the completion of any registration or qualification of such

shares under federal state or other law or any ruling or regulation of any government body which the Committee

determines to be necessary or advisable and the satisfaction of any applicable withholding obligation in order

for the Company or an Affiliate to obtain deduction or discharge its legal obligation with respect to the exercise

of an Award The Company may cause any certificate or other representation of title for any Common Shares to

be delivered to be properly marked with legend or other notation reflecting any limitations on transfer of such

Common Shares as provided in the Plan or as the Committee may otherwise require The Committee may require

any person exercising an Award to make such representations and furnish such information as the Committee

may consider appropriate in connection with the issuance or delivery of the Common Shares in compliance with

applicable law or otherwise

4.4 Restrictions on Full Value Awards The maximum aggregate number of shares of Restricted Stock Restricted

Stock Units and Performance Units that may be issued under the Plan shall not exceed 33-1/3 percent of all awards

granted pursuant to the Plan

4.5 ISO Restriction The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be granted under the Plan through the

exercise of ISOs shall be five million 5000000

4.6 Shareholder Rights Except as expressly provided in the Plan or Award Agreement no Participant will have

any rights as shareholder with respect to Common Shares subject to an Award until after proper transfer of the

Common Shares subject to the Award or other action required the shares have been recorded on the Companys

official shareholder records as having been issued and transferred Upon grant of Restricted Stock or exercise

of an Option or SAR or payment of any other Award or any portion thereof to be made in Common Shares

the Company will have reasonable period but not more than two and one-half months after the exercise or

settlement date in which to issue and transfer the shares and the Participant will not be treated as shareholder for

any purpose whatsoever prior to such issuance and transfer except as provided in the Plan or Award Agreement

Unless specifically provided in the Plan or Award Agreement no adjustment shall be made for cash dividends or

other rights for which the record date is prior to the date such shares are recorded as issued and transferred in the

Companys official shareholder records

4.7 Effect of Certain Changes In the event of any Company share dividend share split combination or exchange

of Common Shares recapitalization or other similar change in the capital structure of the Company corporate

separation or division of the Company including but not limited to split-up spin-off split-off or distribution

to Company shareholders other than normal cash dividend reorganization rights offering partial or complete

liquidation or any other corporate transaction or event involving the Company and having an effect similarto any

of the foregoing the Committee shall make equitable adjustments or substitutions as described below in this Section

4.7 The adjustments or substitutions may relate to the number of Common Shares available for Awards under the

Plan the number of Common Shares covered by outstanding Awards the exercise price per share of outstanding

Awards and any other characteristics or terms of the Awards as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate to

reflect equitably the effects of such changes to the Participants Any adjustment or substitution made pursuant to this

Section 4.7 shall be made in accordance with the requirements of Code 409A and 424 to the extent applicable

ARTICLE

ELIGIBILITY

5.1 Eligibility In the Committees discretion any salaried employee consultant or advisor to the Company or

its Affiliates or any member of the Board may be Participant provided such eligibility would not jeopardize

the Plans compliance with Rule l6b-3 under the Exchange Act or any successor rule For purposes of the Plan

consultant or advisor shall be eligible only if bona fide services are being rendered pursuant to valid written

agreement between the consultant or advisor and the Company and the services rendered are not in connection with

the offer or sale of securities in capital-raising transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain

market for the Companys securities However no Award subject to Code 409A may be granted to any person
who

is performing services for an entity that is not an Affiliate

5.2 Conditions of Participation By accepting an Award each Participant agrees in his or her own behalf and in

behalf of his or her Beneficiaries to be bound by the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan and that

the Committee or the Board may amend the Plan and the Award Agreement without any
additional consideration
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to the extent necessary to avoid penalties arising under Code 409A even if those amendments reduce restrict

or eliminate rights or Awards granted under the Plan or an Award Agreement or both before those amendments

provided however that the Company or the Committee may but neither is required to reimburse an affected

Participant or Beneficiary for any diminution in the value of an Award associated with any such change

ARTICLE VI

OPTIONS

6.1 Grant of Options Except as provided in Section 4.5 the Committee may grant Options to Participants at any
time during the term of the Plan However

No Option intended to be an ISO may be granted more than seven years after the Effective Date

Only person who is common-law employee of the Company or an Affiliate on the Grant Date may be

granted an ISO Any Option that is not designated as an ISO or which does not qualify as an ISO will be NQSO
6.2 Terms and Conditions Options shall be subject to the terms and conditions specified in the Award Agreement

including

Exercise Price The Exercise Price shall not be less than 100 percent of Fair Market Value on the Grant

Date or 110 percent of Fair Market Value on the Grant Date in the case of an ISO granted to an individual

10 percent Owner who owns or who is deemed to own shares possessing more than 10 percent of the total

combined voting power of all classes of shares of the Company or any Affiliate as determined under Code 422

Option Period The Option Period of each Option will be specified in the Award Agreement provided that

no Option shall be exercisable fewer than six months after the Grant Date or more than 10 years after the Grant

Date five years in the case of an ISO granted to 10 percent Owner

Exercisability Subject to Article an Option shall be exercisable under terms specified in the Award

Agreement provided however that an Option which is not substitution under Section 13.9 shall not

permit more than one-third of any Common Shares thereunder to be purchased before each of the first three

anniversary dates after its Grant Date The Committee may provide in the Award Agreement for an accelerated

exercise of all or part of an Option upon specified events or conditions including one or more of the

performance goals listed in Section 10.3 Also the Committee may accelerate the exercisability of all or part
of any Option at any time The aggregate Fair Market Value determined at the Grant Date of the Common
Shares subject to ISOs that are exercisable by Participant for the first time during any calendar year under
all plans of the Company and its Affiliates shall not exceed $100000 calculated under Code 422

Method of Exercise Subject to the provisions of this Article VI and the Award Agreement Participant

may exercise Options in whole or in part during the Option Period by giving written notice of exercise on
form provided by the Committee specifying the number of whole Common Shares subject to the Option to be

purchased Such notice must be accompanied by payment of the Exercise Price by cash or certified check or

other form of payment acceptable to the Committee at the time of exercise including delivering Common
Shares already owned by the Participant for any minimum period required by the Committee having total

Fair Market Value on the date of delivery equal to the Exercise Price the delivery of cash by broker-

dealer as cashless exercise provided this method of payment may not be used by an executive officer

of the Company to the extent it would violate applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
authorizing the Company to withhold from the Common Shares to be issued pursuant to the Option number

of Common Shares having total Fair Market Value as of the date of exercise equal to the Exercise Price or

any combination of the foregoing

6.3 Effect of Termination of Employment Unless otherwise specifically provided in an Award Agreement or

determined by the Committee any exercisable Options held by Participant who Terminates Employment may be

exercised until the earlier of one year after Termination of Employment or the expiration date specified in the Award

Agreement provided however that Participant may not exercise an ISO more than months following such

Participants Termination of Employment for any reason other than due to death or Disability or the expiration date

specified in the Award Agreement if earlier
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6.4 Notice of Disposition of Common Shares Prior to the Expiration of Specified ISO Holding Periods The

Committee may require that Participant exercising an ISO give written representation satisfactory in form and

substance upon which the Company may rely that the Participant will report to the Company any disposition of

Common Shares acquired through exercise of an ISO before expiration of the holding periods specified by Code

422a

ARTICLE VII

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

7.1 Grant of SARs The Committee may grant SARs to Participants at any time during the term of the Plan either

alone or in tandem with other Awards If all the terms and conditions specified in the Award Agreement are met the

Participant may exercise the SAR and receive Common Shares under the procedures described in this Section 7.1

7.2 Terms and Conditions SARs shall be subject to the terms and conditions specified in the Award Agreement

including

Exercise Price The Exercise Price may not be less than 100 percent of Fair Market Value on the Grant Date

Period and Exercise The Award Agreement will specify the period over which SAR may be exercised

and the terms and conditions that must be met before it may be exercised provided however that SAR

Award Agreement which is not substitution under Section 13.9 shall not permit more than one-third of

SARs granted thereunder to be exercised before each of the first three anniversary dates after its Grant Date

and SAR Award Agreement may not permit the SAR Award to be exercisable for more than 10 years after

its Grant Date The Committee may provide in the Award Agreement for an accelerated exercise of all or part

of SAR upon specified events or conditions including one or more of the performance goals listed in Section

10.3 Also the Committee may accelerate the exercisability of all or part of any SAR Participant may

exercise SAR giving written notice of exercise on form acceptable to the Committee specifying the portion

of the SAR being exercised

Settlement Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement when SAR is exercised the Participant

shall be entitled to receive number of Common Shares cash or combination of cash or Common Shares as

determined by the Participant as follows if the SAR Award is settled in cash the Participant shall receive

an amoimt of cash equal to the product of the excess of the Fair Market Value of one Common Share on the

date of exercise over the Exercise Price multiplied by ii the number of SARs being settled and if the SAR

Award is settled in Common Shares the Participant shall receive number of Common Shares equal to the

amount of the cash settlement divided by the Fair Market Value of one Common Share on the date of exercise

Also neither the Company nor an Affiliate may repurchase the Common Shares delivered in settlement of SAR

or enter into an arrangement that has similar effect

7.3 Effect of Termination of Employment Unless otherwise specifically provided in an Award Agreement or determined

by the Committee any
exercisable SARs held by Participant who Terminates Employment may be exercised until the

earlier of one year after Termination of Employment or the expiration date specified in the Award Agreement

ARTICLE VIII

RESTRICTED STOCK/RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

8.1 Restricted Stock Except as provided in Section 4.4 the Committee may grant Restricted Stock to Participants at

any time during the term of the Plan

Restricted Stock Grant Awards and Certificates Each Participant receiving Restricted Stock Award shall

be issued certificate or other representation of title in respect of such Restricted Stock That certificate

shall be registered in the name of such Participant and shall bear an appropriate legend describing the terms

conditions and restrictions applicable to such Award as determined by the Committee The Committee in its

discretion may distribute the certificate to the Participant or require that the certificate be held in escrow by
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the Company until the Restriction Period lapses and as condition of receiving any Restricted Stock Award
the Participant delivers share power endorsed in blank relating to the Common Shares underlying the

Restricted Stock Award

Terms and Conditions Restricted Stock shall be subject to such terms and conditions as specified in the

Award Agreement including

Restrictions The Award Agreement will specify the Restriction Period and the terms and conditions that

must be met if the Restricted Stock is to be earned These may include an acceleration of the Restriction

Period based on one or more of the performance goals listed in Section 10.3 The Committee also may
impose more than one Restriction Period affecting simultaneously granted Restricted Stock Awards

provided however that except in the case of Restricted Stock subject to Section 10.1 or Restricted

Stock substituted under Section 13.9 the Restriction Period affecting no more than one-third of such

Restricted Stock may not lapse earlier than one year after the Grant Date affecting no more than one-

half of the remaining Restricted Stock may not lapse earlier than two years after the Grant Date and

affecting the remaining Restricted Stock may not lapse earlier than three years after the Grant Date

Rights Except as provided in Section 13.7 during the Restriction Period Participant receiving

Restricted Stock Award will have with respect to the Restricted Stock all of the rights of shareholder of

the Company holding the class of Common Shares that is the subject of the Restricted Stock including if

applicable the right to vote the shares and the right to receive any cash dividends However any dividends

paid on Restricted Stock held in escrow also will be held in escrow and either will be paid to the Participant

or forfeited at the end of the Restriction Period depending on whether the Restricted Stock on which they

were paid is earned or forfeited Also any stock dividends will be subject to the same restrictions that affect

the Restricted Stock with respect to which the dividend was paid Dividends paid out of escrow will be

treated as remuneration for employment unless an election has been made under Section 13.17 of the Plan

Forfeiture Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Award Agreement all Restricted Stock will be

forfeited if the Participant Terminates Employment before the end of the Restriction Period or if applicable

terms and conditions have not been met at the end of the Restriction Period If forfeited Restricted Stock

was held in escrow during the Restriction Period it will be released from escrow If forfeited Restricted

Stock was issued to the Participant the share certificates will be returned and cancelled

Settlement If all terms and conditions imposed on the Restricted Stock Award are met unlegended

certificates or other representation of title for such Common Shares shall be delivered to the Participant

Price The Committee may require Participant to pay stipulated purchase price for each share of

Restricted Stock

8.2 Restricted Stock Units Except as provided in Section 4.4 the Committee may grant Restricted Stock Units

to Participants at any time during the term of the Plan Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the terms and

conditions specified in the Award Agreement including

Restrictions The Award Agreement will specify the Restriction Period and the terms and conditions

that must be met if the Restricted Stock Units are to be earned These may include an acceleration of the

Restriction Period based on one or more of the performance goals listed in Section 10.3 The Committee also

may impose more than one Restriction Period affecting simultaneously granted Restricted Stock Units Award

provided however that except in the case of Restricted Stock Units subject to Section 10.1 or substituted

under Section 13.9 the Restriction Period affecting no more than one-third of such Restricted Stock Units

may not lapse earlier than one year after the Grant Date affecting no more than one-half of the remaining

Restricted Stock Units may not lapse earlier than two years after the Grant Date and affecting the remaining

Restricted Stock Units may not lapse earlier than three years after the Grant Date

Rights During the Restriction Period Participant receiving Restricted Stock Unit Award will not have

with respect to the Restricted Stock Unit any of the rights of shareholder of the Company

Forfeiture Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Award Agreement all Restricted Stock Units will

be forfeited if the Participant Terminates Employment before the end of the Restriction Period or if applicable

terms and conditions have not been met at the end of the Restriction Period
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Settlement Within two and one-half months after all terms and conditions imposed on the Restricted Stock

Unit Award and specified in the Award Agreement have been met the Committee in its discretion will issue

unlegended certificates or other representation of title for Common Shares equal to the number of Restricted

Stock Units to be settled redeem the Restricted Stock Units for cash equal to the Fair Market Value as of the last

day of the Restriction Period of the Restricted Stock Units being settled or deliver any combination of unlegended

certificates or cash to the Participant having an aggregate value equal to the Restricted Stock Units being settled

ARTICLE IX

PERFORMANCE UNITS

9.1 Grant of Performance Units Except as provided in Section 4.4 of the Plan the Committee may grant to

Participants Performance Units at any time during the term of the Plan

9.2 Terms and Conditions The Committee may in its discretion grant Performance Units to Participants Performance

Units may be subject to any terms and conditions including vesting that the Committee specifies in the Award

Agreement and to the terms of the Plan provided however that Performance Unit Award Agreement other than one

executed under Section 13.9 of the Plan or subject to Section 10.1 of the Plan shall not permit more than one-third of

the Performance Units granted thereunder to vest before each of the first three anniversary dates after its Grant Date

Performance Units may constitute Performance-Based Awards as described in Article The Award Agreement will

state the form in which the Performance Unit is to be settled and when the Performance Unit will be settled Common

Shares issued through Performance Unit Award may be issued with or without payment by the Participant as required

by applicable law or any other consideration specified by the Committee

9.3 Settling Performance Units One Common Share will be issued for each Performance Unit to be settled unless

the Award Agreement provides for settlement in cash or partially in cash and partially in Common Shares If all or

part of any Performance Unit Award is to be settled in cash the amount distributed will be equal to the Fair Market

Value as of the settlement date specified in the Award Agreement of the number of Common Shares that otherwise

would have been distributed to settle the Performance Unit

9.4 Forfeiture Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Award Agreement all Performance Units will be

forfeited if the Participant Terminates Employment before meeting all applicable terms and conditions

ARTICLE

PERFORMANCE-BASED AWARDS

10.1 Grant of Performance-Based Awards Any Award may be granted in form that qualifies as qfiel
performancebased compensation as defined under Code 162m As determined by the Committee in its sole

discretion either the granting or vesting of Performance-Based Awards will be based on achieving one or more or

any combination of performance objectives derived from the criteria listed below over the Performance Period

established by the Committee However particular Performance-Based Award Agreement shall not permit

the exercisability of Performance-Based Option or Performance-Based SAR before the first anniversary date

after its Grant Date the lapse of the Restriction Period in the case of Restricted Stock Award or Restricted

Stock Unit Award before the first anniversary date after its Grant Date the vesting of Performance-Based

Performance Unit before the first anniversary date after its Grant Date or except upon the attainment of the

performance objectives to which the relevant Award re1ates jthecertificationre uiredbvSection 104 the lapse

of the Restriction Period in the case of Restricted Stock Award or Restricted Stock Unit Award or the vesting of

Performance-Based Performance Unit in the event of Participants Termination of Employment other than due to

death or Disability

10.2 Establishing Objectives With respect to Performance-Based Awards the Committee will establish in writing

the performance objectives to be applied and the Performance Period which may not be shorter than 12 fiscal

periods which may consist of four or five week period of the Company except for the inaugural Performance

Period in the case of an employee who first becomes Participant after the beginning of fiscal year of the

Company over which their achievement will be measured the method for computing the value of the Award that

may be earned if and to the extent that those performance objectives are met and the Participants or class of
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Participants to which the performance objectives apply Performance objectives will be established in writing no

later than 90 days after the beginning of the applicable Performance Period but in no event after 25 percent of the

Performance Period has elapsed

10.3 Performance Goals Performance criteria imposed on Performance-Based Awards will be derived using the

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and will be reported or appear in the

Companys filings with the Securities Exchange Commission including but not limited to Forms 8-K 10-Q and

10-K or the Companys annual report to shareholders and will be derived from one or more or any combination of

one or more of the following

Earnings per common share from continuing operations or

Earnings per common share from income or

Operating profit loss or Operating income loss as the case may be or

Income Loss from continuing operations before unusual or infrequent items or

Income Loss from continuing operations or

Income Loss from continuing operations before income taxes or

Income Loss from continuing operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle as the case may be or

Income Loss before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle as
the case may be or

Net income loss or

10 Income Loss before other comprehensive income loss or

11 Comprehensive income loss or

12 Income Loss before interest and income taxes sometimes referred to as EBIT or

13 Income Loss before interest income taxes depreciation and amortization sometimes referred to as

EBITDA or

14 Any other objective and specific income loss category or non-GAAP financial measure that appears

as line item in the Companys filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or the annual report to

shareholders or

15 Either of items or on basic basis and any of items through 14 on basic earnings per

share basis as basic earnings per share is defined in theFinancial Accounting Standards Board FASB
of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 128 including authoritative interpretations or amendments thereof which

may be issued from time to time as long as such interpretations or amendments are utilized on the consolidated

statements of operations or statement of operations as applicable or in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements or

16 Either of items or on diluted basis and any of items through 14 on diluted earnings per
share basis as diluted earnings per share is defined in 260 arnings Pi Shan 1onh1Lr the AS1 SFAS
No 28 including authoritative interpretations or amendments thereof which may be issued from time to

time as long as such interpretations or amendments are utilized on the consolidated statements of operations or

statement of operations as applicable or in the notes to the consolidated financial statements or

17 Common stock price or

18 Total shareholder return expressed on dollar or percentage basis as is customarily disclosed in the proxy
statement accompanying the notice of annual meetings of shareholders or

19 Percentage increase in comparable store sales or

20 Gross profit loss or gross margin loss as the case may be or
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21 Economic value added or

22 Any of items through 21 with respect to any subsidiary Affiliate business unit business group

business venture or legal entity including any combination thereof or controlled directly or indirectly by the

Company whether or not such information is included in the Companys annual report to shareholders proxy

statement or notice of annual meeting of shareholders or

23 Any of items through 21 above may be determined before or after minority interests share as

designated by the Committee or

24 Any of items through 21 above with respect to the period of service to which the performance goal

relates whether or not such information is included in the Companys filings annual report to shareholders

proxy statement or notice of annual meetings of shareholders or

25 Total shareholder return ranking position meaning the relative placement of the Companys total

shareholder return as determined in 18 above compared to those publicly held companies in the Companys

peer group as established by the Committee prior to the beginning of vesting period or such later date as

permitted under the Code The peer group
shall be comprised of not less than eight and not more than sixteen

companies including the Company

26 With respect to items 15 and 16 above other terminology may be used for each such

performance criteria including but not limited to Basic EPS income loss per common share diluted

EPS or earnings per common share assuming dilution as contemplated in AS26 ai niig Prli

meilrby-SFAS No 128 as amended revised or superseded

The Committee in its sole discretion in setting the performance goals in the time prescribed in Section 10.2 may

provide for the making of adjustments including the income tax effects attributable thereto singularly or in

combination to the goals/targets in recognition of the following categories or any particular items within the

following categories or portions thereof

27 Asset impairments as described in No 144 as

amended revised or superseded or

28 Costs associated with exit or disposal activities as described

Obligations formedy SFAS No 146 as amended revised or superseded or

29 Impairment charges excluding the amortization thereof related to goodwill or other intangible assets as

described ASC 350 Intangibles Goodwill and Other formerly SFAS No 142 as amended revised or

superseded or

30 Merger integration costs or

31 Merger transaction costs or

32 Any profit or loss attributable to the business operations of specified segment as described Frrin

ASC 280 Segment Reporting formerly SFAS No 131 as amended revised or superseded or

33 Any profit or loss attributable to specified segment as described hyir

gifmgfl/ SFAS No 131 as amended revised or superseded or an entity or entities acquired during the period

of service to which the performance goal relates or

34 Any tax settlements with tax authority or

35 Any extraordinary item event or transaction as described in ASC22520IncorneStatenwnL

xli oidirui andt Inusual ltres foinwr Accounting Principles Board Opinion APB No 30 as

amended revised or superseded or

36 Any unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence items events or transactions that are not

extraordinary items as described in AS 22 10 1ncomctat rncnif xli oidinai and Unusu illtcms

Thrmerly APB No 30 as amended revised or superseded or

37 Any other non-recurring items any events or transactions that do not constitute ongoing operations or

other non-GAAP financial measures not otherwise listed or
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38 Any change in accounting principle as described in AS 250 Accounthg Chgçs and Error Correct ions

jftri11ery SFAS No 154 as amended revised or superseded or

39 Unrealized gains or losses on investments in debt and equity securities as described in ASC 320
lncstmnlsDcbimd gitv SccuriticsfonmrN SFAS No 115 as amended revised or superseded or

40 Any gain or loss recognized as result of derivative instrument transactions or other hedging activities as

descnbed an ASC jikiialeind LILd frrncft SFAS No 133 as amended revised or superseded or

41 Stock-based compensation charges as described in AS7i8coi1ciisatioil.stockcesationd
No 123R as amended revised or

superseded or

42 Any gain or loss as reported as component of other comprehensive income as described in ASC 220
inieheisivelnconieformcrIvSFAS No 130 as amended revised or superseded or

43 Any expense or reversal thereof as result of incurring an obligation for direct or indirect guarantee

as described in 60Giaranteesfrmer1vFASB Interpretations FIN No 45 as amended revised or

superseded or

44 Any profit or loss as the result of the consolidation of variable interest entity as described in ASC 810
No 46R as amended revised or superseded or

45 Any expense gain or loss including but not limited to judgments interest on judgments settlement

amounts attorneys fees and costs filing fees experts fees and damages sustained as result of the

imposition of injunctive relief as result of claims litigation or lawsuit settlement including collective

actions or class action lawsuits or

46 Any charges associated with the early retirement of debt or

47 The relevant tax effects of tax laws or regulations or amendments thereto that become effective after

the beginning of the applicable Performance Period

10.4 Certification of Performance Goals Any Award intended to qualify as lifederformancebased
compensation as defined under Code 162m shall not be paid until the Committee certifies in writing that the

performance goals and any other material terms were in fact satisfied In the manner required by Code 162m
the Committee shall promptly after the date on which the necessary financial and other information for particular

Performance Period becomes available certify the extent to which performance goals have been achieved with

respect to any Award intended to qualify as qualified performance-based compensation under Code 162m
In addition the Committee may in its discretion reduce or eliminate the amount of any Award payable to any

Participant based on such factors as the Committee may deem relevant

10.5 Limitation on Awards The following limits which are subject to automatic adjustment under Section 4.7 will

apply to Performance-Based Awards

In no event may the number of Restricted Stock shares awarded to any Covered Employee for any fiscal

year exceed 2000000 Common Shares

During any three consecutive calendar-year period the maximum number of Common Shares for which

Options and SARs in the aggregate may be granted to any Covered Employee may not exceed 3000000
Common Shares If an Option is cancelled the cancelled Option continues to be counted against th maximum
number of shares for which Options may be granted to the Covered Employee under the Plan

For Performance Unit Awards that are intended to be qfid erformance-based compensation as
that term is used in Code 162m no more than $6000000 may be subject to such Awards granted to any
Covered Employee during any three consecutive calendar-year period
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ARTICLE XI

CHANGE IN CONTROL PROVISIONS

11.1 Impact of Event Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary and unless otherwise

specifically provided in an Award Agreement in the event of Change in Control

Any Options and SARs outstanding as of the date of such Change in Control and not then exercisable shall

become fully exercisable to the full extent of the original grant

All remaining Restriction Periods shall be accelerated and any remaining restrictions applicable to any

Restricted Stock Awards shall lapse and such Restricted Stock shall become free of all restrictions and become

fully vested and transferable to the full extent of the original grant

All remaining Restriction Periods shall be accelerated and any remaining restrictions applicable to any

Restricted Stock Unit shall lapse and such Restricted Stock Unit shall become free of all restrictions and

become fully vested and transferable to the full extent of the original grant i.e the Restriction Period shall

lapse and

Any performance goal or other condition with respect to any Performance Units shall be deemed to have

been satisfied in full and the Common Shares or cash subject to such Award shall be fully distributable

11.2 Effect of Code 280G Except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement or any other written agreement

between the Participant and the Company or any Affiliate in effect on the date of the Change in Control if the

sum or value due under Section 11.1 that are characterizable as parachute payments when combined with other

parachute payments attributable to the same Change in Control constitute excess parachute payments as defined

in Code 280Gb1 the entity responsible for making those payments or its successor or successors collectively

Payor will reduce the Participants benefits under the Plan by the smaller of the value of the sum or the value

of the payments due under Section 11.1 or the amount necessary to ensure that the Participants total parachute

payment as defined in Code 280Gb2A under the Plan and all other agreements will be $1.00 less than the

amount that would generate an excise tax under Code 4999 Any reduction pursuant to this Section 11.2 shall be

first applied against parachute payments as determined above that are not subject to Code 409A and thereafter

shall be applied against all remaining parachute payments as determined above subject to Code 409A on pro

rata basis

ARTICLE XII

PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO COMMON SHARES ACQUIRED UNDER THE PLAN

12.1 No Obligation to Disclose Material Information Except to the extent required by applicable securities laws

none of the Company an Affiliate or the Committee shall have any duty or obligation to affirmatively disclose

material information to record or beneficial holder of Common Shares or an Award and such holder shall have no

right to be advised of any material information regarding the Company or any Affiliate at any time prior to upon

or in connection with receipt or the exercise or distribution of an Award The Company makes no representation or

warranty as to the future value of the Common Shares that may be issued or acquired under of the Plan

12.2 Six-Month Distribution Delay Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary if Participant is

specified employee within the meaning of Code 409A and as determined under the Companys policy for

determining specified employees on the date of his or her separation from service as that phrase is used for

purposes
of Code 409A all Awards subject to Code 409A shall be paid distributed or settled as applicable on

the first business day of the seventh month following the Participants separation from service or if earlier the

Participants death This payment shall include the cumulative amount of any amounts that could not be paid or

provided during such period
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ARTICLE XIII

MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 Amendment Alteration and Termination The Board may amend alter or terminate the Plan at any time but

no amendment alteration or termination shall be made which would impair the rights of Participant under an

Award theretofore granted without the Participants consent Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence

an amendment may be made to cause the Plan to comply with applicable law including but not limited to

any changes needed to comply with Code 409A permit the Company or an Affiliate tax deduction under

applicable law or avoid an expense charge to the Company or an Affiliate Subject to the requirements of Code

409A and except to the extent prohibited by Code 162m the Committee may amend alter or terminate any

Award Agreement prospectively or retroactively on the same conditions and limits and exceptions to limitations

that apply to the Board and further subject to any approval or limitations the Board may impose and any amendment

to the terms of an Award Agreement which has the effect of accelerating the exercisability with respect to any

Option or SAR Award causing the remaining restrictions to lapse in the case of Restricted Stock or Restricted

Stock Unit Awards or satisfing any performance goal or other condition with respect to any Performance Unit

Award may only be made after in the Committees sole discretion an extraordinary unusual or nonrecurring event

has occurred Notwithstanding the foregoing any material amendments to the Plan or any Award Agreement shall

require shareholder approval to the extent required by the rules of the New York Stock Exchange or other national

securities exchange or market that regulates the securities of the Company

13.2 Unfunded Status of Plan It is intended that the Plan be an unfunded plan for incentive compensation The

Committee may authorize the creation of trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan to

deliver Common Shares or make payments provided however that unless the Committee otherwise determines the

existence of such trusts or other arrangements is consistent with the unfunded status of the Plan

13.3 No Additional Obligation Nothing contained in the Plan shall prevent the Company or an Affiliate from

adopting other or additional compensation or benefit arrangements for its employees

13.4 Withholding As soon as practicable after the date as of which the amount first becomes includible in the
gross

income of the Participant but no later than the last business day of the calendar quarter during which the amount

first becomes includible in gross income the Participant shall pay to the Company or an Affiliate or other entity

identified by the Committee or make arrangements satisfactory to the Company or other entity identified by the

Committee regarding the payment of any federal state or local taxes of any kind including any employment taxes

required by law to be withheld with respect to such income The obligations of the Company under the Plan shall be

conditional on such payment or arrangements and the Company and its Affiliates shall to the extent permitted by

law have the right to deduct
any

such taxes from any payment otherwise due to the Participant Subject to approval

by the Committee Participant may elect to have such tax withholding obligation satisfied in whole or in part by

authorizing the Company to withhold from the Common Shares to be issued pursuant to any Award number

of Common Shares that would satisf the required statutory minimum but no more than such required minimum
with respect to the Companys withholding obligation or transferring to the Company Common Shares owned by

the Participant that would satisfy the required statutory minimum but no more than such required minimum with

respect to the Companys withholding obligation

13.5 Controlling Law The Plan and all Awards made and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and

construed in accordance with the laws of Ohio other than its law respecting choice of laws The Plan shall be

construed to comply with all applicable law and to avoid liability other than liability expressly assumed under

the Plan or an Award Agreement to the Company an Affiliate or Participant In the event of litigation arising in

connection with actions under the Plan the parties to such litigation shall submit to the jurisdiction of courts located

in Franklin County Ohio or to the federal district court that encompasses that county

13.6 Offset Any amounts owed to the Company or an Affiliate by the Participant of whatever nature up to $5000
in any taxable year of the Participant may be offset by the Company from the value of any Award to be transferred

to the Participant and no Common Shares cash or other thing of value under the Plan or an Award Agreement shall

be transferred unless and until all disputes between the Company and the Participant have been fully and finally

resolved and the Participant has waived all claims to such against the Company or an Affiliate However no waiver

of any liability or the right to apply the offset described in this Section 13.6 may be inferred because the Company

pays an Award to Participant with an outstanding liability owed to the Company or an Affiliate
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13.7 Nontransferability Beneficiaries No Award or Common Shares subject to an Award shall be assignable

or transferable by the Participant otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to

beneficiary designation and Awards shall be exercisable during the Participants lifetime only by the Participant

or by the Participants legal representatives in the event of the Participants incapacity Each Participant may

designate Beneficiary to exercise any Option or SAR or receive any Award held by the Participant at the time

of the Participants death or to be assigned any other Award outstanding at the time of the Participants death No

Award or Common Shares subject to an Award shall be subject to the debts of Participant or Beneficiary or subject

to attachment or execution or process
in any court action or proceeding unless otherwise provided in the Plan If

deceased Participant has named no Beneficiary any Award held by the Participant at the time of death shall be

transferred as provided in his or her will or by the applicable laws of descent and distribution Except in the case of

the Participants incapacity only the Participant may exercise an Option or SAR

13.8 No Rights with Respect to Continuance of Employment Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to alter

the relationship between the Company or an Affiliate and Participant or the contractual relationship between

Participant and the Company or an Affiliate if there is written contract regarding such relationship Nothing

contained herein shall be construed to constitute contract of employment between the Company or an Affiliate

and Participant The Company or an Affiliate and each of the Participants continue to have the right to Terminate

the Employment or service relationship at any time for any reason except as provided in written contract The

Company or an Affiliate shall have no obligation to retain the Participant in its employ or service as result of the

Plan There shall be no inference as to the length of employment or service hereby and the Company or an Affiliate

reserves the same rights to Terminate the Employment or service of the Participant as existed prior to the individual

becoming Participant in the Plan

13.9 Awards in Substitution for Awards Granted by Other Corporations Awards may be granted under the Plan from

time to time in substitution for awards held by employees directors or service providers of other corporations who are

about to become officers or employees of the Company or an Affiliate and will be eligible to be Participants as the

result of transaction described in Code 424 The terms and conditions of the Awards so granted may vary from the

terms and conditions set forth in the Plan at the time of such grant as the majority of the members of the Committee

may deem appropriate to conform in whole or in part to the provisions of the awards in substitution for which they are

granted and to ensure that the requirements imposed under Code 409A and 424 to the extent applicable are met

13.10 Delivery of Stock Certificates To the extent the Company uses certificates to represent Common Shares

certificates to be delivered to Participants under the Plan shall be deemed delivered for all purposes when the

Company or stock transfer agent of the Company shall have placed such certificates in the United States mail

addressed to the Participant at the Participants last known address on file with the Company Any reference in

this Section 13.10 or elsewhere in the Plan or an Award Agreement to actual stock certificates and/or the delivery

of actual stock certificates shall be deemed satisfied by the electronic record-keeping and electronic delivery of

Common Shares or other mechanism then utilized by the Company and its agents for reflecting ownership of such

Common Shares

13.11 Indemnification To the maximum extent permitted under the Companys Articles of Incorporation and

Code of Regulations each person who is or shall have been member of the Committee or of the Board shall be

indemnified and held harmless by the Company against and from any loss cost liability or expense including

attorneys fees that may be imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or resulting

from any claim action suit or proceeding to which he or she may be party or in which he or she may be involved

by reason of any action taken or failure to act under the Plan or any Award Agreement and from any and all

amounts paid by him or her in settlement thereof with the Companys prior written approval or paid by him or her

in satisfaction of any judgment in any such claim action suit or proceeding against him or her provided however

that he or she shall give the Company an opportunity at its own expense to handle and defend the same before he or

she undertakes to handle and defend it on his or her own behalf The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be

exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which such persons may be entitled under the Companys Articles

of Incorporation or Code of Regulations by contract as matter of law or otherwise or under any power that the

Company may have to indemnify them or hold them harmless

13 12 No Fractional Shares No fractional Common Shares shall be issued or delivered under the Plan or any Award

granted hereunder provided that the Committee in its sole discretion may round fractional shares down to the

nearest whole share or settle fractional shares in cash
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13.13 Severability If any provision of the Plan shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable such

invalidity or unenforceability shall not effect any other provision hereof and the Plan shall be construed as if such

invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted

13.14 Successors and Assigns The Plan shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each successor and assign

of the Company All obligations imposed upon Participant and all rights granted to the Company hereunder shall

be binding upon the Participants heirs legal representatives and successors

13.15 Entire Agreement Except as expressly provided otherwise the Plan and any Award Agreement constitute

the entire agreement with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof provided that in the event of any

inconsistency between the Plan and any Award Agreement the terms and conditions of the Plan shall control

13.16 Thrm No Award shall be granted under the Plan after May 16 2012

13.17 Application of Section 83b At the Committees discretion any Participant may make an early inclusion

election under Code 83b but only by complying with procedures developed by the Committee and rules issued

under Code 83b
13.18 Headings The headings of the Articles and their subparts contained in the Plan are for the convenience of

reading and reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning interpretation or be meant to be of substantive

significance of the Plan

13.19 Compliance with Code 409A It is intended that the Plan comply with Code 409A and the Treasury

Regulations promulgated thereunder and any subsequent notices or guidance issued by the Internal Revenue

Service and the Plan shall be interpreted administered and operated accordingly Nothing in the Plan or any Award

Agreement shall be construed as an entitlement to or guarantee of any particular tax treatment to Participant

13.20 Inclusion in Income under Code 409A The Company may accelerate the time or schedule of distribution

exercise or settlement of an Award to Participant to pay an amount the Participant includes in income as result

of the Plan failing to meet the requirements of Code 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder

Such payment may not exceed the amount required to be included in income as result of the failure to comply with

Code 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder
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APPENDIX

The Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan as proposed to be amended and restated effective May 27 2010

BIG LOTS 2006 BONUS PLAN

NAME

1.01 The Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan the Plan was originally established by Big Lots Inc effective as

of January 29 2006 the Effective Date subject to approval by the Companys shareholders no later

than June 2006 The Plan was first serebamended and restated effective December 2008the-

RestatemenEffeetieIate fiir-thtsç rpüseofeomp1yngwthiR.sectin4O9A The Plasbeet

PURPOSE

2.01 The Plan is designed to assist the Company and its Affiliates in attracting retaining and motivating

employees align Participants interests with those of the Companys shareholders and qualify

compensation paid to Participants who are Covered Associates as qualified utherperformance-based

compensation within the meaning of section 162m of the IRC or successor provision

DEFINITIONS

3.01 Acquired Corporation has the meaning ascribed in Section 3.07

3.02 Affiliate means any person
with whom the Company would be considered single employer under

IRC section 414b or

3.03 Base Salary means as to Performance Period Participants actual
gross salary rate in effect on the

Determination Date Such salary shall be before deductions for taxes and benefits and deferrals

of salary pursuant to Company-sponsored plans

3.04 Beneficiary means the person or persons entitled to receive the interest of Participant in the event of

the Participants death

3.05 Board means the Board of Directors of the Company

3.06 Bonus means payment subject to the provisions of this Plan

3.07 Change of Control means any one or more of the following events the acquisition by any person

as defined under IRC section 409A or more than one person acting as group as defined under

IRC section 409A of stock of the Company that together with stock held by such person or group

constitutes more than 50 percent of the total fair market value or total voting power of the Company

the acquisition by an person or group within any 12 month period of stock of the Company

possessing 30 percent or more of the total voting power of all of the stock of the Company majority

of the Board then in office is replaced within any period of 12 months or less by directors not nominated

and approved by majority of the directors in office at the beginning of such period or their successors

so nominated and approved or the acquisition by any person or more than one person acting as

group within any 12 month period of assets from the Company that have total gross fair market

value equal to or more than 40 percent of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the

Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions This definition of Change of Control

under this Section 3.07 shall be interpreted in manner that is consistent with the definition of change

in control event under IRC section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder

Provided however the other provisions of this Section 3.07 notwithstanding the term Change of

Control shall not mean any merger consolidation reorganization or other transaction in which the

Company exchanges or offers to exchange newly-issued or treasury Common Shares representing

20 percent or more but less than 50 percent of the outstanding equity securities of the Company
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entitled to vote for the election of directors for 51 percent or more of the outstanding equity securities

entitled to vote for the election of at least the majority of the directors of corporation other than the

Company or an Affiliate the Acquired Corporation or for all or substantially all of the assets of the

Acquired Corporation

3.08 Committee means the Compensation Committee of the Board which shall consist of not less than

three members of the Board each of whom is non-employee director as defined in Securities and

Exchange Commission Rule 16b-3b3i or as such term may be defined in any successor regulation

under Section 16 of the Exchange Act In addition each member of the Committee shall be an outside

director within the meaning of IRC section 162m

3.09 Common Shares means the common shares of the Company its successors and assigns

3.10 Company means Big Lots Inc an Ohio Corporation its successors and assigns and any corporation

which shall acquire substantially all its assets

3.11 Conditional Payment means prepaying Bonus before the date of current payment in Section 6.02

and subjects the prepayment or portion thereof to possible return to the Company

3.12 Covered Associate means any Participant who is expected to be covered employee in the

Fiscal Year the Bonus is expected to be payable as defined in IRC section 162m and the regulations

thereunder

3.13 Deferred Bonus Account means the bookkeeping account established under Section 6.04

3.14 Determination Date means as to Performance Period the first day of the Performance Period

or such other date set by the Committee provided such date will not jeopardize the Plans Bonus as

iflLkcLperformance-based compensation under IRC section 162m

3.15 Eligible Position means an employment position with the Company or an Affiliate which provides

the employee in the position the opportunity to participate in the Plan The Committee or its designee

determines Eligible Positions

3.16 Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended and the rules and regulations

promulgated thereunder

3.17 Fiscal Year means the fiscal year of the Company currently comprised of 52/53 week fiscal
year

which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31

3.18 Fiscal Year Bonus means any Bonus relating to period of service coextensive with one or more

consecutive Fiscal Years of which no amount is paid or payable during the Fiscal Years constituting

the period of service

3.19 IRC means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended from time to time and any successor

3.20 Participant means key employee of the Company or an Affiliate who has been approved for

participation in the Plan by the Committee or its designee

3.21 Performance Period means the period which with respect to Covered Associate may be no

shorter than fiscal quarter of the Company established by the Committee over which the Committee

measures whether or not Bonuses have been earned In most cases the Performance Period will be

Fiscal Year In the case of an inaugural Performance Period or promotion the Performance Period

may be less than Fiscal Year

3.22 Tax means any net income alternative or add-on minimum tax gross income gross receipts

commercial activity sales use consumer transfer documentary registration ad valorem value added

franchise profits license withholding payroll employment unemployment insurance contribution

excise severance stamp occupation premium property environmental or windfall profit tax custom

duty unclaimed fund/abandoned property or other tax governmental fee or other like assessment or

charge of any kind whatsoever together with any interest or any penalty addition to tax or additional

amount imposed by any governmental authority responsible for the imposition of any such tax

3.23 Termination or any form thereof means separation from service as defined in Treasury Regulation

l.409A-lh by Participant with the Company and all its Affiliates
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3.24 Unforeseeable Financial Emergency means severe financial hardship to Participant within

the meaning of Treasury Regulation .409A-3i3 resulting from an illness or accident of the

Participant or the Participants spouse Beneficiary or dependent as defined in IRC section 152 without

reference to IRC sections 152bl b2 and d1B loss of the Participants property due to

casualty or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as result of events

beyond the control of the Participant

ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

4.01 Approval Each key employee of the Company or an Affiliate who is approved for participation in the

Plan by the Committee or under the authority conveyed by the Committee shall be Participant as of

the date designated Notwithstanding the foregoing any key employee of the Company or an Affiliate

who was participating in the Plan as of the Restatement Effective Date shall remain Participant as long

as the key employee is in an Eligible Position

4.02 Termination of Approval The Committee may withdraw its approval for participation for Participant

at any time In the event of such withdrawal the key employee concerned shall cease to be an active

Participant as of the date selected by the Committee Nothing in this Section 4.02 shall permit distribution

of amounts credited to Participants Deferred Bonus Account before the time specified in Section 6.04

4.03 Transfers In Out of and Between Eligible Positions

key employee may be approved for participation during portion of Fiscal Year

With respect to employees who are not Covered Associates an employee newly hired or

transferred into an Eligible Position shall have his/her participation prorated during the first

Fiscal Year provided employment or transfer occurs at least two months prior to the end of

the Fiscal Year

ii An employee other than Covered Associate transferred out of an Eligible Position may
receive prorated Bonus at the discretion of the Committee provided he/she served in the

Eligible Position for at least two full months during the Fiscal Year

iii With respect to Covered Associates approved for participation during portion of Fiscal

Year see Section 5.03 as it would relate to Performance Periods that are not equivalent to

Fiscal Year

Participants who are not Covered Associates transferring between Eligible Positions having

different Bonus formulas will receive Bonuses prorated to months served in each Eligible Position

Generally for Covered Associates transferring between Eligible Positions Section 5.03 shall apply

to each respective Performance Period applicable to the particular position unless an employment

agreement provides otherwise

4.04 Termination of Employment

atifiestheIiitieiaiitiii
pportothç cnd ol thc PcrormancPcrocijjv.ThParticipant shall

forfeit all rights to Bonus unless the Participant is employed by the Company or an Affiliate

on the day on which payments determined under Section 6.02 are in fact made or would have

been made if deferred payment election under Section 6.04 had not been executed However

Participant shall not forfeit Bonus for Performance Period if the Participant is employed

by the Company or an Affiliate at the end of the Performance Period and is involuntarily

Terminated by the Company or an Affiliate without cause or Terminates by reason of retirement

disability or death after the end of the Performance Period but before the Bonus payment date

Notwithstanding the foregoing Covered Associate who Terminates by reason of retirement

during Performance Period shall be entitled to pro rata portion of any Bonus that the Covered

Associate would have been eligible to receive for the Performance Period in which his or her

retirement occurs had his or her retirement not occurred at all

The Company shall have discretion to provide pro-rated Bonus to Participant whose

employment with the Company or an Affiliate Terminated by reason of retirement disability or

death during Performance Period
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DETERMINATION OF BONUSES

5.01 In addition to the vesting requirements of Section 4.04 Bonuses will vest solely on account of

the attainment of one or more pre-established performance objectives and in the case of Covered

Associates the certification described in Section 5.07

5.02 With respect to Bonuses for Covered Associates the material terms of the performance measures must

be disclosed to and subsequently approved by the shareholders before the Bonus payout is executed

unless the performance measures conform individually alternatively or in any combination of the

performance criteria and the application thereof in Appendix

5.03 Prior to the completion of 25% of any Performance Period which by example may be full Fiscal

Year or some portion thereof or if earlier 90 days after the beginning of the applicable Performance

Period or such earlier date as required under IRC section 162m the Committee shall in its sole

discretion for each such Performance Period determine and establish in writing performance measure

or performance measures in accordance with Section 5.02 applicable to the Performance Period to

any Covered Associate Within the same period of time the Committee or its designee for each such

Performance Period shall determine and establish in writing the performance measures applicable to the

Performance Period for Participants who are not Covered Associates Such pre-established performance

measures must state in terms of an objective formula or standard the method for computing the amount

of the Bonus payable to the Participant if the objectives is are obtained formula or standard is

objective if third party having knowledge of the relevant performance results could calculate the

amount to be paid to the Participant The Committee may establish any number of Performance Periods

objectives and Bonuses for any associate running concurrently in whole or in part provided that in

so doing the Committee does not jeopardize the Companys deduction for such Bonuses under IRC

section 162m

5.04 On or prior to the date specified in Section 5.03 the Committee in its sole discretion shall either

assign each Participant target Bonus opportunity level expressed as percentage of Base Salary or

whole dollar amount for Covered Associates Base Salary must be fixed prior to the establishment of

performance objectives applicable to particular Performance Period or establish payout table

or formula for purposes of determining the Bonus if any payable to each Participant The Committee

may authorize designee to establish payout table or formula for those Participants who are not

Covered Associates

5.05 Each payout table or formula

shall be in writing

shall be based on comparison of actual performance to the performance objectives

may include floor which is the level of achievement of the performance objective in which

payout begins

shall include ceiling a/k/a stretch which is the level of achievement for the maximum Bonus

payout percentage subject to Section 5.09 and

shall provide for formula for the actual Bonus attainment in relation to the Participants target

Bonus depending on the extent to which actual performance approached reached or exceeded the

performance criteria goal subject to Section 5.09

5.06 In lieu of Bonuses based on percentage of Base Salary Section 5.04 Bonuses may be based on

percentage or share of Bonus pool The Committee or its designee shall determine by the date

specified in Section 5.03 the total dollar amount available for Bonuses or formula to calculate the

total dollar amount available known as Bonus pool The Committee in its sole discretion may
establish two or more separate Bonus pools and assign the Participants to particular Bonus pooi The

Committee or its designee in the case of Participants who are not Covered Associates shall establish

in writing performance payout table or formula detailing the Bonus pooi and the payout or payout

formula based upon the relative level of attainment of performance goals Each payout table or formula

shall be based on comparison of actual performance to the performance goals provide the
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amount of Participants Bonus or total pooi dollars available or formula to calculate pooi dollars

available if the performance goals for the Performance Period are achieved and provide for an

actual Bonus which may be based on formula to calculate the percentage of the pool to be distributed

to particular Participant based on the extent to which the performance goals were achieved The

payout table or formula may include floor which is the level of achievement of the performance

goals in which payout begins In the case of Bonuses which are stated in terms of percentage of

Bonus pool the sum of the individual percentages for all Participants in the pooi cannot exceed

100 percent In no case shall reduction in Bonus of one Participant result in an increase in another

Participants Bonus

5.07 After the end of each Performance Period or such earlier date if the performance objectives are

achieved the Committee shall certify in writing prior to the unconditional payment of any Bonus
which performance objectives for the Performance Period were satisfied and to what extent they were

satisfied The Committee or its designee shall determine the actual Bonus for each Participant based

on the payout table/formula established in Section 5.05 or 5.06 as the case may be

5.08 The Committee in its discretion may cancel or decrease Bonus calculated under this Plan but with

respect to Covered Associates may not under any circumstances increase such Bonus calculated under

this Plan

5.09 Any other provision of the Plan notwithstanding the maximum aggregate Bonus payable to

Participant for particular Fiscal Year may not exceed

PAYMENT OF INCENTIVE BONUSES

6.01 In General Once Bonus has vested and the amount thereof is determined payment of the Bonus

or the portion thereof not deferred under Section 6.04 shall be made pursuant to Section 6.02 or if

properly and timely elected pursuant to Section 6.04 shall be deferred in accordance with Section 6.04

6.02 Current Payment Participants Bonus for Performance Period which is not deferred in accordance

with the provisions of Section 6.04 hereof and Participants Bonus whether or not he/she elected

deferred-payment thereof for the Fiscal Year in which his/her employment Terminates if any as

determined in accordance with Section 4.04 shall be paid in immediately available funds to the

Participant or his/her Beneficiary in the event of his/her death no later than the later of the 15th day

of the third month following the Participants first taxable year in which such Bonus is no longer subject

to substantial risk of forfeiture within the meaning of IRC section 409A or the 15th day of the

third month following the end of the first taxable year of the service recipient within the meaning of

IRC section 409A in which such Bonus is no longer subject to substantial risk of forfeiture

6.03 Conditional Payment The Committee may authorize Payment of PartieipantsB onus

iiicianLothertl1ajaC2veredEmjiye based upon the Committees good faith determination

that the reevint rforrnance oetives have been satisfied The Conditional Payment at the

discretion of the Committee may be discounted to reasonably reflect the time value of money for the

prepayment The amount of the Conditional Payment that will be returned to the Company is equal to

the Conditional Payment less the Bonus payment that has vested if any For example if the floor see

Section 5.05 was not attained for the performance goal or target for the Performance Period all of

the Conditional Payment made for that Performance Period to the Participant must be returned to the

Company Return of all or portion of the Conditional Payment shall be made reasonably soon after it is

determined the extent to which the performance goal or target was not achieved Conditional payments

shall not be made in connection with bonuses that otherwise would be subject to IRC section 409A if

paid in the ordinary course
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6.04 Deferred Payment

Highly Compensated Employees If Participant in this Plan is highly compensated employee

who participates in the Big Lots Inc Amended and Restated Supplemental Savings Plan the

Top Hat Plan as it may be amended and restated from time to time elections to defer Bonus

elections as to the form of distribution of the deferred amount establishment of deferred

account distributions from the deferred accounts and all other terms governing the deferred

payment of Bonus shall be governed by the terms of the Top Hat Plan Any election to defer the

Bonus of Participant who participates in the Top Hat Plan will result in an account administered

under the Top Hat Plan

Other Employees The terms governing the deferral of Bonus for Participants who do not

participate in the Top Hat Plan are set forth below

Elections

Performance Periods Except as provided in Section 6.04bi2 Participant may

irrevocably elect in writing to have all or part of Bonus but not less than $5000

deferred on or before December 31 of the calendar year preceding the calendar year in

which the Performance Period begins At the same time the Participant also shall elect

the form of distribution from the Deferred Bonus Account from among the choices set

forth in Section 6.04bv of the Plan

Fiscal Year Bonus Notwithstanding the foregoing Participant may irrevocably

elect in writing to have all or part of Fiscal Year Bonus but not less than $5000

deferred before the first day of the applicable Fiscal Year At the same time the

Participant shall also elect the form of distribution from the Deferred Bonus Account

from among the choices set forth in Section 6.04bv of the Plan

Such deferred payment shall be credited to bookkeeping reserve account which

shall be established for the Participant and set up on the books of the Company or an

Affiliate and known as his/her Deferred Bonus Account

ii Credits to Deferred Bonus Account When Participant has elected to have part or all of

his/her Bonus credited to Deferred Bonus Account the unpaid balance in such account

shall be credited with simple annual interest equivalent as follows As of the May next

following the Fiscal Year for which the deferred Bonus was paid such Bonus shall become

part of the unpaid balance of such Deferred Bonus Account Such Deferred Bonus Account

shall be credited on April 30 of each
year

with an amount equal to interest on the unpaid

balance of such account from time to time outstanding during the year ending on such April

30 at the rate determined by adding together the Three--month Treasury Bill rate on the last

banking day prior to the beginning of such
year

and the Three--month Treasury Bill rate

in effect on the last banking days of each of the calendar months of April through March

of such year and dividing such total by 12 In the event that the Deferred Bonus Account

shall be terminated for any reason prior to April 30 of any year such account shall upon

such termination date be credited with an amount equal to interest at the average
Three-

month Treasury Bill rate determined as aforesaid on the unpaid balance from time to time

outstanding during that portion of such year prior to the date of termination

iii Alternate Deferral Plans The Committee at its discretion may provide alternate deferral

arrangements of which Bonuses under this Plan may be included provided that such deferral

arrangements conform with the requirements imposed by IRC section 409A

iv Trust Deposits The Committee at its discretion may establish an irrevocable trust in which

the assets of the trust are subject to the general creditors of the Company and/or the Affiliate

as the case may be Such trust may upon the occurrence of certain events as determined

by the Committee receive assets equal to the value of all Participants Deferred Bonus

Accounts on the date of the event
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Distribution upon Termination of Employment Upon Termination of Participants

employment for any reason the Participant or his/her Beneficiary in the event of his/her

death shall be entitled to payment of the entire Deferred Bonus Account in one lump-sum

payment payable on the date of the first regular payroll after the thirtieth day following the

date of Termination of employment or in ten 10 substantially equal annual installment

payments payable as set forth below as elected by the Participant at the time the Participant

elects to defer all or part of his or her Bonus pursuant to Section 6.04b Installment

payments shall be payable beginning on the thirtieth day following the date of Termination

and thereafter on the first regular payroll date of each succeeding Fiscal Year following the

year during which the first anniversary of the date of Termination of employment occurs

vi Six-Month Distribution Delay Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan if the

Participant is specified employee within the meaning of IRC section 409A and the

Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and as determined under the Companys

policy for determining specified employees on the date of the Participants Termination

and the Participant is entitled to distribution under the Plan that is required to be delayed

pursuant to IRC section 409Aa2 then such distribution shall not be paid or provided or

begin to be paid or provided until the first business day of the seventh month following the

Participants date of Termination or if earlier the Participants death

vii Distribution in Event of Financial Emergency If requested by Participant while in the

employ of the Company or an Affiliate and if the Committee or in the case of Participants

who are not Covered Associates its designee determines that an Unforeseeable Financial

Emergency has occurred with respect to Participant all or portion of the Deferred Bonus

Account of the Participant may be distributed at the sole discretion of the Committee or
its designee as applicable in an amount no greater than the amount reasonably necessary

to satisfy the emergency need including amounts necessary to pay any Federal state or

local income taxes reasonably anticipated to result from such distribution The Participant

must supply written evidence of the Unforeseeable Financial Emergency and must declare

under penalty of perjury that the Participant has no other resources available to meet the

emergency including the resources of the Participants spouse
and minor children that are

reasonably available to the Participant The Participant must also declare that the need cannot

be met by reimbursement or compensation by insurance or otherwise or by reasonable

liquidation of the Participants assets or the assets of the
spouse or minor children of the

Participant to the extent such liquidation will not itself cause severe financial hardship Any
such distribution shall be paid within days of the determination by the Committee that an

Unforeseeable Financial Emergency exists

viii Cash Outs Notwithstanding the provisions in Sections 6.04bv and vii once distributions

of the Deferred Bonus Account begin if the amount remaining in Participants Deferred

Bonus Account at any time is less than $5000 the Committee shall pay the balance in the

Participants Deferred Bonus Account in lump sum within thirty 30 days provided

however that the payment results in the termination and liquidation of the Participants

interest under the Plan and all other plans or arrangements that along with the Plan would

be treated as single nonqualified deferred compensation plan under IRC section 409A

ix Beneficiary Designation

Participant may designate Beneficiary who is to receive upon his/her death

the distributions that otherwise would have been paid to him/her All designations

shall be in writing and shall be effective only if and when delivered to the Secretary

of the Company during the lifetime of the Participant If Participant designates

Beneficiary without providing in the designation that the Beneficiary must be

living at the time of each distribution the designation shall vest in the Beneficiary

all of the distribution whether payable before or after the Beneficiarys death and

any distributions remaining upon the Beneficiarys death shall be made to the

Beneficiarys estate
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Participant may from time to time during his lifetime change his Beneficiary

by written instrument delivered to the Secretary of the Company In the event

Participant shall not designate Beneficiary as aforesaid or if for any reasons such

designation shall be ineffective in whole or in part the distribution that otherwise

would have been paid to such Participant shall be paid to his estate and in such event

the term Beneficiary shall include his estate

Corporate Changes

Dissolution or Liquidation of Company The Company shall cause the dollar balance

of Deferred Bonus Account adjusted to the end of the month immediately preceding

the date of dissolution or liquidation to be paid out in cash in lump sum to the

Participants or their Beneficiaries as the case may be 60 days following the date of

corporate dissolution of the Company taxed under IRC section 331 in accordance with

Treasury Regulation 1.409A-3j4ixA provided that the amounts in the Deferred

Bonus Accounts are included in the Participants gross incomes in accordance with

Treasury Regulation .409A- 3j4ixA

Change of Control of Company In the event of Change of Control of the Company

the Company may within thirty days preceding or twelve months following the

Change of Control event irrevocably elect to terminate the Plan and to distribute all

Deferred Bonus Accounts under the Plan in accordance with Treasury Regulation

1.409A-3j4ixB provided that all agreements methods programs and other

arrangements sponsored by the Company and all Affiliates immediately after the

time of Change of Control with respect to which deferrals of compensation are

treated as having been deferred under single plan under Treasury Regulation

1.409A-1c2 are terminated and distributed with respect to each Participant that

experienced the Change of Control so that under the terms of the termination and

distribution all such Participants are required to receive all amounts of compensation

deferred under the terminated arrangements within twelve months of the date the

Company irrevocably takes all necessary action to terminate and distribute amounts

under such arrangements

RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS

7.01 No Participant or Beneficiary shall have any interest in any fund or in any specific asset or assets of the

Company or an Affiliate by reason of any account under the Plan It is intended that the Company has

merely contractual obligation to make payments when due hereunder and it is not intended that the

Company hold any funds in reserve or trust to secure payments hereunder No Participant may assign

pledge or encumber his/her interest under the Plan or any part thereof except that Participant may

designate Beneficiary as provided herein

7.02 Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed to give any associate or Participant any right to

receive any Bonus other than in the sole discretion of the Committee or any rights whatsoever with

respect to the Common Shares of the Company

NO EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

8.01 Nothing in the Plan or participation in the Plan shall confer upon any Participant the right to be

employed by the Company or an Affiliate or to continue in the employ of the Company or an Affiliate

nor shall anything in the Plan or participation in the Plan amend alter or otherwise affect any rights or

terms of employment or other benefits arising from that employment

ADMINISTRATION

9.01 Administration The Committee shall have complete authority to administer the Plan interpret the

terms of the Plan determine eligibility of associates to participate in the Plan and make all other

determinations and take all other actions in accordance with the terms of the Plan and any trust
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agreement established under Section 6.04biv Any determination or decision by the Committee shall

be conclusive and binding on all
persons who at any time have or claim to have any interest whatever

under this Plan

9.02 Liability of Committee Indemnification To the extent permitted by law the Committee shall not

be liable to any person for any action taken or omitted in connection with the interpretation and

administration of this Plan unless attributable to his or her own bad faith or willful misconduct

9.03 Expenses The costs of the establishment the adoption and the administration of the Plan including but

not limited to legal and accounting fees shall be borne by the Company The
expenses of establishing

and administering any trust under Section 6.04biv shall be borne by the trust provided however

that the Company shall bear and shall not be reimbursed by the trust for any tax liability of the

Company associated with the investment of assets by the trust

9.04 Choice of Law The validity and effect of this Plan and the rights and obligations of all persons affected

hereby shall be construed and determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Ohio unless

superseded by federal law which shall govern correspondingly

10 AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION

10.01 The Committee may modify or amend in whole or in part any or all of the provisions of the Plan

except as to those terms or provisions that are required by IRC section 162m to be approved by the

shareholders or suspend or terminate the Plan entirely provided however that no such modifications

amendment suspension or termination may without the consent of the Participant or his Beneficiary

in the case of his/her death reduce the right of Participant or his/her Beneficiary as the case may
be to any payment due under the Plan For the avoidance of doubt the Committee may amend the Plan

as necessary to conform the Plan to the requirements of IRC section 409A Distributions of Deferred

Bonus Accounts on termination of the Plan shall occur only under the circumstances specified in

Section 6.04bx above

11 TAX WITHHOLDING

11.01 The Company or the employing Affiliate shall have the right to deduct from all cash payments any

federal state or local taxes or other withholding amounts required by law or valid court order to

be withheld with respect to such cash payments Amounts deferred will be taken into account for

purposes of any tax or withholding obligation under the Federal Insurance Contribution Act and

Federal Unemployment Tax Act not in the year distributed but at the later of the year the services are

performed or the year in which the rights to the amounts are no longer subject to substantial risk of

forfeiture as required by IRC sections 3121v and 3306r and the regulations thereunder Amounts

required to be withheld pursuant to IRC sections 121v and 3306r shall be withheld out of other

current wages paid to the Participant by the Company or the employing Affiliate or if such current

wages are insufficient the Participant shall remit to the Company an amount equal to the applicable

tax withholding The determination of the Company or the employing Affiliate regarding applicable

income and employment tax withholding requirements shall be final and binding on the Participant

12 CLAIMS PROCEDURE

12.01 Any Participant the claimant who believes that he or she is entitled to benefit under the Plan

or that wishes to resolve dispute or disagreement which arises under or in any way relates to the

interpretation or construction of the Plan may file claim with the Committee

12.02 If the claim is wholly or partially denied the Committee will within ninety 90 days of the receipt of

such claim provide the claimant with written notice of the denial setting forth in manner calculated

to be understood by the claimant

The specific reason or reasons for which the claim was denied

Specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions rules procedures or protocols upon which the

Committee relied to deny the claim
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description of any additional material or information that the claimant may file to perfect the

claim and an explanation of why this material or information is necessary and

An explanation of the Plans claims review procedure and the time limits applicable to such

procedure and statement of the claimants right to bring civil action under 502a of the

Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 as amended ERISA following an adverse

determination upon review

If special circumstances require the extension of the ninety 90 day period described above the

claimant will be notified before the end of the initial period of the circumstances requiring the

extension and the date by which the Committee expects to reach decision Any extension for deciding

claim will not be for more than an additional ninety 90 day period

12.03 Review Procedure If claim has been wholly or partially denied the affected claimant or such

claimants authorized representative may

Request that the Committee reconsider its initial denial by filing written appeal within sixty

60 days after receiving written notice that all or part of the initial claim was denied

Review pertinent documents and other material upon which the Committee relied when denying

the initial claim and

Submit written description of the reasons for which the claimant disagrees with the Committees

initial adverse decision

An appeal of an initial denial of benefits and all supporting material must be made in writing within the

time periods described above and directed to the Committee The Committee is solely responsible for

reviewing all benefit claims and appeals and taking all appropriate steps to implement its decision

The Committees decision on review will be sent to the claimant in writing and will include specific

reasons for the decision written in manner calculated to be understood by the claimant as well as

specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions rules procedures or protocols upon which the

Committee relied to deny the appeal The Committee will consider all information submitted by the

claimant regardless of whether the information was part of the original claim The decision will also

include statement of the claimants right to bring an action under ERISA 502a

The Committees decision on review will be made not later than sixty 60 days after his or her receipt

of the request for review unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing

in which case decision will be rendered as soon as possible but not later than one-hundred-twenty

120 days after receipt of the request for review This notice to the claimant will indicate the special

circumstances requiring the extension and the date by which the Committee expects to render decision

and will be provided to the claimant prior to the expiration of the initial period

To the extent permitted by law the decision of the Committee will be final and binding on all parties

No legal action for benefits under the Plan will be brought unless and until the claimant has exhausted

such claimants remedies under this Section 12.01

13 SECTION 409A

13.01 It is intended that the Plan comply with IRC section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated

thereunder and the Plan will be interpreted administered and operated accordingly Nothing herein

shall be construed as an entitlement to or guarantee of any particular tax treatment to Participant

and none of the Company its Affiliates the Board or the Committee shall have any liability with

respect to any failure to comply with the requirements of IRC section 409A and the Treasury

Regulations promulgated thereunder

13.02 The Company may accelerate the time or schedule of distribution to Participant at any time the

Plan fails to meet the requirements of IRC section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated

thereunder Such distribution may not exceed the amount required to be included in income as result

of the failure to comply with IRC section 409A and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder
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APPENDIX

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Performance criteria imposed on Bonus opportunities will be derived using the accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America and will be reported or appear in the Companys filings

with the Securities Exchange Commission including hue not limitcd to Forms 8K 10 and 10-K or the

Companys annual report to shareholders and will be derived from one or more or any combination of one or

more of the following

riiingsfrreome-loss per common share from continuing operations

per common share

Operating profit loss operating income loss or income loss from operations as the case may be

Income loss from continuing operations before unusual or infrequent items

Income loss from continuing operations

Income loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income loss from continuing operations before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle as the case may be

Income loss before extraordinary item and/or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle as
the case may be

Net income loss

Income loss before other comprehensive income loss

Comprehensive income loss

Income loss before interest and income taxes sometimes referred to as EBIT
Income loss before interest income taxes depreciation and amortization sometimes referred to as

EBITDA

Any other objective and specific income loss category or non-GAAP financial measure that appears

as line item in the Companys periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or the

annual report to shareholders

Any of items through on weighted average common shares outstanding basis

Any of items through on diluted basis as defined in the Financial Accounting Standards

Board FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No 128including authoritative interpretations

or amendments thereof which may be issued from time to time as long as such interpretations or

amendments are utilized on the consolidated statements of operations or statement of operations as

applicable or in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

Common share price

Total shareholder return expressed on dollar or percentage basis as is customarily disclosed in the

proxy statement accompanying the notice of annual meetings of shareholders

Percentage increase in comparable store sales

Gross profit loss or gross margin loss as the case may be

Economic value added
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Any of items through with respect to any subsidiary Affiliate business unit business group

business venture or legal entity including any combination thereof or controlled directly or indirectly

by the Company whether or not such information is included in the Companys annual report to

shareholders proxy statement or notice of annual meeting of shareholders

Any of items through above may be determined before or after minority interests share as

designated by the Committee

Any of items through above with respect to the period of service to which the performance goal

relates whether or not such information is included in the Company SE pertothefihngs annual

report to shareholders proxy statement or notice of annual meetings of shareholders

Total shareholder return ranking position meaning the relative placement of the Companys total

shareholder return determined in above compared to those publicly held companies in the

Companys peer group as established by the Committee prior to the beginning of vesting period or

such later date as permitted under the Code The peer group shall be comprised of not less than eight

and not more than sixteen companies including the Company or

With respect to items and above other terminology may be used for grigsjiicüme

loss per common share such as Basic EPS ipc onjçj Leunmper common share diluted

EPS or cme Ios earnings per common share-assuming dilution as contemplated by AS 26

EtrninsEerSharcjfhrmerlSFAS No 128 as amended revised or superseded

ii The Committee in its sole discretion in setting the performance objectives in the time prescribed in Section

may provide for the making of equitable adjustments including the income tax effects attributable

thereto singularly or in combination to the performance criteria in Section those of this Appendix

in recognition of unusual or non-recurring events transactions and accruals for the effect of the following

qualifying objective itemsjf iicijijitm Ithiothf fol1owingitemsouortjcpjsJhpjcii

aa Asset impairments as described in A$C3JQ Projrt PiantEcwIpji itgmtriy.SFAS No 144

as amended revised or superseded

bb Costs associated with exit or disposal activities as described by AS Fxit Dopos cst

Obligations formerly SFAS No 146 as amended revised or superseded

cc impairment charges exciuding tamortization thereof re1ated A-nrtwattotscüsts-esetatewith

theavqmttmnofgoodwill or other intangible assets as described by AS35Q
No 142 as amended revised or superseded

dd Merger integration costs

ee Merger transaction costs

ff Any profit or loss attributable to the business operations of reportable segment as described by A$
No 131as amended revised or superseded

gg Any profit or loss attributable to reportable segment as described by

1jrmer1v_SFAS No 131 as amended revised or superseded or an entity or entities acquired during the

period of service to which the performance goal relates

hh Any specified Tax settlements or combination thereof with Tax authority

ii The relevant Tax effect of new Tax legislation enacted after the beginning of the Performance Period or

other changes in Tax law

jj Any extraordinary item event or transaction as described in ASC_2252LIncome Staterrjt

Extriordinai arijLJnusu il ltcm j1vAccount1ng Principles Board Opinion APB No 30 as

amended revised or superseded

kk Any unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence items events or transactions that are not

extraordinary items as described in

llajforincrlyAPB No 30 as amended revised or superseded
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11 Any other non-recurring items any eats or transactions that do not constitute

other non-GAAP financial measures not otherwise listed

mmAny change in accounting tijjncip1e as described in ASC 25OIO Acco ijghanes and Errr

io Os br 54AWNnP as amended revised or superseded

nn Unrealized gains or losses on investments in debt and equity securities as described in Sf .A
eht and Fquiti Securities formerly SFAS No 115 as amended revised or superseded

oo Any gain or loss recognized as result of derivative instrument transactions or other hedging activities

as described in ASC 8FS DerNaties and Iledgin thrmeriy SFAS No 133 as amended revised or

superseded

pp Shares-based compensation charges as described in ASC7S op.na.titt $pth fii
cIA sc Q.5 Eaiu yBased to phaa .a.tIYSFAS No 123R as amended

revised or superseded

qq Any gain or loss as reported as component of other comprehensive income as described in AS.SC 22Q
Comprehensive IncomejjArrnerlv SFAS No 130 as amended revised or superseded

rr Any cxpscjpr reversal thereof ga oaa as result of Sem cci an isa nJcIr direct or

indirect guarantee as described in AS 46 uarantcc lorinrl FASB Interpretations FIN No
as amended revised or superseded

ss Any gain or loss as the result of the consolidation of variable interest entity as described in SC 8IIL

cfdn..fcnihrJyFIN No 46 as amended revised or superseded

tt Any egensm gain or loss Uncludin Inn limited ttjudmnents cc..j.udsjrtej.asapren

ctlttha aI.caa aJilittg c.iNrts Ao cm.agcs stsla act rthalt

the imposition ofjnjunctir relief as result of claimcjitigation judgments or lawsuit settlement

including eel lectise actions or class action lawsuits or

uu Any charges associated with the early retirement of debt obligations
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APPENDIX

Proposed Amendments to the Amended Articles of Incorporation

of Big Lots Inc as Discussed under Proposal Four in this Proxy Statement

Proposed new Article Eighth would be added to the Amended Articles of Incorporation and would read as

follows

Iighth ach mUm at sh eholdrs for the etion dretoi at hih quorum is present nomin
fOr election as director in an uncontested election shall he elected to the Board of l.irectors if the number

yote mist us hint he fOr itli he kI

sulii nominee elm hon For pa po of ft is \i ticl IGIITI hmhei ion otm and ihtenton ss ill not

beconsufcrcdsutLs eIst ftn oi egun oi ss ohhelai tronienoimn election it the shaielioidcr meeting
In sit di ieetoi elect ionothei thinuru._ontesteddeetions the noun

sores shell he elected ci purpon of this fO ti li in urn onletied election me ins in ehe non of directors

itenseLterigol sha hodLis in whirh the number of immnunsloi election doLs not srnced the number ci

di rectors to he elected and with resggçtiowhict sharehokler fins su hmitted to the cor oration notice of an

intent to nominate mdihete tom election director it such
meeting in iccord inee is ft ftc eoiporation

erRol Regulations is it nig be smcnfOç them tmmctsttiniejeReulanons cm

pgl 5012 rutted is attire pe osuchna lftfOpimomio the cornrneneeiuent of the midneetors it such

meenng she inch nation is ith aes tu cmli meennli has been fA is itndi iii ii he its respeenee suhmmieg
shaieholdemin is ritmg to the sceretai of the eoegpisuon j3 cletemnimed not to_kj mud ndet1ccti

thereof pum su ml to the Rcuukstions or it iilcnfO in court he fin ml court omder or detei iii ned nat to

ctcdnegegqJk1gaticatficimcgwliggIgegligjfOgircLstfjhjggcjtirsg

II Article Eighth of the Amended Articles of Incorporation would be renumbered Article Ninth and Article

Ninth of the Amended Articles of Incorporation would be renumbered Article Tenth
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APPENDIX

Proposed Amendments to the Code of Regulations

of Big Lots Inc as Discussed under Proposal Five in this Proxy Statement

Proposed new Section .07 would be added to the Code of Regulations and would read as follows

Section LO7 Notice of Shareholder Director Nominations

A.Norn inations of persons for eleel ion to the boa cjrc.pfJhecororationmay be made at

harLhodefth ration whoflsaa shait ho der of recoid at thc toni

mutlng is tilled to otc at the muting and ni ornphs with 1.he notieeproccdurcs set beth in this

toi lu.hnormauon Lobs distnbuted 10 shareholders the procedures 1mJgçflp above shall

he the exclusive means slhareholder to make nominations of candidates for election as directors of the

aded Eehange Act kand include_cl in thu eolppr4tlon notice_of muulmg1 h.dtare amecjg
of shareholders

LW\ithout one of person sip bculeetualasdirectrseojoratio

eholder must have given tinielyjiotice th ereof in proper rIi1eiyAmJithycprflpyajQfecretaryTo

i2cjjmelaslvneholdei notice shall he dehvervd to thu suci utar the lexeeiitieoJ1icus of the

th da\ prIQjJpjn sjginwers Lhcpuedingyear annuslmeetingdedhoiveverthatrn
the event that the date of the annual nieermn is tao than_3Qcpys hefore_jnprthanOdgysaftefjpch
anniversary dife notice iythe shareholder to he timely must he so delivered not earlier than the close of

ph.nppfgipeting and not later than the close of business on the later of

the9Oyhgiayicrto such aiinuafmeggingortlielOthipifollowingejpyjpywhichtihiicapnpijncemenf

rneetingor the ann mntthereofcomrnenccanew timeperiod for thgiyjgg_csfa shareholdefs notice as

described above lb be_in to ey writ ten foni is sIharehoiders notice to the secretgjyjnus

tfiastoipshareipldegivificliepptjceandtheheneficialownerifanyonliose

phalf the nomination is made the name and address of such shareholder as they appear on the

eorpoiationsbook and the name dod address of suuh beneficial owneQj the class and number of

shares oI_thg omtipn loch are bali of recodj2yjwch_shareholder as of thu date of thu notice and

thg_cecord date for such meetinu of the class an ci number of shares of the cur raton held of record hy
such share holds on such_record datujjj ftfipclass tad nuni her oftheExchangeActh
attc1 beneficiaLp as of the date of the notice and are resentation tha ela hgrghpisiprjgill notify

the cp tion in vnjpg within sc busincssdathu theiccord date meet inof thu class

çJp formation rela jngjQpch shareholder_and beneficial

ofanxthatwouklberpccltetlediselpspdstpntirothcijjlirisresiircclt
bc_made in conn Lion with solicitations of proxies for the election of directors in contested election

p_cirsuant to Section 4...pf th cttdpgcAciatgd jleandr ton ltdtld and

LV_ipchshareholdeneandbuneficia1ossnerswnjtenuonsent to the wiblie diselosue of niprmatmnicledtiiec
bciicficlot.c ccrPrLwhtoc kcthctUIthc.gpjnipgjtap is made 11 anyag pentarraanements or

underjgpdipsuntured into by thv_ciLareholoto_oi_hendjual owriei saropriate and any affiliate

c_Ltthars_c.r_cfwcuprjjmjitrciripigement_tpccififlgin
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case th ne arra ige nts un ci erstandings onanv ngor econorn iv...

rights qfthciortion in each case as ufthe daisj noliceand in each case

understand igs to the extent otci ci in tuscii

disclosures that would berequiredigsuant Item or Item of Schedule 131 under the Exchat.tgc

JrejdlcssnftsjJct.qunitcitt to fijjt.Scheditic tt.ippJIcaiAc JtcJhcddcri.
hflca .o.r5.Ut.o ritig

withinfje husincat days after the record._dt.itejpr such_meeting of jflfrmation set tdrth in clause

1andtiist.jt of such record de

it.LThJi6b1fict.ct.tclLpcnt.tm.if tIn SiitInIUi1rQ$t.t.t.I tt.onii cit e1ction QL

tcccst.tt....1p.itbPtIn1.o.dircc61snL11...ct.P.0.tatt31.I3d.fl.t.6iQ e.l.Hpg to icrctn..th4

t.ccwired to be disclosgjjea toxy statem or other lings requjejq bde in connection is ith

solicitations ol proxici 1r cJçejoo1 rcctor in ifcstjdjsaiiop thursu tnt to lion Id oth

1Ii.citsngc ci nncl..ihc lot and cg.u gn ccai ot.irtc.l4ipg nv.c h...p.c.ts

consent to hej namedJpJiypproxy st nent as ninee and sersingagadirector if elected

anW .ygcri.pinmt6ial llycct and indjfgapgnt.jpygatct.ti3e1 rLagnnLay agrfmcnot

pnd otfta pd inns .tl.u c.i.pg. Jagpp .lhrne years an cny..cdbct.r tnalotaI ippjj ni.bi.ps

between or amopgagch shareholder hepeficial_osenen ift.triv pod thpir respectire_affjiatest.nti

actingjn concert therenith pi igiagl cotc1nototLahtrnhnJtinr

nominee and his
tr hc.f twipccfU c.a fliliates and a.3ppcp gacn cl.tcns acting in cn.pc.c.rf ..thc cii ah op

other hand includina without limitation all intorniation that would he required to he dsclosed pursuanU

to i.tncftxcb
Iorn

t.ct...s
hnchn clc.r ing thn.nnn otgi.n tagl ppy.h cnchic sn whosr b.c b.c

un ition is iclc iL4gapr uiathhate or assosiate thecw ith rpcrspn acting in concert thcressith

ch1icgiyxafli jpr purppygt.jof suchjpga Jhtyppn3jncjypre dircetororexccIycgfccnL

t.acd fnrUt...a representation i.nnl.lnJptc c.Icag.r.gpq.ccfp ppppp at mc çt ml b.rimg..tmc 2..
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

The Company

Big Lots Inc an Ohio corporation through its wholly owned subsidiaries collectively referred to herein

as we us and our except as used in the reports of our independent registered public accounting firm

included in Item of this Annual Report for Form 10-K Form 10-K is the nations largest broadline

closeout retailer see the discussion below under the caption Closeout Retailing At January 30 2010 we

operated total of 1361 stores in 47 states Our goal is to strengthen and build upon our leadership position in

broadline closeout retailing by providing our customers with great savings on brand-name closeouts and other

value-priced merchandise You can locate us on the Internet at www.biglots.com The contents of our websites

are not part of this report

Similar to many other retailers our fiscal
year

ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31 which results in some

fiscal years comprised of 52 weeks and some comprised of 53 weeks Unless otherwise stated references to

years in this report relate to fiscal years rather than calendar years Fiscal
year 2010 2010 is comprised of

the 52 weeks that began on January 31 2010 and will end on January 29 2011 Fiscal
year 2009 2009 was

comprised of the 52 weeks that began on February 2009 and ended on January 30 2010 Fiscal year 2008

2008 was comprised of the 52 weeks that began on February 2008 and ended on January 31 2009 Fiscal

year 2007 2007 was comprised of the 52 weeks that began on February 2007 and ended on February

2008 Fiscal year 2006 2006 was comprised of the 53 weeks that began on January 29 2006 and ended on

February 2007

We manage our business on the basis of one segment broadline closeout retailing Please refer to the

consolidated financial statements and related notes in this Form 10-K for our financial information We evaluate

and report overall sales and merchandise performance based on the following key merchandising categories

Consumables Home Furniture Hardlines Seasonal and Other The Consumables category includes the

food health and beauty plastics paper chemical and pet departments The Home category includes the

domestics stationery and home decorative departments The Furniture category includes the upholstery

mattresses ready-to-assemble and case goods departments Case goods consist of bedroom dining room and

occasional furniture The Hardlines category includes the electronics appliances tools and home maintenance

departments The Seasonal category includes the lawn garden Christmas summer and other holiday

departments The Other category includes the toy jewelry infant accessories and apparel departments Other

also includes the results of certain large closeout deals that are typically acquired through our alternate product

sourcing operations See note 12 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the net sales results

of these categories for 2009 2008 and 2007

In May 2001 Big Lots Inc was incorporated in Ohio and was the surviving entity in merger with

Consolidated Stores Corporation Delaware corporation By virtue of the merger Big Lots Inc succeeded to

all the business properties assets and liabilities of Consolidated Stores Corporation

Our principal executive offices are located at 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio 43228 and our telephone

number is 614 278-6800 All of our operations were located within the United States of America at the end of

each of the last three years

Closeout Retailing

Closeout retailers purchase merchandise that generally results from production overruns packaging changes

discontinued products liquidations or returns As result closeout retailers generally can purchase most

merchandise at lower costs and offer most merchandise at lower prices than those paid and offered by traditional

discount retailers We attempt to maximize the amount of closeout merchandise available in our stores and to

offer merchandise that we believe provides great value to our customers We work closely with our vendors

to obtain name brand merchandise that is easily recognizable by our customers In addition to closeout

merchandise we stock many products on consistent basis at our stores This merchandise may not always be

the same brand or may be off-brand because we attempt to provide our customers with merchandise at price



that we believe represents great value For net sales by merchandise category and as percent of total net

sales see the discussion below under the captions 2009 Compared To 2008 and 2008 Compared To 2007 in

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations MDA
of this Form 10-K

Real Estate

The following table compares the number of our stores in operation at the beginning and end of each of the last

five fiscal years

Of our 1361 stores 36% operate in four states California Texas Ohio and Florida and net sales from stores in

these states represented 38% of our 2009 net sales

Associates

At January 30 2010 we had approximately 35600 active associates comprised of 13100 full-time and 22500

part-time associates Temporary associates hired during the fall and winter holiday selling season increased the

number of associates to peak of 39200 in 2009 Approximately 63% of the associates employed throughout the

year are employed on part-time basis We consider our relationship with our associates to be good and we are

not party to any labor agreements

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

1339 1353 1375 1401 1502

52 21 11 73

30 35 29 37 174
353 1401

Stores open at the beginning of the year

Stores opened during the year

Stores closed during the year

Stores open at the end of the
year

As part of our real estate strategy initiated in the latter half of 2005 we closed number of underperforming

locations During 2006 through 2008 we focused on improving profitability through managing our existing

store base as the commercial real estate market demanded higher rent charges than our store operating model

enabled us to pay During 2009 the commercial real estate market softened and we were able to favorably

negotiate renewals for certain store leases which previously may have resulted in store closures Also during

2009 we successfully negotiated number of new store leases as the availability of space improved and rental

rates eased For additional information about our real estate strategy see the accompanying MDA
The following table details our stores by state at January 30 2010

Alabama 26 Maine Ohio 101

Arizona 35 Maryland 13 Oklahoma 16

Arkansas 11 Massachusetts 15 Oregon 12

California 174 Michigan 40 Pennsylvania 67

Colorado 20 Minnesota Rhode Island

Connecticut Mississippi 15 South Carolina 30

Delaware Missouri 24 Tennessee 46

Florida 107 Montana Texas 114

Georgia 57 Nebraska Utah 11

Idaho Nevada 11 Vermont

Illinois 33 New Hampshire Virginia 36

Indiana 43 New Jersey 13 Washington 20

Iowa New Mexico 13 West Virginia 18

Kansas New York 47 Wisconsin 10

Kentucky 40 North Carolina 63 Wyoming

Louisiana 22 North Dakota Total stores 1361

Number of states 47



Competition

We operate in the highly competitive retail industry and face strong sales competition from other general

merchandise discount food arts and crafts and dollar store retailers Additionally we compete with

number of companies for retail site locations to attract and retain quality employees and to acquire our broad

assortment of closeout merchandise from vendors

Purchasing

An integral part of our business is the sourcing and purchasing of quality brand-name merchandise directly

from manufacturers and other vendors typically at prices substantially below those paid by traditional

retailers We believe that we have built strong relationships with many brand-name vendors and we have

capitalized on our purchasing power in the closeout marketplace including our ability to pay timely and

to source merchandise that provides exceptional value to our customers We have the ability to source and

purchase significant quantities of vendors closeout merchandise in specific product categories and to control

distribution in accordance with vendor instructions We believe this provides high level of service and

convenience to our vendors Our sourcing channels also include bankruptcies liquidations and insurance

claims We supplement our traditional brand-name closeout purchases with various direct import and

domestically-sourced merchandise which represents merchandise that our customers consistently expect us to

have in our stores or merchandise that we believe offers our customers significant value We expect that the

unpredictability of the retail and manufacturing environments coupled with our dominant purchasing power

position will continue to support our ability to source quality closeout merchandise at competitive prices

We have buying team with extensive closeout purchasing experience which we believe has enabled us to

develop successful long-term relationships with many of the largest and most recognized vendors in the United

States We believe that as result of these relationships and our experience and reputation in the closeout

industry many vendors offer buying opportunities to us prior to attempting to dispose of their merchandise

through other channels

Our merchandise is purchased from domestic and foreign vendors that provide us with multiple sources for each

product category In 2009 our top ten vendors accounted for approximately 14% of total purchases at cost

while the largest vendor accounted for approximately 3% of total purchases at cost

During 2009 we purchased approximately 25% of our merchandise directly from overseas vendors including

approximately 19% from vendors located in China Additionally significant amount of our dome stically

purchased merchandise is manufactured abroad As result significant portion of our merchandise supply is

subject to certain risks as described further in Item lA in this Form 10-K

Warehouse and Distribution

The majority of the merchandise sold by us is received and processed for retail sale and distributed to the

retail locations from our five regional distribution centers located in Pennsylvania Ohio Alabama Oklahoma

and California Some of our vendors deliver merchandise directly to our stores We previously operated two

furniture distribution centers located in Redlands California and Columbus Ohio During 2009 we integrated

the distribution of furniture from our Red lands California furniture distribution center into our regional

distribution center in California During 2008 we integrated the distribution of furniture from our Columbus

Ohio furniture distribution center into our regional distribution centers in Pennsylvania Ohio Alabama and

Oklahoma We believe these changes allow us to more efficiently flow furniture to our stores primarily by

reducing the transportation cost from the furniture distribution centers to the stores because the regional

distribution centers are generally located closer to the stores they service We manage the inventory levels of

merchandise in our distribution centers so that we can distribute merchandise quickly and efficiently to our

stores in order to maximize sales and our inventory turnover rate We selected the locations of our distribution

centers in an attempt to minimize transportation costs and the distance from distribution centers to our stores

In addition to the merchandise distribution centers we operate warehouse in Ohio that distributes store

fixtures and supplies During 2009 we integrated the distribution of store fixtures and supplies out of

our Redlands California furniture distribution center into our Ohio warehouse We believe this change

reduces our fixed overhead and operating costs and allows us to more effectively manage store fixtures and

supplies inventory



During the past three years we implemented several warehouse distribution and outbound transportation

initiatives including but not limited to vendor compliance program in 2006 that imposes strict documentation

and packing requirements on shipments of merchandise that we receive in our distribution centers an

outbound transportation initiative in 2007 that led to higher use of one-way carriers and thus reduction in

round trip miles the integration in 2008 and 2009 of our former furniture distribution centers into all of our

regional distribution centers and other transportation initiatives aimed at lowering our inbound and outbound

transportation costs

For additional information regarding our warehouses and distribution facilities and related initiatives see the

discussion under the caption Warehouse and Distribution in Item Properties of this Form 10-K and

the discussion under the caption Operating Strategy Cost Structure in the accompanying MDA in this

Form 10-K

Advertising and Promotion

Our brand image is an important part of our marketing program Our principal trademarks including the

Big Lots family of trademarks have been registered with the U.S Patent and Trademark Office We use

variety of marketing approaches to promote our brand and retail position through television internet in-

store point of purchase and print media The centerpiece of our marketing efforts is our television campaign

which combines elements of strategic branding and promotion These same elements are then used in all other

consumer touch points Our highly targeted media placement strategy uses national cable as the foundation of

our television buys which is then supplemented with local broadcast in key markets Our marketing program

utilizes printed advertising circulars which we design and are distributed in all markets that are served by

our stores In 2009 and 2008 we distributed multi-page circulars covering 27 weeks which we will repeat in

2010 We distribute circulars through combination of newspaper insertions and mailings We create regional

versions of these circulars to take advantage of market differences caused by product availability climate and

customer preferences In addition we use in-store promotional materials including in-store signage emphasize

special bargains and significant values offered to customers We continue to use our website www.biglots.com

as key touch point for special catalogs and our online advertising attracting over 0.7 million unique visitors

each week In 2006 we overhauled and re-launched our website Our on-line customer list which we refer

to as the Buzz Club has grown from just over one million members at the end of 2006 to approximately five

million members at the end of 2009 The Buzz Club database is an important marketing tool which allows us

to communicate in cost effective manner with our customer including e-mail delivery of our circulars In

addition to Buzz Club in August of 2009 we started our Buzz Club Rewards program Rewards which has

grown to 1.2 million members at the end of fiscal 2009 Members of the Rewards program use membership

card when making purchases and earn discounts on future purchases when they meet certain thresholds

Rewards members may also receive other targeted promotions via e-mail Total advertising expense as

percentage of total net sales was 2.0% in 2009 and 2.2% in 2008 and 2007

Seasonality

We have historically experienced and expect to continue to experience seasonal fluctuations with larger

percentage of our net sales and operating profit realized in the fourth fiscal quarter In addition our quarterly

net sales and operating profits can be affected by the timing of new store openings and store closings the

timing of television and circular advertising and the timing of certain holidays We historically receive higher

proportion of merchandise carry higher inventory levels and incur higher outbound shipping and payroll

expenses as percentage of sales in the third fiscal quarter in anticipation of increased sales activity during

the fourth fiscal quarter The fourth fiscal quarter typically includes leveraging effect on operating results

because net sales are higher and certain of our costs are fixed such as rent and depreciation

The seasonality of our net sales and related merchandise inventory requirements influences our availability of

and demand for cash or access to credit We historically have maintained and drawn upon our credit facility

to fund our working capital requirements which typically peak slightly before or after the end of our third

fiscal quarter We historically have higher net sales operating profits and cash flow provided by operations

in the fourth fiscal quarter which allows us to substantially repay our seasonal borrowings In 2009 our total

indebtedness outstanding borrowings and letters of credit peaked at approximately $120.8 million in early



February 2009 under our $500.0 million unsecured credit facility entered into in October 2004 2004 Credit

Agreement As of January 30 2010 we had no borrowings under the $500.0 million unsecured credit facility

entered into in April 2009 2009 Credit Agreement which replaced the 2004 Credit Agreement We expect

that borrowings will vary throughout 2010 depending on various factors including our seasonal need to

acquire merchandise inventory prior to peak selling seasons the timing and amount of sales to our customers

and the potential impact of shares repurchased under our authorized share repurchase program For additional

information on our current share repurchase program the 2009 Credit Agreement and discussion of our

sources and uses of funds see Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related stockholder Matters and

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities and the Capital Resources and Liquidity section under Item MDA in

this Form 10-K

Available Information

We make available free of charge through the Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com

under the SEC Filings caption our Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form l0-Q Current

Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we file

such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
In this Form 10-K we incorporate by reference certain information from parts of our Proxy Statement for our

2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders 2010 Proxy Statement

In the Investor Relations section of our website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance

and SEC Filings captions the following information relating to our corporate governance may be found

Corporate Governance Guidelines charters of our Board of Directors Audit Compensation Nominating

Corporate Governance and Strategic Planning Committees Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Code of

Ethics for Financial Professionals ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certifications related

to our SEC filings the means by which shareholders may communicate with our Board of Directors and

transactions in our securities by our directors and executive officers The Code of Business Conduct and

Ethics applies to all of our associates including our directors and our principal executive officer principal

financial officer and principal accounting officer The Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals applies to our

Chief Executive Officer and all other Senior Financial Officers as that term is defined therein and contains

provisions specifically applicable to the individuals serving in those positions We intend to post amendments to

and waivers from if any our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to the extent applicable to our directors and

executive officers and our Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals in the Investor Relations section of our

website www.biglots.com under the Corporate Governance caption We will provide any of the foregoing

information without charge upon written request to our Corporate Secretary The contents of our websites are

not part of this report

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section describe the major risks to our business and should be considered carefully In addition

these statements constitute cautionary statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Our disclosure and analysis in this Form 10-K and in our 2009 Annual Report to Shareholders contain some

forward-looking statements that set forth anticipated results based on managements plans and assumptions

From time to time we also provide forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public as

well as oral forward-looking statements Such statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future

events they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts We have tried wherever possible to identify such

statements by using words such as anticipate estimate expect objective goal project intend

plan believe will should maytarget forecast guidance outlook and similar expressions

in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance In particular forward

looking statements include statements relating to future actions future performance or results of current

and anticipated products sales efforts expenses interest rates the outcome of contingencies such as legal

proceedings and financial results



We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized Should known or unknown risks

or uncertainties materialize or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate actual results could differ

materially from past results and those anticipated estimated or projected results set forth in the forward-

looking statements You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date

thereof We undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements whether as result of new

information future events or otherwise You are advised however to consult any further disclosures we make on

related subjects in our Quarterly Reports on Form 1O-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

Also note that we provide the following cautionary discussion of risks uncertainties and assumptions relevant

to our businesses There can be no assurances that we have correctly and completely identified assessed and

accounted for all factors that do or may affect our business financial condition results of operations and

liquidity These are factors that individually or in the aggregate we think could cause our actual results to

differ materially from expected and historical results Additional risks not presently known to us or that we

presently believe to be immaterial also may adversely impact us Should any risks or uncertainties develop into

actual events these developments could have material adverse effects on our business financial condition

results of operations and liquidity Consequently all of the forward-looking statements are qualified by these

cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the results or developments we anticipate will be

realized or that they will have the expected effects on our business or operations We note these factors for

investors as permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 You should understand that it is

not possible to predict or identify all such factors Consequently you should not consider the following to be

complete discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties

Our ability to achieve the results contemplated by forward-looking statements is subject to number of

factors any one or combination of which could materially affect our business financial condition results of

operations or liquidity These factors may include but are not limited to

The current economic conditions including falling home prices high levels of unemployment foreclosures

on mortgages bankruptcies and reduced access to credit give rise to risks and uncertainties that may

adversely affect our capital resources financial condition results of operations and liquidity including but

not limited to the following

Fluctuating commodity prices including but not limited to diesel fuel and other fuels used to

generate power by utilities may affect our gross profit and operating profit margins

The impact of these conditions on our vendors businesses cannot be predicted Our vendors may be

negatively impacted due to insufficient availability of credit to fund their operations or insufficient

demand for their products which may affect their ability to fulfill their obligations to us

Our expectations regarding the demand for our merchandise may be inaccurate which could cause

us to under buy or over buy certain categories or departments of merchandise which could result in

customer dissatisfaction or excessive markdowns required to sell through the merchandise

The reaction of our competitors to the marketplace including the level of liquidations occurring at

bankrupt retailers may drive our competitors some of whom are better capitalized than us to offer

significant discounts or promotions on their merchandise which could negatively affect our sales and

profit margins

downgrade in our credit rating could negatively affect our ability to access capital or increase the

borrowing rates we pay

significant decline in the market value of our qualified defined benefit pension plans Pension

Plan investment portfolios may affect our financial condition results of operations and liquidity

Additionally many of the effects and consequences of the financial market uncertainties and broad economic

downturn are currently unknown and beyond our control any one or all of them could potentially have

material adverse impact on our capital resources financial condition results of operations and liquidity



If we are unable to continue to successfully execute our operating strategies our operating performance

could be signcantly impacted

There is risk that we will be unable to continue to meet or exceed our operating performance targets and goals

in the future if our strategies and initiatives are unsuccessful In 2010 we announced operating performance

targets and goals as part of an updated strategic plan that we intend to use as our roadmap for the next three

years see the accompanying MDA for additional information concerning our operating strategy The new

plan includes continued focus on merchandising real estate and cost structure

If we are unable to compete effectively in the highly competitive discount retail industry our business and

results of operations may be materially adversely affected

The discount retail business is highly competitive As discussed in Item of this Form 10-K we compete

for customers employees products real estate and other aspects of our business with number of other

companies Certain of our competitors have greater financial distribution marketing and other resources than

us It is possible that increased competition or improved performance by our competitors may reduce our market

share gross margin and operating margin and may materially adversely affect our business and results of

operations in other ways

Declines in general economic condition consumer spending levels and other conditions could lead to

reduced consumer demand for our merchandise thereby materially adversely affecting our revenues and

gross margin

Our results of operations can be directly impacted by the health of the United States economy Our business

and financial performance may be adversely impacted by current and future economic conditions including

factors that may restrict or otherwise negatively impact consumer financing disposable income levels

unemployment levels energy costs interest rates recession inflation the impact of natural disasters and

terrorist activities and other matters that influence consumer spending The economies of four states Ohio

Texas California and Florida are particularly important as approximately 36% of our current stores operate in

these states and 38% of our 2009 net sales occurred in these states

Changes by vendors related to the management of their inventories may reduce the quantity and quality of

brand-name closeout merchandise available to us or may increase our cost to acquire brand-name closeout

merchandise either of which may materially adversely affect our revenues and gross margin

The products we sell are sourced from variety of vendors with approximately half of our merchandise

assortment being pre-planned and made for us and approximately half of our merchandise sourced on closeout

basis The portion of our assortment that is pre-planned and made for us consists of imported merchandise

primarily furniture seasonal and portions of our home categories along with certain other classifications

like toys or merchandise that is re-orderable upon demand For the closeout component of our business we

do not control the supply design function availability or cost of many of the products that we offer for sale

We depend upon the sufficient availability of closeout merchandise that we can acquire and offer at prices

that represent value to our customers in order to meet or exceed our operating performance targets for gross

margin In addition we rely on our vendors to provide us with quality merchandise To the extent that certain

of our vendors are better able to manage their inventory levels and reduce the amount of their excess inventory

the amount of closeout merchandise available to us could be materially reduced Shortages or disruptions in

the availability of closeout merchandise of quality acceptable to our customers and us would likely have

material adverse effect on our sales and gross margin and may result in customer dissatisfaction

We rely on vendors located in foreign countries for significant amounts of merchandise Additionally

significant amount of our domestically-purchased merchandise is manufactured abroad Our business may
be materially adversely affrcted by risks associated with international trade

Global sourcing of many of the products we sell is an important factor in driving higher gross margin During

2009 we purchased approximately 25% of our products directly from overseas vendors including 19% from

vendors located in China Our ability to find qualified vendors and to access products in timely and efficient

manner is significant challenge especially with respect to goods sourced outside of the United States Global

sourcing and foreign trade involve numerous factors and uncertainties beyond our control including increased



import duties increased shipping costs more restrictive quotas loss of most favored nation trading status

currency
and exchange rate fluctuations work stoppages transportation delays economic uncertainties such as

inflation foreign government regulations political unrest natural disasters war terrorism trade restrictions

including retaliation by the United States against foreign practices political instability the financial stability

of vendors merchandise quality issues and tariffs These and other issues affecting our international vendors

could materially adversely affect our business and financial performance

Disruption to our distribution network the capacity of our distribution centers and the timely receipt of

merchandise inventory could adversely affrct our operating performance

We rely on the ability to replenish depleted merchandise inventory through deliveries to our distribution

centers and from the distribution centers to our stores by various means of transportation including shipments

by sea rail and truck carriers decrease in the capacity of carriers and/or labor strikes or shortages in the

transportation industry could negatively affect our distribution network the timely receipt of merchandise

and transportation costs In addition long-term disruptions to the national and international transportation

infrastructure from wars political unrest terrorism natural disasters and other significant events that lead to

delays or interruptions of service could adversely affect our business Also fire earthquake or other disaster

at one of our distribution centers could disrupt our timely receiving processing and shipment of merchandise

to our stores which could adversely affect our business As we continue to grow we may face increased or

unexpected demands on distribution center operations as well as unexpected demands on our distribution

network In addition new store locations receiving shipments that are increasingly further away from our

distribution centers will increase transportation costs and may create transportation scheduling strains

Our inability to properly manage our inventory levels and offrr merchandise that our customers want may

materially adversely impact our business and financial performance

We must maintain sufficient inventory levels to operate our business successfully However we also must guard

against accumulating excess inventory as we seek to maintain appropriate in-stock levels As stated above we

obtain approximately quarter of our merchandise from vendors outside of the United States These foreign

vendors often require lengthy advance notice of our requirements in order to be able to supply products in the

quantities that we request This usually requires us to order merchandise and enter into purchase order contracts

for the purchase and manufacture of such merchandise well in advance of the time these products are offered

for sale As result we may experience difficulty in responding to changing retail environment which makes

us vulnerable to changes in price and in consumer preferences In addition even though the lead time to obtain

domestically-sourced merchandise is less we attempt to maximize our gross margin and operating efficiency by

delivering proper quantities of merchandise to our stores in timely manner If we do not accurately anticipate

future demand for particular product or the time it will take to replenish inventory levels our inventory levels

may not be appropriate and our results of operations may be negatively impacted

Changes in federal or state legislation and regulations including the effr c/s of legislation and regulations

on product safrty could increase our cost of doing business and adversely affect our operating performance

We are exposed to the risk that new federal or state legislation including new product safety laws and

regulations may negatively impact our operations and adversely affect our operating performance For example

the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of 2008 addresses number of consumer product safety issues

including the permissible levels of lead and phthalates in certain products Additional changes in product safety

legislation or regulations may lead to product recalls and the disposal or write-off of merchandise as well as

fines or penalties and reputational damage If our merchandise including food and consumable products do

not meet applicable governmental safety standards or our customers expectations regarding quality or safety

we could experience lost sales increased costs and be exposed to legal and reputational risk Our inability to

comply on timely basis with regulatory requirements or execute product recalls in timely manner could

result in fines or penalties which could have material adverse effect on our financial results In addition

negative customer perceptions regarding the safety of the products we sell could cause us to lose market share to

our competitors If this occurs it may be difficult for us to regain lost sales



We may be subject to periodic litigation and regulatory proceedings including Fair Labor Standards Act

and state wage and hour class action lawsuits which may adversely affrct our business and financial

performance

From time to time we may be involved in lawsuits and regulatory actions including various collective or class

action lawsuits that are brought against us for alleged violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act and state wage

and hour laws Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation we may not be able to accurately determine the

impact on us of any future adverse outcome of such proceedings The ultimate resolution of these matters could

have material adverse impact on our financial condition results of operations and liquidity In addition

regardless of the outcome these proceedings could result in substantial cost to us and may require us to devote

substantial resources to defend ourselves For description of certain current legal proceedings see note 10 to

the accompanying consolidated financial statements

We may be subject to risks associated with changes in laws regulations and accounting standards that may

adversely affect our business andfinancial performance

Changes in governmental regulations and accounting standards including new interpretations and applications

of accounting standards may have adverse effects on our financial condition results of operations and

liquidity

The bankruptcy of our formerly owned KB Toys business may adversely affrct our business and financial

performance

In December 2000 we sold the KB Toys business to KB Acquisition Corporation On January 14 2004 KB

Acquisition Corporation and certain affiliated entities collectively KB-I filed for bankruptcy protection

pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code On August 30 2005 in connection with the

acquisition by an affiliate of Prentice Capital Management of majority ownership of KB-I KB-I emerged from

their January 14 2004 bankruptcy the KB Toys business that emerged from bankruptcy is hereinafter referred

to as KB-IT On December 11 2008 KB-Il filed for bankruptcy protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title

11 of the United States Code Based on information we have received subsequent to the December 11 2008

bankruptcy filing we believe we may have indemnification and guarantee obligations KB-Il Bankruptcy

Lease Obligations with respect to 31 KB Toys store leases and lease for former KB corporate office

Because of uncertainty inherent in the assumptions used to estimate this liability our estimated liability could

ultimately prove to be understated and could result in material adverse impact on our financial condition

results of operations and liquidity For additional information regarding the KB Toys bankruptcies see note 11

to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

significant decline in our operating profit and taxable income may impair our ability to realize the value

of our long-lived assets and deferred tax assets

We are required by accounting rules to periodically assess our property and equipment and deferred tax

assets for impairment and recognize an impairment loss or valuation charge if necessary In performing these

assessments we use our historical financial performance to determine whether we have potential impairments

or valuation concerns and as evidence to support our assumptions about future financial performance If our

financial performance significantly declines it could negatively affect the results of our assessments of the

recoverability of our property and equipment and our deferred tax assets There is risk that if our future

operating results significantly decline it could impair our ability to recover the value of our property and

equipment and deferred tax assets Impairment or valuation charges taken against property and equipment

and deferred tax assets could be material and could have material adverse impact on our capital resources

financial condition results of operations and liquidity see the discussion under the caption Critical

Accounting Policies and Estimates in the accompanying MDA in this Form 10-K for additional information

regarding our accounting policies for long-lived assets and income taxes



Our inability ifany to comply with the terms of the 2009 Credit Agreement may have material adverse

effect on our capital resources financial condition results of operations and liquidity

We have the ability to borrow funds under the 2009 Credit Agreement and we utilize this ability at various

times depending on operating or other cash flow requirements The 2009 Credit Agreement contains financial

and other covenants including but not limited to limitations on indebtedness liens and investments as well as

the maintenance of two financial ratios leverage ratio and fixed charge coverage ratio violation of these

covenants may permit the lenders to restrict our ability to further access loans and letters of credit and may
require the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans If we are not in compliance with these covenants
it may have material adverse effect on our capital resources financial condition results of operations and

liquidity

If we are unable to maintain or upgrade our information systems and software programs or ifwe are unable

to convert to alternate systems in an efficient and timely manner our operations may be disrupted or become

less efficient

We depend on variety of information systems for the efficient functioning of our business We rely on

certain software vendors to maintain and periodically upgrade many of these systems so that we can continue

to support our business The software programs supporting many of our systems were licensed to us by

independent software developers Costs and potential interruptions associated with the implementation of new
or upgraded systems and technology or with maintenance or adequate support of our existing systems could

disrupt or reduce the efficiency of our business

If we are unable to successfully execute our SAPfor Retail system implementation our operations may be

disrupted or become less efficient

In January 2008 we announced our plans to implement SAP for Retail solutions over the next few years New
financial systems including general ledger accounts payable and fixed assets were developed and tested during

2008 and 2009 The new financial systems have been placed in service in 2010 new core merchandising

system is planned for development and testing in 2010 and 2011 with plans to place the new core merchandising

system in service when testing has been completed The implementation of these systems is expected to have

pervasive impact on our information systems and across significant portion of our general office operations

including merchandising technology and finance If we are unable to successfully implement SAP for Retail

it may have an adverse effect on our capital resources financial condition results of operations and liquidity

If we are unable to retain existing and secure suitable new store locations under favorable lease terms our

financial performance may be negatively affected

We lease almost all of our stores and significant number of these leases expire or are up for renewal each year
Our strategy to improve our financial performance includes sales growth while managing the occupancy cost

of each of our stores component of our sales growth strategy is to open new store locations If we are not

able to negotiate favorable new store leases and lease renewals our financial position results of operations and

liquidity may be negatively affected

If we are unable to secure customer employee and company data our reputation could be damaged and we

could be subject to penalties or lawsuits

The protection of our customer employee and company data is critical to us The regulatory environment

surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly demanding with frequent imposition of new and

constantly changing requirements across our business In addition our customers have high expectation that

we will adequately protect their personal information significant breach of customer employee or company
data could damage our reputation and result in lost sales fines and/or lawsuits

If we lose key personnel it may have material adverse impact on our future results of operations

We believe that we benefit substantially from the leadership and experience of our senior executives The loss of

services of any of these individuals could have material adverse impact on our business Competition for key

personnel in the retail industry is intense and our future success will also depend on our ability to recruit train

and retain our senior executives and other qualified personnel
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The price of our common shares as traded on the New York Stock Exchange may be volatile

Our stock price may fluctuate substantially as result of factors beyond our control including but not limited

to general economic and stock market conditions risks relating to our business and industry as discussed

above strategic actions by us or our competitors variations in our quarterly operating performance our future

sales or purchases of our common shares and investor perceptions of the investment opportunity associated

with our common shares relative to other investment alternatives

We also may be subject to number of other factors which may individually or in the aggregate materially

or adversely affect our business These factors include but are not limited to

Events or circumstances could occur which could create bad publicity for us or for types of

merchandise offered in our stores which may negatively impact our business results including sales

Infringement of our intellectual property including the Big Lots trademarks could dilute our value

Our ability to attract and retain suitable employees

Our ability to establish effective advertising marketing and promotional programs and

Other risks described from time to time in our filings with the SEC

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

ITEM PROPERTIES

Retail Operations

All of our stores are located in the United States predominantly in strip shopping centers and have an average

store size of approximately 29800 square feet of which an average of 21400 square feet is selling square
feet

The average cost to open new store in leased facility during 2009 was approximately $1.0 million including

cost of inventory Except for 54 owned sites all of our stores are leased In 2008 we acquired for $8.6 million

two store properties we were previously leasing The 54 owned stores are located in the following states

Stores

State Owned

Arizona

California 39

Colorado

Florida

Louisiana

New Mexico

Ohio

Texas

Total 54

Store leases generally obligate us for fixed monthly rental payments plus the payment in most cases of our

applicable portion of real estate taxes common area maintenance costs CAM and property insurance Some

leases require the payment of percentage
of sales in addition to minimum rent Such payments generally are

required only when sales exceed specified level Our typical store lease is for an initial minimum term of

five to 10 years with multiple five-year renewal options Sixty-three store leases have sales termination clauses

which can result in our exiting location at our option if certain sales volume results are not achieved
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The following table summarizes the number of store lease expirations in each of the next five fiscal years and

the total thereafter In addition as stated above many of our store leases have renewal options The table also

includes the number of leases that are scheduled to expire each year that do not have renewal option The

information includes stores with more than one lease and leases for stores not yet open It excludes 16 month-to-

month leases and 54 owned locations

Leases

Expiring Without

Fiscal Year Leases Options

2010 230 52

2011 265 37

2012 216 23

2013 255 30

2014 241 23

Thereafter 148 11

Warehouse and Distribution

At January 30 2010 we owned or leased approximately 9.7 million square feet of distribution center and

warehouse space We own and operate five regional distribution centers strategically placed across the United

States Our regional distribution centers are owned and located in Ohio California Alabama Oklahoma and

Pennsylvania In addition to these merchandise distribution centers we operate two leased warehouses in Ohio
The regional distribution centers utilize warehouse management technology which enables high accuracy and

efficient processing of merchandise from vendors to our retail stores The combined output of our merchandise

distribution facilities was approximately 2.5 million cartons per week in 2009 Certain vendors deliver

merchandise directly to our stores We attempt to move merchandise from our vendors to the sales floor in the

most efficient manner

The number of owned and leased warehouse and distribution facilities and the corresponding square footage of

the facilities by state at January 30 2010 were as follows

Square Footage

State Owned Leased Total Owned Leased Total

Square footage in thousands

Ohio 3559 731 4290

California 1423 1423

Alabama 1411 1411

Oklahoma 1297 1297

Pennsylvania 1295 1295

Total 8985 731

Corporate Office

We own the facility in Columbus Ohio that serves as our general office for corporate associates

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

No response is required under Item 103 of Regulation S-K For discussion of certain litigated matters please

refer to note 10 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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ITEM RESERVED

SUPPLEMENTAL ITEM EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers at January 30 2010 were as follows

Officer

Name Age __________________________________________________________
Since

Steven Fishman 58 2005

John Martin 59 2003

Brad Waite 52 1998

Lisa Bachmann 2002

Christopher Chapin .. 2008

Robert Claxton 2005

Joe Cooper
2000

Charles Haubiel II 1999

Norman Rankin 1998

Robert Segal
2005

Harold Wilson 1995

Timothy Johnson 2004

Paul Schroeder
2005

Steven Fishman became Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President in July 2005 Before joining us

Mr Fishman was President ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Restructuring Officer of Rhodes Inc furniture

retailer which filed for bankruptcy on November 2004 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Franks

Nursery Crafts Inc lawn and garden specialty retailer which filed for bankruptcy on September 2004

and President and Founder of SSF Resources Inc investment and consulting firm

John Martin is responsible for merchandising Prior to joining us in 2003 Mr Martin was President of

Garden Ridge Corporation arts and crafts retailer which filed for bankruptcy on February 2004 Mr Martin

also served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Michaels Stores Inc arts and crafts retailer and

President Retail Stores Division of OfficeMax Incorporated office supply retailer

Brad Waite is responsible for human resources loss prevention risk management and administrative

services Mr Waite joined us in 1988 as Director of Employee Relations and has held various human resources

and senior management positions prior to his promotion to Executive Vice President in July 2000

Lisa Bachmann is responsible for information technology merchandise planning and merchandise

allocation functions Ms Bachmann joined us as Senior Vice President of Merchandise Planning Allocation

and Presentation in March 2002 and was promoted to her current role in August 2005 Prior to joining us

Ms Bachmann was Senior Vice President of Planning and Allocation of Ames Department Stores Inc

discount retailer which filed for bankruptcy on August 20 2001

Christopher Chapin is responsible for store operations including store standards customer service personnel

development program implementation and execution Prior to joining us in May 2008 Mr Chapin was

President and Chief Executive Officer of Facility Source Inc retail facility maintenance and management

provider and Vice President and Director of Store Operations of Limited Brands Inc retailer

Robert Claxton is responsible for marketing merchandise presentation and sales promotion Prior to

joining us in 2005 Mr Claxton served as General Manager and Executive Vice President of Initiative Media

advertising and communications company and Chief Marketing Officer and Senior Vice President of

Montgomery Ward retailer

Offices Held

Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President

Executive Vice President Merchandising

Executive Vice President Human Resources Loss Prevention

and Risk Management

48 Senior Vice President Merchandise Planning/Allocation and

Chief Information Officer

46 Senior Vice President Store Operations

55 Senior Vice President Marketing

52 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

44 Senior Vice President Legal and Real Estate General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

53 Senior Vice President Big Lots Capital and Wholesale

55 Senior Vice President General Merchandise Manager

61 Senior Vice President Distribution and Transportation Services

42 Vice President Strategic Planning and Investor Relations

44 Vice President Controller
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Joe Cooper was promoted to Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in February 2004 and is

responsible for our finance functions He oversees treasury tax and investor relations as well as the reporting

planning and control functions of the business Mr Cooper joined us as Vice President of Strategic Planning

and Investor Relations in May 2000 In July 2000 he assumed responsibility for the treasury department and

was appointed Vice President Treasurer

Charles Haubiel II is responsible for our legal and real estate affairs He was promoted to his current role

and assumed responsibility for real estate in January 2008 Prior to that Mr Haubiel was promoted to Senior

Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2004 Mr Haubiel joined us in 1997 as

Senior Staff Counsel and was promoted to Director Corporate Counsel and Assistant Secretary in 1999 and to

Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in 2000

Norman .1 Rankin is responsible for our alternative product sourcing and wholesale operations He assumed

his current role in January 2008 after serving as Senior Vice President General Merchandise Manager with

responsibility for consumables and hardware Mr Rankin joined us in 1998 as Vice President Consumables

upon our merger with Mac Frugals Bargains Close-outs Inc discount retailer In 1999 Mr Rankin was

promoted to Senior Vice President

Robert Segal is responsible for merchandising in the furniture and home categories Mr Segal joined us in

2004 as Vice President Divisional Merchandise Manager Furniture and was promoted to his current role in

January 2008 Prior to joining us Mr Segal served as Divisional Vice President Housewares and Home of

Shopko discount retailer from 1995 to 2004

Harold Wilson is responsible for warehousing distributing and transporting merchandise Mr Wilson joined

us in 1995 Prior to joining us Mr Wilson was Vice President of Distribution of Limited Brands Inc retailer
and held senior position in the distribution department with Neiman-Marcus Inc luxury retailer

Timothy Johnson is responsible for our strategic planning and investor relations functions He was promoted
to Vice President Strategic Planning and Investor Relations in February 2004 He joined us in 2000 as Director

of Strategic Planning

Paul Schroeder is responsible for internal and external financial reporting and accounting operations

including payroll accounts payable and inventory control Mr Schroeder joined us as Director Accounting

Operations in April 2005 and was promoted to Vice President Controller in September 2005 Prior to joining

us Mr Schroeder was Director of Finance of American Signature Inc furniture retailer and held various

finance positions with Limited Brands Inc retailer

PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGiSTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol BIG The

following table reflects the high and low sales prices per common share for our common shares as reported on
the NYSE composite tape for the fiscal periods indicated

2009 2008

High Low High Low

First Quarter $28.36 $12.62 $28.65 $15.00

Second Quarter 28.50 19.49 34.88 26.03

Third Quarter 28.18 22.47 35.33 18.99

Fourth Quarter $31.39 $23.04 $24.88 $12.93
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Our Board of Directors historically has authorized reinvesting available cash in capital expenditures for

various maintenance and growth opportunities and in share repurchase programs We historically have not paid

dividends and our Board of Directors is not currently considering any change in this policy In the event that we

change our policy any future cash dividend payments would be determined by our Board of Directors taking

into account business conditions then existing including our earnings financial requirements and condition

opportunities for reinvesting cash and other factors

On December 2009 we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0

million of our common shares which commenced immediately and will continue until exhausted No shares

were repurchased under this program in 2009 On March 2010 our Board of Directors authorized $250.0

million increase to our $150.0 million share repurchase program bringing the total authorization to $400.0

million collectively the 2010 Repurchase Program On March 10 2010 we executed $150.0 million

accelerated share repurchase ASR See note 14 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

for more detailed discussion regarding the ASR We expect the remaining $250.0 million purchases under

the 2010 Repurchase Program to be made from time to time in the open market and/or in privately negotiated

transactions at our discretion subject to market conditions and other factors

In 2007 we announced our $600.0 million March 2007 and $150.0 million November 2007 Repurchase

Programs which we completed in the fourth fiscal quarter 2007 and first fiscal quarter 2008 respectively

During 2008 as part of these announced repurchased programs we purchased 22 million common shares

having an aggregate cost of $37.5 million with an average price paid per share of $17.28 During 2007 as part

of these announced repurchase programs we purchased 30.0 million common shares having an aggregate cost

of $712.5 million with an average price paid per share of $23.76 The repurchased common shares were placed

into treasury and are used for general corporate purposes including the issuance of shares related to employee

benefit plans

The following table sets forth information regarding our repurchase of our common shares during the fourth

fiscal quarter of 2009

In thousands except price per share data

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Shares Purchased as Value of Shares that

Total Number Average Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased

of Shares Price Paid per Announced Plans or Under the Plans or

Period Purchased Share Programs Programs

November 2009 November 28 2009 $150000

November 29 2009 December 26 2009 150000

December 27 2009 January 30 2010 150000

Total $150000

At the close of trading on the NYSE on March 22 2010 there were approximately 996 registered holders of

record of our common shares
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The following graph and table compares for the five fiscal year period ended January 30 2010 the cumulative

total shareholder return for our common shares the SP 500 Index and the SP 500 Retailing Index

Measurement points are the last trading day of each of our fiscal years ended January 28 2006 February

2007 February 2008 January 31 2009 and January 30 2010 The graph and table assume that $100 was

invested on January 29 2005 in each of our common shares the SP 500 Index and the SP 500 Retailing

Index and assume reinvestment of any dividends The stock price performance on the following graph and table

is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

$300

$150

$100

$50

$0

Jan05 Jan06 Jan07 Jan08 Jan09 Jan10

0-Big Lots Inc 0- SP 500 Index zx-SP 500 Retailing Index

Indexed Returns

Years Ended

Base

Period

January January January January January January

Company Index 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Big Lots Inc $100.00 $123.12 $232.97 $156.90 $120.52 $254.57

SP500Index 100.00 111.63 128.37 126.05 76.43 101.76

SP 500 Retailing Index $100.00 $108.79 $125.23 $102.21 63.66 99.02
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following statements of operations and balance sheet data have been derived from our consolidated

financial statements and should be read in conjunction with MDA and the consolidated financial statements

and related notes included herein

Fiscal Year

2009 2008 2007 2006 bd 2005

In thousands except per share amounts and store counts

2787854

1857429

1523882

78624

2807466

1919306

1532356

74904

12964

325010

1840
175

2815959

1840343

1515379

88484

2851616

1891432

1622339

101279

2698239

1731666

1596136

108657

Net sales $4726772 $4645283 $4656302 $4743048 $4429905

Cost of sales exclusive of depreciation expense

shown separately below

Gross margin

Selling and administrative expenses

Depreciation expense

Gain on sale of real estate

Operating profit 254923 236480 167814 26873

Interest expense 5282 2513 581 6272
Interest and investment income 65 5236 3257 313

Income from continuing operations before

income taxes 323345 249706 239203 170490 20914

Income tax expense 121975 94908 88023 57872 5189

Income from continuing operations 201370 154798 151180 112618 15725

Income loss from discontinued operations

net oftax 1001 3251 7281 11427 25813
Netincomeloss 200369 151547 158461 124045 10088

Earnings per common share basic

Continuing operations 2.47 1.91 1.49 1.02 0.14

Discontinued operations 0.01 0.04 0.07 0.10 0.23

2.45 1.87 1.56 1.12 0.09

Earnings per common share diluted

Continuing operations 2.44 1.89 1.47 1.01 0.14

Discontinued operations 0.01 0.04 0.07 0.10 0.23

2.42 1.85 1.55 1.11 0.09

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 81619 81111 101393 110336 113240

Diluted 82681 82076 102542 111930 113677

Balance sheet data

Total assets

Working capital

Cash and cash equivalents

Long-term obligations under bank credit
facility

Shareholders equity $1001412 774845

Cash flow data

Cash provided by operating activities 392026 211063 307932 381477 212965

Cash used in investing activities 77937 88192 58764 30421 66702
Store data

Total gross square footage

Total selling square footage

Stores opened during the fiscal year

Stores closed during the fiscal year 30 35 29 37 174
Stores open at end ofthe fiscal year 1361 1339 1353 1375 1401

$1669493

580446

283733

$1432458

355776

34773

$1443815

390766

37131

163700

638486

$1720526

674815

281657

$1129703

$1625497

557231

1710

5500

$1078724

40591

29176

52

39888

28674

21

40195

28902

40770

29376

11

41413

29856

73
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2006 is comprised of 53 weeks All other periods presented included 52 weeks

We adopted the funding recognition provisions of guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board

Accounting Standards Codification ASC 715-30-25 Defined Benefit Plans-Pension Statement

of Financial Accounting Standard SFAS No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans SFAS No 158 in 2006 which resulted in accumulated other

comprehensive loss of $5933 $3859 net of tax We adopted the measurement date provisions of the

guidance under ASC 715-30-35 SFAS No 158 in 2008 the impacts of which are more fully described in

notes and to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

We adopted guidance under ASC 740 Income Taxes FIN No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income

Taxes an interpretation of SFAS No 109 in the first fiscal quarter of 2007 on prospective basis the

impact of which is more fully discussed in notes and to the accompanying consolidated financial

statements

We adopted guidance under ASC 718 Compensation Stock Compensation and ASC 505-50 Equity-

Based Payments to Non Employees SFAS No 123R Share-Based Payment in the first fiscal quarter

of 2006 under the modified prospective adoption method Share-based compensation expense was

$6.6 million in 2006 Share-based compensation expense was not recognized in the income statement

prior to 2006 For years 2009 2008 and 2007 the impact is more fully described in notes and to the

accompanying consolidated financial statements

For 2008 working capital included $61.7 million for current maturities under bank credit facility because

the 2004 Credit Agreement terminated in 2009

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The discussion and analysis presented below should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated

financial statements and related notes Please refer to Item lA of this Form 10-K for discussion of forward-

looking statements and certain risk factors that may have material effect on our business financial condition

results of operations and/or liquidity

Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31 which results in some fiscal years with 52 weeks and

some with 53 weeks Fiscal years 2009 2008 and 2007 each were comprised of 52 weeks

Operating Results Summary

The following are the results from 2009 that we believe are key indicators of our operating performance when

compared to our operating performance in 2008

Net sales increased 1.8% Comparable store sales for stores open at least two years at the beginning

of 2009 increased 0.7% We operated an average of 1354 stores throughout 2009 compared to 1356

average stores throughout 2008 Sales per selling square foot were $162 in 2009 and $160 in 2008

Gross margin as percent of sales increased 60 basis points to 40.6% of sales in 2009 from 40.0% of

sales in 2008 Gross margin dollars were higher by 3.3%

Average inventory levels were slightly lower throughout 2009 compared to 2008 and combined

with the 1.8% increase in net sales resulted in higher inventory turnover rate of 3.7 times in 2009

compared to 3.6 times in 2008

Selling and administrative
expenses as percent of sales decreased 40 basis points to 32.4% of sales

from 32.8% of sales in 2008

Depreciation expense as percent of sales decreased 10 basis points to 1.6% of sales in 2009 from

1.7% of sales in 2008
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Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations improved to $2.44 per share in 2009

compared to $1.89 per share in 2008

Cash provided by operating activities was $392.0 million in 2009 compared to $211.1 million in

2008 Our total inventory per average store was down 2.3% at the end of 2009 compared to 2008

Our accounts payable leverage increased at the end of 2009 as result of shift in our negotiated

vendor payment terms towards longer payment period which is more consistent with our retail

competitors Additionally we paid income taxes of $106.0 million in 2009 compared to $92.4 million

in 2008

In December of 2009 our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million of our

common shares No shares were repurchased under this program in 2009

The following table compares components of our consolidated statements of operations as percentage of

net sales

2009 2008 2007

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales exclusive of depreciation expense shown separately below 59.4 60.0 60.5

Gross margin 40.6 40.0 39.5

Selling and administrative
expenses

32.4 32.8 32.5

Depreciation expense 1.6 1.7 1.9

Gain on sale of real estate 0.0 0.0

Operating profit 6.9 5.5 5.1

Interest expense 0.0 0.1 0.1

Interest and investment income 0.0 0.0 0.1

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 6.8 5.4 5.1

Income tax expense 2.6 2.0 1.9

Income from continuing operations 4.3 3.3 3.2

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 0.0 0.1 0.2

Net income 4.2% 3.3% 14%

See the discussion below under the captions 2009 Compared To 2008 and 2008 Compared To 2007 for

additional details regarding the specific components of our operating results

Selling and administrative expenses in 2009 were increased by $4.0 million 10 basis points pretax for

legal settlement agreement see note 10 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional

information on this matter Gain on sale of real estate in 2009 was $13.0 million 30 basis points pretax for

company-owned and operated store in California sold at gain

Selling and administrative
expenses

in 2007 were reduced by $5.2 million 10 basis points pretax for proceeds

we received from the KB Toys bankruptcy trust see note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial

statements for additional information and $4.9 million 10 basis points pretax for insurance proceeds we

received as recovery
for 2005 hurricane insurance claims

Seasonality

As discussed in Item under the Seasonality caption our financial results fluctuate from quarter to quarter

depending on various factors such as timing of new or closed stores timing and extent of advertisements and

promotions and timing of holidays We expect that the Christmas holiday selling season will continue to result

in significant portion of our sales and operating profits If our sales performance is significantly better or

worse during this time frame we would expect more pronounced impact on our annual financial results
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The following table sets forth the seasonality of net sales and operating profit for 2009 2008 and 2007 by

fiscal quarter

First Second Third Fourth

Fiscal Year 2009

Net sales percentage of full year 24.1% 23.0% 21.9% 1.0%

Operating profit as percentage of full year 18.5 14.7 14.6 52.2

Fiscal Year 2008

Net sales percentage of full
year 24.8% 23.8% 22.0% 29.4%

Operating profit as percentage of full year 22.8 17.1 7.9 52.2

Fiscal Year 2007

Net sales percentage of full year 24.2% 23.3% 22.1% 30.4%

Operating profit as percentage of full year 18.0 14.1 9.6 58.3

Operating Strategy

Over the past four fiscal years fiscal 2006 through fiscal 2009 we have successfully repositioned our business

by concentrating our efforts on the implementation of strategy we refer to as the Whats Important Now Strategy

WIN Strategy The WIN Strategy focuses on three key elements of the business merchandising real estate

and the cost structure The WIN Strategy has been an operating profit growth strategy designed to expand the

operating profit rate of our existing store base Only recently in 2009 as the commercial real estate market

softened and rents declined did we pursue net new store growth Due to the implementation of WIN our

operating profit rate has expanded from 0.6% in 2005 to 6.9% in 2009 with operating profit dollars growing

from $26.9 million to $325.0 million during that same time period The growth in operating profit has translated

to significant growth in earnings per share from continuing operations which has increased from $0.14 per

diluted share in 2005 to $2.44 per diluted share in 2009 Along the way we generated approximately $1.5 billion

of cash of which approximately $330 million was capital reinvested in our business and $900 million was

returned to shareholders aggregate share repurchases in 2006 2007 and 2008 under publicly announced share

repurchase programs

In 2010 we anticipate the key elements of the WIN Strategy will remain consistent and we are forecasting

continued operating profit growth However we believe we are entering the next phase of the WIN Strategy

growth phase The commercial real estate market has softened thus providing more real estate available for

us at prices that are more appropriate for our financial model and return on capital requirements Given the

strength of our financial performance we are in better position to open new stores and take advantage of the

current real estate market conditions

In 2010 we expect

An operating profit rate of 7.0% to 7.2% based on an estimated comparable store sales increase of

3% to 4% flat gross margin rate and expense leverage compared to last year

Earnings per diluted share from continuing operations to be $2.65 to $2.75

Opening 80 new stores and closing 40 stores for net growth of 40 stores or 3%

Cash provided by operating activities of approximately $315 million less capital expenditures

of approximately $115 million resulting in $200 million of cash available for investment or

redeployment and

The remaining $250.0 million of purchases under the 2010 Repurchase Program may be made from

time to time in the open market and/or in privately negotiated transactions at our discretion subject

to market conditions and other factors On March 10 2010 we executed $150.0 million accelerated

share repurchase transaction
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The following sections provide additional discussion and analysis of our WIN Strategy with respect to merchandising

real estate and cost structure The 2009 Compared To 2008 section below provides additional discussion and

analysis of the impact of these strategies on our financial performance and the assumptions and expectations

upon which we are basing our guidance for our future results

Merchandising

From merchandising perspective our competitive positioning as the largest broadline closeout retailer affords us

strategic advantage when sourcing merchandise for our stores We source our merchandise in three key ways

Closeouts or excess inventory comprise approximately half of the merchandise available for sale

to our customers Manufacturers and vendors have excess merchandise for number of different

reasons including retailers canceling orders retailers going out of business marketing or packaging

changes new product launch that has failed or for other various reasons In these situations we are

able to source product at discounted cost and offer significant value savings to our customers We

currently have thousands of vendor relationships for excess inventory that have been developed over

many years These relationships along with the size and financial strength of our company are key

barrier to entry and minimize the opportunities for other competitors to enter our retail segment

For certain merchandise categories there is not always an abundant supply of excess inventory In

certain merchandise categories under these situations we will work with vendors to develop product

and import merchandise from overseas Imports total approximately 25% to 30% of our merchandise

sold in any given year Categories with the highest concentration of imports include Seasonal

Furniture and to lesser extent Home and the Toys department

The balance of our merchandise assortment is replenishable type product or the captive label

businesses we operate The merchandise has consistency of flow and availability so that it can

be offered in our stores day in and day out It has many of the same characteristics as our closeout

business but is replenishable upon demand Our prices on this merchandise are still positioned below

our competition although to lesser extent than the closeout component of our business

We offer six major merchandising categories in our store Consumables Seasonal Home Hardlines Furniture

and Other These categories range
in size with Consumables as the single largest at 0.8% of sales in 2009 and

Other as the smallest at 12.0% of sales in 2009

In recent years our merchandising strategies to increase sales have been predominantly focused on growing

the size of the basket or average
transaction value There have been two primary methods to accomplishing

this goal drive more units per transaction and grow the average item retail by offering our customers better

quality merchandise better values and more prominent brand name products This approach is consistent with

our customer research which suggests that our core customer recognizes quality and brands and is willing to

pay higher retail price so long as the value or cost savings is significant compared to what other retailers

are offering This strategy has resulted in fewer cartons processed by our distribution centers and stores and

achieved positive comparable store sales

While executing our WIN Strategy we have made measurable progress
towards our goals of growing sales per

selling square foot which increased from $146 per square foot in 2005 to $162 per square
foot in 2009 and

increasing gross margin dollars which increased from $1732 million in 2005 to $1919 million in 2009

From merchandising perspective in 2010 our goal is to provide extreme value improved quality and

continue to increase the presence of recognizable brand name merchandise in our stores We expect our major

merchandise categories will remain the same as prior years but the percentage of business by category may
fluctuate from time to time based on customer demand and the availability of compelling deals that we are able

to source and offer in our stores Strategically we anticipate opportunity does exist to continue to grow the

basket or average transaction value through the same successful initiatives that benefitted results over the last

few
years Additionally during 2010 and in future years we believe there are specific initiatives in marketing

and store operations designed to begin to grow the number of transactions in our stores
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Our marketing efforts involve mix of printed circulars in-store marketing television and online advertising

Much of our marketing is based on information that we have learned about our customers principally through

customer surveys Based on this information we believe over 70% of our core customers come to our stores

without shopping list or without specific item or brand in mind to purchase Value dominates top of mind

awareness as our customers look to us for savings Nearly one half of the customers surveyed said their

shopping trips to our stores last over 30 minutes which we interpret as them coming to shop our stores for the

treasure hunt We have improved and expect to continue to develop our in-store signage and merchandising

displays and arrangements We continue to market to our Buzz Club members by offering free online

membership and alerting them to new merchandise and offerings in our stores Additionally in 2009 we
launched our Rewards program which is the first true loyalty card program in the Companys history After

enrolling in this program the customer receives Rewards card which is to be presented and scanned at the

register at time of purchase After ten qualifying purchases each of $20 or more the Rewards member will

receive coupon for 20% off future purchase in our stores Additionally members will receive via email our

ad circulars and other targeted promotional materials Due to the investments made in our store register systems

during 2007 and 2008 each time Rewards card is scanned we have the technology to record and monitor

purchasing behavior

From marketing perspective in 2010 there are three key initiatives designed to help to build transactions

First the Rewards program and building the membership base is key driver to future transaction

growth As of March 2010 we have over 1.4 million Rewards members To date stores with the

highest amount of Rewards member signups or penetration are seeing incremental transaction lifts

in the low single digits During 2010 we will be implementing technology that will enable us to offer

our members targeted messages or promotions based on their specific buying patterns

Second using our ad circulars and promotional pricing to create more buzzbuilders excitement

could help increase transactions The excitement created by buzzbuilders is predominantly achieved

through price but uniqueness of item can be factor as well

Lastly we have expanded the mix of tender accepted in our stores and effective February 2010 we

began accepting the American Express card American Express cardholders typically have higher

income demographics than other cardholders and we believe the marketing efforts and support from

the vendor could increase our market share in that demographic

From store operations perspective we began the company-wide rollout of our Ready for Business program

in 2009 The program has certain performance criteria and standards aimed at improving the consistency of

visual presentation merchandise
recovery efforts and overall store cleanliness Ready for Business also focuses

on improvements in our employee training programs and hiring practices This higher level of expectation

and accountability within our store operations team increased the turnover rate of our district managers store

managers and assistant store managers in 2009 and required us to recruit new talent to the organization

In 2010 we believe that continued focus on Ready for Business standards and the investment made in talent in

2009 could help to improve sales through both the size of the average basket and the number of transactions

Additionally with higher level of confidence in the discipline on store standards and higher caliber

management team in place we have identified certain investments in both store layout and store improvement

capital which we will be executing throughout 2010 This effort will address approximately 120 stores with

potential upside sales opportunities

Real Estate

From the beginning of fiscal 2006 through fiscal 2008 we slowed our rate of new store openings based on our

belief that many of the real estate locations available to us in the marketplace were too expensive and as such

the return on investment would not be satisfactory to our shareholders During 2006 through 2008 we opened

total of only 39 new stores 11 in 2006 in 2007 and 21 in 2008 During the same timeframe we closed

101 existing stores 37 in 2006 29 in 2007 and 35 in 2008 for various reasons including lack of profitability

proposed new lease terms where rents were escalating and landlords were unwilling to renegotiate terms or

relocating the store to potentially more productive location
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As result of improvements in our store productivity and overall profitability over the last four years
and the

softening of the real estate market we were able to grow our store base in 2009 for the first time in the last five

years We opened 52 new stores and closed 30 stores in 2009 The majority of our new store openings 41 were

what we refer to as traditional stores which are secondary or tertiary real estate normally located in retail strip

centers Additionally in 2009 we tested two new store initiatives locations and smaller store concept

Generally speaking new store openings performed very well in 2009 with locations exceeding our

expectations traditional stores overall meeting our expectations and our small store test producing mixed results

We believe we have opportunities with respect to the lease options included in our existing store leases As

stated in Item Properties of this Form 10-K we have 230 store leases that expire in 2010 We expect to close

approximately 40 of these stores some of which have not performed to our expectations some of which have

no more lease renewal options and we expect the landlord to choose different tenant and some of which

we anticipate exiting by our choice in favor of relocating the store to new location in nearby area For our

remaining approximately 190 store locations with 2010 lease expirations we expect to exercise our renewal

option or negotiate more favorable lease renewal terms sufficient enough to enable us to achieve an acceptable

return on our investment

Our real estate strategy has included the following additional jnvestments in our existing fleet of stores in order

to improve operating efficiency

In 2007 and 2008 we invested approximately $38 million to implement our new point-of-sale

register system in all of our existing stores with the expected benefits to include more timely and

accurate sales and inventory information improved customer service through faster speed at

checkout lower repair and maintenance costs and improved labor efficiency through the use of

hand-held technology

In 2007 and 2008 we invested approximately $7 million in store retrofits and new merchandise

fixtures at approximately 110 of our stores to better feature some of our key merchandise growth

classifications specifically Furniture

In 2009 we tested new store layout in approximately 20 locations predominantly in Columbus Ohio

The layout test was designed to improve the ease of shopping our stores It features Consumables

more prominently in our store and improves the visual sight lines within the store The customer

reaction indicated that the store seemed better organized cleaner and has improved lighting wider

aisles and generally presents merchandise more effectively Based on our evaluation of the test

results we will expand this program to an additional 105 stores in 2010

Also in 2009 we made certain investments both capital and expense in Food Refresh program

The program emphasizes cleanliness and merchandise presentation in our food departments and it

included new or refinished fixtures in approximately one half of our stores while all stores received

new signage and shelf labeling Based on feedback from our customers we believe improved

cleanliness better fixtures and dedicated associate staffing to maintain better merchandise

presentation instills customer confidence in the quality and freshness of our food merchandise

In 2010 we plan to increase the level of new store openings to 80 new stores and expect to close approximately

40 stores resulting in net store growth of 40 locations or 3% of the total store base In terms of the breakout

of what types of stores we expect to open the availability of
space

for our traditional locations remains

good rents are reasonable and we estimate we will open approximately 50 traditional stores in 2010 In

regards to locations we see meaningful opportunity for growth in 2010 and estimate that we will open

approximately 30 new locations this year This is major step forward for our company and has been made

possible by the softening in the commercial real estate market and the strength of our financial performance

over the last several years Additionally higher quality and more branded merchandise assortment along with

improvements in store standards and customer service have given us the confidence that we can be successful

in these locations with new customer base that has somewhat higher level of expectations in terms of

the in-store shopping experience During 2009 we learned great deal through our small store test about

the operational aspects and the merchandising changes or edits that are critical in this size of store We will

continue to make modifications to our test stores and monitor their
progress Along the way in 2010 we may

also add couple of stores to the test
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Cost Structure

Our goal each
year

is to continue to generate expense leverage lower expenses as percent of net sales

We believe that several operational changes we have made which we continue to refine have significantly

contributed to the achievement of our leverage goals Some of the operational changes made include

Reduced inventory levels at our stores and regional distribution centers

Purchased and distributed merchandise to our stores in optimal quantities and pack sizes to

minimize handling in our distribution centers and stores

Timed receipt of merchandise in stores closer to the expected display dates in order to avoid

excessive handling merchandise

Increased the percentage of merchandise that arrives in our stores pre-ticketed and pre-packaged for

efficient display and sale

Refined our staffing and payroll scheduling models in our stores and

Implemented several initiatives which lowered our distribution and outbound transportation

expenses

As result of these operational changes and certain other initiatives in the business our overall
expenses as

percent of sales have declined by 480 basis points 2009 expense rate of 33.7% versus 2005
expense rate of 38.5%

For 2010 we are forecasting an expense rate of 33.4% to 33.6% Expense dollars are expected to decline in

the areas of advertising utilities and insurance based on certain company specific initiatives developed by

management Store
expenses along with distribution and transportation costs are expected to leverage as dollar

growth in these areas is forecasted to be at slower rate than our anticipated sales growth Partially offsetting

this leverage we believe costs will increase and deleverage areas such as occupancy depreciation and equity

related compensation expense given the significant increase in our share price over the last 12 months

Discontinued Operations

We continue to incur exit-related costs for some of the 130 stores we closed in 2005 that we have classified

as discontinued operations specifically on the stores where lease obligations remain We also report

certain activity related to our prior ownership of the KB Toys business in discontinued operations See

note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for more detailed discussion of all of our

discontinued operations

Share Repurchase Program

In December 2009 our Board of Directors authorized share repurchase program providing for the repurchase

of up to $150.0 million of our common shares No shares were repurchased under this program in 2009

On March 2010 based upon the strength of our operating performance and cash flow generation during the

fourth fiscal quarter of 2009 and our estimated cash flow for fiscal 2010 our Board of Directors authorized

$250.0 million increase to our $150.0 million program bringing the total authorization of the 2010 Repurchase

Program to $400.0 million On March 10 2010 we utilized $150.0 million of the authorization to execute an

accelerated share repurchase transaction which reduced our common shares outstanding by 3.6 million The

total number of shares repurchased under the ASR will be based upon the volume weighted average price of our

stock over predetermined period and will not be known until that period ends and final settlement occurs

The final settlement could increase or decrease the 3.6 million shares initially reduced from our outstanding

common shares The remaining $250.0 million will be utilized to repurchase shares in the open market and/or

in privately negotiated transactions at our discretion subject to market conditions and other factors Common
shares acquired through the 2010 Repurchase Program will be available to meet obligations under equity

compensation plans and for general corporate purposes The 2010 Repurchase Program will continue until

exhausted and will be funded with cash and cash equivalents cash generated during fiscal 2010 or if needed by

drawing on our $500.0 million unsecured credit facility
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2009 Compared to 2008

Net Sales

As previously discussed we manage our business on the basis of one segment broadline closeout retailing We

report net sales information for six merchandise categories Net sales by merchandise category as percentage

of total net sales and net sales change in dollars and percentage in 2009 compared to 2008 were as follows

2009 2008 Change

in thousands

Consumables $1456370 30.8% $1410383 30.4% 45987 3.3%

Home 717744 15.2 713103 15.4 4641 0.7

Furniture 716785 15.2 698276 15.0 18509 2.7

Hardlines 677790 14.3 646563 13.9 31227 4.8

Seasonal 591321 12.5 585025 12.6 6296 1.1

Other 566762 12.0 591933 12.7 25171 4.3
Net sales $4726772 100.0% $4645283 100.0% 81489 1.8%

Net sales increased $81.5 million or 1.8% to $4726.8 million in 2009 compared to $4645.3 million in 2008

The increase in net sales was principally due to our comparable store sales increase of 0.7% or approximately

$32 million and non-comparable store sales which increased by approximately $37 million Our comparable

store sales are calculated by using all stores that were open for at least two fiscal
years as of the beginning of

the current fiscal year This calculation may not be comparable to other retailers who calculate comparable store

sales based on other methods or criteria The
average

number of stores in operation throughout 2009 and 2008

was approximately 1354 stores and 1356 stores respectively Following comparable store sales decrease of

1.5% through the first half of 2009 sales trends improved resulting in comparable store sales increase of 2.8%

in the second half of 2009 thereby producing an annual comparable store sales increase of 0.7% Comparable

store sales increased in the low to mid-single digits from September through January due to improvements

in our merchandise offering and improved discretionary spending trends as we met the first anniversary of

the significant economic turmoil that began to impact us in our fourth fiscal quarter of 2008 Specifically

comparable store sales increased 5.1% in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2009 Based on these trends and sales

results of February 2010 we estimate 2010 comparable store sales will increase in the range of 3% to 4%

From merchandise perspective sales in most major merchandise categories increased in 2009 compared to

2008 Consumables continued its consistent sales growth throughout the year Consumers continued to seek

out value when shopping for the everyday household use items that we offer in our Consumables business

We believe our strategy of offering name brands at competitive prices led to this consistently positive net

sales performance in the Consumables category The Home category net sales consistently underperformed

through the second fiscal quarter However accelerating sales trends in the second half of 2009 due to certain

merchandise assortment changes and the improvement experienced in consumer discretionary spending trends

led to total sales increase for fiscal 2009 The Furniture category also underperformed through the third fiscal

quarter principally due to lower sales in our mattress department However new key items in upholstery and

case goods along with sales rebound in our mattress department led to fourth fiscal quarter comparable store

sales increase in the high single digits leading to our overall sales increase of 2.7% for 2009 The Hardlines

category continued its increase in net sales driven by sales of electronics particularly DVDs cameras and

televisions The Seasonal category net sales produced positive results in the second half of the year due to

comparable sales increase of our Christmas merchandise in the fourth fiscal quarter The Other category

sales decline is primarily due to three large closeout deals drugstore merchandise furniture and apparel that

occurred in 2008 fewer closeout deals were sold in the Other category in 2009 Partly offsetting the closeout

deals decline was an increase in toy department sales

25



Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased $61.9 million or 3.3% to $1919.3 million in 2009 compared to $1857.4

million in 2008 Gross margin as percentage of net sales was 40.6% in 2009 compared to 40.0% in 2008 The

increase in gross margin dollars was due to the higher gross margin rate and the increase in sales The increase

in gross margin rate increased gross margin dollars by approximately $29 million Also contributing to the

increased gross margin dollars was higher net sales of $81.5 million which increased gross margin dollars by

approximately $33 million The gross margin rate increase was principally due to higher initial mark up on

merchandise sold lower inbound freight costs and lower shrink accrual rate We achieved lower inbound

freight costs in 2009 because of lower diesel fuel costs lower ocean freight rates renegotiated carrier rates and

careful review of the mode of transportation to find the most efficient method to ship goods to our distribution

centers The gross margin rate also benefitted from favorable adjustments to the shrink accrual as physical

inventories were completed at our stores Our inventory turnover improved to 3.7 turns in 2009 compared to

3.6 turns in 2008 Based on historical results and current economic conditions we expect our 2010 gross margin

rate to be approximately 40.6% or flat compared to 2009 as strength in initial mark up lower shrink costs

and slightly lower markdown rate are expected to be offset by rising freight costs both import and domestic

Based on the current general economic trends our vendors may be negatively impacted by insufficient

availability of credit to fund their operations or insufficient demand for their products which may affect their

ability to fulfill their obligations to us Additionally the general economic conditions have caused higher level

of uncertainty of our forecasted sales results and thus demand for our merchandise could differ materially

from our expectation causing us to under or over buy certain merchandise which may result in customer

dissatisfaction or excessive markdowns required to liquidate the merchandise

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $8.5 million or 0.6% to $1532.4 million in 2009 compared to

$1523.9 million in 2008 The increase in selling and administrative expenses was principally caused by an

increase in store occupancy expenses of $15.5 million higher employee benefit expenses of $7.7 million higher

share-based compensation expense of $4.8 million litigation-related expenses of $4.6 million and bonuses

of $4.4 million These items were partially offset by $23.4 million decrease in distribution and outbound

transportation costs and $6.1 million decrease in advertising expenses The increase in store occupancy

expenses is primarily due to higher rents and real estate taxes related to the leases of the 73 new stores opened

in 2009 and 2008 The increase in employee benefits is principally due to higher paid health insurance claims

and pension expense The increase in share-based compensation is primarily due to our acceleration of vesting

of restricted stock grants based on our profit performance in 2009 In 2009 we accrued $4.0 million for

certain legal settlement agreement see note 10 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements The

$4.4 million increase of bonuses was directly related to our performance The decline in distribution and

outbound transportation costs is result of lower inventory levels the integration of our Ohio and California

furniture distribution operations into our regional distribution centers in July 2008 and 2009 respectively the

renegotiation of dedicated carrier contracts with more favorable rates starting in August 2009 more efficient

operations due to increased volume of cartons and the impact of decreased diesel fuel costs Advertising

expenses decreased due to renegotiated printing contracts with more favorable terms reduced local advertising

and reduced newspaper distributions

Selling and administrative expenses as percentage of net sales were 32.4% in 2009 compared to 32.8% in 2008

The decrease of 0.4% is primarily due to the effect of the increase in sales of 1.8% as selling and administrative

expense dollars increased 0.6% as discussed above Our future selling and administrative expense as

percentage of net sales rate is dependent upon many factors including our level of net sales our ability to

implement additional efficiencies principally in our store and distribution center operations and fluctuating

commodity prices such as diesel fuel which directly affects our outbound transportation cost In 2010 we

expect expense leverage based on company specific initiatives to lower costs and the leveraging impact of our

estimated comparable store sales increase of 3% to 4% We expect expense dollars to decrease in the areas of

advertising utilities and health insurance based on certain company specific initiatives and program changes

We estimate dollars will increase in store payroll and distribution and transportation however the increase

is forecasted to be at lower rate than our estimated total sales growth of 5% to 6% Additionally we are

forecasting slight deleverage in the areas of occupancy depreciation and equity related compensation expenses
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Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense decreased $3.7 million or 4.7% to $74.9 million in 2009 compared to $78.6 million for

2008 The decrease in depreciation expense was principally related to our stores and was due to assets becoming

fully depreciated since the prior year Many of these fully depreciated assets were placed in service in 2003

or 2004 and had five-year estimated service lives Compared to more recent years capital expenditures were

significantly higher in 2003 and 2004 principally due to store remodels and higher number of store openings

in 2003 and 2004

For 2010 we expect capital expenditures of approximately $115 million Using this assumption and the run rate

of depreciation on our existing property and equipment we expect 2010 depreciation expense to be $80 million

to $85 million which would represent an increase from the $74.9 million of depreciation expense in 2009

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $3.5 million to $1.8 million in 2009 compared to $5.3 million in 2008 The decrease

in interest expense was principally due to lower
average borrowings including capital leases of $8.6 million in

2009 compared to average borrowings of $151.8 million in 2008 The higher average borrowings in 2008 were

driven principally by the acquisition of our common shares under our publicly announced share repurchase

programs which were completed in 2008 In 2009 cash flow provided by operations was sufficient to repay the

borrowings under the 2009 Credit Agreement in the fourth fiscal quarter Our average effective interest rate of

1.8% in 2009 was lower than our average
effective interest rate of 3.5% in 2008 The decrease in the average

effective interest rate which resulted from generally lower rates in the overall short-term interest rate markets

decreased our interest
expense by approximately $0.1 million in 2009

Interest and Investment Income

Interest and investment income increased $0.1 million in 2009 to $0.2 million compared to $0.1 million in

2008 The increase in interest and investment income was caused by the increase in funds available to invest in

2009 compared to 2008 partly offset by decrease in investment yield Our average invested amount in 2009

was $68.9 million compared to $3.6 million in 2008 In 2009 we invested primarily in deposits with financial

institutions and highly liquid investments including money market funds and variable rate demand notes We
held $245.0 million of investments at the end of 2009

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate on income from continuing operations was 37.7% for 2009 compared to 8.0%

for 2008 The net decrease in 2009 was primarily driven by the release of the valuation allowance on unrealized

capital losses in contrast to an increase in the valuation allowance in 2008

We anticipate our 2010 effective income tax rate to be within
range

of 38.0% to 39.0%

Discontinued Operations

Loss from discontinued operations was $1.0 million net of tax in 2009 compared to $3.3 million net of

tax in 2008 The 2009 loss from discontinued operations was primarily due to the KB-IT Bankruptcy Lease

Obligations see note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements In the fourth fiscal quarter of

2009 we obtained assignment of lease for the former KB-I corporate office and recorded charge of $0.7

million net of tax in loss from discontinued operations The remaining $0.3 million loss from discontinued

operations net of tax in 2009 pertained to other KB-Il Bankruptcy Lease Obligations KB-Il declared

bankruptcy again in December 2008 As result of this bankruptcy filing KB-Il rejected 31 store leases

for which we believe we have an indemnification obligation The 2008 loss from discontinued operations of

$3.3 million net of tax was comprised of $3.0 million net of tax for the KB-IT Bankruptcy Lease Obligations

and $0.3 million net of tax for exit-related costs on the remaining 2005 closed stores which met the criteria for

classification as discontinued operations
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2008 Compared to 2007

Net Sales

Net sales by merchandise category as percentage of total net sales and net sales change in dollars and

percentage in 2008 compared to 2007 were as follows

2008 2007 Change

in thousands

Consumables $1410383 30.4% $1339433 28.8% 70950 5.3%

Home 713103 15.4 783047 16.8 69944 8.9
Furniture 698276 15.0 687292 14.8 10984 1.6

Hardlines 646563 13.9 629119 13.5 17444 2.8

Seasonal 585025 12.6 597933 12.8 12908 22
Other 591933 12.7 619478 13.3 27545 4.4

Netsales $4645283 100.0% $4656302 100.0% $11019 jQ%

Net sales decreased $11.0 million or 0.2% to $4645.3 million in 2008 compared to $4656.3 million in

2007 There were fewer open stores in 2008 which caused decrease of $34.0 million partially offset by our

comparable store sales increase of 0.5% which increased sales by $23.0 million Our comparable store sales

are calculated by using all stores that were open for at least two fiscal years as of the beginning of 2008 This

calculation may not be comparable to other retailers who calculate comparable store sales based on other

methods or criteria Following comparable store sales increase of 3.1% in the first half of 2008 sales trends

softened resulting in comparable store sales decrease of 1.9% in the second half of 2008 We believe that our

comparable store sales results in the third and fourth fiscal quarters were in part due to the worsening general

economic trends

From merchandise perspective the Consumables Hardlines and Furniture categories net sales increased

while net sales of Home Other and Seasonal declined Consumables continued its consistent sales growth

throughout the year As the year progressed consumers chose to seek out value when shopping for the everyday

household use items that we offer in our Consumables business We believe our strategy of offering name

brands at competitive prices has led to this consistently positive net sales performance in the Consumables

category The Hardlines category increase in net sales was driven by the availability in the second half of 2008

of multiple closeout deals containing higher ticket electronics highlighted by significant values on items such as

popular video games and personal computer laptops from national brand manufacturers The Furniture category

increase was driven by sales of mattresses which were attributable to the customer response throughout the

year especially when promotional pricing was coupled with holiday events such as the Labor Day mattress

promotion The Home category net sales consistently underperformed throughout the year continuing trend

which began in the first half of 2007 We believe our customers elected to defer purchases of this type of

merchandise The Other category sales decline is primarily due to lower sales of toys principally in the latter

half of the year when toys represent relatively larger portion of our total net sales The lower toys sales

results were partially offset within the Other category by higher sales driven by closeout deals of licensed kids

underwear during the first half of the year The Seasonal category net sales produced positive results in the

first half of the year for lawn garden and summer merchandise however the second half of the years net

sales underperformed due to lower comparable store sales for Christmas Halloween and harvest Because

the Christmas selling season represents higher portion of the total years sales in this category the decline in

Christmas merchandise sales drove the category sales lower for the year

Gross Margin

Gross margin dollars increased $17.1 million or 0.9% to $1857.4 million in 2008 compared to $1840.3 million

in 2007 Gross margin as percentage of net sales was 40.0% in 2008 compared to 39.5% in 2007 The increase

in gross margin dollars was principally due to the higher gross margin rate which increased gross margin

dollars by approximately $21 million Partially offsetting the higher gross margin rate was lower net sales of

$11.0 million which reduced gross margin dollars by approximately $4 million The gross margin rate increase
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of 50 basis points was primarily due to higher initial markup on merchandise and favorable shrink results

partially offset by higher markdowns and the mix impact of our higher net sales in merchandise categories

such as Consumables that have lower gross margin rates The improvement in initial markup was due in part

to drugstore liquidation deal furniture closeout from large national brand and an overall favorable deal

environment for closeout merchandise In addition initial markup was higher in 2008 due to our Home Event

which we offered in our stores principally during the first half of the year The Home Event merchandise was

included in the Furniture category and Home category Shrink was lower principally due to favorable physical

inventory results Higher markdowns were attributable in part to planned markdowns associated with

drugstore liquidation deal furniture closeout from large national brand and our Home Event merchandise

Our inventory turnover improved to 3.6 turns in 2008 compared to 3.5 turns in 2007

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative
expenses increased $8.5 million or 0.6% to $1523.9 million in 2008 compared

to $1515.4 million in 2007 The increase in selling and administrative expenses was principally caused by an

increase in medical plan expenses of $9.7 million higher share-based compensation expense of $5.5 million

the 2007 partial recovery of the HCC Note investment of $5.2 million see note 11 to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of the HCC Note the 2007 reduction in selling and

administrative expenses due to the receipt of insurance proceeds for 2005 hurricane claims of $4.9 million and

higher store utilities of $3.4 million These items were partially offset by $17.1 million decrease in distribution

and outbound transportation costs and $15.8 million decrease in store payroll costs The increase in medical

plan expenses is principally due to higher paid claims The increase in share-based compensation is principally

due to our adoption of SFAS No 123R under the modified prospective method of accounting in the first fiscal

quarter of 2006 and our acceleration of vesting of stock options in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2005 Higher store

utilities costs were driven by colder weather this winter and higher average commodity rates throughout the

majority of 2008 The decline in distribution and outbound transportation costs is result of lower inventory

levels fewer cartons processed through our distribution centers as discussed above more one-way trips to

the stores resulting in higher shipping cost per
mile but fewer miles traveled and beginning in July 2008 the

integration of our Ohio furniture distribution operation into four of our regional distribution centers Partially

offsetting these favorable distribution and outbound transportation costs was the impact of higher diesel fuel

prices Store payroll is lower due to fewer stores and employees and fewer cartons of merchandise resulting

from the $11.0 million decline in net sales and the merchandise strategy that involves offering merchandise with

slightly higher average item retails

Selling and administrative expenses as percentage of net sales were 32.8% in 2008 compared to 32.5% in

2007 Excluding the impact of the $5.2 million partial recovery of the HCC Note and the receipt of hurricane

insurance proceeds of $4.9 million both of which reduced 2007 selling and administrative expenses selling

and administrative expenses as percentage of net sales would have been approximately flat in 2008 compared

to 2007

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense decreased $9.9 million or 11.2 to $78.6 million in 2008 compared to $88.5 million for

2007 The decrease was principally related to the five-year service life store remodel program assets that were

placed in service in 2002 and 2003 and lower level of capital expenditures in 2006 and 2007 The lower capital

expenditures in 2006 and 2007 are principally related to opening seven stores in 2007 and 11 stores in 2006

compared to opening 73 103 and 86 stores in 2005 2004 and 2003 respectively In addition in 2006 and 2007
we took conservative approach to capital investments aimed primarily at the development and installation of

new point-of-sale register system which was installed in approximately 700 stores in 2007 and in all of our

remaining stores in 2008 As result of the installation of the new point-of-sale register system we reduced

the estimated remaining service life on our old register system effective the fourth fiscal quarter of 2006 The

impact of this service life reduction was to recognize $4.1 million in 2007 and $0.5 million in 2008 as additional

depreciation expense associated with the old cash registers
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $2.8 million to $5.3 million in 2008 compared to $2.5 million in 2007 The increase

in interest expense was principally due to higher average borrowings of $151.8 million in 2008 compared to

average borrowings of $37.9 million in 2007 The higher average borrowings caused interest expense to be

higher by approximately $4 million The higher average borrowings were driven principally by the acquisition

of our common shares under our publicly announced share repurchase programs Our average effective interest

rate of 3.5% in 2008 was lower than our average effective interest rate of 6.6% in 2007 The decrease in the

average
effective interest rate which resulted from generally lower rates in the overall short-term interest rate

markets decreased our interest expense by approximately $1.0 million in 2008

Interest and Investment Income

Interest and investment income decreased $5.1 million in 2008 to $0.1 million compared to $5.2 million in 2007

The decline in interest and investment income was caused by the reduction in funds available to invest in 2008

compared to 2007 Our average invested amount in 2008 was $3.6 million compared to $130.4 million in 2007

The decline in funds available for investment was caused by the $750 million of share repurchases under our

2007 Share Repurchase Programs during the period March 2007 through February 2008 In 2007 we invested

primarily in money market type investments that were considered cash equivalents and other short term high

grade bond mutual funds We did not hold any investment balances at the end of 2008

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate on income from continuing operations was 38.0% for 2008 compared to 36.8% for

2007 The net increase in 2008 was driven by decrease in nontaxable municipal interest income the increase

in the valuation allowance on unrealized capital losses versus net decrease in the valuation allowance in

2007 and change in the jurisdictional earnings mix partially offset by the settlement of certain income

tax matters

Discontinued Operations

Loss from discontinued operations was $3.3 million net of tax in 2008 compared to income from discontinued

operations of $7.3 million net of tax in 2007 The 2008 loss from discontinued operations of $3.3 million net

of tax was comprised of $3.0 million net of tax for the KB-IT Bankruptcy Lease Obligation as defined in note

11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements and $0.3 million net of tax for exit-related costs on

the remaining 2005 closed stores which met the criteria for classification as discontinued operations KB Toys

declared bankruptcy again in December 2008 As result of this bankruptcy filing KB Toys rejected 31 store

leases for which we believe we have an indemnification obligation Based on the lease data for these 31 stores

and using our prior experience with these matters we estimated KB-IT Bankruptcy Lease Obligation of

$3.0 million net of tax The income from discontinued operations in 2007 was principally comprised of the

release of our KB-I Bankruptcy Lease Obligations of $6.6 million net of tax the recognition of $1.1 million

of proceeds net of tax from the bankruptcy trust as recovery
for prior charges incurred by us for KB-I

Bankruptcy Lease Obligations and the Pittsfield Massachusetts distribution center formerly owned by KB

Toys mortgage guarantee and exit-related costs on the 130 closed stores of $0.6 million net of tax related to

expenses on the portion of the 130 stores where the leases have not been terminated

Capital Resources and Liquidity

On April 28 2009 we entered into the 2009 Credit Agreement new $500 million three-year unsecured credit

facility that replaced the 2004 Credit Agreement The 2009 Credit Agreement is scheduled to expire on April

28 2012 In connection with our entry into the 2009 Credit Agreement we paid an aggregate amount of $5.6

million of bank fees and expenses which are being amortized over the term of the agreement Proceeds from

borrowings under the 2009 Credit Agreement are available for general corporate purposes working capital

and to repay certain of our indebtedness The 2009 Credit Agreement includes $150 million letter of credit

sublimit and $30 million swing loan sublimit The interest rates pricing and fees under the 2009 Credit

Agreement fluctuate based on our debt rating The 2009 Credit Agreement allows us to select our interest rate
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for each borrowing from two different interest rate options The interest rate options are generally derived

from the prime rate or LIBOR We may prepay revolving loans made under the 2009 Credit Agreement The

2009 Credit Agreement contains financial and other covenants including but not limited to limitations on

indebtedness liens and investments as well as the maintenance of two financial ratios leverage ratio and

fixed charge coverage ratio violation of any of the covenants could result in default under the 2009 Credit

Agreement that would permit the lenders to restrict our ability to further access the 2009 Credit Agreement for

loans and letters of credit and require the immediate repayment of any outstanding loans under the 2009 Credit

Agreement As of January 30 2010 we were in compliance with the covenants of the 2009 Credit Agreement

The primary sources of our liquidity are cash flows from operations and as necessary borrowings under the

2009 Credit Agreement Our net income and cash provided by operations are impacted by net sales volume

seasonal sales patterns and operating profit margins Our net sales are typically highest during the Christmas

selling season during our fourth fiscal quarter Generally our working capital requirements peak late in our

third fiscal quarter or early in our fourth fiscal quarter We have typically funded those requirements with

borrowings under our credit facility At January 30 2010 we had no borrowings outstanding under the 2009

Credit Agreement and after taking into account the reduction in availability resulting from outstanding letters

of credit totaling $50.1 million the borrowings available under the 2009 Credit Agreement were $449.9 million

We anticipate total indebtedness under the facility will be less than $75.0 million through the end of June

2010 all of which will be comprised of letters of credit excluding any impact from the execution of the 2010

Repurchase Program In 2009 our total indebtedness outstanding borrowings and letters of credit peaked at

approximately $120.8 million in early February 2009 under our 2004 Credit Agreement Working capital was

$580.4 million at January 30 2010

Whenever our liquidity position requires us to borrow funds under the 2009 Credit Agreement we typically

repay and/or borrow on daily basis The daily activity is net result of our liquidity position which is

generally driven by the following components of our operations cash inflows such as cash or credit card

receipts collected from stores for merchandise sales and other miscellaneous deposits and cash outflows

such as check clearings for the acquisition of merchandise payroll and other operating expenses wire and

other electronic transactions for merchandise purchases income and other taxes employee benefits and other

miscellaneous disbursements

We use the 2009 Credit Agreement as necessary to provide funds for ongoing and seasonal working capital

capital expenditures share repurchase programs and other expenditures In addition we use the 2009 Credit

Agreement to provide letters of credit for various operating and regulatory requirements significant portion

of which consists of letters of credit required as result of our self-funded insurance programs Given the

seasonality of our business the amount of borrowings under the 2009 Credit Agreement may fluctuate

materially depending on various factors including our operating financial performance the time of year and

our need to increase merchandise inventory levels prior to the peak selling season

Cash provided by operating activities was $392.0 million $211.1 million and $307.9 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively The 2009 increase in cash provided by operating activities of $180.9 was principally due to

higher net income and improved accounts payable leverage accounts payable divided by inventories Accounts

payable leverage improved due to the lower amount of inventories and our efforts to continue to work with our

import and domestic vendors to further extend payment terms The 2008 decrease in cash provided by operating

activities of $96.8 million was primarily due to the decline in accounts payable leverage as accounts payable

decreased more than inventory decreased Accounts payable decreased because of shift in our merchandise

mix to purchases from vendors with shorter payment terms many of whom offered us cash discounts Our

cash paid for income taxes was $106.0 million $92.4 million and $65.8 million during 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively The increases in income taxes paid were direct result of higher operating profits and partly

impacted by the timing of required tax payments relative to the fiscal years in which these profits were earned

Our total contributions to the Pension Plan were $10.8 million $11.3 million and $0.9 million in 2009 2008
and 2007 respectively These contributions were made to increase the funded level of the Pension Plan Based

on assumptions about our 2010 operating performance that we have discussed above in MDA we expect

cash provided by operating activities to be approximately $315 million in 2010 However based on the current

general economic conditions consumers may elect to defer or forego purchases in response to tighter credit

and negative financial news Reduced consumer spending may reduce our net sales which could lower our

profitability and limit our ability to convert merchandise inventories to cash
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Cash used in investing activities was $77.9 million $88.2 million and $58.8 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively The 2009 decrease in cash used in investing activities of $10.3 and the 2008 increase in cash used

in investing activities of $29.4 million was principally due to fluctuations in capital expenditures year from

year The 2009 capital expenditures were driven by the investments in 52 new store openings and the continued

development of our SAP for Retail system The 2008 capital expenditures were driven by the investments in

21 new store openings our SAP for Retail system which included development costs and additional payments

for hardware and licensing fees the completion of the installation of new cash registers in all of our stores

and the acquisition of two store properties that were previously leased We expect capital expenditures to be

approximately $115 million in 2010 comprised principally of maintenance capital of approximately $35 million

to $40 million real estate capital of approximately $35 million to $40 million driven by our plan to open 80 new

stores and other investments of approximately $40 million which include among other things capital to refresh

120 stores investment in energy management systems for 700 stores and our continued software development

of the SAP for Retail system

Cash used in financing activities was $65.1 million $125.2 million and $493.7 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively In 2009 cash used in financing activities was principally due to the repayment of borrowings

outstanding under our bank credit facility of $60.7 million and the payment of bank fees of $5.6 million associated

with our entry into the 2009 Credit Agreement partially offset by the proceeds from the exercise of stock options of

$4.9 million In 2008 cash used in financing activities was principally due to net payments on our prior bank credit

facility of $102.0 million and $37.5 million of payments for treasury shares acquired under our November 2007

Repurchase Program partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $10.9 million

In December 2009 our Board of Directors authorized share repurchase program providing for the repurchase

of up to $150 million of our common shares No shares were repurchased under this program in 2009

On March 2010 our Board of Directors authorized $250.0 million increase to our $150.0 million program

bringing the total authorization of the 2010 Repurchase Program to $400.0 million On March 10 2010 we utilized

$150.0 million of the authorization to execute an accelerated share repurchase transaction which reduced our

common shares outstanding by 3.6 million The total number of shares repurchased under the ASR will be based

upon the volume weighted average price of our stock over predetermined period and will not be known until that

period ends and final settlement occurs The final settlement could increase or decrease the 3.6 million shares

initially reduced from our outstanding common shares The terms of the ASR restrict us from declaring dividend

prior to its completion which is currently scheduled to be no later than January 26 2011 The remaining $250 million

will be utilized to repurchase shares in the open market and/or in privately negotiated transactions at our discretion

subject to market conditions and other factors Common shares acquired through the 2010 Repurchase Program

will be available to meet obligations under equity compensation plans and for general corporate purposes The

2010 Repurchase Program will continue until exhausted and will be funded with cash and cash equivalents cash

generated during fiscal 2010 or if needed by drawing on our $500.0 million unsecured credit facility

Based on historical and expected financial results we believe that we have or if necessary have the ability

to obtain adequate resources to fund ongoing and seasonal working capital requirements proposed capital

expenditures new projects and currently maturing obligations
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes payments due under our contractual obligations at January 30 2010

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Total year to years to years years

In thousands

Obligations under bank credit facility

Operating lease obligations
34 917454 263782 386664 206795 60213

Capital lease obligations 3707 2352 1220 135

Purchase obligations
45

839587 676012 113544 49354 677

Other long-term liabilities 46652 16317 7347 2371 20617
Total

contractual_obligations $1807400 $958463 $508775 $258655 $81507

The disclosure of contractual obligations in this table is based on assumptions and estimates that we
believe to be reasonable as of the date of this report Those assumptions and estimates may prove to be

inaccurate consequently the amounts provided in the table may differ materially from those amounts

that we ultimately incur Variables that may cause the stated amounts to vary from the actually incurred

include but are not limited to the termination of contractual obligation prior to its stated or anticipated

expiration fees or damages incurred as result of the premature termination or breach of contractual

obligation the acquisition of more or less services or goods under contractual obligation than are

anticipated by us as of the date of this report fluctuations in third party fees governmental charges or

market rates that we are obligated to pay under contracts we have with certain vendors and the exercise of

renewal options under or the automatic renewal of contracts that provide for the same

Obligations under bank credit facility consist of the borrowings outstanding under the 2009 Credit

Agreement In addition we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $50.1 million at January 30 2010

Approximately $46.8 million of the outstanding letters of credit represent stand-by letters of credit

and we do not expect to meet conditions requiring significant cash payments on these letters of credit

accordingly they have been excluded from this table The remaining outstanding letters of credit represent

commercial letters of credit whereby the related obligation is included in Purchase Obligations For

further discussion see note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

Operating lease obligations include among other items leases for retail stores warehouse space data

center offices and certain computer and other business equipment The future minimum commitments

for retail store data center office and warehouse space operating leases are $687.6 million For further

discussion of leases see note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements Many of the store

lease obligations require us to pay for our applicable portion of CAM real estate taxes and property
insurance In connection with our store lease obligations we estimated that future obligations for CAM
real estate taxes and

property insurance were $221.9 million at January 30 2010 We have made certain

assumptions and estimates in order to account for our contractual obligations relative to CAM real estate

taxes and property insurance Those assumptions and estimates include but are not limited to use of

historical data to estimate our future obligations calculation of our obligations based on comparable store

averages where no historical data is available for particular leasehold and assumptions related to average

expected increases over historical data The remaining lease obligation of $8.0 million relates primarily to

operating leases for computer and other business equipment

For purposes of the lease and purchase obligation disclosures we have assumed that we will make all

payments scheduled or reasonably estimated to be made under those obligations that have determinable

expiration date and we disregarded the possibility that such obligations may be prematurely terminated

or extended whether automatically by the terms of the obligation or by agreement between us and the

counterparty due to the speculative nature of premature termination or extension Where an operating

lease or purchase obligation is subject to month-to-month term or another automatically renewing

term we disclosed in the table our minimum commitment under such obligation such as one month in

the case of month-to-month obligation and the then-current term in the case of another automatically

renewing term due to the uncertainty of future decisions to exercise options to extend or terminate any
existing leases
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Purchase obligations include outstanding purchase orders for merchandise issued in the ordinary course

of our business that are valued at $478.5 million the entirety of which represents obligations due

within one year of January 31 2010 In addition we have purchase commitment for future inventory

purchases totaling $138.5 million at January 31 2010 While we are not required to meet any periodic

minimum purchase requirements under this commitment we have included for
purposes

of this tabular

disclosure we have included the value of the purchases that we anticipate making during each of the

reported periods as purchases that will count toward our fulfillment of the aggregate obligation The

remaining $222.6 million of purchase obligations is primarily related to distribution and transportation

information technology print advertising energy procurement and other store security supply and

maintenance commitments

Other long-term liabilities include $15.4 million for expected contributions to the Pension Plan and our

nonqualified unfunded supplemental defined benefit pension plan Supplemental Pension Plan
$17.1 million for obligations related to our nonqualified deferred compensation plan $13.4 million for

unrecognized tax benefits and $0.8 million for closed store lease termination costs Pension contributions

are equal to expected benefit payments for the nonqualified plan plus expected contributions to the

qualified plan using actuarial estimates and assuming that we only make the minimum required

contributions see note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional

information about our employee benefit plans We have estimated the payments due by period for the

nonqualified deferred compensation plan based on an average
of historical distributions We have included

unrecognized tax benefits of $2.6 million for payments expected in 2010 and $10.8 million of timing-

related income tax uncertainties anticipated to reverse in 2010 Unrecognized tax benefits in the amount

of $20.9 million have been excluded from the table because we are unable to make reasonably reliable

estimate of the timing of future payments Our closed store lease termination cost payments are based on

contractual terms

The obligations disclosed in this table are exclusive of the contingent liabilities guarantees and

indemnities related to the KB Toys business For further discussion see note 11 to the accompanying

consolidated financial statements

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

For discussion of the KB Bankruptcy Lease Obligations see note 11 to the accompanying consolidated

financial statements Because the KB Toys business filed for bankruptcy again in December 2008 and

liquidated all of its store operations we accrued contingent liability on our balance sheet at January 30 2010

in the amount of $4.8 million for 31 KB Toys store leases for which we may have an indemnification or

guarantee obligation and former KB Toys corporate office lease for which we took an assignment in 2009

Because of uncertainty inherent in the assumptions used to estimate this liability our estimated liability could

ultimately prove to be understated and could result in material adverse impact on our financial condition

results of operations and liquidity

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States of America GAAP requires management to make estimates judgments and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period as well as the related disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements The use of estimates judgments and assumptions

creates level of uncertainty with respect to reported or disclosed amounts in our consolidated financial

statements or accompanying notes On an on-going basis management evaluates its estimates judgments and

assumptions including those that management considers critical to the accurate presentation and disclosure of

our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Management bases its estimates judgments

and assumptions on historical experience current trends and various other factors that management believes

are reasonable under the circumstances.Because of the inherent uncertainty in using estimates judgments and

assumptions actual results may differ from these estimates
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Our significant accounting policies including the recently adopted accounting standards and recent accounting

standards future adoptions are described in note to the accompanying consolidated financial statements

We believe the following assumptions and estimates are the most critical to understanding and evaluating our

reported financial results Management has reviewed these critical accounting estimates and related disclosures

with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory

method Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value which generally is the merchandise

selling price at or near the end of the reporting period The average cost retail inventory method requires

management to make judgments and contains estimates such as the amount and timing of markdowns to clear

slow-moving inventory the estimated allowance for shrinkage and the estimated amount of excess or obsolete

inventory which may impact the ending inventory valuation and prior or future gross margin These estimates

are based on historical experience and current information

When management determines the salability of merchandise inventories is diminished markdowns for

clearance activity and the related cost impact are recorded at the time the price change decision is made Factors

considered in the determination of markdowns include current and anticipated demand customer preferences

the age of merchandise and seasonal trends Timing of holidays within fiscal periods weather and customer

preferences could cause material changes in the amount and timing of markdowns from year to year

The inventory allowance for shrinkage is recorded as reduction to inventories charged to cost of sales and

calculated as percentage of sales for the period from the last physical inventory date to the end of the reporting

period Such estimates are based on our historical and current year inventory results Independent physical

inventory counts are taken at each store once year During 2010 the majority of these counts occur between

January and September As physical inventories are completed actual results are recorded and new go-forward

shrink accrual rates are established based on individual store historical results Thus the shrink accrual rate

will be adjusted throughout the January through September inventory cycle based on actual results At January

30 2010 10% difference in our shrink reserve would have affected gross margin operating profit and

income from continuing operations before income taxes by approximately $4 million While it is not possible

to quantify the impact from each cause of shrinkage we have loss prevention programs and policies aimed at

minimizing shrinkage

Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of property and equipment We perform annual impairment reviews of

our long-lived assets at the store level When we perform the annual impairment reviews we first determine

which stores had impairment indicators present We use actual historical cash flows to determine which stores

had negative cash flows in each of the past two years on rolling basis For each store with two years
of

negative cash flows we obtain future cash flow estimates based on operating performance estimates specific

to each stores operations that are based on assumptions currently being used to develop our company level

operating plans If the net book value of stores long-lived assets is not recoverable by the expected future

cash flows of the store we estimate the fair value of the stores assets and recognize an impairment charge for

the excess net book value of the stores long-lived assets over their fair value The fair value of store assets is

estimated based on information available in the marketplace for similar assets

We recognized impairment charges of $0.4 million $0.1 million and $0.8 million in 20092008 and 2007

respectively We believe that our impairment charges are trending lower because we closed number of

underperforming stores at the end of 2005 and continued to close primarily through non-renewal of leases

underperforming stores in 2007 2008 and 2009 We only identified four stores with impairment indicators as

result of our annual store impairment tests in 2009 and we recognized impairment charges on those stores

Therefore we do not believe that varying the assumptions used to test for recoverability to estimate fair

value of our long-lived assets would have material impact on the impairment charges we incurred in 2009

However if our future operating results decline significantly we may be exposed to impairment losses that

could be material for additional discussion of this risk see Item lA Risk Factors significant decline in

our operating profit and taxable income may impair our ability to realize the value of our long lived assets and

deferred tax assets.
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In addition to our annual store impairment reviews we evaluate our long-lived assets at each reporting period

to determine whether impairment indicators are present In 2008 we recorded impairment to the assets of one

store as result of casualty loss due to hurricane damage The amount of this impairment is included in the

$0.1 million 2008 impairment charge discussed above

Share-Based Compensation

We grant stock options and performance-based non-vested restricted stock to our employees under shareholder

approved incentive plans Share-based compensation expense was $20.3 million $15.5 million and $9.9

million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The increase in share-based compensation is primarily due to

our acceleration of vesting of restricted stock grants based on our profit performance in 2009 2008 and 2007

Future share-based compensation expense for performance-based non-vested restricted stock is dependent

upon the future number of awards fair value of our common shares on the grant date and the estimated vesting

period Future share-based compensation expense for stock options is dependent upon the number and terms of

future stock option awards and many estimates judgments and assumptions used in arriving at the fair value

of stock options Future share-based compensation expense related to performance-based non-vested restricted

stock and stock options may vary materially from the currently amortizing awards

We estimate the fair value of our stock options using binomial model The binomial model takes into account

estimates assumptions and judgments about our stock price volatility our dividend yield rate the risk-free rate

of return the contractual term of the option the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of

its contractual life and the probability of retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option

Expected volatility is based on historical and current implied volatilities from traded options on our common

shares The dividend yield rate on our common shares is assumed to be zero since we have not paid dividends

and have no immediate plans to do so The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury security yields at the time of

the grant The expected life is determined from the application of the binomial model and includes assumptions

such as the expected employee exercise behavior and our expected turnover rate which is based on analysis of

historical data

Compensation expense for performance-based non-vested restricted stock awards is recorded over the estimated

vesting period based on the estimated achievement date of the performance criteria An estimated target

achievement date is determined at the time of the award based on historical and forecasted performance of

similarmeasures We monitor the achievement of the performance targets at each reporting period and make

adjustments to the estimated vesting period when our internal models indicate that the estimated achievement

date differs from the date being used to amortize expense Any change in the estimated vesting date results in

prospective change to the related expense by charging the remaining unamortized expense over the remaining

expected vesting period at the date the estimate was changed

Income Taxes

The determination of our income tax expense refunds receivable income taxes payable deferred tax assets and

liabilities and financial statement recognition de-recognition and/or measurement of uncertain tax benefits for

positions taken or to be taken on income tax returns requires significant judgment the use of estimates and the

interpretation and application of complex accounting and multi-jurisdictional income tax laws

The effective income tax rate in any period may be materially impacted by the overall level of income loss

before income taxes the jurisdictional mix and magnitude of income loss changes in the income tax laws

which may be retroactive to the beginning of the fiscal year subsequent recognition de-recognition and/or

measurement of an uncertain tax benefit changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and adjustments of

deferred tax asset or liability for enacted changes in tax laws or rates Although we believe that our estimates

are reasonable actual results could differ from these estimates resulting in final tax outcome that may be

materially different from that which is reflected in our consolidated financial statements

We evaluate our ability to recover our deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise

We consider all available positive and negative evidence including recent financial results projected future

pretax accounting income from continuing operations and tax planning strategies when necessary This

evaluation requires us to make assumptions that require significant judgment about the forecasts of future
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pretax accounting income The assumptions that we use in this evaluation are consistent with the assumptions

and estimates used to develop our consolidated operating financial plans If we determine that portion of

our deferred tax assets which principally represent expected future deductions or benefits are not likely to be

realized we recognize valuation allowance for our estimate of these benefits which we believe are not likely

recoverable Additionally changes in tax laws apportionment of income for state tax purposes and rates could

also affect recorded deferred tax assets

We evaluate the uncertainty of income tax positions taken or to be taken on income tax returns When tax

position meets the more-likely-than-not threshold we recognize economic benefits associated with the position

on our consolidated financial statements The more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is positive assertion

that an enterprise believes it is entitled to economic benefits associated with tax position When tax position

does not meet the more-likely-than-not threshold or in the case of those positions that do meet the threshold

but are measured at less than the full benefit taken on the return we recognize tax liabilities or de-recognize

tax assets as the case may be number of years may elapse before particular matter for which we have

derecognized tax benefit is audited and fully resolved or clarified We adjust unrecognized tax benefits and

income tax provision in the period in which an uncertain tax position is effectively or ultimately settled the

statute of limitations expires for the relevant taxing authority to examine the tax position or as result of the

evaluation of new information that becomes available

Pension

Actuarial valuations are used to calculate the estimated
expenses and obligations for our Pension Plan and

Supplemental Pension Plan Inherent in the actuarial valuations are several assumptions including discount

rate and expected return on plan assets We review external data and historical trends to help determine the

discount rate and expected long-term rate of return Our objective in selecting discount rate is to identify the

best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled on the measurement date In making
this estimate we review rates of return on high-quality fixed-income investments available at the measurement

date and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the benefits This
process includes review

of the bonds available on the measurement date with quality rating of Aa or better The expected long-term

rate of return on assets is derived from detailed periodic studies which include review of asset allocation

strategies anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes risks standard deviations

and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise the plans asset mix While the studies give

appropriate consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns the assumption is primarily

long-term prospective rate of return The weighted average discount rate used to determine the net periodic

pension cost for 2009 was 7.3% 1.0% decrease in the discount rate would increase net periodic pension cost

by $0.2 million The long-term rate of return on assets used to determine net periodic pension cost in 2009 was

8.0% 1.0% decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets would increase the net periodic

pension cost by $0.6 million

During 2009 we reclassified $1.7 million net of tax from other comprehensive income to expense in our

consolidated statement of operations We recognized benefit of $0.4 million net of tax to other comprehensive

income in 2009 principally as result of the increase in value of investments held by the pension trust As of

January 30 2010 the accumulated other comprehensive income amount which was principally unrealized

actuarial loss was $13.1 million loss net of tax During 2010 and in future periods we expect to reclassify

approximately $2.0 million from other comprehensive income to expense assuming we achieve our estimated

rate of return on pension plan investments in future periods Additionally in the event that we have future

settlement events as occurred in 2009 and 2007 we would expect that the expense related to future settlements

would be greater than the $0.2 million and $1.3 million charges in 2009 and 2007 respectively

Insurance and Insurance-Related Reserves

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to property general liability workers compensation and

employee medical and dental benefit claims portion of which is funded by employees We purchase stop
loss coverage from third party insurance carriers to limit individual or aggregate loss exposure in these areas

Accrued insurance liabilities and related expenses are based on actual claims reported and estimates of claims

incurred but not reported The estimated loss accruals for claims incurred but not paid are determined by
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applying actuarially-based calculations taking into account historical claims payment results and known trends

such as claims frequency and claims severity Management makes estimates judgments and assumptions with

respect to the use of these actuarially-based calculations including but not limited to estimated health care cost

trends estimated lag time to report and pay claims average cost per claim network utilization rates network

discount rates and other factors 10% change in our self-insured liabilities at January 30 2010 would have

affected selling and administrative expenses operating profit and income from continuing operations before

income taxes by approximately $8 million

General liability and workers compensation liabilities are recorded at our estimate of their net present value

using 4.0% discount rate while other liabilities for insurance reserves are not discounted 1.0% change in

the discount rate on these liabilities would have affected selling and administrative expenses operating profit

and income from continuing operations before income taxes by approximately $1.5 million

Lease Accounting

In order to recognize rent expense on our leases we evaluate many factors to identify the lease term such as

the contractual term of the lease our assumed possession date of the property renewal option periods and the

estimated value of leasehold improvement investments that we are required to make Based on this evaluation

our lease term is typically the minimum contractually obligated period over which we have control of the

property This term is used because although many of our leases have renewal options we typically do not incur

an economic or contractual penalty in the event of non-renewal Therefore we typically use the initial minimum

lease term for purposes of calculating straight-line rent amortizing deferred rent and recognizing depreciation

expense on our leasehold improvements

Commitments

For discussion of commitments refer to note note note 10 and note 11 to the accompanying consolidated

financial statements

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to market risk from exposure to changes in interest rates on investments and on borrowings under

the 2009 Credit Agreement that we make from time to time We had no borrowings at January 30 2010 under the

2009 Credit Agreement An increase of 1.0% in our variable interest rate on our investments and expected future

borrowings would not have material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity
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ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Big Lots Inc

Columbus Ohio

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Big Lots Inc and subsidiaries the Company
as of January 30 2010 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in Item 9A Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the

Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances

We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of
the companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions

and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in

reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditure
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of

collusion or improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may
not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the

internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures

may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of January 30 2010 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegratedFrainework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year

ended January 30 2010 of the Company and our report dated March 30 2010 expressed an unqualified

opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Dayton Ohio

March 30 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Big Lots Inc

Columbus Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Big Lots Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations

shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended January 30 2010 Our

audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These consolidated financial

statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and the financial statement

schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial

position of Big Lots Inc and subsidiaries at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended January 30 2010 in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such

financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as

whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of January 30 2010 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 30 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the

Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Dayton Ohio

March 30 2010
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

In thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Net sales $4726772 $4645283 $4656302
Cost of sales exclusive of depreciation expense

shown separately below 2807466 2787854 2815959
Gross margin 1919306 1857429 1840343
Selling and administrative expenses 1532356 1523882 1515379
Depreciation expense 74904 78624 88484
Gain on sale of real estate 12964
Operating profit 325010 254923 236480
Interest expense 1840 5282 2513
Interest and investment income 175 65 5236
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 323345 249706 239203

Income tax expense 121975 94908 88023

Income from continuing operations 201370 154798 151180
Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax expense

benefit of $656 $2116 and $4726 in fiscal

years 20092008 and 2007 respectively 1001 3251 7281

Net income 200369 151547 158461

Earnings per common share basic

Continuing operations 2.47 1.91 1.49

Discontinued operations 0.01 0.04 0.07

2.45 1.87 1.56

Earnings per common share diluted

Continuing operations 2.44 1.89 1.47

Discontinued operations 0.01 0.04 0.07

2.42 1.85 1.55

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands except par value

January 30 January 31

2010 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 283733 34773

Inventories 731337 736616

Deferred income taxes 51012 45275

Other current assets 56884 54207

Total current assets 1122966 870871

Property and equipment net 491256 490041

Deferred income taxes 28136 53763

Other assets 27135 17783

Total assets $1669493 $1432458

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current maturities under bank credit facility 61700

Accounts payable
309862 235973

Property payroll and other taxes 69388 66525

Accrued operating expenses
52519 45693

Insurance reserves 39570 38303

KB bankruptcy lease obligation 4786 5043

Accrued salaries and wages 47402 40460

Income taxes payable
18993 21398

Total current liabilities 542520 515095

Deferred rent 31490 29192

Insurance reserves 44695 45197

Unrecognized tax benefits 28577 28852

Other liabilities 20799 39277

Shareholders equity

Preferred shares authorized 2000 shares $0.01 par value none issued

Common shares authorized 298000 shares $0.01 par value

issued 117495 shares outstanding 81922 shares

and 81315 shares respectively 1175 1175

Treasury shares 35573 shares and 36180 shares respectively at cost 791042 804561

Additional paid-in capital 515061 504552

Retained earnings 1289353 1088984

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 13135 15305

Total shareholders equity 1001412 774845

Total liabilities and shareholders equity $1669493 $1432458

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Eqnity

In thousands

Balance February 2007

Net inenme

Other comprehensive income

Amortization of pension

net of tax of 5855

Valuation adjustment of pension

net of tax of $1245

Comprehensive income

Adoption of guidance under FASB ASC 740..

Purchases of common shares

Exercise of stock options

Restricted shares awarded

Net tax benefit from share-based awards

Sale of treasury shares used for

deferred compensation plan

Share-based employee

compensation expense

Balance February 2008 82682

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Amortization of pension

net oftax of$316

Valuation adjustment of pension

net oftax of $6102

Comprehensive income

Adoption of guidance under FASB ASC 715

net of tax of $88 and 526 respectively

Purchases of common shares

Exercise of stock options

Restricted shares awarded

Net tax benefit from share-based awards

Sale of treasury shares used for

deferred compensation plan

Share-based employee

compensation expense

Balance January 31 2009

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Amortization of pension

net of tax of 51105
Valuation adjustment of pension

net of tax of 5273

Comprehensive income

Purchases of common shares

Exercise of stock options

Restricted shares awarded

Net tax benefit from share-based awards

Sale of treasury shares used for

deferred compensation plan

Share-based employee

compensation expense

Balance January 30 2010

Additional

Treasury Paid-In Retained

Shares Amount Capital Earnings

7862 124182 477318 781325

158461

2170 2170 37508
788 788 17530 6670

40 40

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income Loss

5933

1814
157893

2215
714911

35923

19821

2365

9907

6501 638486

151547

134 40 94
37508

10860

352

________ 15456

15305 774845

200369

430 430

202539

1849
4931

559

112

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Common

Shares Amount

109633 1175

Total

1129703

158461

30059
2742

286

1246 1246

30059

2742
286

714911

46946

6662

11023
6662
19821

2215

1814

80 80 767 1598

9907

t175 34813 784718 490959 937571

151547

487 487

9331 9331
t42703

4590

13 13 95 257

15456

81315 1175 36180 804561 504552 1088984

200369

4590

87 87

362 362
328 328

1740 1740

1849
8045

7291

3114
7291

559

32 80

20275

81922 flj75 .j.23 5791042 $515061

20275

$1289353 513135 $1001412
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

Operating activities

Net income 200369 151547 $158461

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization expense 71501 73787 83103

Deferredincometaxes 18014 13518 457

KB Toys matters 409 3119 6108

Non-cash share-based compensation expense 20275 15456 9907

Non-cash impairment charges
358 137 757

Loss on disposition of property and equipment 1072 1626 2919

Gain on sale of real estate 12964
Pension 5193 8734 2901

Change in assets and liabilities

Inventories 5279 11326 10243

Accounts payable 73889 24299 66276

Current income taxes 4359 12362 6010

Othercurrentassets 2177 1258 1653

Other current liabilities 18064 9590 25414

Other assets 5285 1595 2491

Other liabilities 12774 4805 2564

Net cash provided by operating activities 392026 211063 307932

Investing activities

Capital expenditures 78708 88735 60360

Proceeds from HCC Note 235

Purchases of short-term investments 436040

Redemptions of short-term investments 436040

Cash proceeds from sale of property and equipment
861 550 1394

Other 90 33
Net cash used in investing activities 77937 88192 58764

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings under bank credit facility 280000 2918600 821100

Payment of borrowings under bank credit facility 341700 3020600 657400

Payment of capital lease obligations 2612 1523 592

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 4931 10860 35923

Excess tax benefit from share-based awards 1568 4590 19821

Payment for treasury shares acquired 1849 37508 714911

Deferred bank credit facility fees paid 5579

Treasury shares sold for deferred compensation plan 112 352 2365

Net cash used in financing activities 6512 125229 493694

Increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 248960 2358 244526

Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of year
34773 37131 281657

End of year
283733 34.773 37131

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest including capital leases 277 5568 1732

Cash paid for income taxes excluding impact of refunds $105961 92433 65767

Non-cash activity

Assets acquired under capital leases 5525 3089

Accrued property and equipment 3901 3588 7930

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note Summary of Signcant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

We are the nations largest broadline closeout retailer At January 30 2010 we operated total of 1361 stores

in 47 states Our goal is to strengthen and build upon our leadership position in broadline closeout retailing by

providing our customers with great savings on brand-name closeouts and other value-priced merchandise You

can locate us on the Internet at www.biglots.com The contents of our websites are not part of this report

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include Big Lots Inc and all of its subsidiaries have been prepared in

accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles GAAP in the United States of America and

include all of our accounts We consolidate all majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries All significant

intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Fiscal Year

We follow the concept of 52-53 week fiscal year which ends on the Saturday nearest to January 31 Unless

otherwise stated references to years in this report relate to fiscal years rather than calendar years 2009 was

comprised of the 52 weeks that began on February 2009 and ended on January 30 2010 2008 was comprised

of the 52 weeks that began on February 2008 and ended on January 31 2009 2007 was comprised of the

52 weeks that began on February 2007 and ended on February 2008

Segment Reporting

We manage our business based on one segment broadline closeout retailing At the end of 2009 2008 and

2007 all of our operations were located within the United States of America

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates

judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period as well as the

related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements The use of estimates

judgments and assumptions creates level of uncertainty with respect to reported or disclosed amounts in

our consolidated financial statements or accompanying notes On an ongoing basis management evaluates

its estimates judgments and assumptions including those that management considers critical to the accurate

presentation and disclosure of our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Management

bases its estimates judgments and assumptions on historical experience current trends and various other

factors that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances Because of the inherent uncertainty in using

estimates judgments and assumptions actual results may differ from these estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of amounts on deposit with financial institutions outstanding

checks credit and debit card receivables and highly liquid investments including money market funds and

variable rate demand notes which are unrestricted to withdrawal or use and which have an original maturity of

three months or less We review cash and cash equivalent balances on bank by bank basis in order to identify

book overdrafts Book overdrafts occur when the amount of outstanding checks exceed the cash deposited at

given bank We reclassify book overdrafts if any to accounts payable on our consolidated balance sheets

Amounts due from banks for credit and debit card transactions are typically settled in less than seven days

Amounts due from banks for these transactions totaled $24.0 million and $21.5 million at January 30 2010 and

January 31 2009 respectively
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Investments

Investment securities are classified as available-for-sale held-to-maturity or trading at the date of purchase

Investments are recorded at fair value as either current assets or non-current assets based on the stated maturity

or our plans to either hold or sell the investment Unrealized holding gains and losses on trading securities are

recognized in earnings Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are recognized in

other comprehensive income until realized We did not own any held-to-maturity or available-for-sale securities

as of January 30 2010 or January 31 2009

Merchandise Inventories

Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market using the average cost retail inventory

method Cost includes any applicable inbound shipping and handling costs associated with the receipt

of merchandise into our distribution centers See the discussion below under the caption Selling and

Administrative Expenses for additional information regarding outbound shipping and handling costs to our

stores Market is determined based on the estimated net realizable value which generally is the merchandise

selling price Under the
average cost retail inventory method inventory is segregated into departments of

merchandise having similar characteristics at its current retail selling value Current retail selling values are

converted to cost basis by applying an average cost factor to each specific merchandise departments retail

selling value Cost factors represent the
average

cost-to-retail ratio computed using beginning inventory and all

fiscal year-to-date purchase activity specific to each merchandise department

Under the average cost retail inventory method permanent sales price markdowns result in cost reductions in

inventory Our permanent sales price markdowns are typically related to end of season clearance events and are

recorded as charge to cost of sales in the period of managements decision to initiate sales price reductions

with the intent not to return the price to regular retail Promotional markdowns are recorded as charge to net

sales in the period the merchandise is sold Promotional markdowns are typically related to specific marketing

efforts with respect to products maintained continuously in our stores or products that are only available in

limited quantities but represent substantial value to our customers Promotional markdowns are principally used

to drive higher sales volume during defined promotional period

We record reduction to inventories and charge to cost of sales for shrinkage inventory allowance The

shrinkage allowance is calculated as percentage of sales for the period from the last physical inventory date to

the end of the reporting period Such estimates are based on our historical and current year experience based on

physical inventory results

We record reduction to inventories and charge to cost of sales for an excess or obsolete inventory allowance

The excess or obsolete inventory allowance is estimated based on review of our aged inventory and takes into

account any items that have already received cost reduction as result of the permanent markdown
process

discussed above We estimate an allowance for excess or obsolete inventory based on historical sales trends age

and quantity of product on hand and anticipated future sales

Payments Received from Vendors

Payments received from vendors relate primarily to rebates and reimbursement for markdowns and are

recognized in our consolidated statements of operations as reduction to cost of inventory purchases in the

period that the rebate or reimbursement is earned or realized and consequently result in reduction in cost of

sales when the related inventory is sold
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Note Summary of Signijicant Accounting Policies Continued

Store Supplies

When opening new store portion of the initial shipment of supplies including primarily display materials

signage security-related items and miscellaneous store supplies is capitalized at the store opening date These

capitalized supplies represent more durable types of items for which we expect to receive future economic

benefit Subsequent replenishments of capitalized store supplies are expensed The consumable/non-durable

type items for which the future economic benefit is less measurable are expensed upon shipment to the store

Capitalized store supplies are adjusted periodically for changes in estimated quantities or costs and are included

in other current assets in our consolidated balance sheets

Property and Equipment Net

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment are recorded on straight-line basis using

estimated service lives The estimated service lives of our property and equipment by major asset category were

as follows

Land improvements 15
years

Buildings 40 years

Leasehold improvements years

Store fixtures and equipment years

Distribution and transportation fixtures and equipment 15 years

Office and computer equipment years

Computer software costs years

Company vehicles
years

Leasehold improvements are amortized on straight-line basis using the shorter of their estimated service lives

or the lease term Because the majority of our leasehold improvements are placed in service at the time we open

store and our typical initial lease term is five years we estimate the useful life of leasehold improvements

at five years This amortization period is consistent with the amortization period for any lease incentives that

we would typically receive when initially entering into new lease that are recognized as deferred rent and

amortized over the initial lease term

Depreciation estimates are revised prospectively to reflect the remaining depreciation or amortization of the

asset over the shortened estimated service life when decision is made to dispose of property and equipment

prior to the end of its previously estimated service life The cost of assets sold or retired and the related

accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in selling and

administrative expenses Major repairs that extend service lives are capitalized Maintenance and repairs are

charged to expense as incurred Capitalized interest was not significant in any period presented

Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of property and equipment net In order to determine if impairment

indicators are present on store property and equipment we annually review historical operating results at the

store level Generally all other property and equipment is reviewed for impairment at the enterprise level If the

net book value of stores long-lived assets is not recoverable by the expected future cash flows of the store we
estimate the fair value of the stores assets and recognize an impairment charge for the excess net book value of

the stores long-lived assets over their fair value Our assumptions related to estimates of future cash flows are

based on historical results of cash flows adjusted for management projections for future periods We estimate

the fair value of our long-lived assets using readily available market information for similarassets
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BIG LOTS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Closed Store Accounting

We recognize an obligation for the fair value of lease termination costs when we cease using the leased property

in our operations In measuring fair value of these lease termination obligations we consider the remaining

minimum lease payments estimated sublease rentals that could be reasonably obtained and other potentially

mitigating factors We discount the estimated obligation using the applicable credit adjusted interest rate

resulting in accretion expense in periods subsequent to the period of initial measurement We monitor the

estimated obligation for lease termination liabilities in subsequent periods and revise any estimated liabilities

if necessary Severance and benefits associated with terminating employees from employment are recognized

ratably from the communication date through the estimated future service period unless the estimated future

service period is less than 60 days in which case we recognize the impact at the communication date Generally

all other store closing costs are recognized when incurred

We classify the results of operations of closed stores to discontinued operations when the operations and cash

flows of the stores have been or will be eliminated from ongoing operations and we no longer have any

significant continuing involvement in the operations associated with the stores after closure We generally meet

the second criteria on all closed stores as upon closure operations cease and we have no continuing involvement

To determine if cash flows have been or will be eliminated from ongoing operations we evaluate number of

qualitative and quantitative factors including but not limited to proximity of closing store to any remaining

open stores and the estimated sales migration from the closed store to any stores remaining open The estimated

sales migration is based on historical estimates of our sales migration upon opening or closing store in similar

market For purposes of reporting closed stores as discontinued operations we report net sales gross margin

and related operating costs that are directly related to and specifically identifiable with respect to the stores

operations identified as discontinued operations Certain corporate-level charges such as general office cost

field operations national advertising fixed distribution costs and interest cost are not allocated to closed stores

discontinued operations because we believe that these costs are not specific to the stores operations

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based compensation expense is recognized in selling and administrative expense in our consolidated

statements of operations for all options that we expect to vest We estimate forfeitures based on historical

information We value and expense stock options with graded vesting as single award with an average

estimated life over the entire term of the award The expense for options with graded vesting is recorded

straight-line over the vesting period We estimate the fair value of stock options using binomial model The

binomial model takes into account variables such as volatility dividend yield rate risk-free rate contractual

term of the option the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of its contractual life and the

probability of retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option Expected volatility is based

on historical and current implied volatilities from traded options on our common shares The dividend yield on

our common shares is assumed to be zero since we have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so

in the future The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury security yields at the time of the grant The expected

life is determined from the binomial model which incorporates exercise and post-vesting forfeiture assumptions

based on analysis of historical data

Compensation expense for performance-based non-vested restricted stock awards is recorded based on fair

value of the award on the grant date and the estimated achievement date of the performance criteria An

estimated target achievement date is determined at the time of the award based on historical and forecasted

performance of similar measures We monitor the projected achievement of the performance targets at each

reporting period and make prospective adjustments to the estimated vesting period when our internal models

indicate that the estimated achievement date differs from the date being used to amortize expense
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method which requires the recognition of deferred tax

assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial

statements Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences

between the financial statement basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted law and tax rates

in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse The effect of change in tax rates on

deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date

We assess the adequacy and need for valuation allowance for deferred tax assets In making such

determination we consider all available positive and negative evidence including scheduled reversals of

deferred tax liabilities projected future taxable income tax planning strategies and recent financial operations

We have established valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the balance that is more likely

than not to be realized

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense line in

the accompanying consolidated statement of operations Accrued interest and penalties are included within the

related tax liability line in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet

The effective income tax rate in any period may be materially impacted by the overall level of income loss

before income taxes the jurisdictional mix and magnitude of income loss changes in the income tax laws

which may be retroactive to the beginning of the fiscal year subsequent recognition de-recognition and/or

measurement of an uncertain tax benefit changes in deferred tax valuation allowance and adjustments of

deferred tax asset or liability for enacted changes in tax laws or rates

In July 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued guidance under ASC 740 Income

Taxes FIN No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of SFAS No 109 which

was effective at the beginning of 2007 and clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax positions

This guidance requires us to recognize in our financial statements the impact of tax position if that position

is more likely than not of being sustained based on the technical merits of the position The recognition and

measurement guidelines were applied to all of our material income tax positions as of the beginning of 2007

resulting in an increase in our tax liabilities of $2.2 million with corresponding decrease to beginning retained

earnings for the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

In May 2007 the FASB issued guidance under ASC 740 Income Taxes FASB Staff Position FSP FIN

48-1 Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No 48 which was effective retroactively to February

2007 This guidance provides direction on how to determine whether tax position is effectively settled for the

purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax benefits The implementation of this standard did not have

material impact on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Pension

Effective in 2008 we adopted guidance under ASC 715 Compensation Retirement Benefits SFAS No 158

Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans This guidance requires us

to measure defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the date of our year-end consolidated balance sheet

Previously our Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan each had measurement date of December 31

Switching to the new measurement date required one-time adjustments of $0.1 million to retained earnings and

less than $0.1 million to accumulated other comprehensive income in 2008 per the transition guidance

Pension assumptions are evaluated each year Actuarial valuations are used to provide assistance in calculating the

estimated obligations related to our pension plans We review external data and historical trends to help determine

the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return Our objective in selecting discount rate is to identify

the best estimate of the rate at which the benefit obligations would be settled on the measurement date In making

this estimate we review rates of return on high-quality fixed-income investments available at the measurement
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date and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the benefits This process includes review of

the bonds available on the measurement date with quality rating of Aa or better The expected long-term rate of

return on assets is derived from detailed periodic studies which includes review of asset allocation strategies

anticipated future long-term performance of individual asset classes risks standard deviations and correlations

of returns among the asset classes that comprised the plans asset mix While the studies give appropriate

consideration to recent plan performance and historical returns the assumption for the expected long-term rate of

return is primarily based on our expectation of long-term prospective rate of return

Insurance and Insurance-Related Reserves

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to property general liability workers compensation and

employee medical and dental benefit claims portion of which is paid by employees We purchase stop-loss

coverage to limit significant exposure
in these areas Accrued insurance-related liabilities and related expenses

are based on actual claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported The estimated accruals are

determined by applying actuarially-based calculations General liability and workers compensation liabilities

are recorded at our estimate of their net present value using 4% discount rate while other liabilities for

insurance-related reserves are not discounted

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value The hierarchy

as defined below gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs

Level defined as observable inputs such as unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities

Level defined as observable inputs other than Level inputs These include quoted prices for similar

assets or liabilities in an active market quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that

are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for

substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities

Level defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists therefore requiring an

entity to develop its own assumptions

In connection with our nonqualified deferred compensation plan we had mutual fund investments of

$16.2 million and $10.5 million at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 respectively which were recorded

in other assets These investments were classified as trading securities and were recorded at their fair value

The fair value of mutual fund investments was Level valuation under the fair value hierarchy because each

funds quoted market value per share was available in an active market

Included in cash and cash equivalents were amounts on deposit with financial institutions totaling $123.0 million

and $9.2 million at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 respectively stated at cost which approximates fair

value At January 30 2010 cash and cash equivalents carried at fair value was comprised of the following

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

Money market funds 76350 $76350

Variable rate demand notes 56152 56152

Total $132502 $76350 $56152
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Variable rate demand note securities are issued by various corporate non-profit and governmental entities

that are of high credit quality with many being secured by direct-pay letters of credit from major financial

institution Also variable demand note securities can be tendered for sale upon notice generally no longer than

seven days to the original issuer

The carrying value of accounts receivable accounts payable and accrued
expenses approximates fair value

because of the relatively short maturity of these items The carrying value of our obligations under our

bank credit facility at January 31 2009 approximates fair value because the interest rates were variable and

approximated current market rates

Effective February 2008 we adopted guidance under ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS No 157 for financial assets and liabilities on prospective

basis This guidance addresses how companies should approach measuring fair value and expands disclosures

about fair value measurements under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value

measurements The guidance provides single definition of fair value that is to be applied consistently for most

accounting applications and also generally describes and prioritizes according to reliability the methods and

inputs used in valuations This guidance prescribes additional disclosures regarding the extent of fair value

measurements included in companys financial statements and the methods and inputs used to arrive at these

values The adoption of this guidance for financial assets and liabilities did not have any impact on our financial

condition results of operations or liquidity

Effective February 2008 we adopted guidance under ASC 825 Financial Instruments SFAS No 159

The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities This guidance permits us to choose to

measure certain financial instruments and other items at fair value We did not elect to measure any additional

financial assets or liabilities at fair value The adoption of this guidance for financial assets and liabilities did

not have any impact on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to various claims and contingencies including legal actions and other claims arising out of the

normal course of business In connection with such claims and contingencies we estimate the likelihood and

amount of any potential obligation where it is possible to do so using managements judgment Management used

various internal and external specialists to assist in the estimating process We accrue if material liability if the

likelihood of an adverse outcome is probable and the amount is estimable if the likelihood of an adverse outcome

is only reasonably possible as opposed to probable or if it is probable but an estimate is not determinable

disclosure of material claim or contingency is made in the notes to our consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

We recognize sales at the time the customer takes possession of the merchandise Sales are recorded net of

discounts and estimated returns and exclude any sales tax The reserve for merchandise returns is estimated

based on our prior return experience

We sell gift cards in our stores and issue merchandise credits typically as result of customer returns on store

value cards We do not charge administrative fees on unused gift card or merchandise credit balances and our

gift cards and merchandise credits do not expire We recognize sales revenue from gift cards and merchandise

credits when the gift card or merchandise credit is redeemed in sales transaction by the customer or

breakage occurs We recognize gift card and merchandise credit breakage when we estimate that the

likelihood of the card or credit being redeemed by the customer is remote and we determine that we do not have

legal obligation to remit the value of unredeemed cards or credits to the relevant regulatory authority We
estimate breakage based upon historical redemption patterns For 2009 and 2008 we recognized in net sales

on our consolidated statements of operations breakage of $0.6 million and $0.4 million respectively related to
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unredeemed gift card and merchandise credit balances that had aged at least four years beyond the end of their

original issuance month The liability for the unredeemed cash value of gift cards and merchandise credits is

recorded in accrued operating expenses

We offer price hold contracts on merchandise Revenue for price hold contracts is recognized when the customer

makes the final payment and takes possession of the merchandise Amounts paid by customers under price hold

contracts are recorded in accrued operating expenses until sale is consummated

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of merchandise net of cash discounts and rebates markdowns and inventory

shrinkage Cost of merchandise includes related inbound freight to our distribution centers duties and

commissions We classify warehousing and outbound distribution and transportation costs as selling and

administrative expenses Due to this classification our gross margin rates may not be comparable to those of

other retailers that include warehousing and outbound distribution and transportation costs in cost of sales

Selling and Administrative Expenses

We include store expenses such as payroll and occupancy costs warehousing distribution outbound

transportation costs to our stores advertising purchasing insurance non-income taxes and overhead costs

in selling and administrative expenses Selling and administrative expense rates may not be comparable to

those of other retailers that include distribution and outbound transportation costs in cost of sales Distribution

and outbound transportation costs included in selling and administrative expenses were $158.4 million

$181.2 million and $198.3 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Rent Expense

Rent expense is recognized over the term of the lease and is included in selling and administrative expenses We

recognize minimum rent starting when possession of the property is taken from the landlord which normally

includes construction period prior to store opening When lease contains predetermined fixed escalation

of the minimum rent we recognize the related rent expense on straight-line basis and record the difference

between the recognized rental expense and the amounts payable under the lease as deferred incentive rent We

also receive tenant allowances which are recorded in deferred incentive rent and are amortized as reduction to

rent expense over the term of the lease

Our leases generally obligate us for our applicable portion of real estate taxes CAM and property insurance

that has been incurred by the landlord with respect to the leased property We maintain accruals for our

estimated applicable portion of real estate taxes CAM and property insurance incurred but not settled at each

reporting date We estimate these accruals based on historical payments made and take into account any known

trends Inherent in these estimates is the risk that actual costs incurred by landlords and the resulting payments

by us may be higher or lower than the amounts we have recorded on our books

Certain of our leases provide for contingent rents that are not measurable at the lease inception date Contingent

rent includes rent based on percentage of sales that are in excess of predetermined level Contingent rent is

excluded from minimum rent and is included in the determination of total rent expense
when it is probable that

the expense has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred consist primarily of print and television advertisements and are

included in selling and administrative expenses Advertising expenses were $96.2 million $102.3 million and

$104.1 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during each period

Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during each period

and the additional dilutive effect of stock options and non-vested restricted stock awards calculated using the

treasury stock method

Store Pre-opening Costs

Pre-opening costs incurred during the construction periods for new store openings are expensed as incurred

Guarantees

We have lease guarantees which were issued prior to January 2003 We record liability for these lease

guarantees in the period when it becomes probable that the obligor will fail to perform its obligation and if the

amount of our guarantee obligation is estimable

Other Comprehensive Income

Our Other Comprehensive Income includes principally the impact of the amortization of our pension actuarial

loss net of tax and the revaluation of our pension actuarial loss net of tax

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

FASB Codification

In the third fiscal quarter of 2009 we adopted ASC SFAS No 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codfication

and the Hierarchy of Generally AcceptedAccounting Principles replacement of SEAS No 162 This guidance

is the source of authoritative GAAP for nongovernmental entities The ASC does not change GAAP but rather

takes the numerous individual pronouncements that previously constituted GAAP and reorganizes them into

approximately 90 accounting topics and displays all topics using consistent structure The adoption of the ASC

did not have material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Subsequent Events

In the second fiscal quarter of 2009 we adopted guidance under ASC 855 Subsequent Events SFAS No
165 Subsequent Events This guidance established general standards of accounting for and disclosure of

events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be

issued The guidance prescribes accounting practices that are similar to those previously prescribed in auditing

literature However under this guidance we were required to provide in each of our periodic filings with the

SEC the date through which we had evaluated subsequent events The adoption of this guidance did not have

material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

In February 2010 the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update ASU 2010-09 Amendments to Certain

Recognition and Disclosure Requirements which amends ASC 855 Subsequent Events This guidance

effective upon issuance requires an entity that is an SEC filer to evaluate subsequent events through the date

that the financial statements were issued For an SEC filer this guidance also eliminates the required disclosure

of the date through which subsequent events were evaluated The adoption of this guidance did not have

material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity See note 14 Subsequent Events
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Fair Value

Effective February 2009 we adopted guidance under ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

FSP SFAS 15 7-2 Effective Date of SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements This guidance relates to the

fair value of non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial

statements on non-recurring basis This guidance addresses how companies should approach measuring fair

value and expands the disclosure requirements applicable to fair value measurements under other accounting

pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements The guidance establishes single definition

of fair value that is to be applied consistently for all accounting applications and also generally describes and

prioritizes according to reliability the methods and inputs used in fair value measurements The guidance

prescribes additional disclosures regarding the extent to which company includes fair value measurements in

its financial statements and the methods and inputs used to arrive at these values The adoption of this guidance

relating to fair value of non-financial assets and liabilities did not have material effect on our financial

condition results of operations or liquidity

In the second fiscal quarter of 2009 we adopted guidance under ASC 820-10 Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosures FSP SFAS 157-4 Determining Fair Value When the Volume andLevel ofActivity for theAsset

or Liability Have Signflcantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly This guidance

provides guidelines for making fair value measurements more consistent with the principles presented in the

previous standard SFAS No 157 Fair Value Measurements The adoption of this guidance did not have

material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

In the second fiscal quarter of 2009 we adopted guidance under ASC 825-10 Financial Instruments FSP
FAS 107-1 and Accounting Principles Bulletin APB 28-1 Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial

Instruments The guidance amended SFAS No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS 107 to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments within the scope of SFAS 107 for

interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements See Fair

Value of Financial Instruments within note for this disclosure The adoption of this guidance did not have

material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

In the second fiscal quarter of 2009 we adopted guidance under ASC 320 Investments Debt and Equity

Securities FSP SFAS 115-2 and FSP SFAS 124-2 Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments This guidance is designed to create greater clarity and consistency in accounting for and

presentation of impairment losses on debt and equity securities As of the beginning of the interim period of

adoption this guidance requires cumulative-effect adjustment to reclassify the non-credit component of

previously recognized other-than-temporary impairment losses from retained earnings to the beginning balance

of accumulated other comprehensive income The adoption of this guidance did not have material effect on

our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Employee Benefit Plans

Effective January 30 2010 we adopted guidance under ASC 715 Compensation-Retirement Benefits FSP SFAS

132R-i EmployersDisclosures about Post retirement Benefit Plan Assets This guidance requires the disclosure

of additional information about an employers defined benefit pension plans The required disclosures include the

major categories of plan assets fair value measurements for each major category of plan assets segregated by fair

value hierarchy level investment policies and strategies significant concentrations of credit risk and the effect of

fair value measurements determined by financial models or using unobservable inputs on changes in plan assets

for the period The required disclosures under this guidance are included in note The adoption of this guidance

did not have material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity
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Recent Accounting Standards Future Adoptions

In January 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-06 Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements

which amends ASC 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures to add new requirements for disclosures

about transfers into and out of Levels and and separate disclosures about purchases sales issuances and

settlements relating to Level measurements The ASU also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the

level of disaggregation and about inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value Further the

ASU amends guidance on employers disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets under ASC 715

Compensation-Retirement Benefits to require that disclosures be provided by classes of assets instead of by

major categories of assets The ASU is effective for us in the first fiscal quarter of 2010 and is not expected to

have material effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

Note 2Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment net consist of

January 30 January 31

2010 2009

In thousands

Land and land improvements 44818 44952

Buildings and leasehold improvements 698988 675787

Fixtures and equipment 635377 621617

Computer software costs 68175 67166

Transportation equipment 29192 22567

Construction-in-progress 28563 20860

Property and equipment cost 1505113 1452949

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 1013857 962908

Property and equipment net 491256 490041

In 2008 we acquired for $8.6 million two store properties we were previously leasing The cost of these

properties was included in land and land improvements and buildings and leasehold improvements at January 30

2010 and January 31 2009 In prior periods these leased properties were accounted for as operating leases

Property and equipment cost includes $7.8 million and $8.3 million at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009

respectively to recognize assets from capital leases Accumulated depreciation and amortization includes

$4.3 million and $2.0 million at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 respectively related to capital leases

We incurred $0.4 million $0.1 million and $0.8 million in asset impairment charges in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively These charges principally related to the write-down of long-lived assets at four six and three

stores identified as part of our annual store impairment review in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Asset

impairment charges are included in selling and administrative expenses in our accompanying consolidated

statements of operations We perform annual impairment reviews of our long-lived assets at the store level

When we perform the annual impairment reviews we first determine which stores had impairment indicators

present We use actual historical cash flows to determine which stores had negative cash flows in each of the

past two years on rolling basis For each store with two years of negative cash flows we obtain future cash

flow estimates based on operating performance estimates specific to each stores operations that are based

on assumptions currently being used to develop our company level operating plans If the net book value of

stores long-lived assets is not recoverable by the expected future cash flows of the store we estimate the fair

value of the stores assets and recognize an impairment charge for the excess net book value of the stores long

lived assets over their fair value The fair value of store assets is estimated based on information available in the

marketplace for similar assets
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Upon the successful completion of pilot program in 32 of our stores in 2006 and the decision to move forward

with the implementation of new point-of-sale register system in all of our stores we reduced the remaining

estimated service life on approximately $6.9 million of certain point-of-sale equipment This service life

reduction resulted in the recognition of depreciation expense of approximately $4.1 million in 2007 and

$0.5 million in 2008

Note 3Bank Credit Facility

On April 28 2009 we entered into our 2009 Credit Agreement $500 million three-year unsecured credit

facility The 2009 Credit Agreement replaced our 2004 Credit Agreement $500 million five-year unsecured

credit facility we entered into on October 29 2004 The 2004 Credit Agreement was scheduled to expire on

October 28 2009 but was terminated concurrently with the 2009 Credit Agreement becoming effective on

April 28 2009 We did not incur any material early termination penalties in connection with the termination of

the 2004 Credit Agreement

The 2009 Credit Agreement expires on April 28 2012 In connection with our entry into the 2009 Credit

Agreement we paid bank fees and other
expenses

in the aggregate amount of $5.6 million which are being

amortized over the term of the agreement Proceeds from borrowings under the 2009 Credit Agreement are

available for general corporate purposes working capital and to repay
certain of our indebtedness The 2009

Credit Agreement includes $150 million letter of credit sublimit and $30 million swing loan sublimit

The interest rates pricing and fees under the 2009 Credit Agreement fluctuate based on our debt rating The

2009 Credit Agreement allows us to select our interest rate for each borrowing from two different interest

rate options The interest rate options are generally derived from the prime rate or LIBOR We may prepay

revolving loans made under the 2009 Credit Agreement The 2009 Credit Agreement contains financial and

other covenants including but not limited to limitations on indebtedness liens and investments as well as the

maintenance of two financial ratios leverage ratio and fixed charge coverage ratio violation of any of

the covenants could result in default under the 2009 Credit Agreement that would permit the lenders to restrict

our ability to further access the 2009 Credit Agreement for loans and letters of credit and require the immediate

repayment of any outstanding loans under the 2009 Credit Agreement As of January 30 2010 we were in

compliance with the covenants of the 2009 Credit Agreement

Note 4Sales of Real Estate

In September 2006 to avoid litigation under the threat of eminent domain we sold company-owned and

operated store in California for an approximate gain of $12.8 million As part of the sale we entered into lease

which permitted us to occupy and operate the store through January 2009 in exchange for $1 per year rent plus

the cost of taxes insurance and common area maintenance Subsequently this lease was modified to allow us

to occupy this space through September 2009 under substantially the same terms Because of the favorable lease

terms we deferred recognition of the gain until we no longer held continuing involvement in the property As

result the gain on the sale was deferred until the end of the lease and the net sales proceeds of approximately

$13.3 million were recorded as long-term real estate liability included in other liabilities on our consolidated

balance sheet as of January 31 2009 In the third fiscal quarter of 2009 after attempts to further extend the

lease term were unsuccessful we closed the store ending our continuing involvement with this property and

recognized pretax gain on sale of real estate of $13.0 million
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Leased property consisted primarily of 1307 of our retail stores 0.7 million square feet of warehouse space

and certain transportation equipment and information technology and other office equipment Many of the

store leases obligate us to pay for our applicable portion of real estate taxes CAM and property insurance

Certain store leases provide for contingent rents have rent escalations and have tenant allowances or other lease

incentives Many of our leases contain provisions for options to renew or extend the original term for additional

periods

Total rent expense including real estate taxes CAM and property insurance charged to continuing operations

for operating leases consisted of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Minimum leases $254054 $236865 $234891

Contingent leases 313 491 409

Total rent expense $254367 $237356 $235300

Future minimum rental commitments for leases excluding closed store leases real estate taxes CAM and

property insurance at January 30 2010 were as follows

Fiscal Year

In thousands

2010 $195739

2011 163908

2012 128004

2013 96643

2014 57861

Thereafter 45449

Total leases $687604

We have obligations for capital leases for office equipment included in accrued operating expenses
and other

liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet Scheduled payments for all capital leases at January 30 2010 were

as follows

Fiscal Year

In thousands

2010 $2352

2011 984

2012 236

2013 135

2014

Thereafter
______

Total lease payments $3707

Less amount to discount to present value 223

Capital lease obligation per balance sheet $3484
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Earnings per Share

There were no adjustments required to be made to weighted-average common shares outstanding for purposes

of computing basic and diluted earnings per share and there were no securities outstanding in any year presented

which were excluded from the computation of earnings per share other than antidilutive employee and director

stock options and non-vested restricted stock awards At the end of 2009 2008 and 2007 stock options

outstanding of 2.9 million 2.0 million and 1.4 million respectively were excluded from the diluted share

calculation because their impact was antidilutive Antidilutive options are excluded from the calculation because

they decrease the number of diluted shares outstanding under the treasury stock method Antidilutive options

are generally outstanding options where the exercise price per share is greater than the weighted-average market

price per share for our common shares for each period The number of shares of non-vested restricted stock that

were antidilutive as determined under the treasury stock method is immaterial for all
years presented

reconciliation of the number of weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the basic and diluted

earnings per share computations is as follows

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 81619 81111 101393

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted common shares 1062 965 1149

Diluted 82681 82076 102542

Share Repurchase Programs

On December 2009 we announced that our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $150.0 million

of our common shares which commenced immediately and will continue until exhausted The purchases may
be made from time to time in the open market and/or in privately negotiated transactions at our discretion

subject to market conditions and other factors No shares were repurchased under this program in 2009 See note

14 Subsequent Events for discussion of the March 2010 increase in the 2010 Repurchase Program from

$150.0 million to $400.0 million and the March 10 2010 $150.0 million accelerated share repurchase transaction

On March 2007 we announced that our Board of Directors authorized $600.0 million share repurchase

program March 2007 Repurchase Program On November 30 2007 we announced that our Board of

Directors authorized the $150.0 million November 2007 share repurchase program commencing with the

completion of the March 2007 Repurchase Program which we completed on December 2007 As part of

the March 2007 Repurchase Program we received 2.8 million of our outstanding common shares during the

first fiscal quarter of 2007 representing the minimum number of shares purchased under $100.0 million

guaranteed share repurchase transaction GSR Upon receipt the 2.8 million shares were removed from our

basic and diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding The GSR included forward contract indexed

to the average market price of our common shares that subjected the GSR to future share settlement based

on the average share price between the contractually specified price inception date of the GSR and the final

settlement date The forward contract effectively placed collar around the minimum and maximum number of

our common shares that we purchased under the GSR We were not required to make any additional payments

to the counterparty under the GSR In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2007 we received 0.4 million additional

common shares from the counterparty in settlement of the GSR In addition to the GSR we repurchased

approximately 26.8 million of our outstanding common shares in 2007 in open market transactions at an

aggregate cost of $612.5 million under the March 2007 Repurchase Program and the November 2007 share

repurchase program
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In the first fiscal quarter of 2008 we acquired 2.2 million of our outstanding common shares for $37.5 million

which completed the November 2007 Repurchase Program

Common shares acquired through these repurchase programs are held in treasury at cost and are available to

meet obligations under equity compensation plans and for general corporate purposes

Note 7Share-Based Plans

Our shareholders initially approved our existing equity compensation plan the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term

Incentive Plan 2005 Incentive Plan in May 2005 and approved an amendment in May 2008 The 2005

Incentive Plan authorizes the issuance of incentive and nonqualified stock options restricted stock restricted

stock units performance units and stock appreciation rights We have not issued incentive stock options

restricted stock units performance units or stock appreciation rights under the 2005 Incentive Plan The

number of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan consists of an initial

allocation of 1250000 common shares 2001142 common shares the number of common shares that were

available under the predecessor Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan 1996 Incentive Plan upon its

expiration 2100000 common shares approved by our shareholders in May 2008 and an annual increase

equal to 0.75% of the total number of issued common shares including treasury shares as of the start of each of

our fiscal years during which the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect The Compensation Committee of our Board

of Directors Committee which is charged with administering the 2005 Incentive Plan has the authority to

determine the terms of each award Nonqualified stock options granted to employees under the 2005 Incentive

Plan the exercise price of which may not be less than the fair market value of the underlying common shares

on the grant date generally expire on the earlier of the seven year term set by the Committee or one year

following termination of employment death or disability The nonqualified stock options generally vest ratably

over four-year period however upon change in control all awards outstanding automatically vest

In addition to the 2005 Incentive Plan we previously maintained the Big Lots Director Stock Option Plan

Director Stock Option Plan for non-employee directors The Director Stock Option Plan was administered

by the Committee pursuant to an established formula Neither the Board of Directors nor the Committee

exercised any discretion in administration of the Director Stock Option Plan Grants were made annually at an

exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying common shares on the date of grant The annual

grants to each outside director of an option to acquire 10000 of our common shares became fully exercisable

over three-year period 20% of the shares on the first anniversary 60% on the second anniversary and 100%

on the third anniversary Stock options granted to non-employee directors expire on the earlier of 110 years

plus one month one year following death or disability or at the end of our next trading window one year

following termination In connection with the amendment to the 2005 Incentive Plan in May 2008 our Board

of Directors amended the Director Stock Option Plan so that no additional awards may be made under that plan

Our non-employee directors did not receive any stock options in 2008 or 2009 but did as discussed below

receive restricted stock awards under the 2005 Incentive Plan

Share-based compensation expense was $20.3 million $15.5 million and $9.9 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively We use binomial model to estimate the fair value of stock options on the grant date The

binomial model takes into account variables such as volatility dividend yield rate risk-free rate contractual

term of the option the probability that the option will be exercised prior to the end of its contractual life and the

probability of retirement of the option holder in computing the value of the option Expected volatility is based

on historical and current implied volatilities from traded options on our common shares The dividend yield on

our common shares is assumed to be zero since we have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so

in the future The risk-free rate is based on U.S Treasury security yields at the time of the grant The expected

life is determined from the binomial model which incorporates exercise and post-vesting forfeiture assumptions

based on analysis of historical data
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The weighted-average fair value of options granted and assumptions used in the option pricing model for each

of the respective periods were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Weighted-average fair value of options granted $7.89 $8.74 $11.59

Risk-free interest rates 1.7% 2.2% 4.4%

Expected life years 4.3 4.3 4.4

Expected volatility 56.0% 48.8% 42.6%

Expected annual forfeiture 1.5% 3.0% 3.0%

The following table summarizes information about our stock options outstanding and exercisable at

January 30 2010

Range of Prices Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-

Average Weighted- Weighted-
Less Remaining Average Average

Greater Than or Options Life Exercise Options Exercise

Than Equal to Outstanding Years Price Exercisable Price

$10.00 5000 1.7 $10.00 5000 $10.00

10.01 20.00 2482258 4.5 14.82 1308883 13.30

20.01 30.00 1989375 4.7 25.15 754624 26.41

$30.01 $40.00 20000 5.0 31.10 7500 31.15

4496633 4.6 $19.46 2076007 $18.12

summary of the annual stock option activity for fiscal
years 2007 2008 and 2009 is as follows

Weighted

Average

Remaining Aggregate

Contractual Intrinsic

Term Value

Options Pricea Years 000s

Outstanding at February 2007 6644990 15.78

Granted 1156000 28.69

Exercised 2742055 13.10

Forfeited 934465 24.52

Outstanding at February 2008 4124470 19.20

Granted 985000 21.45

Exercised 787712 13.79

Forfeited 361190 34.77

Outstanding at January 31 2009 3960568 19.42

Granted 967500 17.62

Exercised 361560 13.64

Forfeited 69875 21.80

Outstanding at January 30 2010 4496633 $19.46 4.6 $40610
Vested and expected to vest at January 30 2010 4389716 $19.42 4.6 $39789
Exercisable at January 30 2010 2076007 $18.12 3.9 $21531

Weighted-average per share exercise price
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The number of stock options expected to vest was based on our annual forfeiture rate assumption

summary of the non-vested restricted stock activity for fiscal years 2007 2008 and 2009 is as follows

Weighted

Average Grant

Number of Shares Date Fair Value

Nonvested restricted stock at February 2007 408671 $12.37

Granted 325400 28.73

Vested 406871 12.34

Forfeited 6300 26.45

Nonvested restricted stock at February 2008 320900 28.72

Granted 408000 21.84

Vested 1800 26.43

Forfeited 10825 28.76

Nonvested restricted stock at January 31 2009 716275 24.81

Granted 471688 17.91

Vested 327675 28.85

Forfeited 10800 20.50

Nonvested restricted stock at January 30 2010 849488 $19.48

The non-vested restricted stock awards granted to employees in 2009 2008 and 2007 vest if certain financial

performance objectives are achieved If we meet threshold financial performance objective and the grantee

remains employed by us the restricted stock will vest on the opening of our first trading window five years

after the grant date of the award If we meet higher financial performance objective and the grantee remains

employed by us the restricted stock will vest on the first trading day after we file our Annual Report on Form

10-K with the SEC for the fiscal year in which the higher objective is met

On the grant date of the 2007 awards we estimated three-year period for vesting based on the assumed

achievement of the higher financial performance objective In the second fiscal quarter of 2007 we changed

the estimated achievement date from three years to two years as result of our performance being better than

expected resulting in $1.6 million and $1.1 million of incremental expense in 2008 and 2007 respectively

We achieved the higher financial performance objective for the 2007 awards based on the 2008 results and

accordingly these awards vested on March 30 2009 the first trading date following the filing of our Annual

Report on Form 10-K for 2008

On the grant date of the 2008 awards we estimated three-year period for vesting based on the assumed

achievement of the higher financial performance objective In the second fiscal quarter of 2008 we changed

the estimated achievement date for the higher financial performance objective from three years to two years

due to better operating results than initially anticipated resulting in $0.8 million of incremental expense in

2008 In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2008 we changed the estimated achievement date for the higher financial

performance objective from two years to three years due to our declining net sales results which were in part

due to the general economic conditions in the United States In the third fiscal quarter of 2009 we changed

the estimated achievement date for the higher financial performance objective for the restricted stock awards

granted during 2008 from three years to two years Based on our 2009 results we achieved the higher financial

performance objective for restricted stock awards granted in 2008 and accordingly these awards will vest on

the trading date following the filing of this Form 10-K As result of this change we recorded incremental

expense
of $0.5 million and $1.3 million in the third and fourth fiscal quarters of 2009 respectively
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On the grant date of the 2009 awards we estimated three-year period for vesting based on the assumed

achievement of the higher financial performance objective In the third fiscal quarter of 2009 we changed the

estimated achievement date for the higher financial performance objective from three years to two years due to

better operating results than initially anticipated resulting in $0.1 million of incremental expense in the third

fiscal quarter of 2009 In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2009 we changed the estimated achievement date for the

higher financial performance objective from two years to one year due to better operating results than initially

anticipated and accordingly these awards will vest on the trading date following the filing of this Form 10-K

As result of this change we recorded incremental expense of $3.2 million in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2009

In 2009 and 2008 we granted restricted stock awards having fair value on the grant date of approximately

$75000 to each of the non-employee members of our Board of Directors These awards vest on the earlier of

the trading day immediately preceding the next annual meeting of our shareholders the death of the grantee

or the disability of the grantee provided however the directors restricted stock award will be forfeited if he

or she ceases to serve on our Board of Directors before the first of such vesting events occurs

The non-vested restricted stock awarded to Mr Fishman upon the commencement of his employment as our

Chairman Chief Executive Officer and President in 2005 vested in one-third increments upon the attainment

of mutually agreed common share price targets In 2006 the first common share price target was achieved and

one-third of this award vested During the first fiscal quarter of 2007 the second and third common share price

targets of this award were met resulting in the vesting of the remaining 66667 common shares underlying this

restricted stock award and related expense of $0.7 million

The non-vested restricted stock awarded in 2004 to certain of our officers as retention package upon the

transition of the former ChiefExecutive Officer and President to different position vested equally over

three years The 2004 restricted stock grants were forfeited in whole or in part as applicable if the employee

voluntarily terminated his or her employment or if the employee was terminated for cause Of the 172000

shares originally underlying these restricted stock awards 10000 were forfeited in 2005 and the remaining

162000 vested equally in January 2006 2007 and 2008

During 2009 2008 and 2007 the following activity occurred under our share-based compensation plans

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised $5079 $13510 $45987
Total fair value of restricted stock vested $6954 37 $11822

The total unearned compensation cost related to share-based awards outstanding at January 30 2010 is

approximately $17.8 million This compensation cost is expected to be recognized through January 2014 based

on existing vesting terms with the weighted average remaining expense recognition period being approximately

1.8 years from January 30 2010
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Pension Benefits

We maintain the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan covering certain employees whose hire

date was on or before April 1994 Benefits under each plan are based on credited years of service and

the employees compensation during the last five years of employment The Supplemental Pension Plan is

maintained for certain highly compensated executives whose benefits were frozen in the Pension Plan in

1996 The Supplemental Pension Plan is designed to pay benefits in the same amount as if the participants

continued to accrue benefits under the Pension Plan We have no obligation to fund the Supplemental Pension

Plan and all assets and amounts payable under the Supplemental
Pension Plan are subject to the claims of our

general creditors

The components of net periodic pension expense were comprised of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Service cost benefits earned in the period 2261 2438 2632

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 3726 3332 3150

Expected investment return on plan assets 3172 3963 4289

Amortization of prior service cost 34 34 135

Amortization of transition obligation 13 13 13

Amortization of actuarial loss 2691 824 694

Settlement loss 175
_______

1259

Net periodic pension expense
5660 2610 3594

In 2009 and 2007 we incurred pretax non-cash settlement charges of $0.2 million and $1.3 million respectively

The settlement charges were caused by lump sum benefit payments made to plan participants in excess of

combined annual service cost and interest cost for each year

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension expense were

2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 7.3% 6.5% 5.9%

Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%

Expected long-term rate of return 8.0% 8.5% 8.5%

Measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations 01/31/09 12/31/07 12/31/06

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were

2009 2008

Discount rate 5.7% 7.3%

Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.5% 3.5%

Measurement date for plan assets and benefit obligations 01/30/10 01/31/09
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The following schedule provides reconciliation of projected benefit obligations plan assets funded status

and amounts recognized for the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension Plan at January 30 2010 and

January 31 2009

January 30 2010 January 31 2009

In thousands

Change in projected benefit obligation

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $53600 53459
Service cost 2261 2438
Interest cost 3726 3332
Service and interest cost during gap period 480

Benefits and settlements paid 6165 5614
Actuarial loss gain 6104 495
Projected benefit obligation at end of

year $59526 53600

Change in plan assets

Fair market value at beginning of year $42297 48208
Actual return on plan assets 9979 11641
Employer contributions 10754 11344
Benefits and settlements paid 6165 5614
Fair market value at end of year $56865 42297

Under funded and net amount recognized 2661 $11303

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of

Noncurrent assets 3383
Current liabilities 383 384
Noncurrent liabilities 5661 10919

Net amount recognized 2661 $l1303

The following are components of accumulated other comprehensive income and as such are not yet reflected in

net periodic pension expense

2009 2008

In thousands

Unrecognized transition obligation 52 67
Unrecognized past service credit 193 231

Unrecognized actuarial loss 21906 25477
Accumulated other comprehensive loss pretax $21765 $25313

We expect to reclassify $2.0 million of the actuarial loss along with immaterial amounts of transition obligation

and past service credit into net periodic pension expense during 2010
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The following table sets forth certain information for the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension Plan at

January 30 2010 and January 31 2009

Pension Plan Supplemental Pension Plan

January 30 2010 January 31 2009 January 30 2010 January 31 2009

In thousands

Projected benefit obligation 53482 48549 $6044 $5051

Accumulated benefit obligation 47851 43170 4622 4058

Fair market value of plan assets 56865 42297

We elected to make $10.0 million and $11.0 million of discretionary contributions to the Pension Plan in 2009

and 2008 respectively to increase the funded level Our funding policy of the Pension Plan is to make annual

contributions based on advice from our actuaries and the evaluation of our cash position but not less than the

minimum required by applicable regulations Currently we expect no required contributions to the Pension Plan

during 2010 however discretionary contributions could be made depending upon further analysis

Using the same assumptions as those used to measure our benefit obligations the Pension Plan and the

Supplemental Pension Plan benefits expected to be paid in each of the following fiscal years are as follows

Fiscal Year

In thousands

2010 4647

2011 4911

2012 5117

2013 5179

2014 5475

2015 2019 $28420

The companys overall investment strategy is to maximize income and capital appreciation while also protecting

the funded status of the Pension Plan In order to determine the appropriate asset allocation and investment

strategy an annual actuarial review of the plans expected future distributions is completed Based upon

this review an allocation to cash and fixed income is determined based upon the present value of near and

mid-term estimated distributions The remainder of the assets are allocated toward longer term growth and

invested primarily in the equity markets Changing market cycles require flexibility in asset allocation to allow

movement of capital within the asset classes for purposes of increasing investment return and/or reducing risk

Accordingly the targeted allocation ranges
for plan assets are 39% 64% equity securities 23% 61% fixed

income securities and up to 38% cash and cash equivalents The actual portfolio weightings may differ from

targeted ranges due to market appreciation or depreciation but will be re-balanced annually at minimum All

assets must have readily ascertainable market values and be easily marketable

Equity securities primarily include investments in companies of various sizes from diverse industries

Investments in mutual funds are managed under and in tandem with the same investment objectives as

individual equity securities and consist of diverse funds focused on sub-categories including but not limited

to company size investment strategies such as value growth and blends international versus domestic and

specific industry exposures As permitted by our pension investment policy equity securities may include

our common shares At January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 the Pension Plan owned 961 and 1101 of our

common shares respectively

Fixed income securities include investments in corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries

mortgage-backed securities and obligations of the U.S Treasury or agencies Fixed income investments of

single issuer with the exception of the U.S Government or agencies must not exceed 10% of the total fixed

income portfolio The aggregate credit quality of the fixed income portfolio must always be at rating of Aa or

higher Cash reserves must be invested in interest bearing securities and must be instantly saleable
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The investment managers have the discretion to invest within sub-classes of assets such as those noted above

as well as manage duration exposure as they feel appropriate given current or expected market conditions

They additionally have the authority to invest in financial futures contracts and financial options contracts for

the purposes of implementing hedging strategies There were no futures contracts owned by the Pension Plan

at January 30 2010 or January 31 2009 The return expectation is to outperform benchmark constructed in

manner that reflects the portfolios risk and return objectives Currently that benchmark is made up of the

Morningstar Average Asset Allocation Fund and the following indices Lehman Intermediate Aggregate SP
500 Index Russell 1000 Russell 2000 MSCI EAFE and Wilshire REIT Investment results are compared to

market performance metrics on quarterly basis

The fair value of our Pension Plan assets at January 30 2010 by asset category was comprised of the following

Total Level Level Level

In thousands

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6620 6620

Equity Securities

Consumer Discretionary 703 703

Consumer Staples 115 115

Energy 104 104

Financial 380 380

Health Care 139 139

Industrials 264 264

Information Technology 421 421

Materials 313 313

Telecommunication Services 75 75

Utilities 214 214

Mutual Funds

Diversified Emerging Markets 1214 1214
Inflation-Protected Bond 51 51

Intermediate-Term Bond 307 307

International Large Blend 2494 2494
International Large Value

Large Blend 10290 10290

Large Growth 2189 2189
Large Value 3643 3643
Long-Term Bond 187 187

Mid-Cap Blend 2456 2456
Mid-Cap Value 1629 1629
Real Estate 2521 2521
Short-Term Bond 301 301

Short-Term Government 151 151

Small Blend 2495 2495
Small Value 864 864

Small-Cap Blend 949 949

World Allocation 985 985

Fixed Income Securities

U.S Government 7744 1602 6142
Corporate 7046 7046

Total $56865 $43677 $13188

Mutual funds are listed by their respective investment strategy as classified by Morningstar Inc

This category represents investment grade bonds of corporate issuers from diverse industries
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Savings Plans

We have savings plan with 401k deferral feature and nonqualified deferred compensation plan

with similar deferral feature for eligible employees We contribute matching percentage of employee

contributions Our matching contributions are subject to Internal Revenue Service IRS regulations For

2009 2008 and 2007 we expensed $5.6 million $5.4 million and $5.3 million respectively related to our

matching contributions In connection with our nonqualified deferred compensation plan we had liabilities of

$17.1 million and $11.0 million at January 30 2010 and January 31 2009 respectively

Note 9Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations was comprised of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Federal current 91083

State and local current 11890

Federal deferred 15176

State and local deferred 3826
________ _______

Income tax provision $121975
_______ _______

Net deferred tax assets fluctuated by items that are not reflected in deferred expense above The fluctuations

in net deferred tax assets related to discontinued operations deferred income tax expense were $0.5 million

increase $2.0 million increase and $4.3 million decrease for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Fluctuations

related principally to pensionrelated charges recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income were $1.4

million decrease $5.8 million increase and $0.4 million decrease for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Net

deferred tax assets also increased by net $3.3 million in 2007 due to the adoption of guidance under ASC74O

Income Taxes FIN No.48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of SFAS No 109

Reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate was as follows

2009
________ ________

Statutory federal income tax rate 5.0%

Effect of

State and local income taxes net of federal tax benefit

Work opportunity tax and other employment tax credits

Net benefit recognized for prior year tax uncertainties

Valuation allowance

Municipal interest

Other net

Effective income tax rate

Income tax payments and refunds were as follows

In thousands

Income taxes paid $105961

Income taxes refunded 694 _______ _______

Net income taxes paid $105267
_______ _______
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$71619

9771

10189

3329

$94908

$80215

7783

4249
4274

$88023

2008 2007

35.0% 35.0%

3.2 3.4 3.3

0.5 0.6 0.4

0.0 0.2 0.4

0.4 0.4 0.5

0.5

0.4 0.3

37.7% 38.0% 36.8%

2009 2008 2007

$92433

3324
$89109

$65767

4241
$61526
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Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax including income tax

uncertainties Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows

January 30 2010 January 31 2009

In thousands

Deferred tax assets

Compensation related 29770 21003

Workers compensation and other insurance reserves 27903 27951

Depreciation and fixed asset basis differences 21552 38020
Uniform inventory capitalization 20989 21502
Accrued rent 11549 11475

Accrued state taxes 8374 8443

Accrued operating liabilities 2684 1828

Pension plans 1034 4490
State tax net operating losses net of federal tax benefit 1046 2507
KB store lease and other discontinued operations contingencies 1899 1995
Other 21739 21260
Valuation allowances primarily unrealized capital losses

_________ 1269
Total deferred tax assets 148539 159205

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated depreciation and fixed asset basis differences 39567 31017
Lease construction reimbursements 11339 11512

Prepaid expenses 5409 5316
Other 13076 12322

Total deferred tax liabilities 69391 60167
Net deferred tax assets 79148 99038

Net deferred tax assets are shown separately on our consolidated balance sheets as current and noncurrent

deferred income taxes The following table summarizes net deferred income tax assets from the balance sheet

January 30 2010 January 31 2009

In thousands

Current deferred income taxes $51012 $45275
Noncurrent deferred income taxes 28136 53763

Net deferred tax assets $79148 $99038

We have the following income tax loss and credit carryforwards at January 30 2010 amounts are shown net of

tax excluding the federal income tax effect of the state and local items

In thousands

State and local

State net operating loss carryforwards $1704 Expires fiscal years 2014 through 2025

California enterprise zone credits 485 No expiration date

Texas business loss credits 292 Expires fiscal years through 2025

New Jersey alternative minimum tax credits 35 No expiration date

Total income tax loss and credit carryforwards $2516
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Income taxes payable on our consolidated balance sheets have been reduced by the tax benefits primarily

associated with share-based compensation We receive an income tax deduction upon the exercise of non-

qualified stock options and the vesting of restricted stock Tax benefits of $0.6 million in 2009 $4.6 million

in 2008 and $19.8 million in 2007 were credited directly to shareholders equity related to share-based

compensation deductions in excess of expense recognized for these awards

The following is tabular reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2009 and 2008

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Unrecognized tax benefits opening balance 34729 $37158 $38326

Gross increases tax positions in current year 11757 9094 9346

Gross increases tax positions in prior period 5556 1611 2762

Gross decreases tax positions in prior period 4101 4617 3301

Settlements 11944 7147 9284

Lapse of statute of limitations 173 1370 691

Unrecognized tax benefits end of
year

35824 $34729 $37158

At the end of 2009 and 2008 the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would affect the

effective income tax rate is $19.8 million and $21.0 million respectively after considering the federal tax benefit

of state income taxes of $5.2 million and $5.8 million respectively Unrecognized tax benefits of $10.8 million

and $7.9 million respectively relates to tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but

for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility The uncertain timing items could result in

the acceleration of the payment of cash to the taxing authority to an earlier period Included in the $35.8 million

for 2009 and $34.7 million for 2008 is $9.1 million and $9.3 million respectively of unrecognized tax benefits

primarily related to our claims for welfare to work and work opportunity tax credits If we prevail with respect

to the welfare to work and work opportunity tax credit claims we would owe approximately $1.9 million of

fees which have not been accrued to an outside service provider who assists us with the administration of these

refund claims

We recognized interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $0.5 million $0.8 million

and $0.9 million during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively as component of income tax expense The amount

of accrued interest and penalties recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at the end of 2009

and 2008 was $8.3 million and $9.0 million respectively

We are subject to U.S federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple state and local jurisdictions The

examination of our 2005 federal income tax return concluded during 2009 The statute of limitations for

assessments on our federal income tax returns for periods prior to 2005 has lapsed In addition the state income

tax returns filed by us are subject to examination generally for periods beginning with 2006 although state

income tax carryforward attributes generated prior to 2006 may still be adjusted upon examination We have

various state returns in the process
of examination or administrative appeal

We have estimated the reasonably possible expected net change in unrecognized tax benefits through January

29 2011 based on anticipated positions to be taken in the next 12 months expected cash and non-cash

settlements and lapses of the applicable statutes of limitations of unrecognized tax benefits The estimated

reasonably possible net decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for the next 12 months is approximately

$22 million Actual results may differ materially from this estimate
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In November 2004 civil collective action complaint was filed against us in the United States District Court

for the Eastern District of Louisiana District Court in Louisiana alleging that we violated the Fair Labor

Standards Act by misclassifying assistant store managers as exempt employees Louisiana matter The

plaintiffs sought to recover on behalf of themselves and all other individuals who are similarly situated

alleged unpaid overtime compensation as well as liquidated damages attorneys fees and costs On July

2005 the District Court in Louisiana issued an order conditionally certifying class of all then-current and

former assistant store managers who worked for us since November 23 2001 As result of that order notice

of the lawsuit was sent to approximately 5500 individuals who had the right to opt-in to the Louisiana matter

Approximately 1100 individuals opted to join the Louisiana matter We filed motion to decertify the class and

the motion was denied on August 24 2007 The trial began on May 2008 and concluded on May 15 2008 On
June 20 2008 the District Court in Louisiana issued an order decertifying the action and dismissed without

prejudice the claims of the opt-in plaintiffs After this ruling four plaintiffs remained before the District Court in

Louisiana On January 26 2009 three of the plaintiffs presented their respective cases before the District Court

in Louisiana Since then the claims of one of the plaintiffs in the January 2009 action and the fourth plaintiff

who did not participate in the January 2009 action were dismissed with prejudice On April 2009 the District

Court in Louisiana awarded the two remaining plaintiffs an aggregate amount of approximately $0.1 million

plus attorneys fees and costs which on June 25 2009 were determined to be $0.4 million We appealed both of

these decisions Subsequent to the District Court in Louisianas April 2009 decision approximately 172 of the

opt-in plaintiffs filed individual actions in the District Court in Louisiana On August 13 2009 we filed writ of

mandamus challenging the District Court in Louisianas jurisdiction to hear these cases This writ was denied on
October 20 2009 On January 12 2010 the Louisiana matter was settled for $4.0 million

In April 2009 civil collective action complaint was filed against us in the United States District Court for

the Western District of New York alleging that we violated the Fair Labor Standards Act by misclassifying
assistant store managers as exempt employees New York matter In addition the plaintiff seeks class action

treatment under New York law relating to those assistant store managers working in the State of New York
The plaintiff seeks to recover on behalf of himself and all other individuals who are similarly situated alleged

unpaid overtime compensation as well as liquidated damages attorneys fees and costs On January 21 2010

stipulation was filed and Order rendered limiting this action to current and former assistant store managers
working in our New York stores We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the allegations levied in this

lawsuit We cannot make determination as to the probability of loss contingency resulting from this lawsuit

or the estimated range of possible loss if any however we currently believe that such claims asserted in the

New York Matter both individually and in the aggregate will be resolved without material adverse effect on

our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

In September 2006 class action complaint was filed against us in the Superior Court of California Los

Angeles County alleging that we violated certain California wage and hour laws by misclassifying California

store managers as exempt employees Seals matter The plaintiffs seek to recover on their own behalf and

on behalf of all other individuals who are similarly situated damages for alleged unpaid overtime unpaid
minimum wages wages not paid upon termination improper wage statements missed rest breaks missed meal

periods reimbursement of expenses loss of unused vacation time and attorneys fees and costs On October 29
2009 the Court denied plaintiffs class certification motion with prejudice On January 21 2010 the plaintiffs

filed Notice of Appeal We cannot make determination as to the probability of loss contingency resulting
from this lawsuit or the estimated range of possible loss if any We intend to vigorously defend ourselves

against the allegations levied in this lawsuit however the ultimate resolution of this matter could have

material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and liquidity
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In February 2008 three alleged class action complaints were filed against us by California resident the

Caron matters The first was filed in the Superior Court of California Orange County This action is

similar in nature to the Seals matter which enabled us to successfully coordinate this matter with the Seals

matter in the Superior Court of California Los Angeles County The second and third matters filed in the

United States District Court Central District of California and the Superior Court of California Riverside

County respectively allege that we violated certain California wage and hour laws for missed meal and rest

periods and other wage and hour claims The plaintiffs seek to recover on their own behalf and on behalf of

California statewide class consisting of all other individuals who are similarly situated damages resulting from

improper wage statements missed rest breaks missed meal periods non-payment of wages at termination

reimbursement of expenses loss of unused vacation time and attorneys fees and costs We believed these two

matters overlapped and we successfully consolidated the two cases before the United States District Court

Central District of California We believe the remaining allegations also overlap some portion of the claims

released through the class action settlement in the Espinosa matter for further discussion of the Espinosa matter

see note 10 to our consolidated financial statements contained in our 2008 Form 10-K On August 25 2009 the

Court denied plaintiffs class certification motion without prejudice We cannot make determination as to the

probability of loss contingency resulting from the Caron matters or the estimated range of possible loss if any

We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against the allegations levied in these lawsuits however the ultimate

resolution of these matters could have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations

and liquidity

In 1998 an action was filed against us in the District Court 224th Judicial District in Bexar County Texas

State Court by plaintiff claiming she was injured when she fell in one of our stores Rivera matter

The Rivera matter was removed to the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas Federal

Court and the claim was fully litigated Ultimately the Federal Court granted summary judgment in our

favor in January 2000 The plaintiff re-filed the same complaint in April 2000 in the State Court and then

obtained default judgment against us on June 20 2000 in the amount of approximately $1.5 million plus

post-judgment interest which brings the total claim against us to approximately $3.4 million No effort was

made to collect on this judgment by the plaintiff until February 2009 when we were served with writ of

execution of judgment We have filed petition for bill of review with the State Court Since that time the

Federal Court issued an order reflecting that the January 2000 order was summary judgment with prejudice

in our favor Notwithstanding the Federal Courts order the State Court rendered summary judgment decision

in the plaintiffs favor We have appealed the State Courts decision and asked the Federal Court to issue an

injunction against the State Courts proceedings We cannot make determination as to the probability of

loss contingency resulting from the Rivera matter however we currently believe that the Rivera matter will be

resolved without material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or liquidity

We are involved in other legal actions and claims including various additional employment-related matters

arising in the ordinary course of business We currently believe that such actions and claims both individually

and in the aggregate will be resolved without material adverse effect on our financial condition results of

operations or liquidity However litigation involves an element of uncertainty Future developments could cause

these actions or claims to have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations and

liquidity

For discussion of discontinued operations including KB Toys matters see note 11 to our accompanying

consolidated financial statements

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to property general liability workers compensation and

employee medical and dental benefit claims portion of which is paid by employees and we have purchased

stop-loss coverage
in order to limit significant exposure

in these areas Accrued insurance liabilities are

actuarially determined based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported
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We have purchase obligations for outstanding purchase orders for merchandise issued in the ordinary course

of our business that are valued at $478.5 million the entirety of which represents obligations due within one

year of January 30 2010 In addition we have purchase commitment for future inventory purchases totaling

$138.5 million at January 30 2010 We paid $28.9 million $31.5 million and $28.3 million related to this

commitment during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively We are not required to meet any periodic minimum

purchase requirements under this commitment The term of the commitment extends until the purchase

requirement is satisfied We have additional purchase obligations in the amount of $222.6 million primarily

related to distribution and transportation information technology print advertising energy procurement and

other store security supply and maintenance commitments

Note 11 Discontinued Operations

Our discontinued operations for 2009 2008 and 2007 were comprised of the following

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Closed stores 48 439 905
KB Toys matters 1609 4928 12912

Total income loss from discontinued operations pretax $1657 $5367 $12007

Closed Stores

In 2005 we determined that the results of 130 stores closed in 2005 should be reported as discontinued

operations for all periods presented For 2009 2008 and 2007 the closed stores operating loss is comprised
of exit-related costs utilities and security expenses on leased properties with remaining terms and accretion

on the lease termination obligations of $0.1 million $0.1 million and $0.2 million respectively At fiscal
year

end 2009 2008 and 2007 we had accrued exit-related liabilities of $0.5 million $0.9 million and $2.5 million

respectively as result of the 130 store closures in 2005 The decrease in liabilities is due to payments of the

exit-related amounts Included in payments is sublease income of $0.2 million in 2009 and $0.3 million in 2008

and 2007 As of January 30 2010 we had three closed stores with leases that had not yet been terminated or

subleased Future cash outlays under these store closure obligations are anticipated to be $0.4 million in 2010

and $0.1 million in 2011

KB Toys Matters

We acquired the KB Toys business from Melville Corporation now known as CVS New York Inc and

together with its subsidiaries CVS in May 1996 As part of that acquisition we provided among other

things an indemnity to CVS with respect to any losses resulting from KB Toys failure to pay all monies due

and owing under any KB Toys lease or mortgage obligation While we controlled the KB Toys business we
provided guarantees with respect to limited number of additional KB Toys store leases We sold the KB
Toys business to KB Acquisition Corp KBAC an affiliate of Bain Capital pursuant to Stock Purchase

Agreement KBAC similarly agreed to indemnify us with respect to all lease and mortgage obligations These

guarantee and lease obligations are collectively referred to as the KB Lease Obligations

On January 14 2004 KBAC and certain affiliated entities collectively referred to as KB-I filed for

bankruptcy protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code In connection with the

2004 bankruptcy KB-I rejected 226 store leases and two distribution center leases for which we believed we

may have guarantee or indemnification obligations collectively referred to as the KB-I Bankruptcy Lease

Obligations We recorded pretax charges for estimated KB-I Bankruptcy Lease Obligations in loss from
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discontinued operations of $18.1 million in years prior to 2007 We based this amount on the number of demand

notices that we had received from landlords and used information received from KB-I the bankruptcy trust and

our own lease records which date back to when we owned the KB Toys business

In the second fiscal quarter of 2007 we recorded $2.0 million pretax in income loss from discontinued

operations to reflect favorable settlements related to the KB-I Bankruptcy Lease Obligations In the fourth fiscal

quarter of 2007 we recorded approximately $8.8 million income of the KB-I Bankruptcy Lease Obligations to

reduce the amount on our consolidated balance sheet to zero as of February 2008 We based this reversal on

the following factors we had not received any new demand letters from landlords during 2007 all prior

demands against us by landlords had been settled or paid or the landlords had stopped pursuing their demands

the KB-I bankruptcy occurred more than four years prior to the end of 2007 and most of the lease rejections

occurred more than three years prior to the end of 2007 and we believed that the likelihood of new claims

against us was remote and if incurred the amount would be immaterial

On August 30 2005 in connection with the acquisition by an affiliate of Prentice Capital Management of

majority ownership of KB-I KB-I emerged from its 2004 bankruptcy the KB Toys business that emerged

from bankruptcy is hereinafter referred to as KB-Il In 2007 we entered into an agreement with KB-Il and

various Prentice Capital entities which we believe provides cap on our liability under the existing KB Lease

Obligations and an indemnity from the Prentice Capital entities with respect to any renewals extensions

modifications or amendments of the KB Lease Obligations which otherwise could potentially expose us to

additional incremental liability beyond the date of the agreement September 24 2007 Under the agreement

KB-IT is required to update us periodically with respect to the status of any remaining leases for which they

believe we have guarantee or indemnification obligation In addition we have the right to request statement

of the net asset value of Prentice Capital Offshore in order to monitor the sufficiency of the indemnity

On December 11 2008 KB-Il filed for bankruptcy protection pursuant to Chapter 11 of title 11 of the United

States Code Based on information provided to us by KB-Il we believe that we continue to have KB Lease

Obligations with respect to 31 KB Toys stores KB-TI Bankruptcy Lease Obligations In the fourth fiscal

quarter of 2008 we recorded charge in the amount of $5.0 million pretax in income loss from discontinued

operations to reflect the estimated amount that we expect to pay for KB-Il Bankruptcy Lease Obligations We

continue to believe that additional payments by us under the KB-I Bankruptcy Lease Obligations are remote

and therefore we have not recognized any charge or liability in 2008 related to these earlier lease rejections

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2009 we obtained assignment of lease for the former KB corporate office We

believe that our ability to find subtenant for this location is remote We recorded charge of $1.2 million

pretax in income loss from discontinued operations primarily related to our remaining liability for the former

KB corporate office At fiscal year end 2009 and 2008 we had accrued in total for the KB-Il Bankruptcy Lease

Obligations and the KB corporate office lease obligation $4.8 million and $5.0 million respectively

HCC Note

As partial consideration for our sale of the KB Toys business in 2000 we received 10-year note from Havens

Corners Corporation subsidiary of KBAC and party to the KB-I bankruptcy proceedings in the aggregate

principal amount of $45.0 million principal and interest together known as the HCC Note Upon receipt we

recorded the HCC Note at its estimated fair value The HCC Note became immediately due and payable to us

at the time of KB Toys bankruptcy filing in January 2004 From 2004 through 2006 we recorded $16.0 million

of impairments in continuing operations and received $0.7 million as result of our legal settlement with the

former principals of the KB Toys business and applied these proceeds against the carrying value of the HCC

Note recorded
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In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2007 we reached agreement with the KB-I bankruptcy trust with respect to all

of our pending claims against the bankruptcy trust As result we received approximately $7.2 million from

the KB-I bankruptcy trust representing payment of our claims Approximately $5.4 million of these proceeds
related to our HCC Note claim and $1.8 million related principally to our lease indemnification and mortgage

guarantee claims The HCC Note proceeds were recorded as $0.2 million payment against the outstanding
note balance and the remaining $5.2 million was recorded as reduction of selling and administrative expenses
for recovery of the prior partial charge-offs As of February 2008 we no longer carried balance on our

consolidated balance sheet for the HCC Note The lease indemnification and mortgage guarantee proceeds of

$1.8 million were recorded as income from discontinued operations in 2007

The following table summarizes these charges and reversals during the years 2007 2008 and 2009

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Continuing Operations

HCC Note Partial
recovery of prior charges 5172

Discontinued Operations

Lease indemnifications 1609 4928 12787

Tax indemnifications and other Partial recovery of prior charges 125

KB matters pretax income loss from discontinued operations 1609 $4928 $12912

Note 12Business Segment Data

We manage our business based on one segment broadline closeout retailing We use the following six

merchandise categories which match our internal management and reporting of merchandise net sales results

Consumables Home Furniture Hardlines Seasonal and Other

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Consumables $1456370 $1410383 $1339433
Home 717744 713103 783047
Furniture

716785 698276 687292
Hardlines 677790 646563 629119
Seasonal 591321 585025 597933
Other

566762 591933 619478
Net sales $4726772 $4645283 $4656302

The Consumables
category includes the food health and beauty plastics paper chemical and pet departments

The Home category includes the domestics stationery and home decorative departments The Furniture

category includes the upholstery mattresses ready-to-assemble and case goods departments Case goods
consist of bedroom dining room and occasional furniture The Hardlines category includes the electronics

appliances tools and home maintenance departments The Seasonal category includes the lawn garden

Christmas summer and other holiday departments The Other category includes the toy jewelry infant

accessories and apparel departments Other also includes the results of certain large closeout deals that are

typically acquired through our alternate product sourcing operations
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Summarized fiscal quarterly financial data for 2009 and 2008 is as follows

Fiscal Year 2009 First Second Third Fourth
____________

In thousands except per share amounts

Net sales $1141656 $1086567

Gross margin 462180 434383

Income from continuing

operations 36310 28616

Income loss from discontinued

operations

Net income
__________ _________ __________ __________ __________

Earnings per share basic

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

Earnings per share diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

Fiscal Year 2008
____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________

In thousands except per share amounts

Net sales

Gross margin

Income from continuing

operations

Income loss from discontinued

operations

Net income
__________ __________ __________ __________ __________

Earnings per
share basic

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

Earnings per share diluted

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations __________ __________ __________ __________ __________

Earnings per share calculations for each fiscal quarter are based on the applicable weighted-average shares

outstanding for each period and the sum of the earnings per share for the four fiscal quarters may not

necessarily be equal to the full
year earnings per share amount

Year

$1035269 $1463280 $4726772

417991 604752 1919306

30256 106188 201370

79 173 73 822 1001

36231 28443 30329 105366 200369

0.45 0.35 0.37 1.30 2.47

0.01 0.01

0.45 0.35 0.37 1.29 2.45

0.44 0.35 0.37 1.28 2.44

0.01 0.01

0.44 0.34 0.37 1.27 2.42

First Second Third Fourth Year

$1151589 $1105189 $1021580 $1366925 $4645283

463791 434804 406262 552572 1857429

34486 26147 12358 81807 154798

23 122 110 3042 3251

34509 26025 12248 78765 151547

0.43 0.32 0.15 1.01 1.91

0.04 0.04

0.43 0.32 0.15 0.97 1.87

0.42 0.32 0.15 1.00 1.89

0.04 0.04

0.42 0.32 0.15 0.96 1.85
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On March 2010 our Board of Directors authorized $250.0 million increase to our $150.0 million program

bringing the total authorization of the 2010 Repurchase Program to $400.0 million On March 10 2010 we
utilized $150.0 million of the authorization to execute an accelerated share repurchase transaction which

reduced our common shares outstanding by 3.6 million The total number of shares repurchased under the ASR
will be based upon the volume weighted average price of our stock over predetermined period and will not

be known until that period ends and final settlement occurs The final settlement could increase or decrease

the 3.6 million shares initially reduced from our outstanding common shares The terms of the ASR restrict us

from declaring dividend prior to its completion which is currently scheduled to be no later than January 26
2011 The remaining $250 million will be utilized to repurchase shares in the open market and/or in privately

negotiated transactions at our discretion subject to market conditions and other factors Common shares

acquired through the 2010 Repurchase Program will be available to meet obligations under equity compensation

plans and for general corporate purposes The 2010 Repurchase Program will continue until exhausted

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer has

evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15e
and 15d-15e of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Exchange Act as of the end of the period

covered by this report Based on that evaluation our ChiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have

each concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered

by this report

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting

as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act for us Our internal control over financial

reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America

Internal control systems no matter how well designed and operated have inherent limitations including the

possibility of the circumvention or overriding of controls Due to these inherent limitations our internal control

over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements As result projections of effectiveness to

future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that

the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 30 2010 In

making its assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission in Internal Control Integrated Framework Based on this assessment management

including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that we maintained effective internal

control over financial reporting as of January 30 2010

Our independent registered public accounting firm Deloitte Touche LLP has issued an attestation report on

our internal control over financial reporting The report appears in the Financial Statements and Supplementary

Data section of this Form 10-K
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent

fiscal quarter that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control

over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information contained under the captions Proposal One Election of Directors Governance and

Stock Ownership in the 2010 Proxy Statement with respect to directors shareholder nomination procedures

the code of ethics the Audit Committee our audit committee financial experts and Section 16a beneficial

ownership reporting compliance is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item The information

contained in Part under the caption Supplemental Item Executive Officers of the Registrant with respect to

executive officers is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information contained under the captions Governance Director Compensation and Executive

Compensation in the 2010 Proxy Statement with respect to corporate Compensation Committee interlocks

and insider participation director compensation the Compensation Committee Report and executive

compensation is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes information as of January 30 2010 relating to our equity compensation plans

pursuant to which our common shares may be issued

Number of securities

remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-average future issuance under

be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans

of outstanding options outstanding options excluding securities

warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved

by security holders 449663312 19.46 3552814

Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders

Total 4496633 19.46 3552814

Includes stock options granted under the 2005 Incentive Plan the Director Stock Option Plan and the 1996

Incentive Plan In addition we had 849488 shares of unvested restricted stock outstanding under the 2005

Incentive Plan

The common shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options granted under each shareholder

approved plan are as follows

2005 Incentive Plan 3401275

Director Stock Option Plan 235500

1996 Incentive Plan 859858

77



The common shares available for issuance under each shareholder-approved plan are as follows

2005 Incentive Plan 3552814
Director Stock Option Plan

1996 Incentive Plan

The 1996 Incentive Plan terminated on December 31 2005 The Director Stock Option Plan terminated on

May 30 2008 The number of common shares available for issuance under the 2005 Incentive Plan is adjusted

annually by adding 0.75% of the total number of issued common shares including treasury shares as of

the start of each of our fiscal years that the 2005 Incentive Plan is in effect See note to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements

The information contained under the caption Stock Ownership in the 2010 Proxy Statement with respect to

the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference in

response to this item

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information contained under the caption Governance Determination of Director Independence and

Governance Related Person Transactions in the 2010 Proxy Statement with
respect to the review of director

independence and transactions with related persons is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information contained under the captions Audit Committee Disclosure Audit and Non-Audit Services

Pre-Approval Policy and Audit Committee Disclosure Fees Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm in the 2010 Proxy Statement with respect to the Audit Committees pre-approval policies and procedures

and the fees paid to Deloitte Touche LLP is incorporated herein by reference in response to this item

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

Documents filed as part of this report

Financial Statements Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 39

Consolidated Statements of Operations 41

Consolidated Balance Sheets 42

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity 43

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 44

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 45

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Descrintion

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 79

All other financial statements and schedules not listed in the preceding index are omitted because they are not

required or are not applicable or because the information required to be set forth therein either was not material

or is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto
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Charged to Charged

Beginning Cost and to Other

Description of Year Expense Accounts Deductions End of Year

In thousands

Inventory Valuation Allowance

Fiscal year ended January 30 2010 $1219 1006 448 1777a

Fiscal year ended January31 2009 $1134 147 62 1219a

Fiscal year
ended February 2008 $1552 249 667 1134a

Consists of markdowns of aged goods

Exhibits Exhibits marked with an asterisk are filed herewith Copies of exhibits will be furnished

upon written request and payment of our reasonable expenses
in furnishing the exhibits Exhibits 10.1

through 10.35 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements

Exhibit No Document

Agreement of Merger incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit to our Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended May 2001

3.1 Amended Articles of Incorporation incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3a to our

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 2001

3.2 Code of Regulations incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3b to our Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended May 2001

Specimen Common Share Certificate incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4a to our

Form 10- for the year ended February 2002

10.1 Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10

to our Post-Effective Amendment No to Form S-8 dated June 29 2001

10.2 Amendment to the Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan effective May 18 2005

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8-K dated August 17 2005

10.3 Amendment to the Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan effective March 2008

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

May 2008

10.4 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Agreement under the Big Lots Inc 1996

Performance Incentive Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K

dated September 2004

10.5 Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended and restated effective May 29 2008

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K dated May 29 2008

10.6 Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award

Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 8-K dated

February 21 2006

10.7 Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Award

Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8-K dated

March 2009

10.8 Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 8-K dated March 2009

10.9 Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement for CEO

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 8-K dated March 2010
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Exhibit No Document

10.10 Form of Big Lots 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement for

Outside Directors incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8-K dated

May 29 2008

10.11 Big Lots Inc Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10 to our Post-Effective Amendment No to Form S-8

10.12 First Amendment to Big Lots Inc Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan

effective August 20 2002 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10d to our Form 10-Q

for the quarter ended August 2002

10.13 Amendment to Big Lots Inc Amended and Restated Director Stock Option Plan effective

March 2008 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended May 2008

10.14 Form of Option Award Agreement under the Big Lots Inc Amended and Restated Director

Stock Option Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K dated

September 2004

10.15 Big Lots 2006 Bonus Plan as amended and restated effective December 2008 incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.16 Big Lots Savings Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Form 10-K for

the year ended January 29 2005

10.17 Big Lots Supplemental Savings Plan as amended and restated effective January 2008

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K dated August 28 2007

10.18 Big Lots Defined Benefit Pension Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to

our Form 10-K for the year ended January 29 2005

10.19 Big Lots Supplemental Defined Benefit Pension Plan as amended and restated effective

January 2008 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K dated

August 28 2007

10.20 Big Lots Executive Benefit Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10m to our

Form 10-K for the year ended January 31 2004

10.21 First Amendment to Big Lots Executive Benefit Plan incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.11 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.22 Big Lots Inc Non-Employee Director Compensation Package incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K dated May 29 2008

10.23 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Lisa Bachmann incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.24 Employment Agreement with Robert Claxton incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.6 to our Form l0-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.25 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Joe Cooper incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form l0-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.26 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Steven Fishman incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.27 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Charles Haubiel II incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.28 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with John Martin incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.29 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Norman Rankin incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Form l0-Q for the quarter ended November 2008
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Exhibit No Document

10.30 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Robert Segal incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.31 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Brad Waite incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.32 Retention Agreement with Steven Fishman incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to our Form 8-K dated March 2010

10.33 Form of Indemnification Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.34 Form of Executive Severance Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to

our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.35 Form of Senior Executive Severance Agreement incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

10.14 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 2008

10.36 Credit Agreement among Big Lots Stores Inc as borrower the Guarantors named therein

and the Banks named therein incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form

8-K dated April 30 2009

10.37 Security Agreement between Big Lots Stores Inc and Big Lots Capital Inc incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K dated October 29 2004

10.38 Stock Purchase Agreement between KB Acquisition Corporation and Consolidated Stores

Corporation incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2a to our Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended October 28 2000

21 Subsidiaries

23 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP

24 Power of Attorney for Jeffrey Berger Peter Hayes David Kollat Brenda Lauderback

Philip Mallott Russell Solt James Tener and Dennis Tishkoff

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

31.2 Certification of ChiefFinancial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.1 Certification of ChiefExecutive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002

32.2 Certification of ChiefFinancial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on this 30th day

of March 2010

BIG LOTS INC

By Is Steven Fishman

Steven Fishman

Chairman of the Board ChiefExecutive Officer

and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 30th day of March 2010

Is Steven Fishman

Steven Fishman

Chairman of the Board ChiefExecutive Officer

and President Principal Executive Officer

Is Jeffrey Berger

Jeffrey Berger

Director

Is Peter Hayes

Peter Hayes

Director

Is David Kollat

David Kollat

Director

Is Brenda Lauderback

Brenda Lauderback

Director

/s Joe Cooper

Joe Cooper

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer

Is Philip Mallott

Philip Mallott

Director

/s Russell Solt

Russell Solt

Director

/s James Tener

James Tener

Director

Is Dennis Tishkoff

Dennis Tishkoff

Director

The above named Directors of the Registrant execute this report by Charles Haubiel II their attorney

in-fact pursuant to the power of attorney executed by the above-named Directors all in the capacities

indicated and on the 3rd day of March 2010 and filed herewith

By Is Charles Haubiel II

Charles Haubiel II

Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES

Jurisdiction

Big Lots Capital Inc OH

Big Lots FS Inc OH

Big Lots Online LLC OH

Big Lots Stores Inc OH

BLSI Property LLC DE

Capital Retail Systems Inc OH
Closeout Distribution Inc PA

Consolidated Property Holdings Inc NV
CSC Distribution Inc AL

C.S Ross Company OH
Durant DC LLC DE

Great Basin LLC DE

Industrial Products of New England Inc ME
Mac Frugals Bargains Close-outs Inc DE

Midwestern Home Products Inc DE

PNS Stores Inc CA

Sahara LLC DE

Sonoran LLC DE

Tool and Supply Company of New England Inc DE

West Coast Liquidators Inc CA

Barn Acquisition Corporation DE

Fashion Barn Inc NY
Fashion Barn of Oklahoma Inc OK
Fashion Bonanza Inc NY
Midwestern Home Products Company Ltd OH

Rogers Fashion Industries Inc NY
SS Investments Corporation DE



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following documents of our reports dated March 30 2010

relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of Big Lots Inc and

subsidiaries the Company and the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the
year

ended January 30 2010

Post-Effective Amendment No ito Registration Statement No 33-42502 on Form S-8 pertaining to

Big Lots Inc Director Stock Option Plan

Post-Effective Amendment No to Registration Statement No 33-42692 on Form S-8 pertaining to

Big Lots Inc Supplemental Savings Plan

Post-Effective Amendment No to Registration Statement No 33-19309 on Form S-8 pertaining to

Big Lots Inc Savings Plan

Post-Effective Amendment No to Registration Statement No 333-32063 on Form S-8 pertaining to

Big Lots Inc 1996 Performance Incentive Plan

Registration Statement No 333-140181 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term

Incentive Plan and

Registration Statement No 333-152481 on Form S-8 pertaining to the Big Lots 2005 Long-Term

Incentive Plan

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Dayton Ohio

March 30 2010



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Steven Fishman certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which

such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and

have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation

of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated March 30 2010 By /5/ Steven Fishman

Steven Fishman

Chairman of the Board ChiefExecutive Officer and

President



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Joe Cooper certify that

have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Big Lots Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to

state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which

such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report

fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the

registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control

over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and

have

designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant

including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities

particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in

this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of

the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the

case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the

registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation

of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the

registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to

record process summarize and report financial information and

any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Dated March 30 2010 By Is Joe Cooper

Joe Cooper

Executive Vice President and

ChiefFinancial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and accompanies the annual report on

Form 10-K the Report for the
year

ended January 30 2010 of Big Lots Inc the Company Steven

Fishman Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company certify that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78m or 78od and

ii the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

Dated March 30 2010 By Is Steven Fishman

Steven Fishman

Chairman of the Board ChiefExecutive Officer

and President



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is provided pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and accompanies the annual report on

Form 10-K the Report for the year ended January 30 2010 of Big Lots Inc the Company Joe

Cooper Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify that

the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or Section 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 15 U.S.C 78m or 780d and

ii the information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and

results of operations of the Company

Dated March 30 2010 By Is Joe Cooper

Joe Cooper

Executive Vice President and

ChiefFinancial Officer



v/ai Vel

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held

at 900 a.m EDT on Thursday May 27 2010 at our

corporate office 300 Phillipi Road Columbus Ohio

Whether or not you plan to attend you are encouraged

to vote as soon as possible In accordance with the

accompanying proxy statement shareholders who

attend the meeting may withdraw their proxies and

vote in person if they so desire


